FUNDAMENTAL JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND APPLICATIONS

VOLUME II

ISSUE I

FUJMA

http://dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN 2645-8845 VOLUME II ISSUE I ISSN 2645-8845 June 2019 http://dergipark.gov.tr/fujma

FUNDAMENTAL JOURNAL OF MATHEMATICS AND APPLICATIONS



Editors in Chief

Murat Kirişçi Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, İstanbul University, İstanbul-TÜRKİYE murat.kirisci@istanbul.edu.tr Mahmut Akyiğit Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE makyigit@sakarya.edu.tr

Managing Editors

Merve İlkhan Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE merveilkhan@duzce.edu.tr Fuat Usta Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE fuatusta@duzce.edu.tr

Editorial Board

Sidney Allen Morris Federation University, AUSTRALIA

Yeol Je Cho Gyeongsang National University, KOREA

Emrah Evren Kara Düzce University, TÜRKİYE

Mujahid Abbas University of Pretoria, SOUTH AFRICA

Stojan Radenovic University of Belgrade, SERBIA Mohammad Mursaleen Aligarh Muslim University, INDIA

> Michael Th. Rassias University of Zurich, SWITZERLAND

Syed Abdul Mohiuddine King Abdulaziz University, SAUDI ARABIA

> Mehmet Ali Güngör Sakarya University, TÜRKİYE

Editorial Secretariat Pınar Zengin Alp Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Düzce University, Düzce-TÜRKİYE Editorial Secretariat Hande Kormalı Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Sakarya University, Sakarya-TÜRKİYE

Contents

1	Rational Solutions to the Boussinesq Equation Pierre Gaillard	1-4
2	Extended Semi-Local Convergence of Newton's Method using the Center Lipschitz Condition and the Restricted Convergence Domain Hoannis K Argyros, Santhosh George	5-9
3	Order-Preserving Variants of the Basic Principles of Functional Analysis Adilbek Zaitov	10-17
4	On generalized Γ-hyperideals in ordered Γ-semihypergroups Abul Basar, Mohammad Yahya Abbasi, Satyanarayana Bhavanari	18-23
5	The Third Isomorphism Theorem on UP-Bialgebras Daniel A. Romano	24-27
6	The Nyström Method and Convergence Analysis for System of Fredholm Integral Equations Huimin Zhou, Qisheng Wang	28-32
7	On Quasi-Sasakian Manifolds Ahmet Sazak, Ahmet Yıldız	33-39
8	Neimark-Sacker Bifurcation of a Third Order Difference Equation Marwan Aloqeili, Asmaa Shareef	40-49
9	On Simultaneously and Approximately Simultaneously Diagonalizable <i>m</i> -tuples of Matrices <i>Maria Isabel Garcia-Planas</i>	50-55
10	Difference Sequence Spaces Derived by using Pascal Transform Saadettin Aydın, Harun Polat	56-62
11	Spectral Theory, Jacobi Matrices, Continued Fractions and Difference Operators Ahmed Lesfari	63-90
12	Effect of Inflation on Stochastic Optimal Investment Strategies for DC Pension under the Affine Interest Rate Model Bright O. Osu, Kevin N. C. Njoku	91-100



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.512333



Rational Solutions to the Boussinesq Equation

Pierre Gaillard

Université de Bourgogne, Institut de mathématiques de Bourgogne 9 avenue Alain Savary, Dijon Cedex, France

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Boussinesq equation, Rational solutions, Rogue waves 2010 AMS: 33Q55, 37K10, 47.10A-, 47.35.Fg, 47.54.Bd Received: 13 January 2019 Accepted: 17 February 2019 Available online: 17 June 2019 Rational solutions to the Boussinesq equation are constructed as a quotient of two polynomials in *x* and *t*. For each positive integer *N*, the numerator is a polynomial of degree N(N+1) - 2 in *x* and *t*, while the denominator is a polynomial of degree N(N+1) in *x* and *t*. So we obtain a hierarchy of rational solutions depending on an integer *N* called the order of the solution. We construct explicit expressions of these rational solutions for N = 1 to 4.

1. Introduction

We consider the Boussinesq equation (B) which can be written in the form

$$u_{tt} - u_{xx} + (u^2)_{xx} + \frac{1}{3}u_{xxxx} = 0,$$
(1.1)

where the subscripts x and t denote partial derivatives.

This equation first appears first in 1871, in a paper written by Boussinesq [1, 2]. It is well known that the Boussinesq equation (1.1) is an equation solvable by inverse scattering [3, 4]. It gives the description of the propagation of long waves surfaces in shallow water. It appears in several physical applications as one-dimensional nonlinear lattice-waves [5], vibrations in a nonlinear string [6] and ion sound waves in plasma [7].

The first solutions were founded in 1977 by Hirota [8] by using Bäcklund transformations. Among the various works concerning this equation, we can mention the following studies. Ablowitz and Satsuma constructed non-singular rational solutions in 1978 by using the Hirota bilinear method [9]. Freemann and Nimmo expressed solutions in terms of wronskians in 1983 [10]. An algebra-geometrical method using trigonal curve was given by Matveev et al. in 1987 [11]. The same author constructed other types of solutions using Darboux transformation [12]. Bogdanov and Zakharov in 2002 constructed solutions by the $\overline{\partial}$ dressing method [13]. In 2008 – 2010, Clarkson obtained solutions in terms of the generalized Okamoto, generalized Hermite or Yablonski Vorob'ev polynomials [14, 15].

Recently, in 2017, Clarkson et al. constructed new solutions as second derivatives of polynomials of degree n(n+1) in x and t in [16].

In this paper, we study rational solutions of the Boussinesq equation. We present rational solutions as a quotient of two polynomials in x and t. These following solutions belong to an infinite hierarchy of rational solutions written in terms of polynomials for each positive integer N. The study here is limited to the simplest cases where N = 1, 2, 3, 4.

2. First order rational solutions

We consider the Boussinesq equation

$$u_{tt} - u_{xx} + (u^2)_{xx} + \frac{1}{3}u_{xxxx} = 0,$$

We have the following result at order N = 1:

Email address and ORCID number: Pierre.Gaillard@u-bourgogne.fr, 0000-0002-7073-8284, (P. Gaillard)

Theorem 2.1. The function v defined by

$$v(x,t) = \frac{-2}{(-x+t+a_1)^2}$$

is a solution to the Boussinesq equation (1.1) with a_1 an arbitrarily real parameter.

Proof It is straightforward.

The parameter a_1 is only a translation parameter; it is not crucial. In the following solutions, we will omit it.



Figure 1. Solution of order 1 to (1.1), on the left $a_1 = 0$; on the right $a_1 = 100$.

In Figures 1., the singularity lines of respective equations t = x and $t = x + a_1$ are clearly shown.

3. Second order rational solutions

The Boussinesq equation defined by (1.1) is always considered. We obtain the following solutions : **Theorem 3.1.** *The function v defined by*

$$v(x,t) = -2\frac{n(x,t)}{d(x,t)(2)},$$
(3.1)

with

$$n(x,t) = 3x^4 + (-12t - 4)x^3 + (18t^2 + 2 + 12t)x^2 + (-12t^2 + 8t - 12t^3)x - 4t + 4t^3 - 10t^2 + 3t^4$$

and

$$d(x,t) = -x^{3} + (3t+1)x^{2} + (-3t^{2} - 2t)x + t^{3} + t^{2} + 2t$$

is a rational solution to the Boussinesq equation (1.1), a quotient of two polynomials with the numerator of order 4 in x and t, the denominator of degree 6 in x and t.

Proof It is sufficient to replace the expression of the solution given by (3.1) and check that (1.1) is verified. \Box



Figure 2. Solution of order 2 to (1.1).

This Figure 2. shows clearly the singularity in (0;0). The previous solution (3.1) can be rewritten as

$$-2\frac{3(t-x)^4 + 4(t-x)^3 - 4(t-x)^2 - 6t^2 + 6x^2 - 4t}{((t-x)^3 + (t-x)^2 + 2t)^2}.$$

So, with this expression, it is obvious to show that (0;0) is a singularity as it can be seen in figure (2).

4. Rational solutions of order three

We obtain the following rational solutions to the Boussinesq equation defined by (1.1):

Theorem 4.1. The function v defined by

$$v(x,t) = -2 \frac{n(x,t)}{d(x,t)(2)},$$

with

 $n(x,t) = 6x^{10} + (-40 - 60t)x^9 + (270t^2 + 110 + 360t)x^8 + (-1440t^2 - 720t^3 - 160 - 880t)x^7 + (1260t^4 + 100 + 3080t^2 + 1120t + 3360t^3)x^6 + (-740t - 1512t^5 - 5040t^4 - 3360t^2 - 6160t^3)x^5 + (200t + 5040t^5 + 3100t^2 + 1260t^6 + 5600t^3 + 7700t^4)x^4 + (-6160t^5 - 720t^7 - 3360t^6 - 7000t^3 - 3200t^2 - 5600t^4)x^3 + (2000t^2 + 1440t^7 + 3080t^6 + 270t^8 + 8300t^4 + 8400t^3 + 3360t^5)x^2 + (-880t^7 - 5200t^3 - 8000t^4 - 60t^9 - 360t^8 - 4900t^5 - 1120t^6)x + 3200t^4 + 2600t^5 + 800t^3 + 160t^7 + 6t^{10} + 40t^9 + 110t^8 + 1140t^6$ and

 $d(x,t) = x^{6} + (-6t - 4)x^{5} + (15t^{2} + 20t + 5)x^{4} + (-20t^{3} - 40t^{2} - 30t)x^{3} + (15t^{4} + 40t^{3} + 60t^{2} + 20t)x^{2} + (-6t^{5} - 20t^{4} - 50t^{3} - 40t^{2})x + t^{6} + 4t^{5} + 15t^{4} + 20t^{3} - 20t^{2}$

is a rational solution to the Boussinesq equation (1.1), quotient of two polynomials with numerator of order 10 in x and t, denominator of degree 12 in x and t.

Proof Replacing the expression of the solution given by (3.1), we check that the relation (1.1) is verified. \Box



Figure 3. Solution of order 3 to (1.1).

The figure 3 clearly shows the singularity in (0;0).

5. Rational solutions of fourth order

The following solutions of order 4 to the Boussinesq equation defined by (1.1) are obtained :

Theorem 5.1. *The function v defined by*

$$v(x,t) = -2\frac{n(x,t)}{d(x,t)(2)},$$
(5.1)

with

$$\begin{split} n(x,t) &= 10x^{18} + (-180t - 180)x^{17} + (1460 + 3060t + 1530t^2)x^{16} + (-23600t - 8160t^3 - 6960 - 24480t^2)x^{15} + (30600t^4 + 21200 + 108000t + 122400t^3 + 178800t^2)x^{14} + (-781200t^2 - 842800t^3 - 428400t^4 - 321300t - 41300 - 85680t^5)x^{13} + (1113840t^5 + 2254000t^2 + 48300 + 2766400t^4 + 632800t + 3494400t^3 + 185640t^6)x^{12} + (-9703400t^3 - 4447800t^2 - 10810800t^4 - 318240t^7 - 805000t - 2227680t^6 - 29400 - 6704880t^5)x^{11} + (18972800t^3 + 28644000t^4 + 3500640t^7 + 24504480t^5 + 630000t + 12412400t^6 + 6013000t^2 + 437580t^8 + 7350)x^{10} + (-4375800t^8 - 17903600t^7 - 5467000t^2 - 26383000t^3 - 42042000t^6 - 54785500t^4 - 61345900t^5 - 294000t - 486200t^9)x^9 + (98313600t^6 + 20334600t^8 + 113097600t^5 + 24822000t^3 + 437580t^9 + 55598400t^7 + 3228750t^2 + 73500t + 75778500t^4 + 437580t^{10})x^8 + (-318240t^{11} - 3500640t^{10} - 18246800t^9 - 57142800t^8 - 1176000t^2 - 150603600t^5 - 12544000t^3 - 67662000t^4 - 11979000t^7 - 171771600t^6)x^7 + (-882000t^3 + 45645600t^9 + 2227680t^{11} + 185640t^{12} + 11912880t^5 + 213150000t^6 + 11152680t^8 + 12892880t^{10} + 294000t^7 + 19379500t^4)x^6 + (-78963500t^9 - 217182000t^7 - 85680t^{13} + 392000t^3 - 111840t^{12} - 7098000t^{11} - 14023800t^6 - 28108080t^{10} + 3292800t^4 - 164033100t^8 + 1528800t^5)x^5 + (1310400t^{11} + 4185720t^{10} + 15856500t^8 - 3969000t^4 - 98000t^3 + 1960000t^4 + 11113200t^7 - 1194800t^9 + 428400t^{13} + 298480t^{12} - 11539500t^5 - 4980850t^6)x^4 + (-5810700t^8 - 45383800t^{10} + 1960000t^4 + 7840000t^7 - 122400t^{14} - 447720t^{12} + 18698400t^{13} - 59057250t^8 + 4256000t^{12} + 2761780t^{10} + 1894200t^9 + 20400t^{14} - 4477200t^{12} + 18698400t^{13} - 59057250t^8 + 4256000t^{12} + 27617800t^{10} + 18942000t^9 + 204400t^{14} - 490000t^7 + 724000t^7 - 86000t^{13} - 3389400t^{10} - 154800t^{14} - 180t^{17} + 50960000t^6 - 2519300t^{12} + 72912000t^8 - 26960t^{15} + 2277800t^7 + 7840000t^5 - 69900t^{13} - 3389400t^{10} - 154800t^{14} - 180t^{17} + 50960000t^6 - 2519300t^{12} + 72912000t^8 - 26960t^{15} + 227780$$

$$d(x,t) = x^{10} + (-10t - 10)x^9 + (45t^2 + 90t + 40)x^8 + (-120t^3 - 360t^2 - 350t - 70)x^7 + (210t^4 + 840t^3 + 1330t^2 + 700t + 35)x^6 + (-120t^3 - 360t^2 - 350t - 70)x^7 + (-120t^4 - 840t^3 - 1330t^2 - 700t + 35)x^6 + (-120t^3 - 360t^2 - 350t - 70)x^7 + (-120t^3 - 360t^2 - 35$$

is a rational solution to the Boussinesq equation (1.1), quotient of two polynomials with numerator of order 18 in x and t, denominator of degree 20 in x and t.

Proof We have to check that the relation (1.1) is verified when we replace the expression of the solution given by (5.1). \square



Figure 4. Solution of order 4 to (1.1).

As in the preceding cases, the figure 4 clearly shows the singularity in (0;0).

6. Conclusion

Rational solutions to the Boussinesq equation of order 1, 2, 3, 4 have been constructed here. The following asymptotic behavior has been highlighted : $\lim_{t\to\infty} v(x,t) = 0$, $\lim_{x\to+\infty} v(x,t) = 0$.

It will relevant to construct rational solutions to the Boussinesq equation at order N and to give a representation of these solutions in terms of determinants. Namely, for every integer N, these solutions can be written as a quotient of determinants of order N, where the numerator is a polynomial of degree N(N+1) - 2 in x, t, and the denominator is a polynomial of degree N(N+1) in x, t.

References

- [1] J. Boussinesq, Théorie de l'intumescence appelée onde solitaire ou de translation se propageant dans un canal rectangulaire, C.R.A.S., 72 (1871),
- [2] J. Boussinesq, Théorie des ondes et des remous qui se propagent le long d'un canal rectangulaire horizontal, en communiquant au liquide contenu dans ce canal des vitesses sensiblemant parielles de la surface au fond, J. Math. Pures Appl., 7 (1872), 55-108. [3] M. J. Ablowitz, P. A. Clarkson, Solitons, Nonlinear Evolution Equations and Inverse Scattering, London Math. Soc. Lecture Note Ser., 149 (1991),
- [4] P. Deift, C. Tomei, E. Trubowitz, Inverse scattering and the Boussinesq equation, Comm. Pure Appl. Math, 35 (1982), 567178
- [5] M. Toda, Studies of a nonlinear lattice, Phys. Rep., 18(1) (1975), 1-123
- V. E. Zakharov, On stocastization of one-dimensional chains of nonlinear oscillations, Sov. Phys. JETP, 38(1) (1974), 108-110... [6]
- E. Infeld, G. Rowlands, Nonlinear Waves, Solitons and Chaos, C.U.P., 1990.
- [8] R. Hirota, J. Satsuma, Non linear evolution equations generated from the Bäcklund transformation fot the Boussinesq equation, Prog. of Theor. Phys., 57(3) (1977), 797-807.
- [9] M. J. Ablowitz, J. Satsuma, Solitons and rational solutions of nonlinear evolution equations, J. Math. Phys., 19(10) (1978), 2180-2186. [10] J. J. C. Nimmo, N. C. Freemann, A method of obtaining the N soliton solution of the Boussinesq equation in terms of a wronskian, Phys. Lett., 95(1)
- (1983), 4-6. [11] V. B. Matveev, A. O. Smirnov, On the Riemann theta function of a trigonal curve and solutions of the Boussinesq and KP equations, L.M.P., 14 (1987),
- 25-31. V. B. Matveev, M. A. Salle, *Darboux transformations and solitons*, Series in Nonlinear Dynamics, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1991.
- [13] L. V. Bogdanov, V. E. Zakharov The Boussinesg equation revisited, Phys. D, 165 (2002), 137-162.
- [14] P. A. Clarkson, Rational solutions of the Boussinesq equation, Anal. Appl., 6 (2008), 349-369.
- [15] P. A. Clarkson, Rational solutions of the classical Boussinesq system, Nonlin. Anal. : Real World Appl., 10 (2010), 3360-3371.
- [16] P. A. Clarkson, E. Dowie, Rational solutions of the Boussinesq equation and applications to rogue waves, Trans. of Math. and its Appl., 1 (2017), 1-26.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.503716



Extended Semi-Local Convergence of Newton's Method using the Center Lipschitz Condition and the Restricted Convergence Domain

Ioannis K. Argyros¹ and Santhosh George^{2*}

¹Department of Mathematical Sciences, Cameron University Lawton, OK 73505, USA ²Department of Mathematical and Computational Sciences, National Institute of Technology Karnataka, India-757 025 *Corresponding author E-mail: sgeorge@nitk.ac.in

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Banach space, Center- Lipschitz condition, Newton's method, Semi-local convergence 2010 AMS: 47H10, 49M15, 65G99, 65H10	The objective of this study is to extend the usage of Newton's method for Banach space valued operators. We use our new idea of restricted convergence domain in combination with the center Lipschitz hypothesis on the Fréchet-derivatives where the center is not necessarily the initial point. This way our semi-local convergence analysis is tighter than in earlier works (since the new majorizing function is at least as tight as the ones used before)
Received: 27 December 2018	leading to weaker criteria, better error bounds more precise information on the solution
Accepted: 4 February 2019	These improvements are obtained under the same computational effort
Available online: 17 June 2019	These improvements are obtained and if the same computational error.

1. Introduction

Let *X*, *Y* denote Banach spaces and $\Omega \subseteq X$ be a convex set. Numerous problems in diverse areas are written as an equation like

$$F(x) = 0, \tag{1.1}$$

where $F : \Omega \longrightarrow Y$ is a twice continuously Fréchet-differentiable operator. One wishes that a solution x_* of equation (1.1) can be found in closed form [1]-[10]. However, this is done only in special cases. This is why most researchers use iterative procedures to generate a sequence $\{x_n\}$ approximating x_* . The most popular iterative procedure is undoubtedly Newton's method defined for some given initial point $x_0 \in \Omega$ by

$$x_{n+1} = x_n - F'(x_n)^{-1}F(x_n),$$

for each n = 0, 1, 2, ... There is literature on convergence results for Newton's method, see [3, 8, 9, 10] and the references therein. The convergence domain of Newton's method is small in general under generalized-type Lipschitz conditions. This fact limits the applicability of Newton's method. Therefore, techniques that will enlarge the convergence domain without additional hypotheses are useful. In particular, we are motivated by the work of Ezquerro and Hernandez in [5, 6], where the center-Lipschitz on the second Fréchet-derivative was used but the center is not necessarily the starting point for Newton's method. This idea has also been used but on the first Fréchet-derivative. Using this technique in connection to majorizing functions and sequences a semi-local convergence analysis was given in [6] for the special case, when $X = Y = \mathbb{R}^m$, where *m* is a positive integer. The choice of a point other than x_0 in the center-Lipschitz condition allows more flexibility in the choice of majorizing functions and sequences. Moreover, the convergence domain may be extended in some cases as it was shown in [6] for a certain class of nonlinear integral equations.

In the present study we also use the center Lipschitz condition at x_0 as well as at a point other than x_0 . This way we locate a smaller domain Ω where the iterates $\{x_n\}$ are located. Then, the majorizing function related to the smaller domain U_0 is always at least as small as the majorizing function in [5, 6] derived using the set Ω . We then provide a semi-local convergence analysis along the lines of the work in [5, 6] but with the center-Lipschitz condition on the first derivative instead of the second leading to tighter error estimates on $||F'(x_n)^{-1}||$. This

Email address and ORCID number: ioannisa@cameron.edu, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9189-9298 (I. K. Argyros), sgeorge@nitk.ac.in, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-3530-5539 (S. George)

6

modification together with the usage of the new majorant function instead of the old one leads to an at least tighter semi-local convergence. Some of the advantages include weaker sufficient semi-local convergence criteria (i.e., larger convergence domain than before, tighter error estimates on the distances $||x_{n+1} - x_n||$, $||x_n - x_*||$ and more precise information on the location of the solution x_* . The interesting part of this new technique is the fact that no additional conditions are utilized since the computation of the old majorant function requires the computation of the new majorant function as a special case. Our idea can be extended in the case $F^{(i)}$ is center-Lipschitz continuous where $i \ge 2$ [2]-[4].

The lay out of the rest of the paper contains: The semi-local convergence of Newton's method in Section 2. Section 3 has the examples on which the theoretical results are tested.

2. Semi-local convergence

Let $\gamma \ge 0$. Define $R = \sup\{t \ge \gamma : U(x_0, t) \subseteq \Omega\}$. Throughout this paper $U(x_0, r), \overline{U}(x_0, r)$, stand respectively for the open and closed balls in X with center at x_0 and radius r. We base the semi-local convergence analysis of Newton's method on the conditions (\mathscr{A}):

 (\mathscr{A}_0) Operator $F: \Omega \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$ is twice Fréchet differentiable in the Fréchet sense.

- (\mathscr{A}_1) Let $x_0 \in \Omega$. There exist $z \in D$, and $\delta \ge 0$ such that $||x_0 z|| = \delta$. Set $t_0 = \gamma + \delta$.
- (\mathscr{A}_2) There exist operator $\Gamma_0 = F'(x_0)^{-1} \in L(Y,X), b_1 > 0$ such that $\|\Gamma_0\| \le b_1$ and a function $g_1 : [\gamma, +\infty) \longrightarrow [0, +\infty)$ continuous and nondecreasing such that

 $b_1 ||F'(x_0) - F'(x)|| \le g_1(||x_0 - x||)$

for each $x \in U(x_0, R - t_0)$. Equation $g_1(t - t_0) - 1 = 0$ has positive solutions $t \ge t_0$. Denote by ρ_1 the smallest such solution. Or

 (\mathscr{A}'_2) there exist operator $\Delta = F'(z)^{-1} \in L(Y,X), b_2 > 0$ such that $\|\Delta\| \le b_2$ and a function $g_2 : [\gamma, +\infty) \longrightarrow [0, +\infty)$ continuous and nondecreasing such that

$$b_2 \|F'(z) - F'(x)\| \le g_2(\|z - x\|)$$

for each $x \in U(x_0, R-t_0)$. Equation $b_2g_2(t-\gamma) - 1 = 0$ has a minimal solutions $\rho_2 \ge \gamma$. Notice that if g_1 or g_2 are strictly increasing, then $\rho_1 = g_1^{-1}(\frac{1}{b_1}) + t_0$ and $\rho_2 = g_2(\frac{1}{b_2}) + \gamma$. (A3) There exists $f : [\gamma, +\infty) \longrightarrow [0, +\infty)$ twice continuously differentiable such that

$$\|F''(z)\| \le f''(\gamma)$$

and

$$\|\Gamma_0 F(x_0)\| \le -\frac{f(t_0)}{f'(t_0)}$$

$$(\mathscr{A}_4) \quad \frac{b_1}{1-b_1g_1(t)} \le -\frac{1}{f'(t)} \text{ for all } t \in [t_0, \rho_1].$$

- $\begin{array}{l} (\mathscr{A}'_{4}) & \frac{b_{2}}{1-b_{2}g_{2}(t)} \leq -\frac{1}{f'(t)} \text{ for all } t \in [\gamma, \rho_{2}]. \\ (\mathscr{A}_{5}) & \|F''(x) F''(z)\| \leq f''(t) f''(\gamma) \text{ for all } x \in U_{0}, t \in [\gamma, R), \text{ where } U_{0} = \Omega \cap U(x_{0}, \rho_{1} t_{0}). \\ (\mathscr{A}'_{5}) & \|F''(x) F''(z)\| \leq f''(t) f''(\gamma) \text{ for all } x \in U_{1}, t \in [\gamma, R), \text{ where } U_{1} = \Omega \cap U(x_{0}, \rho_{2} \gamma). \end{array}$

 $(\mathscr{A}_{6}) \ b_{1} \leq -\frac{1}{f'(t_{0})} \text{ or } \\ (\mathscr{A}_{6}') \ b_{2} \leq -\frac{1}{f'(t_{0})}.$

We shall use the majorizing Newton iteration function f defined by,

$$t_n = N_f(t_{n-1}) = t_{n-1} - \frac{f(t_{n-1})}{f'(t_{n-1})} \text{ for all } n = 1, 2, \dots,$$
(2.1)

where t_0 is given. Conditions $(\mathscr{A}_0), (\mathscr{A}_1)-(\mathscr{A}_6)$ or conditions $(\mathscr{A}_0), (\mathscr{A}_1), (\mathscr{A}_2'), (\mathscr{A}_3), (\mathscr{A}_4'), (\mathscr{A}_5')$ and (\mathscr{A}_6') shall be called the conditions $(\mathcal{A}).$

Remark 2.1. The following conditions were used in [5]-[10] for the special case $X = Y = \mathbb{R}^m$:

(\mathscr{C}_1) There exists $z \in \Omega$ and $\delta \ge 0$ such that $||x_0 - z|| = \delta$ and $||F''(z)|| \le f_1''(\gamma)$.

(C₂) There exists the operator $\Gamma_0 = F'(x_0)^{-1} \in L(\mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^m)$ with $\|\Gamma_0\| \leq -\frac{1}{f'(t_0)}$ and $\|\Gamma_0 F(x_0)\| \leq -\frac{f_1(t_0)}{f_1(t_0)}$. (C₃) $\|F''(x) - F''(z)\| \leq f_1''(t) - f_1''(\gamma)$ for $\|x - z\| \leq t - \gamma, x \in \Omega$ and $t \in [\gamma, +\infty)$ and the majorizing Newton sequence is defined by \bar{t}_0 . given,

$$\bar{t}_n = N_{f_1}(\bar{t}_{n-1}) = \bar{t}_{n-1} - \frac{f_1(\bar{t}_{n-1})}{f_1'(\bar{t}_{n-1})}$$

for each n = 1, 2, 3, ... and $\bar{t}_0 = t_0$.

Notice that $U_0 \subseteq \Omega$ *and* $U_1 \subseteq \Omega$ *. Therefore* f *is at least as tight as* f_1 *, i.e.,*

$$f(t) \le f_1(t)$$
$$-\frac{1}{f'(t)} \le -\frac{1}{f_1'(t)}$$

 $f''(t) - f''(\gamma) < f_1''(t) - f_1''(\gamma).$

and

Next, we state a well known result [9, 10].

Lemma 2.2. Suppose that there exists a nonnegative scalar sequence $\{t_n\}$ majorizing a sequence $\{x_n\} \subseteq \Omega$. Moreover, suppose that $\lim_{n \to +\infty} t_n = t_*$ for some $t_* \ge 0$. Then, there exists $x_* \in \Omega$ such that $\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n = x_*$ and $||x_* - x_n|| \le t_* - t_n$ for each n = 0, 1, 2, 3, ...

The proof of the next two results are skipped, since these are immediately obtained from the ones in [5, 6] by using function f, iteration $\{t_n\}$, condition (\mathscr{A}) instead of function f_1 , iterate $\{\bar{t}_n\}$ and conditions (\mathscr{C}_1)–(\mathscr{C}_3), respectively. Moreover, these results involve solutions of scalar equations related to Newton's sequence $\{t_n\}$.

Proposition 2.3. Assume that there exists a twice continuously differentiable function $f : [\gamma, +\infty) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ with $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ such that the (\mathscr{A}) conditions are satisfied.

- (1) If there exists a solution $\delta \in (\gamma, +\infty)$ of equation f'(t) = 0, then δ is the minimum value of f in $[\gamma, +\infty)$ and f is non-increasing in $[t_0, \delta)$.
- (2) If $f(\delta) \leq 0$, then the equation f(t) = 0 has a unique solution t_* in (γ, δ) satisfying $t_0 < t_* < \delta$.

Proposition 2.4. Assume that there exists a twice continuously differentiable function $f : [\gamma, +\infty) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ with $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ such that condition (\mathscr{A}) are satisfied. If there exist a solution $\delta \in [\gamma, +\infty)$ of equation f'(t) = 0 satisfying $f(\delta) \le 0$, then the scalar sequence $\{t_n\}$ given by (2.1) is nondecreasing and converges to the minimal solution t_* of f(t) = 0.

Next, the semi-local convergence of Newton's method follows.

Theorem 2.5. Let $F : \Omega \subseteq X \longrightarrow Y$ be a twice continuously differentiable operator in the Fréchet sense. Assume that there exist a function $f : [\gamma, +\infty) \longrightarrow \mathbb{R}$ twice continuously differentiable with $\gamma \in \mathbb{R}$ such that conditions (\mathscr{A}) are satisfied and a solution $\delta \in (\gamma, +\infty)$ of equation f'(t) = 0 satisfying $f(\delta) \le 0$ and $U(x_0, t_* - t_0) \subset \Omega$. Then, the sequence $\{x_n\}$ generated by Newton's method is well defined stays in $\overline{U}(x_0, t_* - t_0)$, and converges to a solution $x_* \in \overline{U}(x_0, t_* - t_0)$ of equation F(x) = 0, so that

$$||x_* - x_n|| \le t_* - t_n$$
 for each $n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$

where sequence $\{t_n\}$ is given in (2.1).

Proof. We use (\mathscr{A}_2) instead of (\mathscr{C}_3) used in [5, 6] to obtain

$$||F'(x_i)^{-1}|| \le \frac{b_1}{1 - b_1 g_1(t_i)}$$

or under (\mathscr{A}_{2}')

$$\|F'(x_i)^{-1}\| \le \frac{b_2}{1 - b_2 g_2(t_i)}$$

instead of

$$||F'(x_i)^{-1}|| \le -\frac{1}{f'(t_i)}.$$

Then, by (\mathscr{A}_4) or (\mathscr{A}'_4) we get that the preceding estimate also holds in our setting. Using this modification, the rest of proof follows as in [5, 6] with sequence $\{t_n\}$ replacing $\{\bar{t}_n\}$.

The next result provides information about the location of the solution.

Proposition 2.6. Assume that the condition (\mathscr{A}) are satisfied. If the equation f(t) = 0 has two solutions such that $t_0 < t_* \le t_{**}$, then x_* is unique in $U(x_0, t_{**} - t_0) \cap \Omega$ provided that $t_* < t_{**}$ or in $\overline{U}(x_0, t_* - t_0)$, provided that $t_* = t_{**}$.

Proof. Simply replace $f_1, \bar{t}_*, \bar{t}_{**}, \mathbb{R}^m, \mathbb{R}^m$ by f, t_*, t_{**}, X, Y , respectively in [5, 6, Theorem 7].

The following error bounds are also available:

Proposition 2.7. Assume that the hypotheses of Proposition 2.6 are satisfied.

(1) For $t_* < t_{**}$, suppose there exist $a_1 > 0$ and $b_1 > 0$ such that $a_1 \le \min\{\varphi(t) : t \in [t_0, t_*]\}$ and $b_1 \ge \max\{\varphi(t) : t \in [t_0, t_*]\}$, then

$$\frac{(t_{**}-t_*)\tau^{2^n}}{a_1-\tau^{2^n}} \le t_*-t_n \le (t_{**}-t_*)c^2$$

for all n = 0, 1, 2, ... where $\varphi(t) = \frac{(t_{**}-t)h'(t)-h(t)}{(t_*-t)h'(t)-h(t)}$, $f(t) = (t-t_*)(t-t_{**})h(t)$, $h(t_*) \neq 0$, $h(t_{**}) = 0$ and $\tau = \frac{t_*}{t_{**}}a_1$, provided that $\tau < 1$ and c < 1.

(2) For $t_* = t_{**}$, suppose there exists $b_3 > 0$ such that $b_3 \le \min{\{\psi(t) : t \in [t_0, t_*]\}}$, then

$$a_2^n t_* \le t_* - t_n \le b_3^n t_*$$

for all $n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$ provided that $a_2 < 1$ and $b_3 < 1$, where $\Psi(t) = \frac{(t_* - t)h'(t) - h(t)}{(t_* - t)h'(t) - 2h(t)}$.

Proof. Simply replace $f_1, \overline{t}_n, \overline{t}_*, \overline{t}_{**}$ by f, t_n, t_*, t_{**} in [5, 6, Theorem 8].

Remark 2.8. (i) It follows from Proposition 2.7 that the convergence order is quadratic for $t_* < t_{**}$, and linear, for $t_* = t_{**}$.

(ii) The uniqueness of the solution x_* is more precise under the new conditions. Notice that $f(\bar{t}_*) \leq f_1(\bar{t}_*) = 0$ so $t_* \leq \bar{t}_*$. Let us suppose that for $t_0 = 0$ [3, 5]-[10]

$$f(t) = \frac{p}{2}t^2 - \frac{t}{b} + \frac{\eta}{b},$$

$$f_1(t) = \frac{q}{2}t^2 - \frac{t}{b} + \frac{\eta}{b},$$

then $0 (provided that <math>2bq\eta \le 1$), we have that $t_* \le \overline{t}_*$ and $t_{**} \le \overline{t}_{**}$. Hence, the uniqueness of the solution x_* is improved. Similar favorable comparisons are given for the lower and upper bounds given in Proposition 2.7.

(iii) The construction of function f defined on U_0 as identical to the construction of function f_1 on Ω in [5, 6] is omitted. See also preceding case (ii) and the example in the next Section.

3. Numerical example

We present an example where our results apply to solve an equation but not earlier ones [5, 6].

Example 3.1. Let $X = Y = \mathbb{R}, \Omega = \overline{U}(x_0, 1-p), x_0 = 1, p \in I_0 = [2 - \sqrt{3}, \frac{1}{2}]$ and $z = x_0$. Define function F on Ω by

$$F(x) = \frac{x^3}{3} - px + \frac{2p}{3}.$$

Under the approach in [5, 6],

$$\|F''(x)\| = 2\|x\| \le 2(\|x - x_0\| + \|x_0\|) \le 2(1 - p + 1) = 2(2 - p),$$
(3.1)

$$\|F''(x_0) - F''(x)\| = 2\|x_0 - x\| \le 2,$$
(3.2)

$$b = \|F'(x_0)^{-1}\| = 1$$
(3.3)

and

$$\|F'(x_0)^{-1}F(x_0)\| = \frac{1}{3}(1-p) = \eta.$$
(3.4)

If polynomial f (or f_{old}) satisfies $f(\mu_2) \le 0$ (or $f_{old}(\mu_4) \le 0$), then it has a negative solution and two positive solutions. In view of (3.1)–(3.4), the old function f_{old} satisfying the conditions of Theorem 13 in [5, 6] is given by

$$f_{old}(t) = \frac{1}{3}t^3 + (2-p)t^2 - t + \frac{1}{3}(1-p)$$
(3.5)

Polynomial in (3.5) has a maximum at $t = \mu_3 = \frac{1}{2-p-\sqrt{(2-p)^2+1}} < 0$ and a minimum at $t = \mu_4 = \frac{1}{2-p+\sqrt{(2-p)^2+1}} > 0$ and $f_{old}(\mu_4) > 0$, for all $p \in I_0$.

Hence, the old results cannot guarantee that $\lim_{n \to +\infty} x_n = x_*$. Under the new approach, since $g_1(t) = (3-p)t$, $U_0 = \Omega \cap U(x_0, \frac{1}{3-p}) = U(x_0, \frac{1}{3-p})$, $\rho_1 = \frac{1}{3-p}$, so U_0 is a strict subset of Ω and,

$$||F''(x)|| = 2||x|| \le 2[||x-x_0|| + ||x_0||] \le 2(\frac{1}{3-p}+1).$$

Then, the new function f is defined by

$$f(t) = \frac{1}{3}t^3 + \frac{4-p}{3-p}t^2 - t + \frac{1}{3}(1-p).$$
(3.6)

Polynomial given in (3.6) has a maximum at $t = \mu_1 = \frac{1}{\frac{4-p}{3-p} - \sqrt{\left(\frac{4-p}{3-p}\right)^2 + 1}} < 0$ and a minimum at $t = \mu_2 = \frac{1}{\frac{4-p}{3-p} + \sqrt{\left(\frac{4-p}{3-p}\right)^2 + 1}} > 0$. Notice that (A₄) holds, if $p \in I_0, t \ge 0$ since it reduces to

$$\frac{1}{1 - (3 - p)t} \le -\frac{1}{t^2 + 2(\frac{4 - p}{3 - p})t - 1}$$
$$\frac{p^2 - 4p + 1}{3 - p} \le t$$

or or

$$p^2 - 4p + 1 \le 0,$$

which is true for $p \in I_0$. Moreover, we have that

 $f(\mu_2) \leq 0$, for all $p \in I_0$.

Therefore, under our approach $\lim_{n \to \infty} x_n = x_*$. Furthermore, although the old results do not apply, we also have that for each $t, \bar{t} \in [0, \rho_1]$ with $t < \overline{t}$, $f(t) \le f_{old}(\overline{t})$ and $f'(t) \le f'_{old}(\overline{t}) < 0$ so

$$-\frac{f(t)}{f'(t)} \le -\frac{f_{old}(\bar{t})}{f'_{old}(\bar{t})}$$

leading to

$$t_n \le \bar{t}_n,$$

$$t_{n+1} - t_n \le \bar{t}_{n+1} - \bar{t}_n$$

 $t_* \leq \overline{t}_*$.

and

Hence, the error bounds on $||x_{n+1} - x_n||$, $||x_n - x_*||$ are improved as well as the location of the solution.

References

- [1] I. K. Argyros, S. Hilout, Weaker conditions for the convergence of Newton's method, J. Complexity, AMS, 28 (2012), 364–387.
- [2] I. K. Argyros, S. Hilout, On the quadratic convergence of Newton's method under center-Lipschitz but not necessarily Lipschitz hypotheses, Math. Slovaca, 63 (2013), 621-638.

- [3] I. K. Argyros, A. A. Magrefán, Iterative Methods and Their Dynamics with Applications, CRC Press, New York, 2017.
 [4] H. T. Davis, Introduction to Nonlinear Differential and Integral Equations, Dover Pub., New York, 1992.
 [5] J. A. Ezquerro, D. Gonzalez, M. A. Hernández, Majorizing sequences for Newton's method from initial value problems, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 236 (2012), 2216–2238.
- [6] J. A. Ezquerro, M. A. Hernández, Majorizing sequences for nonlinear Fredhold-Hammerstein integral equations, Stud. Appl. Math., (2017), https://doi.org/10.1111/sapm.12200.
- J. M. Gutiérrez, A. A. Magreñán, N. Romero, On the semilocal convergence of Newton-Kantorovich method under center-Lipschitz conditions, Appl. Math. Comput., **221** (2013), 79–88. [7]
- [8] Kantorovich, L.V., Akilov, G.P., Functional Analysis, Pergamon Press, Oxford, 1982.
- L. B. Rall, Computational Solution of Nonlinear Operator equations, Robert E. Kreger Publishing Company, Michigan, 1979. [9]
- [10] T. Yamamoto, Historical developments in convergence analysis for Newton's and Newton-like methods, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 124 (2000), 1–23.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.503688



Order-Preserving Variants of the Basic Principles of Functional Analysis

A. A. Zaitov

Tashkent institute of architecture and civil engineering, Tashkent, Uzbekistan

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Functional analysis, Order- preserving functional, Vector space with an order unit	We will establish order-preserving versions of the basic principles of functional analysis such as Hahn-Banach, Banach-Steinhaus, open mapping, and Banach-Alaoglu theorems.
2010 AMS: 46B40, 46T99, 47H07	
Received: 27 December 2018	
Accepted: 20 February 2019	
Available online: 17 June 2019	

1. Introduction

Recently researches in the field of idempotent mathematics and also Choquet integrals intensively develop. Since its introduction in 1974 by Sugeno, the concept of fuzzy measure has been often used in multicriteria decision making. Later in [1], the authors explained the methodology of using the Choquet integral in multicriteria decision making. The notion of idempotent measure (Maslov integral) finds important applications in different part of mathematics, fuzzy topology, mathematical physics, and economics (see the article [2] and the bibliography therein). As well known idempotent measures and Choquet integrals are weakly additive, order-preserving functionals. But for this functionals there not establish yet the basic principles (analogous principles of Functional Analysis, see, for example, [3]). In the present paper, we will establish order-preserving versions of the basic principles of Functional Analysis such as the Hahn-Banach, Banach-Steinhaus, open mapping and Banach-Alaoglu theorems. Recently, in [4] the uniform boundedness principle for nonlinear operators on cones of functions was investigate. In works [5]-[7] by the author announced open mapping theorem for order-preserving operators and Banach-Alaoglu theorem for order-preserving functionals, in particular case, on the function spaces.

Remind that *partially ordered vector space* is a pair (L, \leq) where L is a vector space over the field \mathbb{R} of real numbers, \leq is an order satisfying the following conditions:

1) if $x \leq y$, then $x + u \leq y + u$ for all $x, y, u \in L$;

2) if $x \leq y$, then $\lambda x \leq \lambda y$ for all $x, y \in L$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+$.

If the conditions 1) and 2) hold then they say that \leq is a linear order. A formation of a vector space L with a linear order \leq over \mathbb{R} is equivalent to indicate a set $L_+ \subset L$ called a *positive cone* in L and owning the properties:

 $L_+ + L_+ \subset L_+; \qquad \lambda L_+ \subset L_+, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{R}_+; \qquad L_+ \cap (-L_+) = \{0\}.$

In this case, the order \leq and the positive cone L_+ are connected by a relation

$$x \leqslant y \Leftrightarrow y - x \in L_+, \qquad x, y \in L.$$

Elements of L_{+} is called *positive vectors* of L.

Let (L, L_+) be a partially ordered vector space. We say [8] that L_+ is full (or that L_+ is a full cone) if $L = L_+ - L_+$.

Let L be a partially ordered vector space over the field \mathbb{R} of real numbers, and L_+ be a full cone in it. Let $x_1, x_2 \in L$ be arbitrary various points. The set $[x_1, x_2] = \{\alpha x_1 + (1 - \alpha)x_2 : \alpha \in [0, 1]\}$ is called *a segment* connecting points x_1 and x_2 . A point $x \in [x_1, x_2]$ is an inner *point* of the segment $[x_1, x_2]$ if $x_1 \neq x \neq x_2$.

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: adilbek_zaitov@mail.ru, 0000-0002-2248-0442, (A. A. Zaitov)

Let $x \in L_+$. The point *x* is said to be *an inner point* of the cone L_+ if for any segment $[x_1, x_2]$ containing *x* as an inner point, the segment $[x_1, x_2] \cap L_+$ also contains it as an inner point. The set of all inner points of the cone L_+ is called *an interior* of this cone, and it denotes as Int L_+ .

Fix an inner point $x_0 \in L_+$. For a $\delta > 0$ we determine a δ -*neighbourhood* (with respect to the cone L_+ and the point x_0) of zero $0 \in L$ as following:

$$\langle 0; \boldsymbol{\delta} \rangle = \{ x \in L \colon (\boldsymbol{\delta} x_0 \pm x) \in \operatorname{Int} L_+ \}.$$

$$(1.1)$$

It is easy to see that a family of the sets of the view (1.1) forms a base of neighbourhoods of zero. A neighbourhood of an arbitrary point $z \in L$ can be defined by the shifts of the neighbourhoods of zero:

$$\langle z; \boldsymbol{\delta} \rangle = \langle 0; \boldsymbol{\delta} \rangle + z = \{ x + z \in L : \ x \in \langle 0; \boldsymbol{\delta} \rangle \} = \{ x + z \in L : \ (\boldsymbol{\delta} x_0 \pm x) \in \operatorname{Int} L_+ \} = \{ y \in L : \ (\boldsymbol{\delta} x_0 \pm (y - z)) \in \operatorname{Int} L_+ \}.$$

Proposition 1.1. A collection

$$\{\langle z; \boldsymbol{\delta} \rangle: z \in L, \boldsymbol{\delta} > 0\}$$

forms a base of a Hausdorff topology on L. Further, L equipped with this topology becomes a topological vector space.

Proof. The proof consists of direct checking.

11

An element $1 \in L$ of a partially ordered vector space *L* is called *(strongly) order unit* if $L = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} [-n1, n1]$. This is equivalent to what for every $x \in L$ there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that $-\lambda 1 \leq x \leq \lambda 1$. Let $x \in L$. A partially ordered vector space *L* is called *Archimedean* if the inequality $nx \leq 1$ executed for all n = 1, 2, ..., implies $x \leq 0$. In this case on *L* one can define a norm by the equality

$$||x|| = \inf\{\lambda > 0: -\lambda 1 \le x \le \lambda 1\}.$$

The obtained norm is said to be *an order norm*. A partially ordered vector space *L* is called *a vector space with an order unit* if *L* has an order unit and *L* is an Archimedean space. A topology on *L* generated by the norm (1.2) is called *order (vector)* topology. For a subset $X \subset L$ by Int*X* we denote the interior of *X* according to the order topology on *L*. We accept the following agreement

$$x < y \Leftrightarrow y - x \in \operatorname{Int} L_+$$
.

A set $U(0_E, \varepsilon) = \{x \in E : -\varepsilon 1_E < x < \varepsilon 1_E\}$ is an open neighbourhood of zero 0_E concerning to the order topology. As vector topology is translation invariance then for every point $x \in E$ a set $U(x, \varepsilon) = \{y \in E : -\varepsilon 1_E < y - x < \varepsilon 1_E\}$ is an open neighbourhood of *x* with respect to the order topology.

Proposition 1.2. The order topology and the topology introduced by Proposition 1.1 on a vector space with an order unit coincide.

Proof. Proof is trivial.

2. Extensions of order-preserving functionals

In this section, we will prove the order-preserving functional's variant of the Hahn-Banach theorem, one of the basic principles of functional analysis.

Definition 2.1. A subset *B* of a partially ordered vector space *L* is said to be an *A*-subspace concerning to a fixed inner point x_0 of a full cone $L_+ \subset L$ if $0 \in B$, and $x \in B$ implies $(x + \lambda x_0) \in B$ for each $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$.

The following assertion is evident.

Lemma 2.2. A subspace B of the partially ordered vector space L is an A-subspace according to x_0 iff it contains x_0 .

Note that the space *L* and its subspace $\{\lambda x_0 : \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$ are *trivial A*-subspaces. As distinct from the linear case the set $\{0\}$ is not *A*-subspace. It is easy to see that an intersection of any collection of *A*-subspaces is a *A*-subspace. In particular, an intersection of all *A*-subspaces containing a given set *X* is the minimal *A*-subspace, containing *X*; this *A*-subspace we call as *a weakly additive span* of *X*, and designate through A(X). The following statement describes a structure of the weakly additive span of a given set.

Proposition 2.3. A weakly additive span A(X) of a subset X of a partially ordered linear space L consists of a (set-theoretic) union of $\{\lambda x_0: \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$ and the collection of all sums of the look $x + \lambda x_0, x \in X, \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$, *i.e.*

$$A(X) = \{\lambda x_0: \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\} \cup \bigcup_{\substack{x \in X, \\ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}}} \{x + \lambda x_0\} = \bigcup_{\substack{x \in X \cup \{0\}, \\ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}}} \{x + \lambda x_0\},$$

in particular, if $x_0 \in X$ then

$$A(X) = \bigcup_{\substack{x \in X, \\ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}}} \{x + \lambda x_0\}.$$

Proof. The proof is obvious.

Let's denote

 $\Lambda = \{\lambda x_0; \ \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}.$

Then we have

$$A(X) = \bigcup_{x \in X \cup \{0\}} (x + \Lambda).$$

The last equality explains the name 'A-subspace'. Every A-subspace A(X) consists of the union of one-dimensional subspace $\Lambda \subset L$ and affine subsets $x + \Lambda \subset L$, $x \in X$.

Definition 2.4. A functional $f: L \to \mathbb{R}$ is called: 1) weakly additive (according to the point x_0) if

$$f(x + \lambda x_0) = f(x) + \lambda f(x_0), \qquad x \in L, \quad \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$$

2) order-preserving (concerning to the cone L_+) if for every pair $x, y \in L$ belonging $y - x \in L_+$ implies the inequality

 $f(x) \leqslant f(y);$

3) normed (with respect to the point x_0) if $f(x_0) = 1$.

From the definition immediately follows that weakly additive functional is linear on the one-dimensional subspace $\{\lambda x_0; \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$ of *L*. From here we have f(0) = 0.

Let (L, L_+) be a partially ordered real vector space. A functional $f: L \to \mathbb{R}$ is called *positive* if $f(L_+) \subseteq [0, +\infty)$. Each weakly additive, order-preserving functional is positive. Really, let $x \in L_+$. Then $x - 0 \in L_+$. Since f is order-preserving functional, then $f(x) \ge f(0)$. Consequently, $f(x) \ge 0$. There exists a function which is weakly additive, positive but does not order-preserving.

Example 2.5. Let $L = \mathbb{R}^2 = \{(x_1, x_2): x_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 1, 2\}$ be a partially ordered vector space with respect to the usual linear operations '·' – the multiplication by real numbers, '+' – the sum of elements of *L*, and to the pointwise order \leq on *L*, which defines as $(x_1, x_2) \leq (y_1, y_2) \Leftrightarrow x_1 \leq y_1$ and $x_2 \leq y_2$. The set $L_+ = \{(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2: x_i \geq 0, i = 1, 2\}$ is a full positive cone in *L*. Fix an inner point $\mathbf{1} = (1, 1) \in L_+$ and define a functional $f: \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$ by the rule

$$f(x_1, x_2) = \frac{1}{2} \left(x_1 + x_2 + \sqrt{|x_2 - x_1|} \right), \qquad (x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2.$$

It is clear that *f* is a positive functional. Moreover, for every $(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} f(x_1 + \lambda, x_2 + \lambda) &= \frac{1}{2} \left((x_1 + \lambda) + (x_2 + \lambda) + \sqrt{|(x_2 + \lambda) - (x_1 + \lambda)|} \right) = \\ &= \frac{1}{2} \left(x_1 + x_2 + \sqrt{|x_2 - x_1|} \right) + \lambda = f(x_1, x_2) + \lambda f(1, 1), \end{aligned}$$

i.e. f is a weakly additive (according to the inner point (1, 1)) functional. But we have $f(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}) < f(\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2})$ though $(\frac{1}{2}, \frac{1}{2}) - (\frac{1}{4}, \frac{1}{2}) \in L_+$. Thus, f is weakly additive, positive but does not order-preserving functional.

Proposition 2.6. If an order-preserving, weakly additive functional $f: L \to \mathbb{R}$ is continuous at zero 0 then it is continuous on the whole L.

Proof. Let for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $|f(x)| < \varepsilon$ for all $x \in \langle 0; \delta \rangle \subset L$. Let $y \in L$ be an arbitrary nonzero element. Consider a neighbourhood

$$\left\langle y; \frac{\delta}{2} \right\rangle = \left\{ z \in L: \left(\frac{\delta}{2} x_0 \pm (z - y) \right) \in \operatorname{Int} L_+ \right\}$$

For every $z \in \langle y; \frac{\delta}{2} \rangle$ we have: 1) $f(\frac{\delta}{2}x_0) + f(y) \ge f(z)$ since $(\frac{\delta}{2}x_0 + y) - z \in \text{Int}L_+$; 2) $f(\frac{\delta}{2}x_0) + f(z) \ge f(y)$ since $(\frac{\delta}{2}x_0 + z) - y \in \text{Int}L_+$. From here follows that

 $|f(z) - f(y)| \leq f\left(\frac{\delta}{2}x_0\right).$ (2.1)

Now we take $x \in L$ such that $x - \frac{\delta}{2}x_0 \in L_+$ and $\frac{3\delta}{4}x_0 - x \in L_+$. Then $f(\frac{\delta}{2}x_0) \leq f(x)$ and $f(x) \leq f(\frac{3\delta}{4}x_0)$. On the other hand $f(\frac{3\delta}{4}x_0) < \varepsilon$ so far as $\frac{3\delta}{4}x_0 \in \langle 0; \delta \rangle$. Consequently $|f(z) - f(y)| < \varepsilon$ for each $z \in \langle y; \frac{\delta}{2} \rangle$. So f is continuous at $y \in L$. Thus f is continuous on the whole L owing to arbitrariness of $y \in L$.

A weakly additive, order-preserving functional $f: L \to \mathbb{R}$ is called *bounded* if $\sup\{|f(x)|: x \in (0, 1)\} < \infty$.

Proposition 2.7. A weakly additive, order-preserving functional is bounded if and only if it is continuous.

Proof. Let $f: L \to \mathbb{R}$ be weakly additive, order-preserving bounded functional. Let $f(x_0) = a < \infty$ and $\delta x_0 \pm (z - y) \in \text{Int } L_+$. Then similarly to (2.1) one can show that $|f(z) - f(y)| < \delta f(x_0) = \delta a$, and consequently f is continuous.

Conversely, let a weakly additive, order-preserving functional $f: L \to \mathbb{R}$ be continuous. Then there exists $\delta > 0$ such that |f(x)| < 1 at all $x \in \langle 0; \delta \rangle$. In particular, $\left|\frac{\delta}{2}f(x_0)\right| < 1$ so far as $\frac{\delta}{2}x_0 \in \langle 0; \delta \rangle$. Hence, $|f(x_0)| < \frac{2}{\delta} < \infty$, i.e. $\sup\{|f(x)|: x \in \langle 0; 1 \rangle\} < \frac{2}{\delta} < \infty$.

Corollary 2.8. A weakly additive, order-preserving, normed functional is continuous (or, the same, bounded).

The following statement is an analog of Hahn-Banach theorem for weakly additive, order-preserving functionals.

Theorem 2.9. Let *B* be an *A*-subspace of the space *L*. Then for every weakly additive, order-preserving functional $f: B \to \mathbb{R}$ there exists a weakly additive, order-preserving functional $f_0: L \to \mathbb{R}$ such that $f_0|_B = f$.

Proof. Let $y \in L \setminus B$. Put $B' = B \cup \{y + \lambda x_0 : \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$. Obviously that B' is an A-subspace of L. Put

$$B^+ = \{z \in B: z - y \in B\}$$
 and $B^- = \{z \in B: y - z \in B\}$

The obtained sets B^+ and B^- are not empty. Indeed, take $\lambda > 0$ such that $y \in \langle 0; \lambda \rangle$. Then evidently that $2\lambda x_0 \in B^+$ and $-2\lambda x_0 \in B^-$. Put

$$p^+ = \inf\{f(z): z \in B^+\}, \qquad p^- = \sup\{f(z): z \in B^-\}.$$

We have $p^- \leq p^+$. Indeed, $y - z_1 \in L_+$ if provided $z_1 \in B^-$, and $z_2 - y \in L_+$ if provided $z_2 \in B^+$. From here we get $z_2 - z_1 \in L_+$. Consequently $f(z_1) \leq f(z_2)$ for all $z_1 \in B^-$ and $z_2 \in B^+$, i.e. $p^- \leq p^+$. Take a number p such that $p^- \leq p \leq p^+$ and put

$$f'(y + \lambda x_0) = p + \lambda f(x_0)$$

In such a way we define an extension f' of f from B on B'. From the definition directly implies that f' is a weakly additive functional. We will show that f' is order-preserving. It is order-preserving on B owing to f'|B = f. Besides it is evident that f' is order-preserving on $\{y + \lambda x_0: \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$. Let now $z - (y + \lambda x_0) \in L_+$, where $z \in B$. Then $(z - \lambda x_0) - y \in L_+$, i.e. $(z - \lambda x_0) \in B^+$. That is why

$$f'(z - \lambda x_0) = f(z - \lambda x_0) = f(z) - \lambda f(x_0) \ge p^+ \ge p = f'(y),$$

i.e. $f'(z) \ge f'(y + \lambda x_0)$. In the case when $(y + \lambda x_0) - z \in L_+$ one can similarly show that $f'(z) \le f'(y + \lambda x_0)$.

Thus, a weakly additive, order-preserving continuous functional $f: B \to \mathbb{R}$ defining on an *A*-subspace *B* can be extended to a weakly additive, order-preserving continuous functional $f': B' \to \mathbb{R}$ on a wider *A*-subspace *B'* of *L*. At the same time the equality $f'(x_0) = f(x_0)$ holds. Consider the set of all pairs (B', f') such that $B \subset B' \subset L$ where *B'* is an *A*-subspace, $f': B' \to \mathbb{R}$ is a weakly additive, order-preserving continuous extension of *f*. The relation $(B', f') \leq (B'', f'')$ meaning that $f'': B'' \to \mathbb{R}$ is a weakly additive, order-preserving continuous extension of *f'* on a subspace $B'', B' \subset B'' \subset L$, turns this set into a partially ordered set in which all chains are bounded. By Zorn's lemma,

there is the maximal element (B_0, f_0) of this set. We will show that $B_0 = L$. Suppose that $B_0 \neq L$. Take any point $y \in L \setminus B_0$ and put $B_1 = B_0 \cup \{y + \lambda x_0: \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$. Then f_0 can be extended to $f_1: B_1 \to \mathbb{R}$, and consequently, $(B_0, f_0) \leq (B_1, f_1)$. We got a contradiction with maximality of B_0 . So, $B_0 = L$.

3. Uniform boundedness principle for order-preserving operators

Let (E, \leq) and (F, \leq) be partially ordered vector spaces.

Definition 3.1. A map $T: E \to F$ is said to be an order-preserving operator if for arbitrary points $x, y \in E$ the inequality $x \leq y$ implies $T(x) \leq T(y)$.

Let (E, \leq) be a partially ordered vector space with an order unit 1_E and (F, \leq) be a partially ordered vector space.

Definition 3.2. A map $T: E \to F$ is said to be a weakly additive operator if $T(x + \lambda 1_E) = T(x) + \lambda T(1_E)$ takes place for each $x \in E$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$.

The last definition immediately implies $T(0_E) = T(1_E - 1_E) = T(1_E) - T(1_E) = 0_F$, i.e. $T(0_E) = 0_F$ for a weakly additive operator $T: E \to F$.

The following statement shows weakly additive, order-preserving operators of vector spaces with an order unit are automatical continuous.

Proposition 3.3. If *E* and *F* are vector spaces with an order unit then each weakly additive, order-preserving operator $T: E \to F$ is continuous.

Proof. We will show the operator *T* is continuous at zero 0_E . At first we note the following case. If $T(1_E) = 0_F$ then $T(x) = 0_F$ for all $x \in E$ since *T* is a weakly additive and order-preserving operator, and for every *x* there exists $\lambda > 0$ such that $-\lambda 1_E \leq x \leq \lambda 1_E$. So $T(E) \subset \{0_F\}$. This case we will not consider, i.e. suppose $T(1_E) \neq 0_F$. Then $||T(1_E)|| \neq 0$.

Let $V(0_F, \varepsilon) = \{y \in F : -\varepsilon 1_F < y < \varepsilon 1_F\}$ be a neighbourhood of zero 0_F in F, where $\varepsilon > 0$. Take the neighbourhood $U\left(0_E, \frac{\varepsilon}{\|T(1_E)\|}\right)$ of zero 0_E in E. For each vector $x \in U$ we have $-\frac{\varepsilon}{\|T(1_E)\|} 1_E < x < \frac{\varepsilon}{\|T(1_E)\|} 1_E$. Then $-\frac{\varepsilon}{\|T(1_E)\|} T(1_E) < T(x) < \frac{\varepsilon}{\|T(1_E)\|} T(1_E)$ since T is a weakly additive, order-preserving operator. From here we get $\|T(x)\| < \varepsilon$, i.e. $T(U) \subset V$. Thus T is continuous at 0_E . The remaining part of the proof is similar to the Proof of Proposition 2.6.

Remark 3.4. It is obvious that each linear non-negative operator on spaces with an order unit is weakly additive and order-preserving. The converse, in general, is not true. But, nevertheless, such operators are linear on a one-dimensional subspace $\{\lambda 1_E : \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset E$. In this case the image of the subspace $\{\lambda 1_E : \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\}$ under the map *T* is, as clearly, a one-dimensional subspace $\{\lambda T(1_E) : \lambda \in \mathbb{R}\} \subset F$. We have $T(1_E) \in F_+$ but it is optional $T(1_E) \in \operatorname{Int} F_+$. Therefore $T(1_E)$ is an order unit in T(E) but it is optional to be an order unit in *F*. From here and Proposition 3.3 follows that for every weakly additive, order-preserving operator $T : E \to F$ on spaces *E*, *F* with an order unit the inequality $||T(1_E)|| < \infty$ takes place.

Remind the following notions. A set *A* in a normed space *E* is called *bounded* if there exists R > 0 such that *A* can be placed into the ball $\{x \in E : ||x|| \leq R\}$. A map $T : E \to F$ of normed spaces is called *bounded* if it carries over a bounded set in *E* to a bounded set in *F*. It is obvious that the boundedness of the map *T* is equivalent to limitation of the set $\{||T(x)||: x \in E, ||x|| \leq R\}$ for every R > 0. In other words, $\sup\{||T(x)||: x \in E, ||x|| \leq R\} < \infty$ for every bounded map *T* and for each R > 0.

The following statement shows weakly additive, order-preserving operators of vector spaces with an order unit are automatical bounded.

Proposition 3.5. *Each weakly additive, order-preserving operator* $T: E \rightarrow F$ *of spaces with an order unit is bounded.*

Proof. The proof follows from Remark 3.4.

Let *E* and *F* be vector spaces with an order unit, 1_E and 1_F , respectively. A collection \mathscr{H} of weakly additive, order-preserving operators $T: E \to F$ is said to be *equicontinuous* if to every neighbourhood *V* of zero in *F* there corresponds a neighbourhood *U* of zero in *E* such that $T(U) \subset V$ for all $T \in \mathscr{H}$. If the collection \mathscr{H} consists only one weakly additive, order-preserving operator *T*, then \mathscr{H} is equicontinuous as *T* is continuous, and \mathscr{H} is uniformly bounded owing to boundedness of *T*. The following statement shows that each equicontinuous collection of weakly additive, order-preserving operators on vector spaces with an order unit is uniformly bounded.

Proposition 3.6. Let *E* and *F* be vector spaces with an order unit, \mathscr{H} an equicontinuous collection of weakly additive, order-preserving operators from *E* into *F*, and *A* a bounded subset of *E*. Then *F* has a bounded subset *B* such that $T(A) \subset B$ for every $T \in \mathscr{H}$.

Proof. Put $B = \bigcup_{T \in \mathscr{H}} T(A)$. Since the collection \mathscr{H} is equicontinuous then for every neighbourhood $V = V(0_F, \varepsilon)$ of zero in F there exists a neighbourhood $U = U(0_E, \delta)$ of zero in E that $T(U) \subset V$ for all $T \in \mathscr{H}$. So far as A is bounded for enough big $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we have $A \subset tU$. It

neighbourhood $U = U(0_E, \delta)$ of zero in *E* that $T(U) \subset V$ for all $T \in \mathscr{H}$. So far as *A* is bounded for enough big $t \in \mathbb{R}$ we have $A \subset tU$. It is clear, that $T(A) \subset T(tU)$. Assume that $x \in tU$. Then $||x|| < t\delta$, i.e. $-t\delta 1_E < x < t\delta 1_E$. As *T* is weakly additive and order-preserving we have $-t\delta T(1_E) < T(x) < t\delta T(1_E)$, $||T(x)|| < t\delta ||T(1_E)||$, consequently, $||\frac{1}{t}T(x)|| < \delta ||T(1_E)|| = ||T(\delta 1_E)|| \le \varepsilon$. Hence, $T(tU) \subset tV$. Thus $T(A) \subset tV$ for all $T \in \mathscr{H}$. It means that $B \subset tV$, i.e. the set *B* is bounded.

The following result is a weakly additive, order-preserving operators' variant of the Banach-Steinhaus theorem.

Theorem 3.7. Let *E* and *F* be vector spaces with an order unit, \mathscr{H} be a collection of weakly additive, order-preserving operators $T : E \to F$, and *A* be a set consisting of all points $x \in E$ whose orbits $\mathscr{H}(x) = \{T(x) : T \in \mathscr{H}\}$ are bounded in *F*. If *A* is a set of the second category then A = E and the collection \mathscr{H} is equicontinuous.

Proof. Let $V = V(0_F, \varepsilon)$ and $W = W(0_F, \varepsilon')$ be neighbourhoods such that $\overline{V} + \overline{V} \subset W$ where \overline{V} is the closure of V with respect to order topology in F. Put $B = \bigcap_{T \in \mathscr{H}} T^{-1}(\overline{V})$. Let $x \in A$. Then for some positive integer n we have $\mathscr{H}(x) \subset nV$ by virtue of boundedness of $\mathscr{H}(x)$.

Hence $T(x) \in nV$ or $x \in nT^{-1}(V)$ for all $T \in \mathscr{H}$. It means that $x \in nB$. Thus $A \subset \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} nB$. Thence at least one of the sets nB is the second category owing to A is so. A map $x \mapsto nx$ is a homeomorphism E onto itself. Consequently the set B is the second category. Continuity

category owing to A is so. A map $x \mapsto nx$ is a homeomorphism E onto itself. Consequently the set B is the second category. Continuity of operators $T \in \mathscr{H}$ implies B is closed in E. As B is the second category set, it has an inner point. By the construction of B one can see that $\delta 1_E$ lies in B as an inner point for enough small $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$. Let $\delta 1_E$ be such an inner point in B. Then a set $B - \delta 1_E = \{x - \delta 1_E : x \in B\}$ contains some neighborhood $U = U(0_E, \delta')$ of zero and

$$T(U) \subset T(B - \delta 1_E) = \{T(x - \delta 1_E) : x \in B\} = \{T(x) - \delta T(1_E) : x \in B\} = T(B) - \delta T(1_E) \subset \overline{V} - \overline{V} \subset W$$

for all $T \in \mathcal{H}$. It means that \mathcal{H} is a equicontinuous collection. Then \mathcal{H} is uniform bounded by Proposition 3.6. That is why an orbit $\mathcal{H}(x)$ is bounded for each $x \in E$. Consequently, since *A* consists of points of *E* whose orbits $\mathcal{H}(x) = \{T(x) : T \in \mathcal{H}\}$ are bounded in *F* we have $E \subset A$. Therefore A = E.

If a vector space with an order unit is a Banach space with respect to order norm then it said to be *a complete space with an order unit*. As each Banach space is a set of the second category then Theorem 3.7 directly implies

Corollary 3.8. Let *E* be a complete space with an order unit and *F* a vector space with an order unit, \mathcal{H} a collection of weakly additive, order-preserving operators $T: E \to F$, and a collection $\mathcal{H}(x) = \{T(x): T \in \mathcal{H}\}$ bounded in *F* for each $x \in E$. Then \mathcal{H} is an equicontinuous collection.

As Proposition 3.6 holds then Corollary 3.8 means that pointwise boundedness of an arbitrary collection weakly additive, order-preserving operators from a complete space with an order unit into a vector space with an order unit implies uniform boundedness of this collection. Let *E* and *F* be vector spaces with an order unit, $\{T_n\}$ a sequence of weakly additive, order-preserving operators $T_n: E \to F$. If for every $x \in E$ there exists a limit $\lim_{n \to \infty} T_n(x)$ then putting

$$T(x) = \lim_{x \to \infty} T_n(x), \qquad x \in E, \tag{3.1}$$

we have a weakly additive, order-preserving operator. Indeed,

$$T(x+\lambda 1_E) = \lim_{n \to \infty} T_n(x+\lambda 1_E) = \lim_{n \to \infty} (T_n(x)+\lambda T_n(1_E)) = T(x)+\lambda T(1_E)$$

and if $x \leq y$ then

$$T(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} T_n(x) \leqslant \lim_{n \to \infty} T_n(y) = T(y)$$

Corollary 3.9. Let *E* and *F* be vector spaces with an order unit, $\{T_n\}$ a sequence of weakly additive, order-preserving operators $T_n: E \to F$. If there exists a limit $\lim T_n(x), x \in E$, then an operator $T: E \to F$ defined by (3.1) is also a weakly additive, order-preserving operator.

4. Order-preserving variant of open mapping theorem

Remind that a map $f: X \to Y$ of topological spaces is called *open* at $x_0 \in X$ if for every open neighbourhood of x_0 in X there exists an open neighbourhood V of $f(x_0)$ in Y such that $V \subset f(U)$. A map is *open* on a topological space X if it is open at every point of X.

Lemma 4.1. Let *E* and *F* be vector spaces with an order unit, $T: E \to F$ a weakly additive, order-preserving onto operator. If *T* is open at zero then it is open on all *E*.

Proof. Let for every neighbourhood $U = U(0_E, \varepsilon)$ of 0_E its image $T(U) = \{T(x) : x \in U\}$ be open. We have $0_F \in T(U)$ as $T(0_E) = 0_F$. Thence there exists an open neighbourhood $V = V(0_F, \delta)$ of 0_F such that $V \subset T(U)$.

Now let $x_0 \in E$ be an arbitrary point and $U(x_0, \varepsilon)$ a neighbourhood of x_0 got by shifting $U(0_E, \varepsilon)$ on vector x_0 . Besides let $V(T(x_0), \delta)$ be a neighbourhood of $T(x_0)$ got by shifting $V(0_F, \delta)$ on vector $T(x_0)$. The proof of the Lemma will finish if we show that the following diagram is true

$$y \in V(T(x_0), \delta) \quad \stackrel{(1)}{\longleftrightarrow} \quad y - T(x_0) \in V(0_F, \delta)$$

$$(2) \Downarrow$$

$$y \in T(U(x_0, \varepsilon)) \quad \stackrel{(3)}{\longleftrightarrow} \quad y - T(x_0) \in T(U(x_0, \varepsilon)).$$

The equivalence of the double inequalities $-\delta 1_F < y - T(x_0) < \delta 1_F$ and $T(x_0) - \delta 1_F < y < \delta 1_F + T(x_0)$ implies (1). Since $V \subset T(U)$ we have (2). And the equivalence of the double inequalities $-\varepsilon T(1_E) < y - T(x_0) < \varepsilon T(1_E)$ and $T(x_0) - \varepsilon T(1_E) < y < \varepsilon T(1_E) + T(x_0)$ implies (3).

Thus for an arbitrary point $x \in E$ and its arbitrary neighbourhood $U = U(x, \varepsilon)$ there exists open neighbourhood $V = V(T(x), \delta)$ such that $V \subset T(U)$.

Remind that a metric *d* on a vector space *E* is invariant concerning to a shift of points of *E* if d(x+z,y+z) = d(x,y) for all $x, y, z \in E$. Define an order metric by the rule

$$d(x, y) = ||y - x|| = \inf\{\lambda > 0: -\lambda \mathbf{1}_E < y - x < \lambda \mathbf{1}_E\}.$$

It is easy to see that the following assertion holds.

Lemma 4.2. The order metric on a vector space with an order unit is invariant according to a shift of points.

Let *E* and *F* be vector spaces with an order unit. A product $E \times F$ over $(0_E, 0_F)$ becomes a vector space with an order unit if we will introduce to it coordinatewise operations of sum and multiplication by number

$$\alpha(x_1, x_2) + \beta(y_1, y_2) = (\alpha x_1 + \beta y_1, \alpha x_2 + \beta y_2),$$

and coordinatewise partially order

$$(x_1, x_2) \leq (y_1, y_2) \Leftrightarrow (x_1 \leq y_1 \text{ and } x_2 \leq y_2).$$

Order norm on $E \times F$ is defined by the rule

$$||(x_1, x_2)|| = \inf\{\lambda > 0 : -\lambda(1_E, 1_F) \leq (x_1, x_2) \leq \lambda(1_E, 1_F)\}.$$

Here $(1_E, 1_F)$ is one of inner points of $(E \times F)_+ = E_+ \times F_+$ that is why without losing generality we assume $(1_E, 1_F)$ is an order unit in the product. Denote $1_{E \times F} = (1_E, 1_F)$.

Let $T: E \to F$ be a weakly additive, order-preserving operator. The set of all pairs $(x, T(x)), x \in E$, is called *a graph* of *T*.

Lemma 4.3. Let *E* and *F* be vector spaces with an order unit, 1_E an order unit in *E*, $T: E \to F$ a weakly additive, order-preserving operator. Then the graph *G* of *T* is an *A*-subspace of $E \times T(E)$ with an order unit $1_{E \times T(E)}$.

Proof. We have $(0_E, 0_F) \in G \subset E \times T(E)$ since $T(0_E) = 0_F$. Consider $(x_1, x_2) \in E \times T(E)$ and $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} & (x_1, x_2) + \lambda \mathbf{1}_{E \times T(E)} = (x_1, T(x_1)) + (\lambda \mathbf{1}_E, \lambda \mathbf{1}_{T(E)}) = (x_1 + \lambda \mathbf{1}_E, T(x_1) + \lambda \mathbf{1}_{T(E)}) \\ & = (x_1 + \lambda \mathbf{1}_E, T(x_1) + \lambda T(\mathbf{1}_E)) = (x_1 + \lambda \mathbf{1}_E, T(x_1 + \lambda \mathbf{1}_E)), \end{aligned}$$

i.e. $(x_1, x_2) + \lambda \mathbf{1}_{E \times T(E)} \in G$.

Corollary 4.4. Let E, F be vector spaces with an order unit, 1_E an order unit in E, $T : E \to F$ a weakly additive, order-preserving operator. Then the image T(E) is A-subspace of F if and only if $T(1_E) \in IntF_+$.

Remark 4.5. Further, during the current section, without loss of generality, we will consider such weakly additive, order-preserving operators *T* for which $T(1_E) \in \text{Int} F_+$. Then we may assume that $T(1_E)$ is an order unit in *F*. Put $1_F = T(1_E)$.

At last, we will form a variant of the Open Mapping Theorem for weakly additive, order-preserving operators.

Theorem 4.6. Let *E* be a complete space with an order unit, *F* a vector space with an order unit, and $T: E \to F$ a weakly additive, order-preserving operator such that T(E) = F and *F* is a set of the second category. Then *(i)* the map *T* is open;

(ii) F is a complete space with an order unit.

Proof. Let $U(0_E, \varepsilon)$ be an open neighbourhood. Then according to Remark 4.5 we have

$$T(U(0_E, \varepsilon)) = \{T(x) \in F : -\varepsilon 1_E < x < \varepsilon 1_E\} = \{T(x) \in F : -\varepsilon 1_F < T(x) < \varepsilon 1_F\} = \{y \in F : \text{ there exists } x \in U(0_E, \varepsilon) \text{ such that } y = T(x) \text{ and } -\varepsilon 1_F < y < \varepsilon 1_F\} = U(0_F, \varepsilon).$$

It reminds to show that (*ii*) takes place.

Let $\{y_n\} \subset F$ be a fundamental (Cauchy) sequence. Then for every $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists a number *n* such that at all $k \ge n$, $m \ge n$ the double inequalities

$$-\varepsilon 1_F < y_m - y_k < \varepsilon 1_F$$

hold. One may assume $\varepsilon = \frac{1}{n}$. Then $-\frac{1}{n}\mathbf{1}_F < y_m - y_k < \frac{1}{n}\mathbf{1}_F$. Since $T(U(\mathbf{0}_E, \frac{1}{n})) = U(\mathbf{0}_F, \frac{1}{n})$ there exists $x_m, x_k \in E$ such that $T(x_m) = y_m$, $T(x_k) = y_k$ and $-\frac{1}{n}\mathbf{1}_E < x_m - x_k < \frac{1}{n}\mathbf{1}_E$. So we have constructed a fundamental sequence $\{x_n\} \subset E$. By completeness of E the sequence have a limit $x = \lim_{n \to \infty} x_n$. As T is continuous from Proposition 3.3 we have $T(x) = \lim_{n \to \infty} T(x_n) = \lim_{n \to \infty} y_n$. Then $\lim_{n \to \infty} y_n \in T(E) = F$. Thus, F is complete space with an order unit.

Remark 4.7. Note that open mapping principle for weakly additive, order-preserving operators it is impossible to form as the linear case. In the distinguishing from the linear case, weakly additivity and order-preserving of T, and being of T(E) the second category set does not imply the equality T(E) = F. On the other hand T(E) must not be open in F. At last, if T is not onto in Lemma 4.1 then openness of T at zero does not provide it openness on all the space.

Note that in linear topological spaces there is no open subspace different the whole space. But an *A*-subspace, distinguished from the subspace, may be open, closed or everywhere dense in the vector space with order unit.

Example 4.8. Let $L = \mathbb{R}^2 = \{(x_1, x_2) : x_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 1, 2\}$ be the vector space with an order unit considered in Example 2.5. Then $L_+ = \{(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x_i \ge 0, i = 1, 2\}$ is a positive cone in *L*. Fix $\mathbf{1} = (1, 1) \in \operatorname{Int} \mathbb{R}^2_+ = \{(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x_1 > 0, x_2 > 0\}$ as an order unit in it.

a) It is easy to see that the set $B = \{(x_1, x_1 + a) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : -1 < a < 1\}$ is an open (with respect to order topology) *A*-subspace, but $B \neq \mathbb{R}^2$. b) Let \mathbb{Q} be the set of rational numbers. Then $C = \{(x_1, x_1 + r) \in \mathbb{R}^2; r \in \mathbb{Q}\}$ is an everywhere dense *A*-subspace in \mathbb{R}^2 .

c) The set $D = \{(x_1, x_1 + a) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : -1 \le a \le 1\}$ is a closed *A*-subspace in \mathbb{R}^2 .

d) Define a map $T : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ by the rule

$$T(x_1, x_2) = \begin{cases} (x_1, x_1 - 1), & \text{at} \quad x_2 \le x_1 - 1, \\ (x_1, x_2), & \text{at} \quad x_1 - 1 < x_2 < x_1 + 1, \\ (x_1, x_1 + 1), & \text{at} \quad x_2 \ge x_1 + 1. \end{cases}$$

It is easy to check that T is a weakly additive map. Let us show that the map T is order-preserving. It clear that T is order-preserving on B by $T = id_B$.

Let $x_2 \ge x_1 + 1$. Take a vector $(y_1, y_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ such that $(x_1, x_2) \le (y_1, y_2)$. The following three cases possible. Case 1) $y_2 \ge y_1 + 1$. Then

 $T(x_1, x_2) = (x_1, x_1 + 1) \leq (y_1, y_1 + 1) = T(y_1, y_2).$

Case 2) $y_1 - 1 \leq y_2 \leq y_1 + 1$. Then $x_1 + 1 \leq y_2$. That is why

$$T(x_1, x_2) = (x_1, x_1 + 1) \leq (y_1, y_2) = T(y_1, y_2).$$

Case 3) $y_2 \leq y_1 - 1$. Then $x_1 + 1 \leq y_1 - 1$. Censequently

$$T(x_1, x_2) = (x_1, x_1 + 1) \leq (y_1, y_1 - 1) = T(y_1, y_2).$$

Similarly, one may show that T is order-preserving when $x_2 \leq x_1 - 1$. Thus T is order-preserving on the whole \mathbb{R}^2 .

We have $T(\mathbb{R}^2) = D \neq \mathbb{R}^2$ through the operator T is weakly additive and order-preserving, and the image $T(\mathbb{R}^2)$ is the second category. Clearly the image $T(\mathbb{R}^2)$ is closed in \mathbb{R}^2 and it is not open. Moreover T is open at zero but it is not open on \mathbb{R}^2 . Really for the open neighbourhood $U((2, 4), 1) = \{(x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{R}^2 : 1 < x_1 < 3, 3 < x_2 < 5\}$ of the point $(2, 4) \in \mathbb{R}^2$ its image $T(U) = \{(x_1, x_1 + 1) : 1 < x_1 < 3\}$ is not open in $T(\mathbb{R}^2)$.

5. Order-preserving variant of Banach-Alaoglu theorem

Let E be a vector space with an order unit. Fix 1_E as an order unit. By E_+^W we denote the set of all weakly additive, order-preserving functionals $f: E \to \mathbb{R}$. On E_+^W define algebraic operations pointwise. Then $E_+^W - E_+^W$ turns to a vector space with an order unit. Denote $E^W = E_+^W - E_+^W$. Put $E^O = \{f \in E_+^W : f(1_E) = 1\}$. Provide E^W with the pointwise convergence topology. A collection of the sets of the view

$$\langle f; x_1, \ldots, x_n; \varepsilon \rangle = \{g \in E^W : |f(x_i) - g(x_i)| < \varepsilon, i = 1, \ldots, n\}$$

forms a base of open neighbourhoods of $f \in E^W$, where $\varepsilon > 0, x_i \in E, i = 1, ..., n$.

The main result of the section is the following variant of the Banach-Alaoglu theorem for weakly additive, order-preserving functionals.

Theorem 5.1. If V is a neighbourhood of zero in E then the set

$$K = \{f \in E^O : |f(x)| \leq 1 \text{ for every } x \in V\}$$

is a compact in the pointwise convergence topology.

Proof. Since neighbourhoods of zero are absorbing sets, for every point $x \in E$ there exists $\gamma(x) \in \mathbb{R}_+$ such that $x \in \gamma(x)V$. That is why $|f(x)| \leq \gamma(x)$ for all $f \in E^W$ and $x \in E$. For every $x \in E$ denote $D_x = [-\gamma(x), \gamma(x)]$ and assume that τ is the Tychonoff topology in the product $P = \prod D_x$. It is well known that P is a Hausdorff compact space. By the construction we have $K \subset P \cap E^W$. We will show

that *K* is closed in *P*. Let $f_0 \in P$ and $f_0 = f_0^+ - f_0^-$, where $f_0^+, f_0^- \in P \cap E_+^W$. Suppose $\{f_\alpha^+\} \subset P \cap E_+^W$ and $\{f_\theta^-\} \subset P \cap E_+^W$ are nets converging to f_0^+ and f_0^- respectively. Then owing to Corollary 3.9 we have $f_0^+, f_0^- \in E^W$, and therefore $f_0 \in E^W$. On the other hand $|f_0(x)| = |(f_0^+(x) - f_0^-(x))| \leq \max\{|f_0^+(x)|, |f_0^-(x)|\} \leq \gamma(x)$ by $|f_\alpha^+(x)| \leq \gamma(x)$ and $|f_\theta^-(x)| \leq \gamma(x)$ for all $x \in E$, α and θ . Therefore $|f_0^+(x)| \leq \gamma(x)$ for all $x \in E$, α and θ . $|f_0^+(x)| \leq \gamma(x)$ for all $x \in E$ and $|f_0^+(x)| \leq 1$ so far as $x \in V$. It means that $f_0 \in K$.

 \square

Corollary 5.2. E^O is a compact in the pointwise convergence topology.

If E is a separable vector space with an order unit then Theorem 5.1 improves as

Theorem 5.3. If E is a separable vector space with an order unit, and K is a compact (with respect to pointwise convergence topology) subspace of E^W then K is metrizable.

Proof. Let $\{x_n\}$ be countable everywhere dense subset of E. For every $f \in E^W$ put $M_n(f) = f(x_n)$. By the definition of pointwise convergence topology, every M_n is a continuous function on E^W . If $M_n(f) = M_n(f')$ for all *n* then continuous functions *f* and f' coincide on everywhere dense subset. Thus $\{M_n\}$ is a countable family of continuous functions which separate points of the space E^W , in particular of K. Hence K is metrizable as each Hausdorff compact space which has a countable sequence of real-valued functions separating its points is metrizable.

Corollary 5.4. If E is separable vector space with an order unit then E^O is a metrizable compact in the pointwise convergence topology.

Acknowledgement

The author would like to express gratitude to the reviewers, professors Mahmut Akyiğit and Fuat Usta for the revealed shortcomings, the specified remarks, corrections and useful advices.

References

- [1] M. Grabisch, M. Roubens, Application of the Choquet Integral in Multicriteria Decision Making, In the book 'Fuzzy Measures and Integrals Theory and Applications' (eds M. Grabisch, T. Murofushi, M. Sugeno), Physica Verlag, (2000), 348-374.

- [2] T. Radul, Idempotent measures: Absolute retracts and soft maps, (2018), arXiv:1810.09140v1 [math.GN].
 [3] W. Rudin, Functional Analysis (2nd edition), International Editions (McGraw-Hill Book Co Singapore for manufacture and export), 1991.
 [4] A. Peperko, Uniform boundedness principle for nonlinear operators on cones of functions, Hindawi J. Func. Spaces, 2018, Article ID 6783748, 5 pages, available at https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6783748
- [5] A. Zaitov, On extension of order-preserving functionals, Doklady Akademii Nauk Uzbekistan, 5 (2005), 3-7.
- [6] A. Zaitov, Banach-Alaoglu theorem for order-preserving functionals, Theses of reports of the international scientific conference "Operator Algebras and Quantum Probability Theory", Tashkent, (2005), 81-83.
- A. Zaitov, Open mapping theorem for order-preserving operators, The collection of theses of the International conference of young scientists devoted [7] 1000 to the anniversary of Mamun Academy of Khwarezm, Tashkent, (2006), 4-5
- [8] V. Paulsen, M. Tomforde, Vector spaces with an order unit, Indiana Univ. Math. J., 58(3) (2009), 1319-1359.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.543712



On generalized Γ **-hyperideals in ordered** Γ **-semihypergroups**

Abul Basar^{1*}, Mohammad Yahya Abbasi¹ and Satyanarayana Bhavanari²

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Natural Sciences, Jamia Millia Islamia, New Delhi-110 025, India ²Department of Mathematics, Acharya Nagarjuna University, Nagarjuna Nagar, Guntur - 522 510, Andhra Pradesh, India ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: basar.jmi@gmail.com

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords:Ordered bi-Γ-hyperideal,
Ordered Γ-semihypergroup,
Ordered Γ-
semihypergroup2010AMS:16D25,06F05,
06F09,
00820,
16Y99.Received:23 March 2019Accepted:15 May 2019Available online:17 June 2019

In this article, we deal with ordered generalized Γ -hyperideals in ordered Γ -semihypergroups. In particular, we study (m,n)-regular ordered Γ -semihypergroups in terms of ordered (m,n)- Γ -hyperideals. Moreover, we obtain some ideal theoretic results in ordered Γ -semihypergroups.

1. Introduction

A semigroup is an algebraic structure together with a nonempty set and an associative binary operation. The systematic study of semigroups started in the early 20th century. Semigroups are important in different areas of Mathematics. The concept of hyperstructures was introduced in 1934 as a suitable generalization of classical algebraic structures by Marty [1]. He obtained various results on hypergroups and applied them in different areas, for instance, in algebraic rational fractions, functions, and noncommutative groups. Thereafter, many research papers have been published on this subject and has been studied recently by many algebraists such as: Prenowitz, Corsini, Jantosciak, Leoreanu, Heideri, Davvaz, Hila, Gutan, Griffiths and Halzen.

It is a well known fact that, in a semigroup, the composition of two elements is an element, while in a semihypergroup, the composition of two elements is a nonempty set. In fact, semihypergroups are the simplest algebraic hyperstructures with the properties of closure and associativity. They are very important in certain applications. Around the 1940s, the general notions of the theory and some applications in Geometry, Physics and Chemistry were studied. Various classical notions of semigroups have been extended to semihypergroups and Γ -semihypergroups are obtained by many algebraists all over the world.

The monograph on application of hyperstructures to various area of study has been written by Corsini et al. [2]. Prenowitz et al. investigated its applications in Geometry [3]. Davvaz et al. wrote a book beginning with some basic notions related to ring theory and algebraic hyperstructures [4]. Various types of hyperrings are introduced and discussed in this book. For application in Chemistry and Physics, we refer [5]-[12]. It describes various types of hyperstructures: e-hyperstructures and transposition hypergroups. Heideri et al. studied ordered hyperstructures [11]. For semihypergroups, we refer [6, 7, 8]. Hila and Davvaz studied quasi-hyperideals of ordered semihypergroups [13]. Corsini also studied hypergroup theory [14]- [15]. The notion of a Γ -hyperideal of a Γ -semihypergroup was introduced by Anvariyeh et al. [16]. Hila et al. studied the structure of Γ -semihypergroups [17]. Recently, Basar et.al. obtained various types of hyperideals in ordered semihypergroups, ordered LA- Γ -semigroups and LA- Γ -semihypergroups [18]- [20].

In the second part of this paper, we recollect some basic definitions and then, we define the concepts of (m,n)- Γ -hyperideal (resp. generalized (m,n)- Γ -hyperideal) and (m,n)-regular ordered Γ -semihypergroup, where m,n are non-negative integers. In the third part of this paper, we study ordered generalized Γ -hyperideals in ordered Γ -semihypergroups. In particular, we study (m,n)-regular ordered Γ -semihypergroups in terms of ordered (m,n)- Γ -hyperideals and obtain some ideal theoretic results in ordered Γ -semihypergroups.

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: basar.jmi@gmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-2740-0322 (A. Basar), mabbasi@jmi.ac.in, https://orcid.org/ 0000-0002-3283-1410) (M. Y. Abbasi), bhavanari2002@yahoo.co.in, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-0928-0582) (S. Bhavanari)

2. Basic definitions

Let H be a nonempty set, then the mapping $\circ: H \times H \to H$ is called a hyperoperation or a join operation on H, where $P^*(H) = P(H) \setminus \{0\}$ is the set of all nonempty subsets of H. Let A and B be two nonempty sets. Then, a hypergroupoid (S, \circ) is called a Γ -semihypergroups if for every $x, y, z \in S$ and $\alpha, \beta \in \Gamma$,

 $x \circ \alpha \circ (y \circ \beta \circ z) = (x \circ \alpha \circ y) \circ \beta \circ z,$

i.e..

$$\bigcup_{u\in y\circ\alpha\circ z} x\circ\alpha\circ u = \bigcup_{v\in x\circ\alpha\circ y} v\circ\beta\circ z.$$

A Γ -semihypergroup (S, \circ) together with a partial order " \leq " on S that is compatible with Γ -semihypergroup operation such that for all $x, y, z \in S$, we have

$$x \le y \Rightarrow z \circ \alpha \circ x \le z \circ \beta \circ y$$
 and $x \circ \alpha \circ z \le y \circ \beta \circ z$

is called an ordered Γ -semihypergroup. For subsets A, B of an ordered Γ -semihypergroup S, the product set $A \circ \Gamma \circ B$ of the pair (A, B) relative to S is defined as below:

$$A \circ \Gamma \circ B = \{a \circ \gamma \circ b : a \in A, b \in B, \gamma \in \Gamma\},\$$

and for $A \subseteq S$, the product set $A \circ \Gamma \circ A$ relative to S is defined as $A^2 = A \circ \Gamma \circ A$.

For $M \subseteq S$, $(M] = \{s \in S \mid s \le m \text{ for some } m \in M\}$. Also, we write (s] instead of $(\{s\}]$ for $s \in S$.

Let $A \subseteq S$. Then, for a non-negative integer m, the power of A is defined by $A^m = A \circ \Gamma \circ A \circ \Gamma \circ A \circ \Gamma \circ A \cdots$, where A occurs m times. Note that the power vanishes if m = 0. So, $A^0 \circ \Gamma \circ S = S = S \circ \Gamma \circ A^0$.

In what follows, we denote ordered Γ -semihypergroup (S, \circ, Γ, \leq) by S unless otherwise specified.

Suppose S is an ordered Γ -semihypergroup and I is a nonempty subset of S. Then, I is called an ordered right (resp. left) Γ -hyperideal of S if

(i) $I \circ \Gamma \circ S \subseteq I(resp. S \circ \Gamma \circ I \subseteq I)$, (ii) $a \in I, b \leq a$ for $b \in S \Rightarrow b \in I$.

We now define the concepts of (m,n)- Γ -hyperideal (resp. generalized (m,n)- Γ -hyperideal) and (m,n)-regular ordered Γ -semihypergroup, where m, n are non-negative integers.

Definition 2.1. Suppose B is a sub- Γ -semihypergroup (resp. nonempty subset) of an ordered Γ -semihypergroup S. Then, B is called an (m,n)- Γ -hyperideal (resp. generalized (m,n)- Γ -hyperideal) of *S*, where *m*, *n* are non-negative integers if (i) $B^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ B^n \subseteq B$, and (ii) for $b \in B$, $s \in S$, $s \leq b \Rightarrow s \in B$.

Note that in the above Definition 2.1, if we set m = n = 1, then B is called a (generalized) bi- Γ -hyperideal of S.

Definition 2.2. Suppose (S, Γ, \circ, \leq) is an ordered Γ -semihypergroup and *m*, *n* are non-negative integers. Then, *S* is called (m, n)-regular if for any $s \in S$, there exists $x \in S$ such that $s \leq s^m \circ \gamma_1 \circ x \circ \gamma_2 \circ s^n$ for $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \Gamma$. Equivalently: (S, Γ, \circ, \leq) is (m, n)-regular if $s \in (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$ for all $s \in S$.

3. Ordered (m, n)- Γ -hyperideals

In this part, some classical notions of semigroups and semihypergroups have been extended to ordered Γ -semihypergroups and some results on generalized ordeded (m,n)- Γ -hyperideals and (m,n)-regular ordered Γ -semihypergroups are obtained. The results concern with ordered Γ -semihypergroup theory which represent the most general algebraic context in which these results are studied. We begin with the following:

Lemma 3.1. Suppose (S, Γ, \circ, \leq) is an ordered Γ -semihypergroup and $s \in S$. Let m, n be non-negative integers. Then, the intersection of all ordered (generalized) (m,n)- Γ -hyperideals of S containing s, denoted by $[s]_{m,n}$, is an ordered (generalized) (m,n)- Γ -hyperideal of S containing s.

Proof. Let $\{A_i : i \in I\}$ be the set of all ordered (generalized) (m,n)- Γ -hyperideals of S containing s. Obviously, $\bigcap_{i \in I} A_i$ is a sub- Γ semihypergroup of *S* containing *s*. Let $j \in I$. As $\bigcap_{i \in I} A_i \subseteq A_j$, we have

$$(\bigcap_{i\in I}A_i)^m\circ\Gamma\circ S\circ\Gamma\circ(\bigcap_{i\in I}A_i)^n\subseteq A_j^m\circ\Gamma\circ S\circ\Gamma\circ A_j^n\subseteq A_j.$$

Therefore.

$$(\bigcap_{i\in I}A_i)^m\circ\Gamma\circ S\circ\Gamma\circ(\bigcap_{i\in I}A_i)^n\subseteq\bigcap_{i\in I}A_i.$$

Let $a \in \bigcap_{i \in I} A_i$ and $b \in S$ so that $b \leq a$. Therefore, $b \in \bigcap_{i \in I} A_i$. Hence, $\bigcap_{i \in I} A_i$ is an ordered (generalized) (m, n)- Γ -hyperideal of S containing s.

Theorem 3.2. Suppose (S, Γ, \circ, \leq) is an ordered Γ -semihypergroup and $s \in S$. Then, we have the following:

(i) $[s]_{m,n} = (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$ for any positive integers m, n. (ii) $[s]_{m,0} = (\bigcup_{i=1}^m s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]$ for any positive integer m. (iii) $[s]_{0,n} = (\bigcup_{i=1}^n s^i \cup s^n]$ for any positive integer n.

Proof. (i) $(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n] \neq \emptyset$. Let $a, b \in (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$ be such that $a \leq x$ and $b \leq y$ for some $x, y \in (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$. If $x, y \in s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n$ or $x \in \bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i, y \in s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n$ or $x \in s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n$, $y \in \bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i$, then, $x \circ \gamma \circ y \subseteq s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n$, and therefore, $x \circ \gamma \circ y \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n$ for $\gamma \in \Gamma$. It follows that $a \circ \gamma \circ b \subseteq (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$. Let $x, y \in \bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i$. Then, $x = s^p, y = s^q$ for some $1 \leq p, q \leq m+n$. Now, two cases arise: If $1 \leq p+q \leq m+n$, then, $x \circ \gamma \circ y \subseteq \bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i$. If m+n < p+q, then, $x \circ \gamma \circ y \subseteq s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n$. So, $x \circ \gamma \circ y \subseteq (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$. This implies that $(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$ is a sub- Γ -semihypergroup of S. Moreover, we have

In a similar fashion, $S \circ \Gamma \circ (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]^n \subseteq (S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$. Therefore, $(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n] \subseteq (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$. So, $(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$ is an (m,n)- Γ -hyperideal of S containing s; hence, $[s]_{m,n} \subseteq (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$. For the reverse inclusion, suppose $a \in (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$ is such that $a \leq t$ for some $t \in (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$. If $t = s^j$ for some $1 \leq j \leq m+n$, then, $t \in [s]_{m,n}$, therefore, $a \in [s]_{m,n}$. If $t \in s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n$, by

$$s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n \subseteq ([s]_{m,n})^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ ([s]_{m,n})^n \subseteq [s]_{m,n},$$

then, $t \in [s]_{m,n}$; hence, $a \in [s]_{m,n}$. This implies that $(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n] \subseteq [s]_{m,n}$. Hence, $[s]_{m,n} = (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$. (ii) and (iii) can be proved in a similar fashion.

Lemma 3.3. Suppose (S, Γ, \circ, \leq) is an ordered Γ -semihypergroup and $s \in S$. Suppose m, n are non-negative integers. Then, we have the following:

(i) $([s]_{m,0})^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S].$ (ii) $S \circ \Gamma \circ ([s]_{0,n})^n \subseteq (S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n].$ (iii) $([s]_{m,n})^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ ([s]_{m,n})^n \subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n].$

Proof. (i) Using Theorem 3.2, we have

$$\begin{split} ([s]_{m,0})^m \circ \Gamma \circ S &= (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \\ &= (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]^{m-1} \circ \Gamma \circ (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S] \circ \Gamma \circ S \\ &\subseteq (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]^{m-1} \circ \Gamma \circ (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \circ \Gamma \circ S \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ S] \\ &\subseteq (\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^i \cup s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]^{m-1} \circ \Gamma \circ (s \circ \Gamma \circ S] \\ &\cdot \\ &\cdot \\ &\subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]. \end{split}$$

Hence, $([s]_{m,0})^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]$. (ii) can be proved similarly as (i).

(iii) Applying Theorem 3.2, we have

$$([s]_{m,n})^{m} \circ \Gamma \circ S = \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^{i} \cup s^{m} \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^{n} \right]^{m} \circ \Gamma \circ S$$

$$= \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^{i} \cup s^{m} \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^{n} \right]^{m-1} \circ \Gamma \circ \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^{i} \cup s^{m} \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^{n} \right] \circ \Gamma \circ S$$

$$\subseteq \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^{i} \cup s^{m} \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^{n} \right]^{m-1} \circ \Gamma \circ \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^{i} \circ \Gamma \circ S \cup s^{m} \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^{n} \circ \Gamma \circ S \right)$$

$$= \left(\bigcup_{i=1}^{m+n} s^{i} \cup s^{m} \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^{n} \right]^{m-1} \circ \Gamma \circ \left(s \circ \Gamma \circ S \right)$$

$$\cdot$$

$$\cdot$$

$$= \left(s^{m} \circ \Gamma \circ S \right).$$

Therefore, $([s]_{m,n})^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]$. In a similar fashion, $S \circ \Gamma \circ ([s]_{m,n})^n \subseteq (S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$. So,

$$\begin{aligned} ([s]_{m,n})^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ ([s]_{m,n})^n & \subseteq \quad (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S] \circ \Gamma \circ ([s]_{m,n})^n \\ & \subseteq \quad (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ (S \circ \Gamma \circ ([s]_{m,n})^n)] \\ & \subseteq \quad (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ (S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n)] \\ & \subseteq \quad (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]. \end{aligned}$$

Hence, (iii) holds.

Theorem 3.4. Suppose (S, Γ, \circ, \leq) is an ordered Γ -semihypergroup and m, n are non-negative integers. Let $\mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}$ and $\mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}$ be the set of all ordered (m, 0)- Γ -hyperideals and the set of all ordered (0, n)- Γ -hyperideals of S, respectively. Then,

(i) S is (m,0)-regular if and only if for all R ∈ 𝔐_(m,0), R = (R^m ∘ Γ ∘ S].
(ii) S is (0,n)-regular if and only if for all L ∈ 𝔐_(0,n), L = (S ∘ Γ ∘ Lⁿ].

Proof.(i) Suppose S is (m, 0)-regular. Then,

for all
$$s \in S, s \in (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]$$
.

Suppose $R \in \mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}$. As $R^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \subseteq R$, and R = (R], we have $(R^m \circ \Gamma \circ S] \subseteq R$. If $s \in R$, by Equation (3.1), we obtain $s \in (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S] \subseteq (R^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]$, therefore, $R \subseteq (R^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]$. So, $(R^m \circ \Gamma \circ S] = R$. Conversely, suppose

for all
$$\mathbf{P} \subset \mathcal{P}$$
 $\mathbf{P} = (\mathbf{P}^m \circ \mathbf{\Gamma} \circ \mathbf{S})$

for all
$$\mathbf{R} \in \mathscr{R}_{(\mathbf{m},\mathbf{0})}, \mathbf{R} = (\mathbf{R}^{\mathbf{m}} \circ \mathbf{I} \circ \mathbf{S}].$$

Suppose $s \in S$. Therefore, $[s]_{m,0} \in \mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}$. By Equation (3.2), we obtain

 $[s]_{m,o} = (([s]_{m,0})^m \circ \Gamma \circ S].$

 $[s]_{m,o} \subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S].$

Applying Lemma 3.3, we obtain

Therefore, $s \in (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]$. Hence, *S* is (m, 0)-regular. (ii) It can be proved analogously.

Theorem 3.5. Suppose (S, Γ, \circ, \leq) is an ordered Γ -semihypergroup and m, n are non-negative integers. Suppose $\mathscr{A}_{(m,n)}$ is the set of all ordered (m, n)- Γ -hyperideals of S. Then,

$$S \text{ is } (m,n) - regular \iff \text{ for all } A \in \mathscr{A}_{(m,n)}, A = (A^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ A^n].$$

$$(3.3)$$

Proof. Consider the following four conditions:

Case (i): m = 0 and n = 0. Then, Equation (3.3) implies S is (0, 0)-regular \iff for all $A \in \mathscr{A}_{(0,0)}, A = S$ because $\mathscr{A}_{(0,0)} = \{S\}$ and S is (0, 0)-regular. Case (ii): m = 0 and $n \neq 0$. Therefore, Equation (3.3) implies S is (0, n)-regular \iff for all $A \in \mathscr{A}_{(0,n)}, A = (S \circ \Gamma \circ A^n]$. This follows by Theorem 3.4(ii). Case (iii): $m \neq 0$ and n = 0. This can be proved applying Theorem 3.4(i). Case (iv): $m \neq 0$ and $n \neq 0$. Suppose S is (m, n)-regular. Therefore,

for all $s \in S, s \in (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$.

Let $A \in \mathscr{A}_{(m,n)}$. As $A^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ A^n \subseteq A$ and A = (A], we obtain $(A^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ A^n] \subseteq A$. Suppose $s \in A$. Applying Equation (3.4), $s \in (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n] \subseteq (A^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ A^n]$. Therefore, $A \subseteq (A^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ A^n]$. Hence, $A = (A^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ A^n]$. Conversely, suppose $A = (A^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ A^n]$ for all $A \in \mathscr{A}_{(m,n)}$. Suppose $s \in S$. As $[s]_{m,n} \in \mathscr{A}_{(m,n)}$, we have

$$[s]_{m,n} = (([s]_{m,n})^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ ([s]_{m,n})^n].$$

Applying Lemma 3.3(iii), we obtain $[s]_{m,n} \subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$, therefore, $s \in (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$. Hence, S is (m,n)-regular.

(3.2)

(3.1)

Theorem 3.6. Suppose (S, Γ, \circ, \leq) is an ordered Γ -semihypergroup and m, n are non-negative integers. Suppose $\mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}$ and $\mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}$ is the set of all (m, 0)- Γ -hyperideals and (0, n)- Γ -hyperideals of S, respectively. Then,

$$S \text{ is } (m,n) - \text{regular ordered } \Gamma - \text{semihypergroup} \iff \text{ for all } \mathbb{R} \in \mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}, \text{ for all } \mathbb{L} \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)},$$

$$R \cap L = (R^m \circ \Gamma \circ L \cap R \circ \Gamma \circ L^n].$$
(3.5)

Proof. Consider the following four cases:

Case (i): m = 0 and n = 0. Therefore, Equation (3.5) implies

S is (0, 0)-regular \iff for all $R \in \mathscr{R}_{(0,0)}$ for all $L \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,0)}$, $R \cap L = (L \cap R]$ because $\mathscr{R}_{(0,0)} = \mathscr{L}_{(0,0)} = \{S\}$ and S is (0, 0)-regular. Case (ii): m = 0 and n = 0. Therefore, Equation (3.5) implies

S is (0,n)-regular \iff for all $\mathbb{R} \in \mathscr{R}_{(0,n)}$ for all $\mathbb{L} \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}, \mathbb{R} \cap \mathbb{L} = (\mathbb{L} \cap \mathbb{R} \circ \Gamma \circ \mathbb{L}^n]$. Suppose S is (0,n)-regular. Suppose $\mathbb{R} \in \mathscr{R}_{(0,0)}$ and $L \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}$. By Theorem 3.4(ii), $L = (S \circ \Gamma \circ L^n]$. As $R \in \mathscr{R}_{(0,0)}$, we have R = S, therefore, $R \cap L = L$. Therefore,

$$(L \cap R \circ \Gamma \circ L^n] = (L \cap S \circ \Gamma \circ L^n] = ((S \circ \Gamma \circ L^n] \cap S \circ \Gamma \circ L^n] = (S \circ \Gamma \circ L^n] = L = R \cap L$$

Conversely, suppose

for all
$$\mathbf{R} \in \mathscr{R}_{(0,0)}$$
, for all $\mathbf{L} \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}, \mathbf{R} \cap \mathbf{L} = (\mathbf{L} \cap \mathbf{R} \circ \mathbf{\Gamma} \circ \mathbf{L}^n].$ (3.6)

If $R \in \mathscr{R}_{(0,0)}$, then R = S. If $L \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}$, $S \circ \Gamma \circ L^n \subseteq L$ and L = (L]. Therefore, Equation (3.6) implies

for all
$$L \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}, L = (S \circ \Gamma \circ L^n].$$

Applying Theorem 3.4(ii), S is (0, n)-regular.

Case (iii): $m \neq 0$ and n = 0. This can be proved as before.

Case (iv): $m \neq 0$ and $n \neq 0$. Suppose that S is (m, n)-regular. Suppose $R \in \mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}$ and $L \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}$. To prove that $R \cap L \subseteq (R^m \circ \Gamma \circ L] \cap (R \circ \Gamma \circ L)$ $\Gamma \circ L^n$], suppose $s \in R \cap L$. We have

$$s \in (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n] \subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ L] \subseteq (R^m \circ \Gamma \circ L] \text{ and } s \in (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n] \subseteq (R \circ \Gamma \circ s^n] \subseteq (R \circ \Gamma \circ L^n]$$

Hence, $R \cap L \subseteq (R^m \circ \Gamma \circ L] \cap (R \circ \Gamma \circ L^n]$. As

$$(R^m \circ \Gamma \circ L] \subseteq (R^m \circ \Gamma \circ S] \subseteq (R] = R$$
 and $(R \circ \Gamma \circ L^n] \subseteq (S \circ \Gamma \circ L^n] \subseteq (L] = L$.

This implies that $(R^m \circ \Gamma \circ L] \cap (R \circ \Gamma \circ L^n] \subseteq R \cap L$, therefore, $R \cap L = (R^m \circ \Gamma \circ L] \cap (R \circ \Gamma \circ L^n]$. Conversely, suppose

for all
$$R \in \mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}$$
, for all $L \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}, R \cap L = (R^m \circ \Gamma \circ L \cap R \circ \Gamma \circ L^n]$.

Suppose $R = [s]_{m,0}$ and L = S. Applying Equation (3.7), we obtain $[s]_{m,0} \subseteq (([s]_{m,0})^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]$. Applying Lemma 3.3, we obtain

$$[s]_{m,0} \subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S]. \tag{3.8}$$

In a similar fashion, we obtain

 $[s]_{0,n} \subseteq (S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n].$

As $R^m \subseteq R$ and $L^n \subseteq L$, by Equation (3.7), we have

for all $R \in \mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}$, for all $L \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}, R \cap L \subseteq (R \circ \Gamma \circ L]$.

As $(s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S] \in \mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}$ and $(S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n] \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}$, we obtain

$$(s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S] \cap (S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n] \subseteq ((s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S] \circ \Gamma \circ (S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]] \subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$$

Applying Equations (3.8) and (3.9), we obtain

$$[s]_{m,0} \cap [s]_{0,n} \subseteq (s^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ s^n]$$

Hence, S is (m, n)-regular.

4. Conclusion

In this paper, we introduced the concepts of (m,n)- Γ -hyperideal (resp. generalized (m,n)- Γ -hyperideal) and (m,n)-regular ordered Γ semihypergroup, where m, n are non-negative integers and studied some properties of (m, n)- Γ -hyperideals in ordered Γ -semihypergroups. In particular, we studied (m,n)-regular ordered Γ -semihypergroups. We proved that if (S,Γ,\circ,\leq) is an ordered Γ -semihypergroup, where m,n are non-negative integers and if $\mathscr{A}_{(m,n)}$ is the set of all ordered (m,n)- Γ -hyperideals of S. Then, S is (m,n) - regular \iff for all $A \in \mathscr{A}_{(m,n)}, A =$ $(A^m \circ \Gamma \circ S \circ \Gamma \circ A^n]$. We also proved that if (S, Γ, \circ, \leq) is an ordered Γ -semihypergroup, where m, n are non-negative integers; and if $\mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}$, $\mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}$ is the set of all (m,0)- Γ -hyperideals and (0,n)- Γ -hyperideals of S, respectively. Then, S is (m,n)-regular ordered Γ -semihypergroup \iff for all $R \in \mathscr{R}_{(m,0)}$, for all $L \in \mathscr{L}_{(0,n)}$, $R \cap L = (R^m \circ \Gamma \circ L \cap R \circ \Gamma \circ L^n]$. The results of this article can also be applied on semihypergroups and on ordered semihypergroups by some suitable modifications. We hope that this work will provide the basis for further study on ordered Γ -semihypergroups.

5)

(3.7)

(3.9)

5. Acknowledgement

The authors wish to thank the referee for the valuable suggestions to improve this paper.

References

- F. Marty, Sur une generalization de la notion de groupe, 8th Congress Math. Scandenaves, Stockholm, (1934), 45-49. [1]
- [2] P. Corsini, V. Leoreanu, *Applications of Hyperstructure Theory*, Advances in Mathematics, Kluwer Academic Publishers, Dordrecht, 2003.
 [3] W. Prenowitz, J. Jantosciak, *Join Geometries*, Springer-Verlag, UTM., 1979.
- [4] B. Davvaz, V. Leoreanu-Fotea, Hyperring Theory and Applications, International Academic Press, USA, 2007.
- [5] B. Davvaz, A. Dehghan Nezhad, *Chemical examples in hypergroups*, Ratio Mathematica-Numero, 14 (2003), 71–74.
 [6] B. Davvaz, *Some results on congruences in semihypergroups*, Bull. Malays. Math. Sci. Soc., 23(2) (2000), 53–58.
 [7] B. Davvaz, *Polygroup Theory and Related Systems*, World Scientific Publishing Co. Pvt. Ltd., Hackensack, 2013.
- [7] B. Davvaz, N. S. Poursalavati, *Semihypergroups and S-hypersystems*, Pure Math. Appl., 11 (2000), 43–49.
 [9] C. Gutan, *Simplifiable Semihypergroups*, in: Algebraic Hyperstructures and Applications, Xanthi, World Scientific, 1990.

- [10] D. Griffiths, Introduction to Elementary Particles, John Wiley & Sons, 1987.
 [11] D. Heidari, B. Davvaz. On ordered hyperstructures, Politehn. Univ. Bucharest Sci. Bull. Ser., A Appl. Math. Phys., 73(2) (2011), 85—96.
- [12] F. Halzen, A. Martin, Quarks & Leptons: An Introductory Course in Modern Particle Physics, John Wiley & Sons, 1984.
- [13] K. Hila, B. Davvaz, K. Naka, On quasi-hyperideals in semihypergroups, Comm. Algebra, 39 (2011), 4183-4194.
- [14] P. Corsini, *Prolegomena of hypergroup theory*, second ed., Aviani Editore, Tricesimo, 1993.
 [15] P. Corsini, Sur les semi-hypergroupes, Atti Soc. Pelorit. Sci. Fis. Math. Nat., 26(4) (1980), 363—372.
- [16] S. M. Anvariyeh, S. Mirvakili, B. Davvaz, On Γ -hyperideals in Γ -semihypergroups, Carpathian J. Math., 26(1) (2010), 11-23.
- [17] K. Hila, B. Davvaz, J. Dine, *Study on the structure of* Γ *-semihypergroups*, Commun. Algebra, **40**(8) (2012), 2932-2948. [18] A. Basar, M. Y. Abbasi, S. A. Khan, *An introduction of theory of involutions and their weakly prime hyperideals*, J. Indian Math. Soc., **86**(3-4) (2019),
- 1-11. [19] A. Basar, Application of (m, n)- Γ -hyperideals in characterization of LA- Γ -semihypergroups, Discuss. Math. Gen. Algebra Appl., **39**(1)(2019),
- 135-147. [20] A. Basar, A note on (m, n)- Γ -ideals of ordered LA- Γ -semigroups, Konuralp J. Math., 7(1) (2019), 107-111.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.552192



The Third Isomorphism Theorem on UP-Bialgebras

Daniel A. Romano

International Mathematical Virtual Institute, Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: UP-algebra, UP-ideal, UPhomomorphism, UP-bialgebra, UPbiideal, UP-bihomomorphism, UPbiisomorphism 2010 AMS: 03G25 Received: 11 April 2019 Accepted: 29 May 2019 Available online: 17 June 2019

The concept of UP-bialgebras was introduced and analyzed by Mosrijai and Iampan at the beginning of 2019. Theorem that we can look at as the First theorem on UP-biasomorphism between the UP-bialgebras is given in our forthcoming text [9]. In this article we construct a form of the third theorem on UP-biasomorphism between UP-bialgebras.

1. Introduction

The concept of UP-algebras developed by Iampan in [1]. Examining the substructures in this algebra are done for example in articles [2, 3]. This author took part in analyzing the properties of UP-algebras and their substructures, also [4]-[6]. Some forms of the isomorphism theorem between UP-algebras can be found in [2, 3, 5, 6].

The concept of bi-algebraic structures was studied by Vasantha Kandasamy in 2003 [7]. The concept of UP-bialgebras with the associated substructures and their mutual connections can be found in [8]. In the forthcoming article [9], this author offered one form the first theorem of the isomorphism between the UP-bialgebras.

In this article we expose a form of the second isomorphism theorem between UP-bialgebras.

2. Preliminaries

In this section, we will present the necessary previous concepts of UP-algebras, their substructures and UP-homomorphisms taken from texts [1, 2, 3, 8]. We will also expose their mutual relationships in the form of proclaims necessary for our intention.

2.1. UP-algebras

In this subsection we will describe some elements of UP-algebras and their substructures necessary for our intentions in this text.

Definition 2.1 ([1]). An algebra $L = (L, \cdot, 0)$ of type (2,0) is called a UP-algebra where L is a nonempty set, ' · ' is a binary operation on L, and 0 is a fixed element of L (i.e. a nullary operation) if it satisfies the following axioms: $(UP-1) \quad (\forall x, y \in L)((y \cdot z) \cdot ((x \cdot y) \cdot (x \cdot z)) = 0),$ $(UP-2) \quad (\forall x \in L)(0 \cdot x = x),$ $(UP-3) \quad (\forall x \in L)(x \cdot 0 = 0), and$

 $(UP-4) \quad (\forall x, y \in L)((x \cdot y = 0 \land y \cdot x = 0) \Longrightarrow x = y).$

Definition 2.2 ([1]). A nonempty subset *J* of a UP-algebra $(L, \cdot, 0)$ is called (1) a UP-subalgebra of *L* if $(\forall x, y \in J)(x \cdot y \in J)$. (2) a UP-ideal of *L* if (i) $0 \in J$; and (ii) $(\forall x, y, z \in L)((x \cdot (y \cdot z) \in J \land y \in J) \Longrightarrow x \cdot z \in J)$. The set $\{0\}$ is a trivial UP-subalgebra (trivial UP-ideal) of L.

In the article [6], Theorem 3.3, it has been shown that the conditions (i) and (ii) in the preceding definition are equivalent to the following conditions

 $\begin{array}{ll} (\mathrm{iii}) \ (\forall x,y \in L)((x \cdot y \in J \land x \in J) \Longrightarrow y \in J), \\ (\mathrm{iv}) \ (\forall x,y \in L)(y \in J \Longrightarrow x \cdot y \in J). \end{array}$

Definition 2.3 ([1]). Let $(L, \cdot, 0_L)$ and $(M, \cdot', 0_M)$ be two UP-algebras. A mapping $f: L \longrightarrow M$ is called a UP-homomorphism if

 $(\forall x, y \in L)(f(x \cdot y) = f(x) \cdot f(y)).$

A UP-homomorphism $f: L \longrightarrow M$ is called (3) a UP-epimorphism if f is surjective, (4) a UP-monomorphism if f is injective, and (5) a UP-isomorphism if f is bijective.

Let *f* be a mapping form UP-algebra *L* to UP-algebra *M*, and let *A* and *B* be nonempty subsets of *L* and of *M*, respectively. The set $f(A) = \{f(x) | x \in A\}$ is called the image of *A* under *f*. In particular, f(L) which denoted by Im(f) is called the image of *f*. The dually set $f^{-1}(B) = \{x \in L | f(x) \in B\}$ is called the inverse image of *B* under *f*. Especially, the set $Ker(f) = f^{-1}(\{0_M\}) = \{x \in L : f(x) = 0_M\}$ is called the kernel of *f*.

A relation of congruence on UP-algebras is introduced in [1] by Definition 3.1 and Proposition 3.5 on this way: If J is a UP-ideal of a UP-algebra L, then the relation \sim_J defined by

$$(\forall x, y \in L)(x \sim_J y \iff (x \cdot y \in J \land y \cdot x \in J))$$

is a UP-congruence on *L*. Further on, any relation of congruence on UP-algebras has this form according to the claim (1) of Theorem 3.6 and the claim (1) of Theorem 3.7 in [1]. In particular, if $f: L \longrightarrow M$ is a UP-homomorphism between UP-algebras, then the relation \sim_f determined by Ker(f) is a UP-congruence in *L*. The factor-set $L/\sim_J = \{[x]_{\sim_J} : x \in L\}$ is a UP-algebra according to the claim (4) of Theorem 3.7 in [1]. We also use the following notion $L/J = \{[x]_J : x \in L\}$ to denote this factor algebra.

2.2. UP-bialgebras

The concept of UP-bialgebras and some their substructures were introduced and analyzed by Mosrijai and Iampan in the recently published work [8]. In this subsection, taking into account their determinations, we describe the concept of UP-bialgebras and some notions connected with them. So, in this subsection, we will repeat the concept of UP-bialgebras and the notions of UP-bisubalgebras and UP-bideals of UP-bialgebras, and will expose some results related to substructures of such algebras.

Definition 2.4 ([8], Definition 3.1). An algebra $L = (L, \cdot, *, 0)$ of type (2, 2, 0) is called a UP-bialgebra where L is a nonempty set, \cdot and * two are binary internal operations on L, and 0 is a fixed element of L if there exist two distinct proper subsets L_1 and L_2 of L with respect to \cdot and *, respectively, such that

 $(UPB-1) L = L_1 \cup L_2;$ $(UPB-2) (L_1, \cdot, 0)$ is a UP-algebra, and $(UPB-3) (L_2, *, 0)$ is a UP-algebra. We will denote the UP-bialgebra by $L = L_1 \uplus L_2$. In case of $L_1 \cap L_2 = \{0\}$, we call L zero disjoint.

Definition 2.5 ([8], Definition 3.7). A nonempty subset J of a UP-bialgebra $L = L_1 \uplus L_2$ is called a UP-bialgebra) of L if there exist subsets J_1 of L_1 and J_2 of L_2 with respect to \cdot and *, respectively, such that

(6) $J_1 \neq J_2$ and $J = J_1 \cup J_2$; (7) $(J_1, \cdot, 0)$ is a UP-ideal (UP-subalebra) of $(L_1, \cdot, 0)$, and (8) $(J_2, *, 0)$ is a UP-ideal (UP-subalgebra) of $(L_2, *, 0)$. In case of $J_1 \cap L_2 = \{0\} = L_1 \cap J_2$, we call S zero disjoint.

The important relationship between these notions is the following:

Proposition 2.6 ([9]). If $J \supset \{0\}$ is a UP-subalgebra (resp., UP-ideal) of UP-algebra L_1 (of UP-algebra L_2 , respectively), such that $\{0\} \neq J$, then on J can be seen as a zero disjoint UP-bisubgebra (resp., UP-bideal) of UP-bialgebra $L = L_1 \uplus L_2$.

2.3. UP-bihomomorphisms

Let $f: L \longrightarrow M$ be a function from a set L to a set M and $C \subseteq L$. Then the restriction of f to C is the function $f_{[C]}: C \longrightarrow M$.

Definition 2.7 ([8], Definition 4.1). Let $L = L_1 \uplus L_2$ be a UP-bialgebra with two binary operations \cdot and *, and let $M = M_1 \uplus M_2$ be a UP-bialgebra with two binary operations \cdot and *. A mapping f form $L = L_1 \uplus L_2$ to $M = M_1 \uplus M_2$ is called a UP-bihomomorphism if it satisfies the following properties:

(9) $f_{[L_1]}: L_1 \longrightarrow M_1$ is a UP-homomorphism, and

(10) $f_{[L_2]}: L_2 \longrightarrow M_2$ is a UP-homomorphism.

We say that these restrictions are natural restrictions. A UP-bihomomorphism $f: L \longrightarrow M$ is called

- a UP-biepimorphism if the natural restriction are UP-epimorphisms,

- a UP-bimonomorphism if the natural restriction are UP-monomorphisms, and

- a UP-biisomorphism if the natural restriction are UP-isomorphisms.

Proposition 2.8 ([8]). *let* $f : L_1
in L_2 \longrightarrow M_1
in M_2$ *be a UP-bihomomorphism. Then the following statements hold:* (11) $f(0_L) = 0_M$, and (12) $Ker(f) = \{0_L\}$ *if and only if* f *is an injective mapping;* (13) *if* J *is a UP-bisubalgebra of* L, *then the image* f(J) *is a UP-bisubalgebra of* B; (14) *if* $J = J_1 \cup J_2$ *is a UP-bideal of* L, and J_1 and J_2 are subsets of L_1 and of L_2 , respectively, with $Ker(f) \subseteq J_1 \cap J_2$, then the image f(J) *is a UP-bideal of* M;

(15) if D is a UP-bisubalgebra of M, then the inverse image $f^{-1}(D)$ is a UP-bisubalgebra of L; and

(16) if D is a UP-bildeal of M, then the inverse image $f^{-1}(D)$ is a UP-bildeal of L.

3. The main results

In our forthcoming article [9], we formulated and proved a form of the first isomorphism theorem between UP-bialgebras. To this direction, we used the following lemma.

Lemma 3.1 ([9]). Let $L = L_1 \uplus L_2$ and $M = M_1 \uplus M_2$ be two UP-bialgebras and let $f : L \longrightarrow M$ be a UP-bihomomorphism. Then the set $Ker(f_{[A_1]}) \cup Ker(f_{[A_2]})$ is a UP-bihomomorphism $Ker(f) = Ker(f_{[L_1]}) \uplus Ker(f_{[L_2]})$ holds.

Let $L = L_1 \uplus L_2$ be a UP-bialgebra with two binary operations \cdot and *, and let $M = M_1 \uplus M_2$ be a UP-bialgebra with two binary operations \cdot and *' and let $f : L \longrightarrow M$ be a UP-bibnomorphism. Let \sim_1 is the congruence on L_1 generated by the UP-ideal $Ker(f_{[L_1]})$

 $\forall x, y \in L_1) (x \sim_1 y \iff (x \cdot y \in Ker(f_{[L_1]}) \land y \cdot x \in Ker(f_{[L_1]})))$

and let \sim_2 be the congruence on L_2 generated by the UP-ideal $Ker(f_{[L_2]})$

$$(\forall x, y \in L_2)(x \sim_2 y \iff (x * y \in Ker(f_{[L_2]}) \land y * x \in Ker(f_{[L_2]}))).$$

Then we can construct the factor-UP-algebra L_1/\sim_1 and the factor-UP-algebra L_2/\sim_2 . So, $L_1/\sim_1 \uplus L_2/\sim_2$ is a UP-bialgebra with two binary operation ' \odot ' and ' \circledast ' defined by

$$(\forall [x]_{\sim_1}, [y]_{\sim_1} \in L_1 / \sim_1))([x]_{\sim_1} \odot [y]_{\sim_1} = [x \cdot y]_{\sim_1})$$

and

$$(\forall [x]_{\sim_2}, [y]_{\sim_2} \in L_2/\sim_2))([x]_{\sim_2} \circledast [y]_{\sim_2} = [x \ast y]_{\sim_2}).$$

Previous analysis enables us to introduce the following determination: Let $L = L_1 \sqcup L_2$ be a UP-bialgebra. For a pair (\sim_1, \sim_2) the relation of congruence \sim_1 on L_1 and \sim_2 on L_2 we write $L_1 \sqcup L_2/(\sim_1, \sim_2)$ instead of $L_1/\sim_1 \amalg L_2/\sim_2$. If $\pi_1 : L_1 \longrightarrow L_1/\sim_1$ and $\pi_2 : L_2 \longrightarrow L_2/\sim_2$ are canonical UP-epimorphisms, then there is a unique canonical UP-epimorphism $\pi : L_1 \amalg L_2 \longrightarrow L_1 \amalg L_2/(\sim_1, \sim_2)$ such that $\pi_{[L_1]} = \pi_1$ and $\pi_{[L_2]} = \pi_2$. Particularly, there is a unique UP-epimorphism $\pi : L_1 \amalg L_2 \longrightarrow (L_1 \amalg L_2)/(Ker(f_{[L_1]}), Ker(f_{[L_2]}))$. The first theorem of isomorphism between UP-bialgebras has the form in which for simplicity we write A/Ker(f) instead of $A/(Ker(f_{[A_1]}), Ker(f_{[A_2]}))$.

Theorem 3.2 ([9]). Let $f: L \longrightarrow M$ be a UP-bihomomorphism. Then there exists the unique UP-bihomomorphism $g: L/Ker(f) \longrightarrow M$ such that $f = g \circ \pi$. In addition, for the UPB-subalgebra f(L) of M holds $L/Ker(f) \cong f(L)$.

Let us analyze now the following situation:

Let *J* and *K* be UP-biideals of a UP-bialgebra *L* such that $J \subseteq K$. Then there exist UP-ideals J_1 and K_1 of the UP-algebra L_1 and there exist UP-ideals J_2 and K_2 of the UP-algebra L_2 such that $J_1 \neq J_2$ and $J = J_1 \cup J_2$, and $K_1 \neq K_2$ and $K = K_1 \cup K_2$, by Definition 2.5. If $J_1 \subseteq K_1$ and $J_2 \subseteq K_2$ hold, then K_1/J_1 is a UP-ideal of UP-algebra L_1/J_1 and K_2/J_2 is a UP-ideal of UP-algebra L_2/J_2 . From here follows $L_1/K_1 \cong (L_1/J_1)/(K_1/J_1)$ according to Theorem 3.10 in [6]. We also have it $L_2/K_2 \cong (L_2/J_2)/(K_2/J_2)$ according to same theorem. So, the set $K_1/J_1 \uplus K_2/J_2$ is a UP-biideal of the UP-bialgebra $L_1/J_1 \uplus L_2/J_2$. Thus, the mapping $g_1 : L_1/J_1 \longrightarrow L_1/K_1$ has $Ker(g_1) = K_1/J_1$. Analogously, the mapping $g_2 : L_2/J_2 \longrightarrow L_2/K_2$ has $Ker(g_2) = K_2/J_2$ as core. Therefore, the homomorphism $g : L/(J_1, J_2) \longrightarrow L/(K_1, K_2)$, determined by $g_{[L_1/J_1]} = g_1$ and $g_{[L_2/J_2]} = g_2$ has the core exactly $K_1/J_1 \uplus K_2/J_2$.

The previous analysis is a motivation for the following theorem can be seen as the Third isomorphism theorem between UP-bialgebras.

Theorem 3.3. Let $L = L_1 \uplus L_2$ be a UP-bialgebra and let $J = J_1 \uplus J_2$ and $K = K_1 \uplus K_2$ be UP-bideals such that $J_1 \subseteq K_1$ and $J_2 \subseteq K_2$. Then

$$L/(K_1, K_2) \cong (L/(J_1, J_2))/(K_1/J_1, K_2/J_2)$$

holds.

Final Observation

The concept of UP-algebras introduced and first results on them given by Iampan 2017 [1]. This author took part in analyzing the properties of UP-algebras and their substructures, also [4, 5, 6]. Algebraic bi-strukture was analyzed by Vasantha Kandasamy in 2003 [7]. The concept of UP-bialgebras introduced and the first results ware given by Mosrijai and Iampan at the beginning of 2019 [8]. Using by the concept of UP-bihomorphisms, introduced in [8], in this article we formulated and proved the theorem (Theorem 3.3), which can be viewed as the Third isomorphism theorem between the UP-bialgebras.

Of course, there remains an open possibility of formulating and trying to prove other forms of these two isomorphism theorems between the UP-bialgebra.

Acknowledgement

The author thanks the reviewer (s) on useful suggestions that helped make the concepts more accurate and the ideas outlined in this article are more consistently formulated. The author also owes his gratitude to the editorial office of the journal on patience and expressed good will.

References

- A. Iampan, A new branch of the logical algebra: UP-algebras, J. Algebra Relat. Topics, 5(1) (2017), 35--54.
 A. Iampan, The UP-isomorphism theorems for UP-algebras, Discuss. Math. Gen. Algebra Appl., 39(1) (2019), 113-123.
 P. Mosrijai, A. Satirad, A. Iampan, The new UP-isomorphism theorems for UP-algebras in the meaning of the congruence determined by a UP-homomorphism, Fundam. J. Math. Appl., 1(1) (2018), 12-17.
 D. A. Romano, Proper UP-filters in UP-algebra, Univers. J. Math. Appl., 1(2) (2018), 98-100.
 D. A. Romano, Some properties of proper UP-filters of UP-algebras, Fundam. J. Math. Appl., 1(2) (2018), 109-111.
 D. A. Romano, Notes on UP-ideals in UP-algebra, Commun. Adv. Math. Sci., 1(1) (2018), 35-38.
 W. X. Kandasamy, Biologharic Structures and Smarandache Biologharic Structures. India: American Research Press. 2003.

- [7] W. B. V. Kandasamy, Bialgebraic Structures and Smarandache Bialgebraic Structures, India: American Research Press, 2003.
- [8] P. Mosrijai, A. Iampan, A new branch of bialgebraic structures: UP-bialgebras, J. Taibah University Sci., 13(1) (2019), 450--459.
- [9] D. A. Romano, The first theorem on UP-biizomorphism between UP-bialgebras, Konuralp J. Math., (To appear)



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.486878



The Nyström Method and Convergence Analysis for System of Fredholm Integral Equations

Huimin Zhou¹ and Qisheng Wang^{1*}

¹School of Mathematics and Computational Science, Wuyi University, Jiangmen, Guangdong, P.R. China ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: 282228006@qq.com

Abstract

Keywords: Convergence analysis, Error estimation, Nyström method, System of Fredholm integral equations. 2010 AMS: 45D05, 45G10, 65D30. Received: 23 November 2018 Accepted: 1 March 2019 Available online: 17 June 2019

In this paper, the efficient numerical solutions of a class of system of Fredholm integral equations are solved by the Nyström method, which discretizes the system of integral equations into solving a linear system. The existence and uniqueness of the exact solutions are proved by the Banach fixed point theorem. The format of the Nyström solutions is given, especially with the composite Trapezoidal and Simpson rules. The results of error estimation and convergence analysis are obtained in the infinite norm sense. The validity and reliability of the theoretical analysis are verified by numerical experiments.

1. Introduction

In this paper, we consider a class of system of Fredholm integral equations of the form

$$\begin{cases} u(x) = f(x) + \int_{a}^{b} [k_{11}(x, y)u(y) + k_{12}(x, y)v(y)]dy \\ v(x) = g(x) + \int_{a}^{b} [k_{21}(x, y)u(y) + k_{22}(x, y)v(y)]dy, \end{cases}$$
(1.1)

where the known functions $f(x), g(x) \in C[a,b], k_{pq}(x,y) \in C([a,b] \times [a,b]), p,q = 1, 2, u(x), v(x) \in C[a,b]$ are the unknown functions. The integral equation problem has been two hundred years old, and the integral equation is widely used in the study of physics, especially in mechanics, magnetism, architecture and etc. Since the exact solution of the integral equation problem is difficult to find, its high-precision numerical solutions are often studied. Many numerical methods are used for numerical solution of Fredholm integral equation, for instance, Taylor collocation method [1], Galerkin projection and Least squares approximation method [2], variational iteration and fixed point iterative method [3], Nyström method and mechanical quadrature method [4]-[7], meshless methods [8] and multiscale methods [9], and so on. However, there is not much paper about solving the system of integral equations. This paper will study the Nyström method of the system of Fredholm integral equations.

2. A sufficient condition for the existence and uniqueness of exact solutions

According to Banach fixed point theorem, a sufficient condition for the existence and uniqueness of exact solution of system of Fredholm integral equations (1.1) is proposed. First, for (1.1), we structure a function vector space

$$V^{2}[a,b] = \{s(x) = [s_{1}(x), s_{2}(x)]^{T}, s_{i}(x) \in C[a,b], \ i = 1,2\}$$

and a functional matrix space

$$V^{2\times 2}([a,b]\times[a,b]) = \{(s_{ij}(x,y))_{2\times 2}, s_{ij}(x,y) \in C([a,b]\times[a,b]), i, j = 1,2\}.$$

For

$$K(x,y) = (k_{pq}(x,y))_{2 \times 2} \in V^{2 \times 2}([a,b] \times [a,b]), \ p,q = 1,2$$

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: 1303943677@qq.com, 0000-0003-3078-7652 (H. Zhou), 282228006@qq.com, 0000-0001-6254-2938 (Q. Wang)

and

$$U(x) = [u(x), v(x)]^T \in V^2[a, b]$$

we write the numerical integral operator ${\mathscr K}$ defined as

$$(\mathscr{K}U)(x) = \int_{a}^{b} K(x,y)U(y)dy.$$

The norm of the numerical integral operator ${\mathscr K}$ discussed in this paper is defined as

$$\|\mathscr{K}\|_{\infty} = \max_{1 \le p \le 2} \left[\sum_{q=1}^{2} \max_{a \le x \le b} \int_{a}^{b} |k_{pq}(x, y)| dy\right].$$

Theorem 2.1. If $||\mathscr{K}||_{\infty} < 1$ holds, then the exact solutions of the system of Fredholm integral equations (1.1) is existential and unique. *Proof.* For all $U_i(x) \in V^2[a,b]$, i = 1, 2, one has

$$TU_i = F(x) + \int_a^b K(x, y)U(y)dy, \ i = 1, 2.$$

Then we have

$$\begin{aligned} \|TU_1 - TU_2\|_{\infty} &= \|\int_a^b K(x, y)U_1(y)dy - \int_a^b K(x, y)U_2(y)dy\|_{\infty} \\ &= \|\int_a^b K(x, y)[U_1(y) - U_2(y)]dy\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \|\int_a^b K(x, y)dy\|_{\infty} \cdot \|U_1 - U_2\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq \|\mathscr{K}\|_{\infty} \cdot \|U_1 - U_2\|_{\infty}. \end{aligned}$$

Since $\|\mathscr{K}\|_{\infty} < 1$, *T* is a contraction mapping. Consider that Banach fixed point theorem, then (1.1) exists a unique solution $U^* \in V^2[a,b]$ such that $TU^* = U^*$ holds.

3. The Nyström method

In this section, we use the numerical quadrature scheme to obtain a general algorithm for the Nyström method of the system of Fredholm integral equations.

Applying numerical quadrature scheme to integral terms of (1.1), we can have

$$\int_{a}^{b} [k_{p1}(x,y)u(y) + k_{p2}(x,y)v(y)]dy$$

= $\sum_{i=0}^{n} \omega_{i}[k_{p1}(x,x_{i})u(x_{i}) + k_{p2}(x,x_{i})v(x_{i})] + R_{p}^{(n)}, \ p = 1,2$

where $\omega_i(i = 0, 1, ..., n)$ are coefficients of quadrature and $x_i(i = 0, 1, ..., n)$ are the quadrature node points and $R_1^{(n)}, R_2^{(n)}$ are remainder terms, such that (1.1) can be rewritten as

$$\begin{cases} u(x) = f(x) + \sum_{i=0}^{n} \omega_i [k_{11}(x, x_i)u(x_i) + k_{12}(x, x_i)v(x_i)] + R_1^{(n)} \\ v(x) = g(x) + \sum_{i=0}^{n} \omega_i [k_{21}(x, x_i)u(x_i) + k_{22}(x, x_i)v(x_i)] + R_2^{(n)}. \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

We take the collocation points $x = x_i$, and let $f(x_i) = f_i$, $g(x_i) = g_i$, $k_{pq}(x_i, x_j) = k_{pq}^{ij}$, $u(x_i) = u_i$, $v(x_i) = v_i$, i = 0, 1, ..., n; p, q = 1, 2. Then we ignore the remainder terms and obtain the approximating linear system with respect to u_0 , v_0 , u_1 , v_1 , ..., u_n , v_n as

$$\begin{cases} u_i = f_i + \sum_{j=0}^n \omega_j (k_{11}^{ij} u_j + k_{12}^{ij} v_j) \\ v_i = g_i + \sum_{j=0}^n \omega_j (k_{21}^{ij} u_j + k_{22}^{ij} v_j). \end{cases}$$
(3.2)

Remove the terms of (3.2), then we obtain

$$\begin{cases} -\sum_{j\neq i} \omega_j k_{11}^{ij} u_j + (1 - \omega_i k_{11}^{ii}) u_i - \sum_{j=0}^n \omega_j k_{12}^{ij} v_j = f_i \\ -\sum_{j=0}^n \omega_j k_{21}^{ij} u_j - \sum_{j\neq i} \omega_j k_{22}^{ij} v_j + (1 - \omega_i k_{22}^{ii}) v_i = g_i. \end{cases}$$
(3.3)

Solve linear system (3.3), we can get $u_i = u_i^*$, $v_i = v_i^*$, i = 0, 1, ..., n. Take u_i^* , v_i^* into (3.1) omitting the remainder terms, we have

$$\begin{cases} u_n(x) = f(x) + \sum_{i=0}^n \omega_i [k_{11}(x, x_i)u_i^* + k_{12}(x, x_i)v_i^*] \\ v_n(x) = g(x) + \sum_{i=0}^n \omega_i [k_{21}(x, x_i)u_i^* + k_{22}(x, x_i)v_i^*]. \end{cases}$$
(3.4)

Thus $u_n(x)$, $v_n(x)$ can be called the Nyström solutions with numerical quadrature scheme (3.1). Meanwhile, it can be noted that

$$\begin{cases} u_n(x_i) = u_i^* \\ v_n(x_i) = v_i^*, \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

so $u_n(x)$, $v_n(x)$ are also the Nyström interpolation functions under the interpolation condition (3.2).

4. Error estimation

To carry out an error analysis for the Nyström method, we first give the following useful Lemma.

Lemma 4.1. Let a_1 , a_2 , b_1 , b_2 , c_1 , c_2 , and x, y are positive real numbers. Assume

$$\begin{cases} x \le a_1 + b_1 x + c_1 y \\ y \le a_2 + b_2 x + c_2 y. \end{cases}$$

For $b_1 + c_2 < 1$ and $(1 - b_1)(1 - c_2) > b_2c_1$, then

$$x+y \le \frac{(1+b_2-c_2)a_1 + (1+c_1-b_1)a_2}{(1-b_1)(1-c_2) - b_2c_1}$$

The proof of this Lemma can be given directly and we omit it. The result of error estimation is given below.

Theorem 4.2. Let u(x), v(x) are the exact solutions and let $u_n(x)$, $v_n(x)$ are the Nyström solutions of system of Fredholm integral equations (1.1). Assume $M_{11} + M_{22} < 1$, and $(1 - M_{11})(1 - M_{22}) > M_{12}M_{21}$, then

$$\|u - u_n\|_{\infty} + \|v - v_n\|_{\infty} \le \frac{(1 - M_{22} + M_{21}) \|R_1^{(n)}\|_{\infty} + (1 - M_{11} + M_{12}) \|R_2^{(n)}\|_{\infty}}{(1 - M_{11})(1 - M_{22}) - M_{21}M_{12}},$$

where $M_{pq} = (b-a) ||k_{pq}(x,y)||_{\infty}, \ p,q = 1,2.$

Proof. Consider (3.5) and subtract (3.4) from (3.1) to get

$$\begin{aligned} u - u_n &= \sum_{i=0}^n \omega_i [k_{11}(x, x_i)(u(x_i) - u_i^*) + k_{12}(x, x_i)(v(x_i) - v_i^*)] + R_1^{(n)} \\ &= \sum_{i=0}^n \omega_i [k_{11}(x, x_i)(u(x_i) - u_n(x_i)) + k_{12}(x, x_i)(v(x_i) - v_n(x_i))] + R_1^{(n)}, \end{aligned}$$

then

$$\|u - u_n\|_{\infty} \le \|R_1^{(n)}\|_{\infty} + \|\sum_{i=0}^n |\omega_i k_{11}(x, x_i)|\|_{\infty} \cdot \|u - u_n\|_{\infty} + \|\sum_{i=0}^n |\omega_i k_{12}(x, x_i)|\|_{\infty} \cdot \|v - v_n\|_{\infty}.$$

Similarly, we have

$$\|v-v_n\|_{\infty} \leq \|R_2^{(n)}\|_{\infty} + \|\sum_{i=0}^n |\omega_i k_{21}(x,x_i)|\|_{\infty} \cdot \|u-u_n\|_{\infty} + \|\sum_{i=0}^n |\omega_i k_{22}(x,x_i)|\|_{\infty} \cdot \|v-v_n\|_{\infty}.$$

From the intermediate value theorem of continuous function, we can get

/

$$\begin{aligned} \|\sum_{i=0}^{n} |\omega_{i}k_{pq}(x,x_{i})|\|_{\infty} &= (b-a) \|k_{pq}(x,\eta_{pq})\|_{\infty} \\ &\leq (b-a) \|k_{pq}(x,y)\|_{\infty} \\ &= M_{pq}, \end{aligned}$$

where $\eta_{pq} \in [a,b], \ p,q = 1,2$. It follows that a system of inequalities

$$\begin{cases} \|u - u_n\|_{\infty} \le \|R_1^{(n)}\|_{\infty} + M_{11} \|u - u_n\|_{\infty} + M_{12} \|v - v_n\|_{\infty} \\ \|v - v_n\|_{\infty} \le \|R_2^{(n)}\|_{\infty} + M_{21} \|u - u_n\|_{\infty} + M_{22} \|v - v_n\|_{\infty}. \end{cases}$$

From Lemma 4.1, we can obtain

$$\begin{cases} \|u - u_n\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{(1 - M_{22}) \|R_1^{(n)}\|_{\infty} + M_{12} \|R_2^{(n)}\|_{\infty}}{(1 - M_{11})(1 - M_{22}) - M_{21}M_{12}} \\ \|v - v_n\|_{\infty} \leq \frac{M_{21} \|R_1^{(n)}\|_{\infty} + (1 - M_{11}) \|R_2^{(n)}\|_{\infty}}{(1 - M_{11})(1 - M_{22}) - M_{21}M_{12}}, \end{cases}$$

when $M_{11} + M_{22} < 1$ and $(1 - M_{11})(1 - M_{22}) > M_{21}M_{12}$.

In particular, for the composite trapezoidal rules, we have

$$\begin{cases} h = \frac{b-a}{n} \\ \omega_0 = \omega_n = \frac{h}{2} \\ \omega_1 = \omega_2 = \dots = \omega_{n-1} = h \\ x_i = x_0 + nh, i = 0, 1, \dots, n \end{cases}$$

so

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=0}^{n} |\omega_{i}k_{pq}(x,x_{i})| &= \frac{b-a}{n} [\frac{1}{2} (|k_{pq}(x,x_{0})| + |k_{pq}(x,x_{n})|) + \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} |k_{pq}(x,x_{i})|] \\ &= (b-a) |k_{pq}(x,\eta_{pq})|, \ \eta_{pq} \in [a,b]. \end{split}$$

Consequently, $\|\sum_{i=0}^{n} |\omega_i k_{pq}(x, x_i)|\|_{\infty} = M_{pq}$, p, q = 1, 2. Let

$$\begin{cases} k_1(x,\xi) = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} [k_{11}(x,y)u(y) + k_{12}(x,y)v(y)]_{y=\xi}, a < \xi < b \\ k_2(x,\eta) = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} [k_{21}(x,y)u(y) + k_{22}(x,y)v(y)]_{y=\eta}, a < \eta < b \end{cases}$$

To sum up, we can draw the following corollary.

Corollary 4.3. If $M_{11} + M_{22} < 1$ and $(1 - M_{11})(1 - M_{22}) > M_{12}M_{21}$, then the Nyström solutions with the composite trapezoidal quadrature formula have the following error estimation:

$$\|u-u_n\|_{\infty} + \|v-v_n\|_{\infty} \le \frac{b-a}{12} \frac{(1-M_{22}+M_{21})\|k_1(x,y)\|_{\infty} + (1-M_{11}+M_{12})\|k_2(x,y)\|_{\infty}}{(1-M_{11})(1-M_{22}) - M_{21}M_{12}}h^2.$$

By a similar argument, for the composite Simpson rules, we have

$$\begin{cases} h = \frac{b-a}{n} \\ \omega_0 = \omega_{2n} = \frac{h}{6} \\ \omega_1 = \omega_3 = \dots = \omega_{2n-1} = \frac{2}{3}h \\ \omega_2 = \omega_4 = \dots = \omega_{2n-2} = \frac{1}{3}h \\ x_i = x_0 + i\frac{h}{2}, \ i = 0, 1, ..., 2n, \end{cases}$$

hence

$$\begin{split} \sum_{i=0}^{2n} |\omega_i k_{pq}(x, x_i)| &= \frac{b-a}{n} \left[\frac{1}{6} (|k_{pq}(x, x_0) + k_{pq}(x, x_{2n})|) + \frac{1}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} |k_{pq}(x, x_{2i})| + \frac{2}{3} \sum_{i=1}^{n} |k_{pq}(x, x_{2i-1})| \\ &= (b-a) k_{pq}(x, \eta_{pa}), \ \eta_{pq} \in [a, b]. \end{split}$$

Then $\|\sum_{i=0}^{2n} |\omega_i k_{pq}(x, x_i)|\|_{\infty} = M_{pq}, \ p, q = 1, 2.$ Let

$$\begin{cases} \bar{k}_1(x,\xi) = \frac{\partial^4}{\partial y^4} [k_{11}(x,y)u(y) + k_{12}(x,y)v(y)]_{y=\xi}, a < \xi < b \\ \bar{k}_2(x,\eta) = \frac{\partial^4}{\partial y^4} [k_{21}(x,y)u(y) + k_{22}(x,y)v(y)]_{y=\eta}, a < \eta < b. \end{cases}$$

Again, we can draw the following corollary.

Corollary 4.4. If $M_{11} + M_{22} < 1$ and $(1 - M_{11})(1 - M_{22}) > M_{12}M_{21}$, then the Nyström solutions with the composite Simpson quadrature formula have the following error estimation:

$$\|u - u_n\|_{\infty} + \|v - v_n\|_{\infty} \le \frac{b - a}{180} \frac{(1 - M_{22} + M_{21})\|k_1(x, y)\|_{\infty} + (1 - M_{11} + M_{12})\|k_2(x, y)\|_{\infty}}{(1 - M_{11})(1 - M_{22}) - M_{21}M_{12}} (\frac{b}{2})^4.$$

5. Numerical examples

In order to verify the validity of the proposed numerical method, two numerical examples are given and the exact solutions are compared with the approximate solutions by using Matlab.R2015a. The convergence rate is defined by

$$Ratio = \frac{\|u - u_n\|_{\infty} + \|v - v_n\|_{\infty}}{\|u - u_{2n}\|_{\infty} + \|v - v_{2n}\|_{\infty}}.$$

Example 5.1. Consider the following system of Fredholm integral equations

i

$$\begin{cases} u(x) = x^2 + \frac{5}{24}x - \frac{7}{24} + \int_0^1 [(-\frac{1}{2}x + \frac{1}{2}y)u(y) + (\frac{1}{12}x - y)v(y)]dy \\ v(x) = \frac{7}{9}x - \frac{19}{18} + \int_0^1 [xyu(y) + \frac{1}{6}(xy - 2y)v(y)]dy, \end{cases}$$

with $0 \le x \le 1$ and the exact solutions $u(x) = x^2$, v(x) = x - 1.

We choose n = 4, 8, 16, 32 along with $h = \frac{1}{n}$ and get $x_i = ih$, i = 0, 1, ..., n. The curve graph of the exact solutions $u(x) = x^2$, v(x) = x - 1 and the approximations $u_n(x)$, $v_n(x)$ obtained using the Nyström method are given in Figure 5.1(a), and then the maximum error $||u - u_n||_{\infty} + ||v - v_n||_{\infty}$ listed in Table 1.

	Composite trapezoidal		Composite Simpson	
n	$\ u-u_n\ _{\infty}+\ v-v_n\ _{\infty}$	Ratio	$\ u-u_n\ _{\infty}+\ v-v_n\ _{\infty}$	Ratio
4	1.7800e-02		0	
8	4.5000e-03	3.9556	0	0
16	1.1000e-03	4.0909	5.7465e-19	0
32	2.7778e-04	3.9600	0	0

Table 1: Error calculation result of Example 5.1.

Example 5.2. Consider the following system of Fredholm integral equations

$$\begin{cases} u(x) = \sin x + \int_0^{2\pi} [(\frac{1}{20} \sin x - \cos y)u(y) + (\frac{1}{40} y \sin x)v(y)]dy \\ v(x) = \cos x - \frac{11\pi}{20} + \int_0^{2\pi} [(\frac{1}{50} \sin x - \frac{1}{40} y)u(y) + (\frac{1}{18} \sin x + \frac{1}{2} \cos y)v(y)]dy, \end{cases}$$

with $0 \le x \le 2\pi$ and the exact solutions $u(x) = \sin x$, $v(x) = \cos x$.

We also choose n = 4, 8, 16, 32 along with $h = \frac{1}{n}$ and get $x_i = ih$, i = 0, 1, ..., n. The curve graph of the exact solutions $u(x) = \sin x$, $v(x) = \cos x$ and the approximations $u_n(x)$, $v_n(x)$ obtained using the Nyström method are given in Figure 5.1(b), and then the maximum errors $||u - u_n||_{\infty} + ||v - v_n||_{\infty}$ listed in Table 2.



Figure 5.1: The exact solutions and the Nyström solutions of Example 5.1 and Example 5.2 when n=16

	Composite trapezoidal		Composite Simpson	
n	$\ u-u_n\ _{\infty}+\ v-v_n\ _{\infty}$	Ratio	$\ u-u_n\ _{\infty}+\ v-v_n\ _{\infty}$	Ratio
4	6.4300e-02		6.8765e-04	
8	1.5700e-02	4.0955	4.0590e-05	16.9414
16	3.9000e-03	4.0256	2.5019e-06	16.2237
32	9.6947e-04	4.0228	1.5583e-07	16.0553

Table 2: Error calculation result of Example 5.2.

6. Conclusion

In this paper, The Nyström method is proposed to handle approximate solutions of system of Fredholm integral equations and two numerical examples are provided to illustrate the validity and feasibility of the present method. For the simple system of integral equations such as polynomial integral equations, we appear to get the exact solutions directly by the Nyström method with the composite Simpson rule. In the future, the Nyström method can be extended to solve Hammerstein integral equations. A two-grid iteration method for the Nyström method for system of Fredholm integral equations will also be further studied.

Acknowledgement

This research was supported by the Natural Science Foundation of Guangdong Province(Grant No.2015A030313643,2016A030313005), Postgraduate Demonstration Course Construction Project of Guangdong Province(Grant No.2018SFKC38) and Postgraduate Demonstration Course Construction Project of Wuyi University(Grant No.YJS-SFKC-18-01).

References

- [1] K. Y. Wang, Q. S. Wang, Taylor collocation method and convergence analysis for the Volterra-Fredholm integral equations, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 260 (2014), 294-300.
- Q. S. Wang, K. Y. Wang, S. J. Chen, Least squares approximation method for the solution of Volterra-Fredholm integral equations, J. Comput. Appl. [2]
- [2] G. O. Wang, K. T. Wang, S. S. Chen, *East squares approximation method for the solution of volerral relation integral equations*, *s. Comput. Appl. Math.*, *272* (2014), 141-147.
 [3] K. Y. Wang, Q. S. Wang, K. Z. Guan, *Iterative method and convergence analysis for a kind of mixed nonlinear Volterra-Fredholm integral equation*, Appl. Math. Comput., *225* (2013), 631-637.
 [4] K. Atkinson, W. Han, *Theoretical Numerical Analysis: A Functional Analysis Framework (Third Edition)*, Springer, 2009.
- [5] X. C. Zhong, A new Nyström-type method for Fredholm integral equations of the second kind, Appl. Math. Comput., 219 (2013), 8842-8847.
- [6] L. J. Lardy, A Variation of Nyström's Method for Hammerstein Equations, J. Integral. Equ., 3(1) (1981), 43-60.
- [7] J. Dick, P. Kritzer, F. Y. Kuo, I. H. Sloan, Lattice-Nyström method for Fredholm integral equations of the second kind with convolution type kernels, J. Complexity., 23 (2007), 752-772.
- [8] Q. S. Wang, H. S. Wang, Meshless method and convergence analysis for 2-dimensional Fredholm integral equation with complex factors, J. Comput. Appl. Math., 304 (2016), 18-25
- [9] Z. Y. Chen, C. A. Micchelli, Y. S. Xu, Multiscale Methods for Fredholm Integral Equations, Cambridge University Press, 2015.


Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.527465



On Quasi-Sasakian Manifolds

Ahmet Sazak¹ and Ahmet Yıldız^{2*}

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Muş Alparslan University, Mus, Turkey ²Department of Mathematics, Education Faculty, Inonu University, Malatya, Turkey ^{*}Corresponding author E-mail: a.yildiz@inonu.edu.tr

Abstract

Keywords: Quasi-Sasakian manifolds, Schouten-van Kampen connection, \mathcal{D}_{α} homothetic deformation 2010 AMS: 53C07, 53C25, 53D15 Received: 15 February 2019 Accepted: 22 March 2019 Available online: 17 June 2019 In this paper we study three-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifolds admitting the Schoutenvan Kampen connection. Also, we study D-homothetic deformations on three-dimensional quasi-Sasakian manifolds admitting Schouten-van connection and projectively flat threedimensional quasi-Sasakian manifolds admitting scv connection.

1. Introduction

An important class of almost contact metric (shortly a.c.m.) manifolds is the class consisting of those which are normal. However, the curvature nature of such manifolds is not known in general, except for Sasakian or cosymplectic manifolds. If the almost contact structure (shortly a.c.s.) is normal and the fundamental 2-form is closed then the manifold M is called a quasi-Sasakian manifold (shortly q.S.). First examples of a S manifolds user given by D E Rhir [1]. Also some remerks on a S structures given by S. Tanno [2]. Then, on a

First examples of q.S. manifolds were given by D. E. Blair [1]. Also, some remarks on q.S. structures given by S. Tanno [2]. Then, on a three-dimensional q.S. manifold the structure function γ was introduced by Z. Olszak [3].

The Schouten-van Kampen connection (shortly S.K.con.) has been introduced of non-holomorphic manifolds. Then the S.K.con. was applied to a.c.m. structure by Z. Olszak and he characterized some classes of a.c.m manifolds [4]. Also, A. Yildiz studied three-dimensional f-Kenmotsu manifolds according to this connection [5].

In the present paper, we study three-dimensional q.S. manifolds with a \mathcal{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation admitting the S.K.con..

2. Preliminaries

Let φ is (1,1)-type tensor field, ξ is a locally defined vector field tangent to *M* and η is a 1-form on *M*. Then $M(\varphi, \xi, \eta, g)$ is called an a.c.m. manifold whose elementary properties are [6]-[8]

$$\begin{split} \varphi^2 &= -I + \eta \otimes \xi, \quad \eta(\xi) = 1, \\ g(\varphi U, \varphi V) &= g(U, V) - \eta(U)\eta(V). \\ \varphi \xi &= 0, \quad \eta \circ \varphi = 0, \quad \eta(U) = g(U, \xi). \end{split}$$

The fundamental 2-form θ is defined by

$$\theta(U,V) = g(U,\varphi V).$$

Thus $\theta(U,\xi) = 0$, for $U \in TM$. If the a.c.s. (φ,ξ,η) is normal, i.e., $[\varphi,\varphi](U,U) + d\eta(U,V)\xi = 0$ and the fundamental 2-form θ is closed, i.e. $d\theta = 0$, then *M* is called a q.S. manifold. An a.c.m. manifold *M* is a three-dimensional q.S. manifold if and only if [9]

$$\nabla_U \xi = -\gamma \varphi U, \tag{2.1}$$

Email addresses and ORCID: a.sazak@alparslan.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-5620-6441 (Ahmet Sazak), a.yildiz@inonu.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9799-1781 (Ahmet Yıldız)

for a function γ on *M* satisfying $\xi \gamma = 0$. Also if $\gamma = 0$ then a q.S. manifold is a cosymplectic manifold [10], the converse is true. From (2.1), we have [9]

$$(\nabla_U \varphi) V = \gamma \{ g(U, V) \xi - \eta(U) V \}.$$
(2.2)

Again from (2.1) and (2.2), we get

$$R(U,V)\xi = -U[\gamma]\varphi V + V[\gamma]\varphi U + \gamma^2 \{\eta(V)U - \eta(U)V\}$$

Using (2.1) and (2.2), we obtain

$$R(U,\xi)\xi = \gamma^2 \{U - \eta(U)\xi\},\$$

and

$$R(U,\xi)V = -U[\gamma]\varphi V - \gamma^2 \{g(U,V)\xi - \eta(V)U\}$$

In a three-dimensional Riemannian manifold, the curvature tensor is written

$$R(U,V)W = g(V,W)QU - g(U,W)QV + S(V,W)U - S(U,W)V - \frac{r}{2}\{g(V,W)U - g(U,W)V\}.$$

Let M be a three-dimensional q.S. manifold. The Ricci tensor S of M is

$$S(V,W) = (\frac{r}{2} - \gamma^2)g(V,W) + (3\gamma^2 - \frac{r}{2})\eta(V)\eta(W) - \eta(V)d\gamma(\phi W) - \eta(W)d\gamma(\phi V).$$
(2.3)

From (2.3), we get

$$QV = \left(\frac{r}{2} - \gamma^2\right)V + \left(3\gamma^2 - \frac{r}{2}\right)\eta(V)\xi + \eta(V)(\varphi \operatorname{grad} \gamma) - d\gamma(\varphi V)\xi$$

where $d\gamma(V) = g(\operatorname{grad} \gamma, V)$. Again from (2.3), we obtain

$$S(U,\xi) = 2\gamma^2 \eta(U) - d\gamma(\varphi U)$$

As a consequence of (2.1), we have

$$(\nabla_U \eta) W = g(\nabla_U \xi, W) = -\gamma g(\varphi U, V).$$
(2.4)

3. Three-dimensional q.S. manifolds admitting S.K.con.

For an a.c.m. manifold *M*, the S.K.con. $\widetilde{\nabla}$ is given by [4]

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_U V = \nabla_U V - \eta(V) \nabla_U \xi + (\nabla_U \eta)(V) \xi.$$
(3.1)

Let M^3 be a q.S. manifold. Then using (3.1), we have

$$\overline{\nabla}_U V = \nabla_U V + \gamma \eta(V) \varphi U + \gamma g(U, \varphi V) \xi.$$
(3.2)

Now we put equation (3.1) in the definition of the Riemannian curvature tensor, we can write

$$\widetilde{R}(U,V)W = \widetilde{\nabla}_U \widetilde{\nabla}_V W - \widetilde{\nabla}_V \widetilde{\nabla}_U W - \widetilde{\nabla}_{[U,V]} W.$$
(3.3)

Using (3.2) in (3.3), we obtain

$$\widetilde{R}(U,V)W = \widetilde{\nabla}_{U}(\nabla_{V}W + \gamma\eta(W)\varphi V + \gamma g(V,\varphi W)\xi) -\widetilde{\nabla}_{V}(\nabla_{U}W + \gamma\eta(W)\varphi U + \gamma g(U,\varphi W)\xi) -(\nabla_{[U,V]}W + \gamma\eta(W)\varphi[U,V] + \gamma g([U,V],\varphi W)\xi.$$
(3.4)

Again using (2.2) and (2.4) in (3.4), we have

$$\widetilde{R}(U,V)W = R(U,V)W + U[\gamma]\{g(V,\varphi W)\xi + \eta(W)\varphi V\} -V[\gamma]\{g(U,\varphi W)\xi + \eta(W)\varphi U\} +\gamma^{2}\{g(U,W)\eta(V)\xi - g(V,W)\eta(U)\xi + \eta(U)\eta(W)V -\eta(V)\eta(W)U + g(U,\varphi W)\varphi V - g(V,\varphi W)\varphi U\},$$
(3.5)

which gives

$$g(R(U,V)W,Z) = g(R(U,V)W,Z) + U[\gamma]\{g(V,\varphi W)\eta(Z) + g(\varphi V,Z)\eta(W)\} - Y[\gamma]\{g(U,\varphi W)\eta(Z) + g(\varphi U,Z)\eta(W)\} + \gamma^{2}\{g(U,W)\eta(V)\eta(Z) - g(V,W)\eta(U)\eta(Z) + g(V,Z)\eta(U)\eta(W) - g(U,Z)\eta(V)\eta(W) + g(U,\varphi W)g(\varphi V,Z) - g(V,\varphi W)g(\varphi U,Z)\}.$$
(3.6)

Putting $U = Z = e_i$, $\{i = 1, 2, 3\}$, in (3.6), we get

 $\widetilde{S}(V,W) = S(V,W) + (\varphi V)[\gamma]\eta(W) - 2\gamma^2\eta(V)\eta(W).$ (3.7)

From (3.7), we have

$$\widetilde{Q}V = QV + (\varphi V)[\gamma]\xi - 2\gamma^2\eta(V)\xi$$

Again putting $V = W = e_i$ in (3.7), then we obtain

$$\widetilde{r} = r - 2\gamma^2$$
,

From (3.5) and (3.6), we have

$$\begin{split} & \bar{R}(U,V)W + \bar{R}(V,U)W = 0, \\ & g(\tilde{R}(U,V)W,Z) + g(\tilde{R}(U,V)Z,W) = 0. \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{R}(U,V)W + \widetilde{R}(V,W)U + \widetilde{R}(W,U)V &= U[\gamma]\{2g(V,\varphi W)\xi + \eta(W)\varphi V - \eta(V)\varphi W\} \\ &+ V[\gamma]\{2g(W,\varphi U)\xi + \eta(U)\varphi W - \eta(W)\varphi U\} \\ &+ W[\gamma]\{2g(U,\varphi V)\xi + \eta(V)\varphi U - \eta(U)\varphi V\}. \end{split}$$

If γ is a constant, then we have

$$\widetilde{R}(U,V)W + \widetilde{R}(V,W)U + \widetilde{R}(W,U)V = 0$$

4. Three-dimensional q.S. manifolds and \mathscr{D}_{α} -homothetic deformations

In this section, we study a \mathscr{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation on a q.S. manifold M^3 . For a (2n+1)-dimensional a.c.m. manifold $(M, \varphi, \xi, \eta, g)$ if $\eta = 0$, then there is an 2*n*-dimensional distribution \mathscr{D}_{α} on *M*. Also an 2*n*-dimensional homothetic deformation or a \mathscr{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation is defined by

$$\eta^{\alpha} = \alpha \eta, \quad \xi^{\alpha} = \frac{1}{\alpha} \xi, \quad \varphi^{\alpha} = \varphi,$$

$$g^{\alpha} = \alpha g + \alpha (\alpha - 1) \eta \otimes \eta,$$
(4.1)

where $\alpha = \text{constant} > 0$. If $(M, \varphi, \xi, \eta, g)$ is an a.c.m. structure then $(M, \varphi^{\alpha}, \xi^{\alpha}, \eta^{\alpha}, g^{\alpha})$ is also an a.c.m. structure [2]. Now we have the followings:

Lemma 4.1. Let M^3 be a q.S. manifold admitting a \mathcal{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation. Then

$$\nabla_U^{\alpha} V = \nabla_U V - (\alpha - 1)\gamma \{\eta(U)\varphi V + \eta(V)\varphi U\}.$$
(4.2)

Proof. From Kozsul's formula, we have

$$2g^{\alpha}(\nabla^{\alpha}_{U}V,W) = Ug^{\alpha}(V,W) + Vg^{\alpha}(U,W) - Wg^{\alpha}(U,V) - g^{\alpha}(U,[V,W]) - g^{\alpha}(V,[U,W]) + g^{\alpha}(W,[U,V]),$$

for any vector fields U, V, W. From (4.1), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} 2\{\alpha_g(\nabla_U^{\alpha}V,W) + \alpha(\alpha - 1)\eta(\nabla_U^{\alpha}V)\eta(W)\} &= & U\{\alpha_g(V,W) + \alpha(\alpha - 1)\eta(U)\eta(W)\} \\ &+ V\{\alpha_g(U,W) + \alpha(\alpha - 1)\eta(U)\eta(W)\} \\ &- W\{\alpha_g(U,V) + \alpha(\alpha - 1)\eta(U)\eta(V)\} \\ &- \alpha\{g(U,[V,W]) + (\alpha - 1)\eta(U)\eta([V,W])\} \\ &- \alpha\{g(V,[U,W]) + (\alpha - 1)\eta(V)\eta([U,W])\} \\ &+ \alpha\{g(W,[U,V]) + (\alpha - 1)\eta(W)\eta([U,V])\}.\end{aligned}$$

After some calculations, we get

$$\begin{aligned} 2\{\alpha g(\nabla_U^{\alpha}V,W) + \alpha(\alpha-1)\eta(\nabla_U^{\alpha}V)\eta(W)\} &= & \alpha\{g(\nabla_UV,W) + g(V,\nabla_UW)\} \\ &+ \alpha(\alpha-1)\{U(\eta(V)\eta(W)) + V(\eta(U)\eta(W)) \\ &- W(\eta(U)\eta(V)) - \eta(U)\eta(\nabla_VW) + \eta(U)\eta(\nabla_WV) \\ &- \eta(V)\eta(\nabla_UW) + \eta(V)\eta(\nabla_WU) \\ &+ \eta(W)\eta(\nabla_UV) - \eta(W)\eta(\nabla_VU)\}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus we have

$$2\{\alpha g(\nabla_{U}^{\alpha}V,W) + \alpha(\alpha-1)\eta(\nabla_{U}^{\alpha}V)\eta(W)\} = 2\alpha g(\nabla_{U}V,W) + 2a(a-1)\eta(\nabla_{U}V)\eta(W) + a(a-1)\{g(V,\nabla_{U}\xi)\eta(W) + g(W,\nabla_{U}\xi)\eta(V) + g(U,\nabla_{V}\xi)\eta(W) + g(W,\nabla_{V}\xi)\eta(U) - g(U,\nabla_{W}\xi)\eta(V) - g(V,\nabla_{W}\xi)\eta(U)\}.$$

$$(4.3)$$

Using (2.1) in (4.3), we get

$$\begin{aligned} 2\{\alpha_g(\nabla_U^{\alpha}V,W) + \alpha(\alpha-1)\eta(\nabla_U^{\alpha}V)\eta(W)\} &= & 2\alpha_g(\nabla_UV,W) + 2a(a-1)\eta(\nabla_UV)\eta(W) \\ &- \alpha(\alpha-1)\gamma\{g(V,\varphi U)\eta(W) + g(W,\varphi U)\eta(V) \\ &+ g(\varphi V,U)\eta(W) + g(W,\varphi V)\eta(U) \\ &- g(U,\varphi W)\eta(V) - g(V,\varphi W)\eta(U)\}. \end{aligned}$$

After some calculations, we obtain

$$g(\nabla_U^{\alpha}V,W) + (\alpha - 1)\eta(\nabla_U^{\alpha}V)\eta(W) = g(\nabla_UV,W) + (\alpha - 1)\eta(\nabla_UV)\eta(W) - (\alpha - 1)\gamma\{g(W,\varphi U)\eta(V) + g(W,\varphi V)\eta(U)\},$$

which implies (4.2).

Proposition 4.2. Let M^3 be a q.S. manifold with a \mathcal{D}_a -homothetic deformation. Then

$$R^{\alpha}(U,V)W = R(U,V)W - (\alpha - 1)U[\gamma]\{\eta(V)\phi W + \eta(W)\phi V\} + (\alpha - 1)V[\gamma]\{\eta(U)\phi W + \eta(W)\phi U\} - (\alpha - 1)\gamma^{2}\{\eta(U)\eta(W)V - \eta(V)\eta(W)U\} + (\alpha - 1)\gamma^{2}\{g(V,W)\eta(U)\xi - g(U,W)\eta(V)\xi\} - 2\eta(U)\eta(W)V + 2\eta(V)\eta(W)U - 2g(U,\phi V)\phi W - g(U,\phi W)\phi V + g(V,\phi W)\phi U\}.$$
(4.4)

Proof. The definition of the Riemannian curvature tensor, we can write

$$R^{\alpha}(U,V)W = \nabla^{\alpha}_{U}\nabla^{\alpha}_{V}W - \nabla^{\alpha}_{V}\nabla^{\alpha}_{U}W - \nabla^{\alpha}_{[U,V]}W.$$
(4.5)

Using (4.2) in (4.5) and after long calculations, we have

$$R^{\alpha}(U,V)W = R(U,V)W$$

$$-(\alpha - 1)\gamma[\eta(U)\phi\nabla_{V}W - \eta(U)\nabla_{V}\phi W - \eta(V)\phi\nabla_{U}W$$

$$+\eta(V)\nabla_{U}\phi W - \eta(W)\phi\nabla_{U}V + \eta(W)\nabla_{U}\phi V$$

$$+\eta(W)\phi\nabla_{V}U - \eta(W)\nabla_{V}\phi U$$

$$+a\gamma\{2g(U,\phi V)\phi W + g(U,\phi W)\phi V - g(V,\phi W)\phi U\}$$

$$+(\alpha - 1)\gamma\{\eta(U)\eta(W)V - \eta(V)\eta(W)U\}]$$

$$-(\alpha - 1)\{(U(\gamma))(\eta(V)\phi W + \eta(W)\phi V)$$

$$-(V(\gamma))(\eta(U)\phi W + \eta(W)\phi U)\}.$$
(4.6)

Using (2.2) in (4.6), we obtain (4.4).

From (4.4), we have

$$R^{\alpha}(U,V)W + R^{\alpha}(V,U)W = 0,$$

and

$$R^{\alpha}(U,V)W + R^{\alpha}(V,W)U + R^{\alpha}(W,U)V = 0.$$

5. \mathscr{D}_{α} -homothetic deformations on three-dimensional q.S. manifolds admitting the S.K.con.

In this section, we study how a \mathscr{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation affects a three-dimensional q.S. manifold *M* admitting the S.K.con..

Lemma 5.1. Let M^3 be a q.S. manifold with a \mathcal{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation admitting the S.K.con.. Then

$$\widetilde{\nabla}_{U}^{\alpha}V = \nabla_{U}V - (\alpha - 1)\gamma\eta(U)\varphi V + \gamma\eta(V)\varphi U + \gamma g(U,\varphi V)\xi.$$
(5.1)

Proof. Using (3.1) and (4.2), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\nabla}_{U}^{\alpha} V &= \nabla_{U} V - \gamma \eta^{\alpha}(V) \varphi^{\alpha} U + \gamma g^{\alpha}(U, \varphi V) \xi^{\alpha} \\ &= \nabla_{U} V - (\alpha - 1) \gamma \{ \eta(U) \varphi V + \eta(V) \varphi U \} - \gamma \alpha \eta(V) \varphi U \\ &+ \gamma [g(U, \varphi V) + (\alpha - 1) \eta(U) \eta(\varphi V)] \xi \\ &= \nabla_{U} V - (\alpha - 1) \gamma \eta(U) \varphi V + \gamma \eta(V) \varphi U + \gamma g(U, \varphi V) \xi. \end{split}$$

Proposition 5.2. Let M^3 be a q.S. manifold with a \mathcal{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation admitting the S.K.con.. Then

$$R^{\alpha}(U,V)W = R(U,V)W + U[\gamma]\{g(V,\varphi W)\xi + \eta(W)\varphi V - (\alpha - 1)\eta(V)\varphi W\} + U[\gamma]\{g(U,\varphi W)\xi + \eta(W)\varphi U - (\alpha - 1)\eta(U)\varphi W\} + \gamma^{2}\{g(U,W)\eta(V)\xi - g(V,W)\eta(U)\xi + g(U,\varphi W)\varphi V - g(V,\varphi W)\varphi U + \eta(U)\eta(W)V - \eta(V)\eta(W)U\} - 2(\alpha - 1)\gamma^{2}g(U,\varphi V)\varphi W.$$
(5.2)

Proof. Using (4.1), (3.5) and (4.4), we have

$$\widetilde{R}^{\alpha}(U,V)W = R^{\alpha}(U,V)W + U[\gamma]\{g^{\alpha}(V,\varphi^{\alpha}W)\xi^{\alpha} + \eta^{\alpha}(W)\varphi^{\alpha}V\}
-V[\gamma]\{g^{\alpha}(U,\varphi^{\alpha}W)\xi^{\alpha} + \eta^{\alpha}(W)\varphi^{\alpha}U\}
+\gamma^{2}\{g^{\alpha}(U,W)\eta^{\alpha}(V)\xi^{\alpha} - g^{\alpha}(V,W)\eta^{\alpha}(U)\xi^{\alpha}
+\eta^{\alpha}(U)\eta^{\alpha}(W)V - \eta^{\alpha}(V)\eta^{\alpha}(W)U
+g^{\alpha}(U,\varphi^{\alpha}W)\varphi^{\alpha}V - g^{\alpha}(V,\varphi^{\alpha}W)\varphi^{\alpha}U\}.$$
(5.3)

Using (4.2) in (5.3), we obtain (5.2).

Now taking the inner product with Z and putting $V = W = e_i$, $\{i = 1, 2, 3\}$, in (5.2), we get

$$\tilde{S}^{\alpha}(U,Z) = S(U,Z) + (\varphi U)[\gamma]\eta(Z) + (\alpha - 1)(\varphi Z)[\gamma]\eta(U) - 2\gamma^2 \eta(U)\eta(Z).$$
(5.4)

If we use (2.3) in (5.4), we have

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{S}^{\alpha}(U,Z) &= (\frac{r}{2} - \gamma^2)g(U,Z) + (3\gamma^2 - \frac{r}{2})\eta(U)\eta(Z) \\ &- (\varphi U)[\gamma]\eta(Z) - (\varphi Z)[\gamma]\eta(U) \\ &+ (\varphi U)[\gamma]\eta(Z) + (\alpha - 1)(\varphi Z)[\gamma]\eta(U) \\ &- 2\gamma^2\eta(U)\eta(Z), \end{split}$$

i.e.,

$$\widetilde{S}^{\alpha}(U,Z) = (\frac{r}{2} - \gamma^2) \{g(U,Z) - \eta(U)\eta(Z)\} + (\alpha - 2)(\varphi Z)[\gamma]\eta(U).$$

Also we take $U = Z = e_i$ in (5.4), we get

$$\widetilde{r}^{\alpha}=r-2\gamma^2.$$

6. Main result

In this section, we study a projectively flat q.S. manifold M^3 with a \mathscr{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation admitting the S.K.con.. In a q.S. manifold M^3 with a \mathscr{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation admitting the S.K.con. $\widetilde{\nabla}^a$, the projective curvature tensor \widetilde{P}^a is given by

$$\widetilde{P}^{\alpha}(U,V)W = \widetilde{R}^{\alpha}(U,V)W - \frac{1}{2}\{\widetilde{S}^{\alpha}(V,W)U - \widetilde{S}^{\alpha}(U,W)V\}.$$

Now let M^3 be a projectively flat q.S. manifold with a \mathcal{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation admitting the S.K.con. $\widetilde{\nabla}^a$ (i.e. $\widetilde{P}^a = 0$). Then we have

$$\widetilde{R}^{\alpha}(U,V)W = \frac{1}{2} \{ \widetilde{S}^{\alpha}(V,W)U - \widetilde{S}^{\alpha}(U,W)V \}.$$
(6.1)

Using (5.2) and (5.4) in (6.1), we get

$$\begin{split} R(U,V)W \\ &+ U[\gamma]\{g(V,\varphi W)\xi + \eta(W)\varphi V - (\alpha - 1)\eta(V)\varphi W\} \\ &- V[\gamma]\{g(U,\varphi W)\xi + \eta(W)\varphi U - (\alpha - 1)\eta(U)\varphi W\} \\ &+ \gamma^2\{g(U,W)\eta(V)\xi - g(V,W)\eta(U)\xi + g(U,\varphi W)\varphi V \\ &- g(V,\varphi W)\varphi U + \eta(U)\eta(W)V - \eta(V)\eta(W)U\} \\ &+ 2(\alpha - 1)\gamma^2g(U,\varphi V)\varphi W \\ = \frac{1}{2}[S(V,W)U + (\varphi V)[\gamma]\eta(W)U + (\alpha - 1)(\varphi W)[\gamma]\eta(V)U \\ &- 2\gamma^2\eta(V)\eta(W)U - S(U,W)V - (\varphi U)[\gamma]\eta(W)V \\ &- (\alpha - 1)(\varphi W)[\gamma]\eta(U)V + 2\gamma^2\eta(U)\eta(W)W], \end{split}$$

which gives

$$g(R(U,V)W,Z) + U[\gamma]\{g(V,\varphi W)\eta(Z) + \eta(W)g(\varphi V,Z) - (\alpha - 1)\eta(V)g(\varphi W,Z)\} + U[\gamma]\{g(V,\varphi W)\eta(Z) + \eta(W)g(\varphi U,Z) - (\alpha - 1)\eta(U)g(\varphi W,Z)\} + \gamma^{2}\{g(U,W)\eta(V)\eta(Z) - g(V,W)\eta(U)\eta(Z) + g(U,\varphi W)g(\varphi V,Z) - g(V,\varphi W)g(\varphi U,Z) + \eta(U)\eta(W)g(V,Z) - \eta(V)\eta(W)g(U,Z)\} + 2(\alpha - 1)\gamma^{2}g(U,\varphi V)g(\varphi W,Z)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}[S(V,W)g(U,Z) + (\varphi V)[\gamma]\eta(W)g(U,Z) + (\alpha - 1)(\varphi W)[\gamma]\eta(V)g(U,Z) - 2\gamma^{2}\eta(V)\eta(W)g(U,Z) - S(U,W)g(V,Z) - (\varphi U)[\gamma]\eta(W)g(V,Z) - (\alpha - 1)(\varphi W)[\gamma]\eta(U)g(V,Z) + 2\gamma^{2}\eta(U)\eta(W)g(V,Z)].$$
(6.2)

Putting $U = Z = \xi$ in (6.2), we have

$$S(V,W) = 2\gamma^2 \eta(V)\eta(W) - (\varphi W)[\gamma]\eta(V) - (\varphi V)[\gamma]\eta(W).$$
(6.3)

If we put (6.3) in (5.4), we get

$$\widetilde{S}^{\alpha}(V,W) = (\alpha - 2)(\varphi W)[\gamma]\eta(V).$$
(6.4)

Clearly, if γ is a constant or $\alpha = 2$, then from (6.4), we have $\tilde{S}^{\alpha} = 0$. If $\tilde{S}^{\alpha} = 0$, then from (6.1), we get $\tilde{R}^{\alpha} = 0$. Conversely if $\tilde{R}^{\alpha} = 0$ then we have $\tilde{S}^{\alpha} = 0$ and from (6.4) we obtain γ is a constant or $\alpha = 2$. Thus the above discussion leads us to state the following:

Theorem 6.1. Let M^3 be a projectively flat q.S. manifold with a \mathcal{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation admitting the S.K.con.. Then the followings hold: (i) γ is a constant or $\alpha = 2$. (ii) The manifold M is a Ricci-flat manifold, (iii) The manifold M is a flat manifold.

7. Example

In this section, we give an example of three-dimensional q.S. manifolds with a \mathcal{D}_{α} -homothetic deformation admitting the S.K.con.. Let $M = \{(x, y, z) \in \Re^3 : x \neq 0\}$ be a three-dimensional manifold, where (x, y, z) are standard coordinates in \Re^3 and $\{\tilde{e}_1, \tilde{e}_2, \tilde{e}_3\}$ be linearly independent global frame on M is given by

$$\tilde{e}_1 = 2\frac{\partial}{\partial y}, \quad \tilde{e}_2 = 2\frac{\partial}{\partial x} - 4\frac{\partial}{\partial y} + y\frac{\partial}{\partial z}, \quad \tilde{e}_3 = \frac{\partial}{\partial z}$$

Let g be the Riemannian metric, η be the 1-form and φ be the (1,1)-type tensor field given by

$$g(\tilde{e}_1, \tilde{e}_3) = g(\tilde{e}_1, \tilde{e}_2) = g(\tilde{e}_2, \tilde{e}_3) = 0,$$

$$g(\tilde{e}_1, e_1) = g(\tilde{e}_2, \tilde{e}_2) = g(\tilde{e}_3, \tilde{e}_3) = 1,$$
(7.1)

$$\eta(W) = g(W, \tilde{e}_3), \tag{7.2}$$

$$\varphi \tilde{e}_1 = \tilde{e}_2, \quad \varphi \tilde{e}_2 = -\tilde{e}_1, \quad \varphi \tilde{e}_3 = 0,$$
(7.3)

respectively. Using the linearity of φ and g, we have

 $\eta(\tilde{e}_3) = 1, \quad \varphi^2 W = -W + \eta(W)\tilde{e}_3,$

and

 $g(\varphi W, \varphi Z) = g(W, Z) - \eta(W)\eta(Z).$

Thus for $\tilde{e}_3 = \xi$, (φ, ξ, η, g) defines a c.m.s. on M^3 . Thus we have

$$[\tilde{e}_1, \tilde{e}_2] = 2\tilde{e}_3, \quad [\tilde{e}_1, \tilde{e}_3] = 0, \quad [\tilde{e}_2, \tilde{e}_3] = 0.$$

Recall Koszul's formula

$$2g(\nabla_U V, W) = Ug(V, W) + Vg(U, W) - Wg(U, V) - g(U, [V, W]) - g(V, [U, W]) + g(W, [U, V]),$$

Taking $\tilde{e}_3 = \xi$ and using the above formula for Riemannian metric *g*, we get

$$\begin{aligned} \nabla_{\tilde{e}_{1}}\tilde{e}_{3} &= -\tilde{e}_{2}, \quad \nabla_{\tilde{e}_{2}}\tilde{e}_{3} = \tilde{e}_{1}, \quad \nabla_{\tilde{e}_{3}}\tilde{e}_{3} = 0, \\ \nabla_{\tilde{e}_{3}}\tilde{e}_{1} &= -\tilde{e}_{2}, \quad \nabla_{\tilde{e}_{1}}\tilde{e}_{2} = \tilde{e}_{3}, \quad \nabla_{\tilde{e}_{2}}\tilde{e}_{1} = -\tilde{e}_{3}, \\ \nabla_{\tilde{e}_{2}}\tilde{e}_{2} &= 0, \quad \nabla_{\tilde{e}_{3}}\tilde{e}_{2} = \tilde{e}_{1}, \quad \nabla_{\tilde{e}_{1}}\tilde{e}_{1} = 0. \end{aligned}$$
(7.4)

Hence from (2.1), the manifold M^3 is a q.S. manifold with $\gamma = 1$. Using (7.1), (7.2), (7.3) and (7.4) in (5.1), we have D_a -homothetic deformation of the manifold M^3 admitting the S.K.con. given by

$$\begin{split} \widetilde{\nabla}_{\tilde{e}_{1}}^{\alpha} \widetilde{e}_{3} &= 0, \qquad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\tilde{e}_{2}}^{\alpha} \widetilde{e}_{3} = 0, \qquad \widetilde{\nabla}_{e_{3}}^{\alpha} \widetilde{e}_{3} = 0, \\ \widetilde{\nabla}_{\tilde{e}_{3}}^{\alpha} \widetilde{e}_{1} &= -\alpha \widetilde{e}_{2}, \quad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\tilde{e}_{1}}^{\alpha} \widetilde{e}_{2} = 0, \qquad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\tilde{e}_{2}}^{\alpha} \widetilde{e}_{1} = 0, \\ \widetilde{\nabla}_{\tilde{e}_{2}}^{\alpha} \widetilde{e}_{2} &= 0, \qquad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\tilde{e}_{2}}^{\alpha} \widetilde{e}_{2} = \alpha e_{1}, \quad \widetilde{\nabla}_{\tilde{e}_{1}}^{\alpha} \widetilde{e}_{1} = 0. \end{split}$$

$$(7.5)$$

Using (7.5), we obtain

$$\vec{R}^{\alpha}(\tilde{e}_{1},\tilde{e}_{2})\tilde{e}_{1} = 2\alpha\tilde{e}_{2}, \quad \vec{R}^{\alpha}(\tilde{e}_{1},\tilde{e}_{2})\tilde{e}_{2} = -2\alpha\tilde{e}_{2}, \quad \vec{R}^{\alpha}(\tilde{e}_{1},\tilde{e}_{2})\tilde{e}_{3} = 0,
 \vec{R}^{\alpha}(\tilde{e}_{1},\tilde{e}_{3})\tilde{e}_{1} = 0, \quad \vec{R}^{\alpha}(\tilde{e}_{1},\tilde{e}_{3})\tilde{e}_{2} = 0, \quad \vec{R}^{\alpha}(\tilde{e}_{1},\tilde{e}_{3})\tilde{e}_{3} = 0,
 \vec{R}^{\alpha}(\tilde{e}_{2},\tilde{e}_{3})\tilde{e}_{1} = 0, \quad \vec{R}^{\alpha}(\tilde{e}_{2},\tilde{e}_{3})\tilde{e}_{2} = 0, \quad \vec{R}^{\alpha}(\tilde{e}_{2},\tilde{e}_{3})\tilde{e}_{3} = 0.$$

$$(7.6)$$

Thus from (7.6), the manifold M^3 is a flat manifold. Since a flat manifold is a Ricci flat manifold, from the Theorem 6.1 the manifold M^3 is a projectively flat manifold.

References

- D. E. Blair, *The theory of quasi-Sasakian structure*, J. Differential Geo., 1(3-4) (1967), 331-345.
 S. Tanno, *Quasi-Sasakian structure of rank 2p+1*, J. Differential Geom., 5(3-4) (1971), 317-324.
 Z. Olszak, *On three dimensional conformally flat quasi-Sasakian manifolds*, Period Math. Hungar., 33(2) (1996), 105-113.
 Z. Olszak, *The Schouten-van Kampen affine connection adapted an almost (para) contact metric structure*, Publ. De L'inst. Math., 94(108) (2013), 214-224. [4] Z. Oiszak, *The Schollen-van Rampen affine connection dataplea an almost (para) contact metric structure*, Publ. De L'Inst. Math., 94(106) 31-42.
 [5] A. Yıldız, *f-Kenmotsu manifolds with the Schouten-van Kampen connection*, Publ. De L'Inst. Math., 102(116) (2017), 93-105.
 [6] D. E. Blair, *Contact Manifolds in Riemannian Geometry*, Lecture Notes in Mathematics Vol. 509, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-New York, 1976.
 [7] D. E. Blair, *Riemannian Geometry of Contact and Symplectic Manifolds*, Progress in Mathematics, Vol. 203, Birkhäuser, Boston, 2002.
 [8] K. Yano, M. Kon, *Structures on Manifolds*, World Scientific, 1984.

- [9] Z. Olszak, Normal almost contact metric manifolds of dimension 3, Ann. Polon. Math., 1(47) (1986), 41-50.
- [10] D. Janssens, L. Vanhecke, Almost contact structures and curvature tensors, Kodai Math. J., 4(1) (1981), 1-27.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.527572



Neimark-Sacker Bifurcation of a Third Order Difference Equation

Asmaa Shareef¹ and Marwan Aloqeili^{1*}

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science, Birzeit University, Birzeit, Palestine *Corresponding author E-mail: malogeili@birzeit.edu

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Equilibrium, Difference equation, Neimark-Sacker Bifurcation, Stability.
2010 AMS: 39A28
Received: 15 February 2019
Accepted: 25 April 2019
Available online: 17 June 2019

In this paper, we investigate the bifurcation of a third order rational difference equation. Firstly, we show that the equation undergoes a Neimark-Sacker bifurcation when the parameter reaches a critical value. Then, we consider the direction of the Neimark-Sacker bifurcation. Finally, we give some numerical simulations of our results.

1. Introduction

Bifurcation is an important dynamic behavior of some dynamical systems. Some difference equations exhibits different kinds of bifurcation including period-doubling bifurcation, saddle-node bifurcation and Neimark-Sacker bifurcation. In this paper, we show that a third order rational difference equation exhibits Neimark-Sacker bifurcation. This type of bifurcation exits when the Jacobian matrix of a system of difference equations has complex eigenvalues of modulus one. In [1], the author studied the dynamics of the third order difference equation

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{\beta x_n + \delta x_{n-2}}{A + B x_n + C x_{n-1}}$$
(1.1)

Using appropriate change of variables, equation (1.1) becomes

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{\beta x_n + x_{n-2}}{A + Bx_n + x_{n-1}}$$

where $A \ge 0, \beta, B > 0$. The author gives dynamic properties of solutions of this equation. In [2], the authors considered the difference equation

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{\beta x_n + \alpha x_{n-2}}{1 + x_{n-1}}$$

They show that this equation undergoes a Neimark-Sacker bifurcation and give the direction of the bifurcation. In this paper, we consider the third order rational difference equation

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{\beta x_n + x_{n-2}}{A + x_{n-1}} \tag{1.2}$$

where $A \in (0,1)$, $\beta > 0$ and nonnegative initial conditions x_{-2}, x_{-1} and x_0 . Firstly, we show that the unique positive equilibrium $X^* = \beta - A + 1$ is locally asymptotically stable if $\beta > (1 - A)/(1 + A)$. Then, we show that equation (1.2) undergoes a Neimark-Sacker bifurcation by converting this equation to a first order system and showing that the Jacobian matrix of the linearized system has a pair of complex

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: asma_aqel@yahoo.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-8109-5811 (A. Shareef), https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9030-1717 (M. Alo-qeili),maloqeili@birzeit.edu

conjugated eigenvalues of modulus one and a real eigenvalue in the interval (0, 1). Equation (1.2) is a special case of the following one which was considered in [3]

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{\alpha + \beta x_n + \gamma x_{n-1} + x_{n-2}}{A + x_{n-1}}$$
(1.3)

setting $\alpha = \gamma = 0$, we get equation (1.2). The authors in [3] proved that every solution of equation (1.3) is bounded.

The rest of the article is organized as follows: in section 2, we give condition for local asymptotic stability. Then, we show in section 3 that equation (1.2) undergoes a Neimark-Sacker bifurcation. In section 4, the direction of bifurcation is considered. Finally, some numerical simulations are given.

2. Local stability

In this section, we study local stability of the unique positive equilibrium of equation (1.2). We apply Jury's test to the characteristic polynomial of the linearized equation. **Jury's conditions** provide an algebraic test that determines whether the roots of a polynomial lie within the unit circle. Jury's conditions consist of a test for necessary conditions and a test for sufficient conditions. For a polynomial of the form:

 $f(z) = a_n z^n + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + \dots + a_1 z + a_0$

The necessary conditions for stability are: f(1) > 0 and $(-1)^n f(-1) > 0$, while the sufficient conditions for stability are given by:

 $|a_0| < a_n, |b_0| > |b_{n-1}|, |c_0| > |c_{n-2}|, \cdots$

where $b_k = \begin{vmatrix} a_0 & a_{n-k} \\ a_n & a_k \end{vmatrix}$, $c_k = \begin{vmatrix} b_0 & b_{n-1-k} \\ b_{n-1} & b_k \end{vmatrix}$ We need the following theorem

Theorem 2.1. (Viète Theorem [4]) Consider the following polynomial of degree n

$$f(z) = a_n z^n + a_{n-1} z^{n-1} + \dots + a_1 z + a_0$$

Then, the n roots of f (counting multiplicities) z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n satisfy the following relations

$$z_1 + z_2 + \dots + z_{n-1} + z_n = \frac{-a_{n-1}}{a_n}$$

$$(z_1z_2 + z_1z_3 + \dots + z_1z_n) + (z_2z_3 + z_2z_4 + \dots + z_2z_n) + \dots + z_{n-1}z_n = \frac{a_{n-2}}{a_n}$$

$$z_1 z_2 \cdots z_n = (-1)^n \frac{a_0}{a_n}$$

÷

Firstly, we convert the third order equation (1.2) to the first order system

$$x_{n+1} = \frac{\beta x_n + z_n}{A + y_n}$$
$$y_{n+1} = x_n$$
$$z_{n+1} = y_n$$

The system has two fixed points, the first one is the zero fixed point (0,0,0) and a positive fixed point

$$X^* = (\beta - A + 1, \beta - A + 1, \beta - A + 1), \quad \beta + 1 > A$$

Viète's theorem will be used to show that the Jacobian matrix of the above system has a pair of complex eigenvalues of modulus one. The following theorem gives a condition for local stability of X^* . Let

$$\beta^* = \frac{1-A}{1+A}$$

Theorem 2.2. *The positive fixed point is stable if* $\beta > \beta^*$ *and unstable if* $\beta < \beta^*$

Proof. The Jacobian matrix of the system is

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{\beta}{A+y_n} & \frac{-(\beta x_n + z_n)}{(A+y_n)^2} & \frac{1}{A+y_n} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

At the positive fixed point

$$J = \left(\begin{array}{ccc} \frac{\beta}{\beta+1} & \frac{-(\beta-A+1)}{\beta+1} & \frac{1}{\beta+1} \\ 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 \end{array} \right)$$

The characteristic equation of the Jacobian matrix J is

$$p(\lambda) = |\lambda I - J| = \lambda^3 - \frac{\beta}{\beta + 1}\lambda^2 + \frac{\beta - A + 1}{\beta + 1}\lambda - \frac{1}{\beta + 1}$$
(2.1)

To study the stability of X^* we use Jury's conditions

$$p(1) = \frac{\beta - A + 1}{\beta + 1} > 0$$

$$(-1)^3 p(-1) = 2 + \frac{\beta - A + 1}{\beta + 1} > 0$$

The sufficient conditions are, $|a_0| < a_3$ and $|b_0| > |b_2|$ where

$$a_0 = \frac{-1}{\beta + 1}, \quad a_1 = \frac{\beta - A + 1}{\beta + 1}, \quad a_2 = \frac{-\beta}{\beta + 1}, \quad a_3 = 1$$

and

$$b_0 = \begin{vmatrix} a_0 & a_3 \\ a_3 & a_0 \end{vmatrix}, \quad b_2 = \begin{vmatrix} a_0 & a_1 \\ a_3 & a_2 \end{vmatrix}$$

The condition $|a_0| < a_3$ is trivially satisfied. Now,

$$b_0 = \frac{1}{(\beta+1)^2} - 1$$
, thus $|b_0| = 1 - \frac{1}{(\beta+1)^2} = \frac{\beta^2 + 2\beta}{(\beta+1)^2}$

and

$$b_2 = \begin{vmatrix} \frac{-1}{\beta+1} & \frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1} \\ 1 & \frac{-\beta}{\beta+1} \end{vmatrix} = \frac{-\beta^2 - \beta - 1 + A\beta + A}{(\beta+1)^2}$$

We consider two cases. The first case is

$$\frac{-\beta^2-\beta-1+A\beta+A}{(\beta+1)^2}>0$$

then $|b_2| = \frac{-\beta^2 - \beta - 1 + A\beta + A}{(\beta+1)^2}$. The condition $|b_0| > |b_2|$ is satisfied if and only if

$$\frac{\beta^2+2\beta}{(\beta+1)^2} > \frac{-\beta^2-\beta-1+A\beta+A}{(\beta+1)^2}$$

which is equivalent to

$$\frac{2\beta+1-A}{\beta+1} > 0$$

the last inequality is satisfied since $\beta - A + 1 > 0$. The second case is when

$$\frac{-\beta^2 - \beta - 1 + A\beta + A}{(\beta+1)^2} < 0$$

So

$$|b_2| = \frac{\beta^2 + \beta + 1 - A\beta - A}{(\beta + 1)^2}$$

Now, $|b_0| > |b_2|$ if

$$\frac{\beta^2+2\beta}{(\beta+1)^2} > \frac{\beta^2+\beta+1-A\beta-A}{(\beta+1)^2}$$

which is satisfied if and only if

$$\beta > \frac{1-A}{1+A}$$

The proof is complete.

3. Existence of Neimark-Sacker bifurcation

In this section, we show that equation (1.2) undergoes a Neimark-Sacker bifurcation by proving the existence of a pair of complex conjugate eigenvalues of modulus one.

Theorem 3.1. When $\beta = \beta^* = \frac{1-A}{1+A}$, polynomial (2.1) has two complex conjugate roots of modulus one and another real root that lies inside the unit circle. Moreover for $A \in (0, 1)$ the Neimark Sacker bifurcation conditions are satisfied.

The theorem will be proved through the following lemmas

Lemma 3.1. The characteristic polynomial (2.1) has two complex roots, $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 = \overline{\lambda}_1$ and a real root λ_3 in the interval (0,1).

Proof. The derivative of $p(\lambda)$ is given by

$$p'(\lambda) = 3\lambda^2 - \frac{2\beta}{\beta+1}\lambda + \frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1}$$

If the discriminant of $p'(\lambda)$ is negative then $p(\lambda)$ has complex roots,

$$\Delta p'(\lambda) = \frac{-8\beta^2 + 12(\beta A + A - 1) - 24\beta}{(\beta + 1)^2}$$

Using the condition $\beta(A+1) + A - 1 = 0$, we find that

$$\Delta p'(\lambda) = \frac{-8\beta^2 - 36\beta}{(\beta+1)^2} < 0$$

So $p'(\lambda)$ has complex roots. Hence, $p(\lambda)$ has complex roots as well. Since $p(0) = \frac{-1}{\beta+1} < 0$ and p(1) > 0, then there exists $\lambda_3 \in (0, 1)$ such that $p(\lambda_3) = 0$, this is the unique real root inside the unit circle.

Lemma 3.2. The complex roots of polynomial (2.1) have modulus one when $\beta = \beta^*$. Moreover, the real root $\lambda_3 = \frac{1}{1+\beta}$.

Proof. Suppose that $\lambda_1, \lambda_2, \lambda_3$ are the roots of $p(\lambda)$ where $\lambda_2 = \overline{\lambda}_1$ and $\lambda_3 = r_0$. We apply *Viète* theorem to the polynomial $p(\lambda)$. If $|\lambda_1| = |\lambda_2| = 1$ and $\lambda_3 = r_0$ then

$$\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 + \lambda_3 = \frac{-a_2}{a_3} = \frac{\beta}{\beta + 1} \tag{3.1}$$

$$\lambda_1 \lambda_2 + \lambda_1 \lambda_3 + \lambda_2 \lambda_3 = \frac{a_1}{a_3} = \frac{\beta - A + 1}{\beta + 1}$$
(3.2)

$$\lambda_1\lambda_2\lambda_3 = \frac{-a_0}{a_3} = \frac{1}{\beta+1}$$

It follows that

$$\lambda_1\lambda_2\lambda_3 = \lambda_3 = \frac{1}{\beta+1}$$

Plugging this value of λ_3 into (3.2) and using the fact that $\lambda_1 \lambda_2 = 1$, we find

$$\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = -A$$

Then substitute for λ_3 in (3.1) to get

$$\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = rac{eta}{eta+1} - rac{1}{eta+1} = rac{eta-1}{eta+1}$$

Therefore,

$$\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 = rac{eta - 1}{eta + 1} = -A$$

which implies that

$$\beta = \frac{1-A}{1+A}$$

It follows, from the above argument, that there exist a conjugate pair of complex roots on the unit circle.

The roots of the characteristic polynomial depend on the parameters A and β . Hence, at $\beta^* = (1 - A)/(1 + A)$, these roots are functions of A, and will be denoted by $\lambda_1^*(A) = \lambda_1(A, \beta^*(A)), \lambda_2^*(A) = \lambda_2(A, \beta^*(A))$ and $\lambda_3^* = \lambda_3(A, \beta^*(A))$

Lemma 3.3. The complex roots of polynomial (2.1) are $\lambda_{1,2}^*(A) = \exp \pm i\theta^*$ where

$$\theta^* = \arccos\left(\frac{-A}{2}\right)$$

Proof. Let $e^{i\theta}$, $e^{-i\theta}$ be the roots of $p(\lambda)$, then

$$e^{3i\theta} - \frac{\beta}{\beta+1}e^{2i\theta} + \frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1}e^{i\theta} - \frac{1}{\beta+1} = 0$$

$$\cos 3\theta + i\sin 3\theta - \frac{\beta}{\beta+1}(\cos 2\theta + i\sin 2\theta) + \frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1}(\cos \theta + i\sin \theta) - \frac{1}{\beta+1} = 0$$

Separation of real and imaginary parts gives

$$\cos 3\theta - \frac{\beta}{\beta+1}\cos 2\theta = -\frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1}\cos\theta + \frac{1}{\beta+1}$$

and

$$\sin 3\theta - \frac{\beta}{\beta+1}\sin 2\theta = -\frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1}\sin\theta$$

Square both sides of previous equations and add them up, we find that

$$\cos^{2} 3\theta + \sin^{2} 3\theta + \left(\frac{\beta}{\beta+1}\right)^{2} \left(\cos^{2} 2\theta + \sin^{2} 2\theta\right) - \frac{2\beta}{\beta+1} \left(\cos 2\theta \cos 3\theta + \sin 2\theta \sin 3\theta\right)$$
$$= \left(\frac{1}{\beta+1}\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1}\right)^{2} \left(\cos^{2} \theta + \sin^{2} \theta\right) - \frac{2(\beta-A+1)}{(\beta+1)^{2}} \cos \theta$$

It follows that

$$1 + \left(\frac{\beta}{\beta+1}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{1}{\beta+1}\right)^2 - \left(\frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1}\right)^2 = \left(\frac{2\beta}{\beta+1} - \frac{2(\beta-A+1)}{(\beta+1)^2}\right)\cos\theta$$

Simplifying we get

$$\cos\theta = \frac{(\beta + A - 1)}{2\beta}$$

Then, evaluating at $\beta = \beta^* = \frac{1-A}{1+A}$

$$\cos\theta = \frac{-A}{2}$$

Hence for $A \in (0,1)$, $\frac{-1}{2} < \cos \theta < 0$. Therefore, there exists $\theta^* \in (\frac{\pi}{2}, \frac{2\pi}{3})$ such that

$$\theta^* = \arccos\left(\frac{-A}{2}\right)$$

Moreover, $\theta^* \neq 0, \pm \frac{\pi}{2}, \pm \frac{2\pi}{3}, \pm \pi$. Consequently, $e^{ik\theta^*} \neq 1$ for $k \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$.

Lemma 3.4. The condition $\frac{d|\lambda|^2}{d\beta}|_{\beta=\beta^*} \neq 0$ is fulfilled at $\beta = \beta^*$.

Proof. Note that

$$p(\lambda) = \lambda^{3} - \frac{\beta}{\beta+1}\lambda^{2} + \frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1}\lambda - \frac{1}{\beta+1}$$
$$\frac{d|\lambda|^{2}}{d\beta}|_{\beta=\beta^{*}} = \frac{d(\lambda\bar{\lambda})}{d\beta} = \lambda\frac{\partial\bar{\lambda}}{\partial\beta} + \bar{\lambda}\frac{\partial\lambda}{\partial\beta}$$

$$\begin{split} \frac{d|\lambda|^2}{d\beta} &= \lambda \left(\frac{\partial p(\bar{\lambda})}{\partial \beta} \frac{\partial \bar{\lambda}}{\partial p(\bar{\lambda})} \right) + \bar{\lambda} \left(\frac{\partial p(\lambda)}{\partial \beta} \frac{\partial \lambda}{\partial p(\lambda)} \right) \\ &= \lambda \left(\frac{-\bar{\lambda}^2 + A\bar{\lambda} + 1}{(\beta+1)^2 (3\bar{\lambda}^2 - \frac{2\beta}{\beta+1}\bar{\lambda} + \frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1})} \right) + \bar{\lambda} \left(\frac{-\lambda^2 + A\lambda + 1}{(\beta+1)^2 (3\lambda^2 - \frac{2\beta}{\beta+1}\lambda + \frac{\beta-A+1}{\beta+1})} \right) \end{split}$$

After some calculations, the right hand side of the last equation can be written as

$$\frac{3A(\beta+1)(\bar{\lambda}^2+\lambda^2)-2\beta A(\lambda+\bar{\lambda})+6i(\beta+1)\sin\theta(\lambda^2-\bar{\lambda}^2)+4i\beta\sin\theta(\bar{\lambda}-\lambda)+2AX}{(\beta+1)(3(\beta+1)\bar{\lambda}^2-2\beta\bar{\lambda}+X)(3(\beta+1)\lambda^2-2\beta\lambda+X)}$$

where $X = \beta - A + 1$. But

$$\lambda + \lambda = (\cos \theta + i \sin \theta) + (\cos \theta - i \sin \theta) = 2 \cos \theta$$

 $\lambda^2 + \bar{\lambda}^2 = (\cos\theta + i\sin\theta)^2 + (\cos\theta - i\sin\theta)^2 = 2(\cos^2\theta - \sin^2\theta) = 2\cos(2\theta)$

$$\lambda^2 - \bar{\lambda}^2 = (\cos\theta + i\sin\theta)^2 - (\cos\theta - i\sin\theta)^2 = 4i\cos\theta\sin\theta = i2\sin(2\theta)$$

Consequently, we have

$$\frac{d|\lambda|^2}{d\beta} = \frac{6A(\beta+1)\cos(2\theta) - 4\beta A\cos\theta + (-24(\beta+1)\cos\theta + 8\beta)\sin^2\theta + 2AX}{(\beta+1)(3(\beta+1)\bar{\lambda}^2 - 2\beta\bar{\lambda} + X)(3(\beta+1)\lambda^2 - 2\beta\lambda + X)}$$

Now, at $\theta = \theta^*$, $\beta = \beta^*$, the last expression becomes

$$\frac{d|\lambda|^2}{d\beta}|_{\beta=\beta^*} = \frac{8A\frac{2}{1+A} - 2A^2 + 8\frac{1-A}{1+A}}{(\beta^*+1)(3(\beta^*+1)\bar{\lambda}^2 - 2\beta\bar{\lambda} + X^*)(3(\beta^*+1)\lambda^2 - 2\beta^*\lambda + X^*)}$$

$$=\frac{-2(A-2)(A+2)(A+1)}{(1+A)(\beta^*+1)(3(\beta^*+1)\bar{\lambda}^2-2\beta^*\bar{\lambda}+X^*)(3(\beta^*+1)\lambda^2-2\beta^*\lambda+X^*)}$$

where $X^* = \beta^* - A + 1$. It follows that

$$\frac{d|\lambda|^2}{d\beta}|_{\beta=\beta^*} = -\frac{(A-2)(A+2)(A+1)}{\alpha_1^2 + \alpha_2^2}$$

where

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_1 &= 3(\beta^* + 1)\cos(2\theta^*) - 2\beta^*\cos\theta^* + (\beta^* - A + 1) \\ \alpha_2 &= 3(\beta^* + 1)\sin(2\theta^*) - 2\beta^*\sin\theta^* \end{aligned}$$

We conclude that $\frac{d|\lambda|^2}{d\beta}|_{\beta=\beta^*} \neq 0$ for $A \in (0,1)$ which is the required result.

This completes also the proof of theorem (3.1).

4. Direction of Neimark-Sacker bifurcation

We have shown that system (2.1) undergoes a Neimark-Sacker bifurcation. In this section, we determine the direction of stability of the invariant closed curve bifurcating from the positive fixed point. We follow the the normal form theory of Neimark-Sacker bifurcation as in Kuznetsove, [5], see also [2].

Now, we shift the fixed point to the origin by taking $u_n = x_n - x^*$, $v_n = y_n - y^*$, $w_n = z_n - z^*$. System (2.1) takes the form

$$u_{n+1} = \frac{B(u_n + X^*) + w_n + X^*}{A + v_n + X^*} - X$$

$$v_{n+1} = u_n$$

$$w_{n+1} = v_n$$

Which can be written as

$$Y_{n+1} = JY_n + G(Y_n) + O(||Y||^4)$$
(4.1)

where

$$G(Y) = \frac{1}{2}B(Y,Y) + \frac{1}{6}C(Y,Y,Y), \text{ and } Y_n = (u_n, v_n, w_n)^T \in \mathbb{R}^3$$

and

$$B(Y,Y) = (B_1(Y,Y),0,0)^T$$
 and $C(Y,Y,Y) = (C_1(Y,Y,Y),0,0)^T$

where

$$B_i(\xi,\zeta) = \sum_{j,k=1}^n \left. \frac{\partial^2 Y_i(\phi)}{\partial \phi_j \partial \phi_k} \right|_{\phi=0} \xi_j \zeta_k$$

and

$$C_i(\xi,\zeta,\eta) = \sum_{j,k,l=1}^n \left. \frac{\partial^3 Y_i(\phi)}{\partial \phi_j \partial \phi_k \partial \phi_l} \right|_{\phi=0} \xi_j \zeta_k \eta_l$$

$$\begin{split} B_1(\xi,\zeta) &= \frac{-\beta}{(\beta+1)^2} (\xi_2\zeta_1 + \xi_1\zeta_2) + \frac{2(\beta-A+1)}{(\beta+1)^2} \xi_2\zeta_2 - \frac{1}{(\beta+1)^2} (\xi_3\zeta_2 + \xi_2\zeta_3) \\ C_1(\xi,\zeta,\eta) &= \frac{2}{(\beta+1)^3} (\xi_1\zeta_2\eta_2 + \xi_2\eta_1\zeta_2 + \xi_2\zeta_2\eta_1) \\ &+ \frac{2\beta}{(\beta+1)^3} (\xi_2\zeta_2\eta_3 + \xi_2\zeta_3\eta_2 + \xi_3\zeta_2\eta_2) - \frac{6(\beta-A+1)}{(\beta+1)^3} \xi_2\zeta_2\eta_2 \end{split}$$

Let $q^* \in \mathbb{C}^3$ be an eigenvector of J corresponding to the eigenvalue $e^{i\theta^*}$ and $p^* \in \mathbb{C}^3$ be an eigenvector of J^T corresponding to the eigenvalue $e^{-i\theta^*}$; that is,

$$Jq^* = e^{i\theta^*}q^*, J^T p^* = e^{-i\theta^*}p^*$$

Solving $(J - \lambda I)q^* = (J - e^{i\theta}I)q^* = 0$, we get $q^* \sim (1, e^{-i\theta^*}, e^{-2i\theta^*})^T$ and solving $(J - \lambda I)^T p^* = (J - e^{-i\theta^*}I)^T p^* = 0$ we get $p^* \sim (1, e^{-i\theta^*} - \frac{\beta}{\beta+1}, \frac{e^{i\theta^*}}{\beta+1})^T$. Now, we want to normalize p^* and q^* so that $\langle q^*, p^* \rangle = 1$, where $\langle ., . \rangle$ is the standard scalar product in \mathbb{C}^3 . Note that

$$\langle q^*, p^* \rangle = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \overline{q_i} p_i = 2 - \frac{\beta e^{i\theta^*}}{\beta + 1} + \frac{e^{3i\theta^*}}{\beta + 1}$$

So let $q = \varphi q^*$ where $\varphi = (2 - \frac{\beta e^{i\theta^*}}{\beta+1} + \frac{e^{3i\theta^*}}{\beta+1})^{-1}$ and $p = p^*$. The real eigenspace T^c corresponding to $\lambda_{1,2}$ is two-dimensional and is spanned by {Re(q), Im(q)}. The real eigenspace T^s corresponding to the real eigenvalue of J is one-dimensional. Any vector $x \in \mathbb{R}^3$ may be decomposed as

$$x = zq + \bar{z}\bar{q} + y$$

where $z \in \mathbb{C}^1$, and $\overline{z}\overline{q} \in T^c$, $y \in T^{su}$. The complex variable z is a coordinate on T^c . We have

$$z = \langle p, x \rangle$$

$$y = x - \langle p, x \rangle q - \langle \bar{p}, x \rangle \bar{q}$$

In these coordinates, the map (4.1) takes the form

$$\begin{array}{rcl} z & \mapsto & e^{i \Theta} \; z + \langle p, G(zq + \bar{z}\bar{q} + y) \rangle \\ y & \mapsto & Jy + G(zq + \bar{z}\bar{q} + y) - \langle p, G(zq + \bar{z}\bar{q} + y) \rangle q - \langle \bar{p}, G(zq + \bar{z}\bar{q} + y) \rangle \bar{q} \end{array}$$

Using Taylor expansions, the previous system can be written in the form:

$$z \mapsto e^{i\theta^*}z + \frac{1}{2}G_{20}z^2 + G_{11}z\overline{z} + \frac{1}{2}G_{02}\overline{z}^2 + \frac{1}{2}G_{21}z^2\overline{z} + \cdots$$
$$y \mapsto Jy + \frac{1}{2}H_{20}z^2 + H_{11}z\overline{z} + \frac{1}{2}H_{02}\overline{z}^2 + \cdots$$

Where

$$G_{20} = \langle p, B(q,q) \rangle, G_{11} = \langle p, B(q,\bar{q}) \rangle, G_{02} = \langle p, B(\bar{q},\bar{q}) \rangle$$

$$\tag{4.2}$$

and

$$G_{21} = \langle p, C(q, q, \bar{q}) \rangle \tag{4.3}$$

$$H_{20} = B(q,q) - \langle p, B(q,q) \rangle q - \langle \bar{p}, B(q,q) \rangle \bar{q}$$

$$(4.4)$$

$$H_{11} = B(q,\bar{q}) - \langle p, B(q,\bar{q}) \rangle q - \langle \bar{p}, B(q,\bar{q}) \rangle \bar{q}$$

$$(4.5)$$

and the scalar product in \mathbb{C}^3 is used. From the center manifold theorem, there exists a center manifold W^c which can be approximated as

$$Y = V(z,\bar{z}) = \frac{1}{2}w_{20}z^2 + w_{11}z\bar{z} + \frac{1}{2}w_{02}\bar{z}^2 + O(|z|^3)$$

where $\langle p, w_{ij} \rangle = 0$. The vectors $w_{ij} \in \mathbb{C}^3$ can be found from the linear equations

$$w_{20} = (e^{2i\theta^*}I_3 - J)^{-1}H_{20}$$

$$w_{11} = (I_3 - J)^{-1}H_{11}$$

$$w_{02} = (e^{-2i\theta^*}I_3 - J)^{-1}H_{02}$$

So z can be expressed as

$$z \mapsto e^{i\theta^*} z + \frac{1}{2}G_{20}z^2 + G_{11}z\bar{z} + \frac{1}{2}G_{02}\bar{z}^2 + \frac{1}{2}(G_{21} + 2\langle p, B(q, (I-J)^{-1}H_{11})\rangle + \frac{1}{2}G_{21}z^2 + \frac{1}$$

$$+\langle p, B(\bar{q}, (e^{2i\theta^*}I - J)^{-1}H_{20})\rangle)z^2\bar{z}$$
(4.6)

Substituting equations (4.2)-(4.5) into (4.6) and taking into account the identities

$$(I-J)^{-1}q = \frac{1}{1-e^{i\theta^*}}q, \quad (e^{2i\theta^*}I-J)^{-1}q = \frac{e^{-i\theta^*}}{e^{i\theta^*}-1}q$$

and

$$(I-J)^{-1}\bar{q} = \frac{1}{1-e^{-i\theta^*}}\bar{q}, \quad (e^{2i\theta^*}I-J)^{-1}\bar{q} = \frac{e^{i\theta^*}}{e^{3i\theta^*}-1}\bar{q}$$

We can express z using the map

$$z \mapsto e^{i\theta^*} z + \sum_{k+l \ge 2} \frac{1}{k!j!} g_{kj} z^k \bar{z}^j$$

Finally, the restricted map can be written as

$$z \mapsto e^{i\theta^*} z(1 + d(\beta^*)) |z|^2 + O(|z|^4)$$

where the real number $A(\beta^*) = \operatorname{Re}(d(\beta^*))$ determines the direction of bifurcation of the closed invariant curve and can be computed using the formula

$$A(\beta^*) = \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{e^{-i\theta^*}g_{21}}{2}\right) - \operatorname{Re}\left(\frac{(1-2e^{i\theta^*})e^{-2i\theta^*}}{2(1-e^{i\theta^*})}g_{20}g_{11}\right) - \frac{1}{2}|g_{11}|^2 - \frac{1}{4}|g_{02}|^2$$

The coefficients g_{20}, g_{11}, g_{02} and g_{21} can be readily calculated using simple, but tedious, calculations. Firstly, we have

$$B(q,q) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{2(\beta - A + 1)e^{-2i\theta^*} - 2\beta e^{-i\theta^*} - 2e^{-3i\theta^*}}{(\beta + 1)^2} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

It follows that

$$g_{20} = \langle p, B(q,q) \rangle = \frac{2(\beta - A + 1)e^{-2i\theta^*} - 2\beta e^{-i\theta^*} - 2e^{-3i\theta^*}}{(\beta + 1)\left(2(\beta + 1) - \beta e^{i\theta^*} + e^{3i\theta^*}\right)}$$

whereas

$$B(q,\bar{q}) = \left(\begin{array}{c} \frac{2(\beta - A + 1) - 2(\beta + 1)\cos\theta^{*}}{(\beta + 1)^{2}} \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{array}\right)$$

Hence,

$$g_{11} = \langle p, B(q, \bar{q}) \rangle = \frac{2(\beta - A + 1) - 2(\beta + 1)\cos\theta^*}{(\beta + 1)\left(2(\beta + 1) - \beta e^{i\theta^*} + e^{3i\theta^*}\right)}$$

and

$$B(ar{q},ar{q}) = \left(egin{array}{c} rac{2(eta - A + 1)e^{2i heta^*} - 2eta e^{i heta^*} - 2e^{3i heta^*}}{(eta + 1)^2} \ 0 \ 0 \end{array}
ight)$$

Then

$$g_{02} = \langle p, B(\bar{q}, \bar{q}) \rangle = \frac{2(\beta - A + 1)e^{2i\theta^*} - 2\beta e^{i\theta^*} - 2e^{3i\theta}}{(\beta + 1)\left(2(\beta + 1) - \beta e^{i\theta^*} + e^{3i\theta^*}\right)}$$

Finally, to find g_{21} we use the formula

$$g_{21} = \langle p, C(q, q, \bar{q}) \rangle + 2 \langle p, B(q, (I-J)^{-1}B(q, \bar{q})) \rangle$$

$$\langle p, B(\bar{q}, (e^{2i\theta^*}I - J)^{-1}B(q, q)) \rangle + \frac{e^{-i\theta^*}(1 - 2e^{i\theta^*})}{1 - e^{i\theta^*}} \langle p, B(q, q) \rangle \langle p, B(q, \bar{q}) \rangle$$

$$-\frac{2}{1-e^{-i\theta^*}}|\langle p,B(q,\bar{q})\rangle|^2-\frac{e^{i\theta^*}}{e^{3i\theta^*}-1}|\langle p,B(\bar{q},\bar{q})\rangle|^2$$

where

$$C(q,q,\bar{q}) = \begin{pmatrix} \frac{-6(B-A+1)e^{-i\theta^*} + 2B(1+2e^{-2i\theta^*}) + 2(2+e^{-2i\theta^*})}{(B+1)^3} \\ 0 \\ 0 \\ 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

So

$$\langle p, C(q, q, \bar{q}) \rangle = \frac{-6(\beta - A + 1)e^{-i\theta^*} + 2\beta(1 + 2e^{-2i\theta^*}) + 2(2 + e^{-2i\theta^*})}{(\beta + 1)^2 \left(2(\beta + 1) - \beta e^{i\theta^*} + e^{3i\theta^*}\right)}$$

and

$$\langle p, B(\bar{q}, (e^{2i\theta^*}I - J)^{-1}B(q, q)) = \frac{L\left(2(\beta - A + 1)e^{3i\theta^*} - \beta(e^{2i\theta^*} + e^{5i\theta^*}) - (e^{i\theta^*} + e^{4i\theta^*})\right)}{K(2(\beta + 1) - \beta e^{i\theta^*} + e^{3i\theta^*})}$$

where

$$K = (\beta + 1)e^{6i\theta_9} - \beta e^{4i\theta^*} + (\beta - A + 1)e^{2i\theta^*} - 1, \ L = \frac{2(\beta - A + 1) - 2(\beta + 1)\cos\theta^*}{(\beta + 1)^2}$$

Depending on the above calculation, we find that $A(\beta^*) = -0.91 < 0$ when A = 0.5, $\beta = \beta^* = 1/3$, so the closed invariant curve is supercritical (stable) according to the following theorem.

Theorem 4.1. If $A(\beta^*) < 0$ (respectively, > 0), then the Neimark-Sacker bifurcation at $\beta = \beta^*$ is supercritical (respectively, subcritical) and there exists a unique invariant closed curve bifurcates from the fixed point which is asymptotically stable (respectively, unstable).

5. Computer simulation

In this section, we present some numerical simulations of equation (1.2) that supports our analytical results. The first figure is a bifurcation diagram for equation (1.2) when A = 0.5, $x_{-2} = x_{-1} = x_0 = 0.2$. In this case, the positive equilibrium point is stable if $\beta > \frac{1}{3}$ and unstable if $\beta < \frac{1}{3}$. In figures 2 and 3, we plot phase portraits in the (x(n), x(n-2)) plane. In Figure 2, A = 0.5, $\beta = \beta^*$, and $x_{-2} = x_{-1} = x_0 = 0.2$. Notice the existence of a closed invariant curve at the bifurcation value. In figure 3, A = 0.5, $\beta = 0.4$, and $x_{-2} = x_{-1} = x_0 = 0.5$.



Figure 1: Bifurcation diagram of Eq.(1.2) in (β, X) plane for A = 0.5



Figure 2: Phase portrait of Eq.(1.2) in (x(n), x(n-2)) plane for A = 0.5, $\beta = 1/3$



Figure 3: Phase portrait of Eq.(1.2) in (x(n), x(n-2)) plane for A = 0.5, $\beta = 0.4$

6. Conclusion

In this paper, we have used normal form theory to show that a third order difference equation undergoes a Neimar-Sacker bifurcation. All conditions for the existence of A Neimark-Sacker bifurcation have been checked. In the last section, we gave some numerical simulations that support our analytical results. Notice the stability of the invariant curve and the fixed point in figure 2 and figure 3, respectively, as predicted by Theorem 4.1.

References

- [1] E. Camouzis, Global analysis of solutions of $x_{n+1} = \frac{\beta x_n + \delta x_{n-2}}{A + B x_n + C x_{n-1}}$, J. Math Anal. Appl., **316** (2005), 616-627.
- [2] Z. He, J. Qiu, Neimark-Sacker bifurcation of a third order rational difference equation, J. Differ. Equ. Appl., **19** (2013), 1513-1522.
- [3] E. Camouzis, G. Ladas, Dynamics of Third-Order Rational Difference Equations with Open Problems and Conjectures, Chapman & Hall/CRC, New York, 2002.
- [4] A. D. Polyanin, A. I. Chernoutsan, A. Concise, A Concise Handbook of Mathematics, Physics and Engineering Science, CRC Press, New York, 2011.
 [5] Y. Kuznetsov, Elements of Applied Bifurcation Theory, 2nd edition, Springer, New York, 2003.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.545064



On Simultaneously and Approximately Simultaneously Diagonalizable *m*-tuples of Matrices

Maria Isabel García-Planas

Departament de Matemàtiques, Universitat Politècnica de Catalunya, Barcelona, Spain

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Diagonalization, Eigenvalues, Eigenvectors, Equivalence relation, Simultaneously diagonaliation) 2010 AMS: 15A21, 15A22 Received: 26 March 2019 Accepted: 17 May 2019 Available online: X XXXXXX XXXX In this paper, the problem of simultaneous diagonalization of *m*-tuples of *n*-order square complex matrices, is analyzed and some necessary and some necessary and sufficient conditions for this property to be fulfilled are presented. This study has an interest in its applications in different areas as for example in engineering and physical sciences. For example, they appear founding when we must give the instanton solution of Yang-Mills field presented in an octonion form, and it can be represented by triples of traceless matrices. In the case where the *m*-tuple does not simultaneously diagonalize, the possibility of to find near of the given *m*-tuple, an m-tuple that diagonalize simultaneously is studied.

1. Introduction

Let \mathfrak{M} be the manifold of *m*-tuples of *n*-order square complex matrices $T = (X_1, \ldots, X_m)$ representing polynomial matrices $P_T(x) = X_1 + xX_2 + \ldots + x^{m-1}X_m$ that appear in a natural way modeling tools in several research areas of applied mathematics, sciences and engineering, and in a special manner in systems theory ([1]-[3]). Studying control problems by means the polynomial matrix approach, the solution of these problems are reformulated in terms of polynomial matrix equations, where solutions are based on structural properties of the involved matrices, where the simultaneous diagonalization of each and every one of the matrices is a great advantage for solving the problem. The simultaneously diagonalization is related to sets of commuting matrices and it can be found some results (see [4], [5], for example).

Among families of *m*-tuples of matrices, have some interest the families of traceless triples because the Lie algebra is related to gauge fields because they appear in the Lagrangian describing the dynamics of the field, then they are associated to 1-forms that take values on a certain Lie algebra. It is also of interest to note that triples of traceless matrices have some relevance for supergravity theories ([6]). Another application is found when we must give the instanton solution of Yang-Mills field can be presented in an octonion form, and it can be represented by triples of traceless matrices ([7]).

In the space of *n*-square complex matrices, it is well known that the subset of diagonalizable matrices is generic in the sense that this subset is an open and dense set, then any no diagonalizable matrix can be diagonalized by a small perturbation of its entries. This property cannot be generalized to the case of simultaneous diagonalization of an *m*-tuple of *n*-order complex square matrices. We are interested in analyzing the collection of *m*-tuples of matrices that simultaneously diagonalize and the collection that simultaneously diagonalize under small perturbations, some properties in this sense appear in [8].

The simultaneous diagonalization of two real symmetric matrices has long been of interest and largely studied [9]. In this paper, we generalize to the problem of deciding whether the elements of \mathfrak{M} can be simultaneously diagonalized, and in the case where the *m*-tuple does not simultaneously diagonalize, we study the possibility of to find near of the given *m*-tuple, an *m*-tuple that diagonalize simultaneously.

2. Simultaneous similarity of *m*-tuples of *n*-order matrices

Definition 2.1. Let $T = (X_1, ..., X_m), T' = (Y_1, ..., Y_m) \in \mathfrak{M}$ be two *m*-tuples of matrices. Then, *T* is simultaneous similar to *T'* if and only if there exists $P \in Gl(n; \mathbb{R})$ such that

$$(Y_1, \dots, Y_m) = (PX_1P^{-1}, \dots, PX_mP^{-1}).$$
 (2.1)

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: maria.isabel.garcia@upc.edu, https://orcid.org/0000-0001-7418-7208, (M. I. García-Planas)

For simplicity, we will write PTP' = T'.

We are interested on the simultaneous diagonalizable m-tuples.

Definition 2.2. The *m*-tuples of matrices $T = (X_1, ..., X_m) \in \mathfrak{M}$ is simultaneously diagonalizable if and only if there exist an equivalent *m*-tuple formed by diagonal matrices.

From definition we have

Corollary 2.3. Let $T = (X_1, ..., X_m)$ be an *m*-tuple of square matrices. The *m*-tuple is simultaneous diagonalizable if and only if there exist diagonal matrices D_i , i = 1, ..., m and a invertible matrix P (the same matrix P for all i) such that

$$(X_i^t \otimes I_n - I_n \otimes D_i)$$
 vec $P = 0, \forall 1 \le i \le m$.

Remark 2.4. Let $A = (a_{ij})$ and B, the Kronecker product is defined as $A \otimes B = (a_{ij}B)$.

Proof. From $D_i = PX_iP^{-1}$ for all i = 1, ..., m we have $PX_i - D_iP = 0$, for all i = 1, ..., mThen, computing the Kronecker product and applying the vectorizing operator we deduce the result.

Clearly, necessary conditions for simultaneous diagonalizable *m*-tuples are the following

Proposition 2.5. Let $T = (X_1, \ldots, X_m)$ be a simultaneous diagonalizable *m*-tuple. Then all matrices X_i must be diagonalizable.

Obviously, the reciprocal is false

Example 2.6. Clearly, matrices $X_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 0 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$ and $X_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$ are diagonalizable, but none of the matrices $P_i = Q_i^{-1}$ with $Q_1 = \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ 0 & b \end{pmatrix}$ and $Q_2 = \begin{pmatrix} b & a \\ b & 0 \end{pmatrix}$ with $ab \neq 0$, diagonalizing X_1 can diagonalize X_2 .

Proposition 2.7. Let $T = (X_1, ..., X_m)$ be a simultaneous diagonalizable *m*-tuple. Then $X_i X_j = X_j X_i$.

Proof. Let $T = (X_1, ..., X_m)$ be a simultaneously diagonalizable *m*-tuple, then there exist $P \in Gl(n; \mathbb{C})$ such that $PX_iP^{-1} = D_i$ for i = 1, ..., m. So, taking into account that $D_iD_j = D_jD_i$, for all i, j = 1, ..., m, we have $P^{-1}D_iPP^{-1}D_jP = P^{-1}D_jPP^{-1}D_iP$, that is to say $X_iX_j = X_jX_i$, for all i, j = 1, ..., m.

Theorem 2.8. Let $T = (X_1, ..., X_m)$ be a m-tuple of commuting n-order square matrices and suppose that the matrix X_j for some j is diagonalizable with simple eigenvalues ($\lambda_k \neq \lambda_\ell$ for all $k \neq \ell$, $k, \ell = 1, ..., n$). Then T is a m-tuple of simultaneously diagonalizable matrices

Proof. For simplicity we consider X_1 the diagonalizable matrix. Let $\{v_1, \ldots, v_n\}$ be a basis of eigenvectors corresponding to eigenvalues $\{\lambda_1, \ldots, \lambda_n\}$ of X_j . Let us consider $X_i X_1 v_j$ for all $i = 1, \ldots, m$ and $j = 1, \ldots, n$.

$$X_i X_1 v_j = X_i \lambda_j v_j = \lambda_j X_i v_j$$
$$X_j X_i v_j = \lambda_j X_i v_j$$

So, if $X_i v_j \neq 0$ it is an eigenvector of X_1 of eigenvalue λ_j , but condition $\lambda_k \neq \lambda_\ell$ implies that dim Ker $(X_1 - \lambda_j I) = 1$, then, $X_i v_j = \mu_i v_j$, that is to say v_j is an eigenvector for X_i of eigenvalue μ_i . If $X_i v_j = 0 v_j$ is an eigenvector of X_i of eigenvalue equal zero. That is to say $\{v_1, \dots, v_n\}$ is a basis of eigenvectors for each X_i , $i = 1, \dots, m$ and T is *m*-tuple of simultaneous diagonalizable matrices with $P = (v_1^t \dots v_n^t)^{-1}$. \Box

Remark 2.9. The other matrices not necessary have simple eigenvalues.

Theorem 2.10. Let $T = (X_1, ..., X_m)$ be an m-tuple of commuting and diagonalizable n-order square matrices. Then, they diagonalize simultaneously.

Proof. Let P_1 be an invertible matrix such that $D_1 = P_1 X_1 P^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} D_1^1 \\ & \ddots \\ & & D_{r_1}^1 \end{pmatrix}$ with $D_i^1 = \lambda_i^1 I \in M_{n_i}(\mathbb{C}), 1 \le i \le r$ and $n_1 + \ldots + n_r = n$.

Let us consider $v_{1_1}, \ldots, v_{n_1}, \ldots, v_{1_r}, \ldots, v_{n_r}$ the vector columns of P^{-1} , then

$$X_j X_\ell v_{i\ell} = X_j \lambda_\ell v_{i\ell} = \lambda_\ell X_j v_i$$
$$X_j X_\ell v_{i\ell} = X_\ell X_j v_{i\ell}$$

Consequently $X_j v_{i_\ell}$ is an eigenvector of X_ℓ of eigenvalue λ_ℓ or $X_j v_{i_\ell} = 0$, in any case we have that $X_j v_{i_\ell} \in [v_{1_\ell}, \dots, v_{n_\ell}] = F_\ell$, consequently, the subspace F_ℓ is X_j invariant for all $1 \le \ell \le r$ and $1 \le j \le m$.

So,
$$P_1 X_j P_1^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} Y_1^j & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & Y_r^j \end{pmatrix}$$
, for $2 \le j \le m$.

If all matrices Y_k^J are diagonal the proof is concluded, otherwise and taking into account that all matrices X_i diagonalize all submatrices Y_k^J diagonalize.

Consider
$$P_2 = \begin{pmatrix} P_2^{r_2} & & \\ & \ddots & \\ & & P_1^r \end{pmatrix}$$
 where P_2^j diagonalizes Y_j^2 for $1 \le j \le r$.

Obviously P_2 diagonalizes D_1 :

$$\begin{pmatrix} P_{2}^{1} \\ & \ddots \\ & P_{2}^{r} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} D_{1}^{1} \\ & \ddots \\ & D_{r}^{1} \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} P_{2}^{1} \\ & \ddots \\ & P_{2}^{r} \end{pmatrix}^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} P_{2}^{1} D_{1}^{1} (P_{2}^{1})^{-1} \\ & \ddots \\ & P_{2}^{r} D_{r}^{1} (P_{2}^{r})^{-1} \end{pmatrix} = \\ \begin{pmatrix} P_{2}^{1} \lambda_{1}^{1} I(P_{2}^{1})^{-1} \\ & \ddots \\ & P_{2}^{r} \lambda_{r}^{1} I(P_{2}^{r})^{-1} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} D_{1}^{1} \\ & \ddots \\ & D_{r}^{1} \end{pmatrix}$$

Then P_2P_1 diagonalizes X_1 and X_2 , now partitioning the matrices $P_2^j Y_j^2 (P_2^j)^{-1}$ into blocks corresponding to the same eigenvalue (it is possible that different blocks Y_i^2 have common eigenvalues but we partition according to each block).

Now we consider $P_2P_1X_j(P_2P_1)^{-1}$, if all matrices are diagonal the proof is concluded, otherwise we repeat the processus with $P_2P_1X_3(P_2P_1)^{-1}$ taking into account the new partition in scalar matrices. The process ends at most when reaches to the last matrix.

After these results it is easy to obtain the following geometrical result.

Theorem 2.11. Let $T = (X_1, ..., X_m)$ be an *m*-tuple of *n*-order square matrices and suppose that all matrices X_i are diagonalizable, then a necessary and sufficient condition for simultaneous diagonalization is there exist a basis $\{v_1, ..., v_n\}$ of $v \in \mathbb{C}^n$ such that

 $v_i \in \bigcap_{i=1}^m \operatorname{Ker} (X_i - \lambda_i^j) I$, where $\lambda_i^i \in \operatorname{Spec} X_i = \{\lambda_1^i, \dots, \lambda_n^i\}$

Corollary 2.12.

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} v_1^t & \dots & v_n^t \end{pmatrix}^{-1}$$

verifies that $PX_iP^{-1} = D_i$

Example 2.13. Let $T = (X_1, X_2, X_3)$ be a triple with

$$X_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 5.5 & 2 & -3.5 \\ 3 & 3 & -3 \\ 4.5 & 2 & -2.5 \end{pmatrix}, X_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & -2 & 2 \\ 1.5 & 4 & -1.5 \\ 0 & -2 & 5 \end{pmatrix}, X_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 15.5 & 10 & -13.5 \\ 3 & 7 & -3 \\ 10.5 & 10 & -8.5 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$SpecX_1 = \{1, 2, 3\}, SpecX_2 = \{3, 4, 5\}, SpecX_3 = \{2, 5, 7\}$$

 $\begin{array}{l} v_1 = (0.6667, 0.3333, 0.6667) \in Ker(X_1 - 3I) \cap Ker(X_2 - 4I) \cap Ker(X_3 - 7I) \\ v_2 = (-0.2294, -0.6882, -0.6882) \in Ker(X_1 - I) \cap Ker(X_2 - 3I) \cap Ker(X_3 - 5I) \\ v_3 = (0.7071, 0, 0.7071) \in Ker(X_1 - 2I) \cap Ker(X_2 - 5I) \cap Ker(X_3 - 2I) \\ Then there exist \end{array}$

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} 4.5005 & 3.0003 & -4.5005 \\ 2.1796 & 0.0000 & -2.1796 \\ -2.1220 & -2.8289 & 3.5362 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0.6667 & -0.2294 & 0.7071 \\ 0.3333 & -0.6882 & 0.0000 \\ 0.6667 & -0.6882 & 0.7071 \end{pmatrix}^{-1}$$

such that

$$PX_1P^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & & \\ & 1 & \\ & & 2 \end{pmatrix}, PX_2P^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 4 & & \\ & 3 & \\ & & 5 \end{pmatrix}, PX_3P^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 7 & & \\ & 5 & \\ & & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$

(Calculations made with MatlabR2012b).

In this case, all possible matrices *P* diagonalizing X_i for some i = 1, ..., m, (that they are such that $P = Q^{-1}$ where *Q* is a matrix whose columns are the eigenvectors corresponding to each of the eigenvalues of X_i for some i = 1, ..., n), are matrices that diagonalizes all matrices simultaneously obtaining D_i or permutations of this matrices. In fact, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 2.14. If the set of matrices $\{X_1, ..., X_m\}$ are simultaneously diagonalizable and for some *i*, X_i has simple eigenvalues, all matrices *P* diagonalizing X_i diagonalize X_j for all j = 1 = ..., m.

Remark 2.15. If no matrix has simple eigenvalues then the result fails

Example 2.16. *Let* $T = (X_1, X_2, X_3)$ *be a triple with*

$$X_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 & -2 & 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 1 & 1 & -1 & 0 \\ 5 & -3 & -6 & 3 & 2 \\ 1 & -1 & -2 & 0 & 3 \end{pmatrix}, X_{2} = \begin{pmatrix} 7 & 3 & -3 & -6 & 3 & 6 \\ 0 & 3 & 3 & -3 & 0 \\ 13 & -9 & -16 & 9 & 6 \\ 5 & -3 & -8 & 0 & 9 \end{pmatrix}, X_{3} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 4 & -4 & -4 & 0 \\ 16 & -6 & -20 & 4 & 8 \\ 0 & 4 & 2 & -4 & 0 \\ 16 & -12 & -20 & 10 & 8 \\ 8 & -4 & -12 & 0 & 10 \end{pmatrix}$$

This triple diagonalize simultaneously, because there exists $Q \in Gl(n; \mathbb{C})$ with $Q = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & 0 & 1 \\ 1 & 1 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 1 & -1 & 1 & -1 & 1 \\ 1 & 0 & 1 & 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$,

such that
$$P = Q^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & 5 & 0 & -1 \\ 2 & -2 & -2 & 1 & 1 \\ 3 & -2 & -4 & 1 & 2 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

$$D_i = P X_i P^{-1}$$

$$D_1 = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 \end{pmatrix}, D_2 = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 6 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 6 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 6 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 7 \end{pmatrix}, D_3 = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 6 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 6 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 6 \end{pmatrix}$$

But, in this case not all matrices diagonalizing one of this matrices diagonalize all set of matrices of m-tuple of smultaneously diagonalizable $\begin{pmatrix} -2 & 1 & 3 & 0 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$

$$matrices, because taking P = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & -2 & -2 & 1 & 1 \\ 2 & -2 & -2 & 1 & 1 \\ 3 & -2 & -4 & 1 & 2 \\ -1 & 1 & 1 & -1 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 & -1 & 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$
$$Then P^{-1}X_1P = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 2 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 3 \end{pmatrix}, P^{-1}X_2P = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 3 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 6 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 6 & -1 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 7 \end{pmatrix}, P^{-1}X_3P = \begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 2 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 6 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 6 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 6 \end{pmatrix}$$

We observe that the matrix P only diagonalise X_3

3. Approximately simultaneously diagonalizable *m*-tuples of matrices

It is well known that near of a squre matrix there is a diagonalizable matrix having simple eigenvalues. We ask if this result can be extended to the case of *m*-tuples of square matrices. We will try to obtain an answer using geometrical tools.

3.1. Group Lie action

The equivalence relation defined in (2.1) can be seen as the action over \mathfrak{M} in the following manner Let us consider the following map

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \alpha: Gl(n;\mathbb{C}) \times \mathfrak{M} & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M} \\ (P,T) & \longrightarrow PTP^{-1} = (PX_1P^{-1}, \dots, PX_mP^{-1}) \end{array}$$

that verifies

- i) If $I \in Gl(n; \mathbb{C})$ is the identity element, then $\alpha(I, T) = T$ for all $T \in \mathfrak{M}$.
- ii) If P_1 and P_2 are in $Gl(n; \mathbb{C})$, then $\alpha(P_1, \alpha(P_2, T)) = \alpha(P_1P_2, T)$ for all $T \in \mathfrak{M}$. $\alpha(P_1, \alpha(P_2, T)) = \alpha(P_1, P_2TP_2^{-1}) = P_1P_2TP_2^{-1}P_1^{-1} = (P_1P_2)T(P_1P_2)^{-1} = \alpha(P_1P_2, T)$

So, the map α defines an action of $Gl(n;\mathbb{C})$ over \mathfrak{M} . Fixing $T \in \mathfrak{M}$ we can consider the map

$$\begin{aligned} \alpha_T : Gl(n;\mathbb{C}) & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M} \\ P & \longrightarrow \alpha_T(P) = \alpha(P,T) \end{aligned}$$

We consider the following sets

Im
$$\alpha_T = \mathcal{O}(T) = \{(Y_1, \dots, Y_m) = (PX_1P^{-1}, \dots, PX_mP^{-1}), \forall P \in Gl(n; \mathbb{C})\}$$

 $Stab(T) = \{P \in Gl(n; \mathbb{C}) \mid \alpha_T(P) = T\}$

Fixing $P \in Gl(n; \mathbb{C})$ we can consider the map

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \alpha_P: \mathfrak{M} & \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M} \\ T & \longrightarrow \alpha_P(T) = \alpha(P,T) \end{array}$$

Notice that α_P is a bijection: if $\alpha(P,T_1) = \alpha(P,T_2)$ then $PT_1P^{-1} = PT_2P^{-1}$ and $T_1 = T_2$, so it is injective; for all $T \in \mathfrak{M}$, there exists $\overline{T} = P^{-1}TP$ such that $\alpha(P,\overline{T}) = T$, then it is surjective.

3.2. Approximately simultaneously diagonalizability

It is well known that close to any matrix there is a nearby that diagonalizes. Then the question is: given an *m*-tuple of square matrices, it is possible to found an *m*-tuple diagonalizing simultaneously?

In the case where that it is possible we say that the *m*-tuple is approximately simultaneously diagonalizable (abbreviated ASD), more concretely

Definition 3.1. [8] The m-tuple $T = (X_1, ..., X_n)$ is approximately simultaneously diagonalizable if and only if for any $\varepsilon > 0$, there exist a m-tuple of matrices $(Y_1, ..., Y_m)$ which are simultaneously diagonalizable and satisfy $||Y_i - X_i|| < \varepsilon$ for i = 1, ..., m.

O'Meara and Vinsonhaler in [8], analyze approximately simultaneously diagonalizable matrices for the case where the matrices of the *m*-tuple commute.

Proposition 3.2. Let $T = (X_1, ..., X_n)$ be an *m*-tuple simultaneously diagonalizable. Then, each $T' \in \mathcal{O}(T)$ is an *m*-tuple simultaneously diagonalizable.

Proof. Taking into account that $T = (X_1, ..., X_n)$ is an *m*-tuple simultaneously diagonalizable there exist $P \in Gl(n; \mathbb{C})$ such that $PTP^{-1} = (PX_1P^{-1} - PX_mP^{-1}) = (D_1 - D_m) = D$ with D_i diagonal matrices for all i = 1 - m

 $(PX_1P^{-1},...,PX_mP^{-1}) = (D_1,...,D_m) = D \text{ with } D_i \text{ diagonal matrices for all } i = 1,...,m.$ Let $T' \in \mathcal{O}(T)$, then, there exist $P' \in Gl(n; \mathbb{C})$ such that $T' = P'T(P')^{-1} = (P'X_1(P')^{-1},...,P'X_m(P')^{-1}).$ So, $T' = P'P^{-1}DP(P')^{-1} = (P'P^{-1}D_1P(P')^{-1},...,P'P^{-1}D_mP(P')^{-1}) = (P''D_1(P'')^{-1},...,P''D_m(P'')^{-1}), \text{ with } P'' = P'P^{-1} \in Gl(n; \mathbb{C}).$

Consequently, and taking into account that if $T' \in \mathcal{O}(T)$ is $\mathcal{O}(T) = \mathcal{O}(T')$, we can use miniversal deformations to study approximately simultaneously diagonalizability.

3.3. Miniversal deformations

Definition 3.3. A deformation of an element $X_0 \in \mathfrak{M}$ is a family of elements of \mathfrak{M} indexed by $\lambda \in \Lambda \varphi : \Lambda \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M}$ where $\Lambda \subset \mathbb{F}^{\ell}$ is a neighborhood of 0, and where $\varphi(0) = X_0$ and φ depends holomorphically (smoothly) on the parameters.

Definition 3.4. A deformation $\varphi(\lambda) = \varphi(\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_\ell)$ of X_0 is versal if and only if for any deformation $\varphi'(\mu_1, ..., \varphi_k) \in \mathfrak{M}$ of X_0 , $\varphi'(\mu)$ is induced by $\varphi(\lambda)$, i.e., there exists a neighborhood V of 0 in \mathbb{F}^k , a map $\psi: V \longrightarrow \mathbb{F}^\ell$ with $\psi(0) = 0$, and a map $g: V \longrightarrow G$ with g(0) = I such that $\forall \mu \in V$, $\varphi'(\mu) = g(\mu)\varphi(\psi(\mu))g^{-1}(\mu)$ with ψ and g holomorphic (smooth).

It is obvious that if we have a versal deformation of an element automatically we have a versal deformation of any element that is equivalent to it, since if $X = \alpha(g, X_0)$ is an equivalent element of X_0 and $\varphi(\lambda)$ is a versal deformation of X' then $\alpha(g^{-1}, X(\lambda))$ is a versal deformation of X_0 .

A versal deformation having minimal number of parameters is called *miniversal*.

The following result was proved by Arnold [10], in the case where $Gl(n; \mathbb{C})$ acts on $M_n(\mathbb{C})$, and was generalized by Tannenbaum [11], in the case where a Lie group acts on a complex manifold. It provides the relationship between a versal deformation of X_0 and the local structure of the orbit.

Theorem 3.5 ([11]). *I.* A deformation $\varphi(\lambda)$ of (X_0) is versal if and only if it is transversal to the orbit $\mathscr{O}(X_0)$ at (X_0) . 2. Minimal number of parameters of a versal deformation is equal to the codimension of the orbit of X_0 in \mathfrak{M} , $\ell = \operatorname{codim} \mathscr{O}(X_0)$.

Corollary 3.6. Then $\varphi(\lambda) = X_0 + (T_{X_0} \mathcal{O}(X_0))^{\perp}$ for some scalar product is a miniversal deformation.

Let $d\alpha_{X_0}: T_I \mathscr{G} \longrightarrow \mathfrak{M}$ be the differential of α_{X_0} at the unit element *I*. It is easy to compute $d\alpha_{X_0}(P)$:

$$d\alpha_T(P) = ([X_1, P], \dots, [X_m, P]) \in \mathfrak{M}, \quad P \in T_I \mathscr{G}.$$

If we define scalar products in \mathfrak{M} and $T_I \mathscr{G}$, we can consider the adjoint application of $d\alpha_{X_0}$. The Euclidean scalar products considered in this paper are defined as follows:

For all $T_i = (X_1^i, \ldots, X_m^i) \in \mathfrak{M}$ and for all $P_i \in T_I \mathscr{G}$

$$\langle T_1, T_2 \rangle_1 = \operatorname{trace}(X_1^1 X_1^{2^*}) + \ldots + \operatorname{trace}(X_1^m X_1^{m^*}), \langle P_1, P_2 \rangle_2 = \operatorname{trace}(P_1 P_2^*),$$

where X^* denotes the conjugate transpose of a matrix *X*. The adjoint linear mapping $d\alpha_T^* : \mathfrak{M} \longrightarrow T_I \mathscr{G}$ is defined by the relation

$$\langle dlpha_{X_0}(P),Z
angle_1=\langle P,dlpha_{X_0}^*(Z)
angle_2, \quad P\in T_I\mathscr{G}, \ Z\in\mathfrak{M}.$$

It is straightforward to find

$$d\alpha_{X_0}^*(W) = ([X^*, A_0] + [Y^*, B_0] + [Z^*, C_0]) \in T_I \mathscr{G}, \quad W = (X, Y, Z) \in \mathfrak{M}$$

The mappings $d\alpha_{X_0}$ and $d\alpha^*_{X_0}$ provide a simple description of the tangent spaces $T_{X_0}\mathcal{O}(X_0)$, $T_I\mathcal{S}tab(X_0)$ and their normal complements $(T_{X_0}\mathcal{O}(X_0))^{\perp}$, $(T_I\mathcal{S}(X_0))^{\perp}$.

Theorem 3.7. *The tangent spaces to the orbit of the m-tuple of matrices T and the corresponding normal complementary subspace can be found in the following form*

- *1.* $T_T \mathscr{O}(X_0) = \operatorname{Im} d\alpha_T \subset \mathfrak{M}.$
- 2. $(T_T \mathscr{O}(X_0))^{\perp} = \operatorname{Ker} d\alpha_T^* \subset \mathfrak{M},$

After this theorem, it is easy to compute these spaces.

Corollary 3.8. 1. $T_{X_0} \mathscr{O}(X_0) = \{([P,A_0], [P,B_0], [P,C_0]) \mid P \in T_I \mathscr{G}\}$ 2. $(T_{X_0}(\mathscr{O}(X_0))^{\perp} = \{(X,Y,Z) \in \mathfrak{M} \mid [X^*,A_0] + [Y^*,B_0] + [Z^*,C_0] = 0\}$

Remark 3.9. Let $X_0 = (X_1^0, \ldots, X_m^0)$ be an n-tuple of matrices and we consider $\mathfrak{X}_i = (0, \ldots, 0, X_i, 0, \ldots, 0)$ an m-tuple of matrices such that $X_i^0 + X_i$ is a miniversal deformation of X_i^0 . Then $\mathfrak{X}_i \in (T_{X_0}(\mathscr{O}(X_0))^{\perp}$ and consequently $\mathfrak{X} = \sum \mathfrak{X}_i \in T_{X_0}(\mathscr{O}(X_0))^{\perp}$.

Consequently, we have the following proposition.

Proposition 3.10. Let $X_0 = (X_1^0, ..., X_m^0)$ be an n-tuple of matrices. Then, for all $\varepsilon > 0$ there exist $\mathfrak{X} = (X_1, ..., X_m)$ such that $X_i^0 + X_i$ is diagonalizable, for all i = 1, ..., m.

Remark 3.11. Given any n-tuple of matrices, we can find in a neighborhood, an n-tuple of matrices in which all matrices are diagonalizable but not necessarily all matrices in the n-tuple diagonalize simultaneously.

55

Example 3.12. Consider the following pair of matrices $\begin{pmatrix} 2 & 0 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1 \\ 0 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$ that they are no diagonalizable, and the following family of perturbations of the pair: $\begin{pmatrix} 2+\varepsilon_1 & 0\\ 1 & 2+\varepsilon_2 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 3+\varepsilon_3 & 1\\ 0 & 3+\varepsilon_4 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}$ for all ε_i with $\varepsilon_1 \neq \varepsilon_2$ and $\varepsilon_3 \neq \varepsilon_4$.

Clearly, both matrices are diagonalizable

For simultaneously diagonalization it is necessary that both matrices commute, but

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2+\varepsilon_1 & 0\\ 1 & 2+\varepsilon_2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 3+\varepsilon_3 & 1\\ 0 & 3+\varepsilon_4 \end{pmatrix} \neq \begin{pmatrix} 3+\varepsilon_3 & 1\\ 0 & 3+\varepsilon_4 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 2+\varepsilon_1 & 0\\ 1 & 2+\varepsilon_2 \end{pmatrix}$$

for all ε_1 , ε_2 , so both matrices diagonalize but not diagonalize simultaneously. Now, we consider the following perturbation $\begin{pmatrix} 2 & \varepsilon_1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1, \\ \varepsilon_2 & 3 \end{pmatrix}$ for all ε_i with $\varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_2 \neq 0$. Clearly, both matrices are diagonalizable.

Analyzing commutativity

$$\begin{pmatrix} 2 & \varepsilon_1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1, \\ \varepsilon_2 & 3 \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 3 & 1, \\ \varepsilon_2 & 3 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 2 & \varepsilon_1 \\ 1 & 2 \end{pmatrix}$$

equivalently $\varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2 = 1$

So, taking $\varepsilon_1 = \varepsilon_2 = 1$, both matrices diagonalice simultaneoulsy, (it suffices to consider $P^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 1 & -1 \end{pmatrix}$)

The near pair of matrices in this family diagonalizing simultaneously is with $(\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2)$ minimizing distance of the variety $V = \{(\varepsilon_1, \varepsilon_2) \mid z \in \mathbb{C}\}$ $\varepsilon_1 \varepsilon_2 = 1$

In general, a lower bound at the distance of the a *n*-tuple of matrices to a one *n*-tuple diagonalizing simultaneously is given the following proposition

Proposition 3.13. Let $T = (X_1, ..., X_m)$ be a n-tuple of matrices and $T(\lambda) = (X_1(\lambda), ..., X_m(\lambda))$ with $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}^{\ell}$ a family of n-tuples such that in a neigborhood of $0 \in \mathbb{C}^{\ell}$ is a miniversal deformation of the given n-tuple. A lower bound at the distance of the a n-tuple of matrices to a one n-tuple diagonalizing simultaneously is

$$\inf\{\operatorname{dist}(0,\lambda),0,\lambda\in\mathbb{C}^\ell\mid X_i(\lambda)X_j(\lambda)=X_j(\lambda)X_i(\lambda)\,\forall 1\leq i,j\leq m\}$$

Example 3.14. Let $T = \begin{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 1 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ 0 & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix} \end{pmatrix}$ be a triple of matrices no diagonalizing. Let us consider the family of triples $T(\varepsilon) = \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon_1 & \varepsilon_3 \\ 1+\varepsilon_2 & \varepsilon_4 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon_5 & 1 \\ \varepsilon_6 & \varepsilon_7 \end{pmatrix}, \begin{pmatrix} \varepsilon_8 & 0 \\ 0 & 1+\varepsilon_9 \end{pmatrix}$ in such a way that for some ε with $\|\varepsilon\| > 0$ is a miniversal (no orthogonal) deformation. The subset of the commuting triples in the family is

$$V = \begin{cases} \varphi_1(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_6 - \varepsilon_2 - 1 &= 0, \\ \varphi_2(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon_1 - \varepsilon_4 - \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_5 + \varepsilon_3 \cdot \varepsilon_7 &= 0, \\ \varphi_3(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon_4 \cdot \varepsilon_6 - \varepsilon_1 \cdot \varepsilon_6 + \varepsilon_5 \cdot (\varepsilon_2 + 1) - \varepsilon_7 \cdot (\varepsilon_2 + 1) &= 0, \\ \varphi_4(\varepsilon) = \varepsilon_9 - \varepsilon_8 + 1 &= 0. \end{cases}$$

We can compute the minimal distance by means the Lagrange's undetermined multipliers method, from the function:

$$f(\varepsilon,\lambda) = \sum_{i=1}^{9} \varepsilon_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^{4} \lambda_i \varphi_i(\varepsilon)$$

The minimal distance is $\sqrt{3/2}$, a triple minimizing this distance is a triple of commuting matrices with $\varepsilon_2 = -1$, $\varepsilon_8 = 1/2 = -\varepsilon_9$ and $\varepsilon_i = 0$ for i = 1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7 but no diagonalize simultaneously.

Taking the solution $\varepsilon_3 = \varepsilon_6 = \sqrt{2}$, $\varepsilon_2 = 1$, $\varepsilon_8 = \frac{1}{2} = -\varepsilon_9$, and $\varepsilon_i = 0$ for i = 1, 4, 5, 7 with distance $\sqrt{11/2}$ we have a triple of commuting matrices and they diagonalize simultaneously with $P^{-1} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 1 \\ 2^{1/4} & -2^{1/4} \end{pmatrix}$.

References

- [1] M. I. Garcia-Planas, M.D. Magret, Polynomial Matrices and Generalized Linear Multivariable Dynamical Systems, N. Mastorakis (editor) Recent Advances in Applied and Theoretical Mathematics, Wseas Press, Athens, 2000, pp. 17-22.
- [2] M. I. Garcia-Planas, S. Tarragona, Perturbation Analysis of Eigenvalues of Polynomial Matrices Smoothly Depending on Parameters, N. Mastorakis, V. Mladenov et Al. (Eds), Recent Researches in System Science, Wseas Press, Athens, 2011, pp. 100-105.
- J. C. Zúñiga-Anaya, Structural properties of polynomial and rational matrices, a survey, Math. AEterna, 1(06) (2011), 361-403.
- R. Guralnick, A note on commuting pairs of matrices, Linear Multilinear Algebra, 31 (1992), 71-75.
- [5] Y. Han, Commuting triples of matrices. Electron. J. Linear Algebra, 13 (2005), 274-343.
- [6] A. Marrani, P. Truini, Exceptional Lie algebras, SU(3) and Jordan pairs part 2: Zorn-type representations, (2014), arXiv:1403.5120v2.
- [7] S. Okubo, Introduction to Octonion and Other Non-Associative Algebras in Physics, Cambridge University Press, (1995).
- [8] K. C. O'Meara, C. Vinsonhaler, On approximately simultaneously diagonalizable matrices, Linear Algebra Appl., 412(1) (2006), 39-74.
 [9] Sh. Friedland, Simultaneous similarity of matrices, Adv. Math., 50 (1983), 189-265.
- [10] V. I. Arnold, On matrices depending on parameters, Russian Math. Surveys, 26(2) (1971), 29-43.
- [11] A. Tannenbaum, Invariance and System Theory: Algebraic and geometric Aspects, Lect. Notes in Math. 845, Springer-Verlag, (1981).



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.541721



Difference Sequence Spaces Derived by using Pascal Transform

Saadettin Aydın¹ and Harun Polat^{2*}

¹Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Kilis 7 Aralık University, Kilis, Turkey ²Department of Mathematics, Faculty of Science and Arts, Muş Alparslan University, Muş, Turkey *Corresponding author E-mail: h.polat@alparslan.edu.tr

Article Info	Abstract
Keywords: Difference operator, matrix mappings, Pascal difference sequence spaces, α -, β - and γ -duals 2010 AMS: 46B45, 46B15, 46B50. Received: 19 March 2019 Accepted: 28 May 2019 Available online: 17 June 2019	The essential goal of this manuscript is to investigate some novel sequence spaces of $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_0(\Delta)$ which are comprised by all sequence spaces whose differences are in Pascal sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 , respectively. Furthermore, we determine both γ -, β -, α - duals of newly defined difference sequence spaces of $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_0(\Delta)$. We also obtain bases of the newly defined difference sequence spaces of $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_0(\Delta)$. Finally, necessary and sufficient conditions on an infinite matrix belonging to the classes $(p_c(\Delta) : l_{\infty})$ and $(p_c(\Delta) : c)$ are characterized.

1. Introduction

Real or complex valued sequences spaces are represented by *w* along with the manuscript. Each sub-classes of real or complex valued sequences spaces is known as a sequence space. A sequence space of null, convergent, and bounded sequences are respectively demonstrated by c_0 , c, and l_{∞} . Moreover cs, l_1 , bs depict convergent, absolutely convergent, and bounded series respectively.

K space is defined by any sequence space λ with a linear topology satisfying following transformation for a continuous term of $p_s(m) = m_s$ $s \in N$ such that $p_s : \lambda a \to C$, where $N = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$ and *C* represents the set of complex number. If λ is a complete linear metric space then *K*-space is named by *FK*- space. *BK*-space is defined as normable topological space of *FK*-space [1].

Infinite matrix of complex or real numbers $A = (a_{nk})$ is defined for $n, k \in N$. Let X and Y be any two sequence spaces. Then, A is defined as a transformation between X to Y such that following equality holds.

$$(Ax)_n = \sum_k a_{nk} x_k \tag{1.1}$$

for each $n \in N$. (X : Y), shows the family of matrices where $A : X \to Y$. Hence series given by the (1.1) converges for every $x \in X$ and each $n \in N$ iff $A \in (X : Y)$. One also has $Ax = \{(Ax)_n\} \in Y$. Here collection of entire finite subsets on K and N is denoted by F, where $N \subset F$. Studies on the sequence space have been mainly focused on some elementary concepts which are inclusions of sequence spaces, matrix mapping, determination of topologies, [2]. Let X be a sequence space and A be an infinite matrix in X then the domain of matrix is determined by

$$X_A = \{x = (x_k) \in w : Ax \in X\}$$

In general limitation matrix *A* produces novel sequence space X_A and it is either contraction or the expansion of the original space. Indeed, it is obviously clear that inclusion relations of $X \subset X_\Delta$ and $X_S \subset X$ are decidedly satisfied for $X \in \{c, l_\infty, c_0\}$ [3]. In particular, the the difference operator and sequence spaces which are fundamental samples for the matrix *A* and they have been investigated comprehensively through the mentioned methods.

Let P represents the means of Pascal which is described by the matrix of Pascal [4] then it is defined by

$$P = [p_{nk}] = \begin{cases} \binom{n}{n-k}, (0 \le k \le n) \\ 0, \quad (k > n) \end{cases}, (n, k \in N)$$

Email addresses and ORCID numbers: saadettinaydin@gmail.com, https://orcid.org/0000-0002-9559-0730 (S. Aydın), h.polat@alparslan.edu.tr, https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3955-9197 (H. Polat)

and the inverse of matrix of Pascal $P_n = (p_{nk})$ is defined by

$$P^{-1} = [p_{nk}]^{-1} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{n-k} \binom{n}{n-k}, & (0 \le k \le n) \\ 0, & (k > n) \end{cases}, (n, k \in N).$$

Pascal matrix contains some fascinating features. For instance; we can form three types of matrices: symmetric, lower triangular, and upper triangular, for any integer n > 0. The n-th order symmetric Pascal matrix n is given by

$$S_n = (s_{ij}) = \binom{i+j-2}{j-1}, \text{ for } i, j = 1, 2, ..., n,$$
(1.2)

n-th order lower triangular Pascal matrix is presented by

$$L_n = (l_{ij}) = \begin{cases} \binom{i-1}{j-1}, (0 \le j \le i) \\ 0, \quad (j > i) \end{cases},$$
(1.3)

and the n-th order upper triangular Pascal matrix of order is presented by

$$U_n = (u_{ij}) = \begin{cases} \binom{j-1}{i-1}, (0 \le i \le j) \\ 0, \quad (j > i) \end{cases}$$
(1.4)

We notice that $U_n = (L_n)^T$, n is any natural number.

i. Let S_n be the n-th order symmetric Pascal matrix given by (1.2), L_n be the n-th order lower triangular Pascal matrix given by (1.3), and U_n be the n-th order upper triangular Pascal matrix given by (1.4), then $S_n = L_n U_n$ and $det(S_n) = 1$ [5].

ii. Let S_n be the n-th order symmetric Pascal matrix given by (1.2), then S_n is similar to its inverse S_n^{-1} [5].

iii. Let *A* and *B* be $n \times n$ matrices. It is already known obviously that *A* is similar to *B* if one can define $n \times n$ invertible matrix *P* i which satisfies following

 $P^{-1}AP = B$ [6].

iv. Let L_n be the n-th order Pascal matrix. It is also assumed that it is a lower triangular matrix which is given by (1.3), then $L_n^{-1} = ((-1)^{i-j}l_{ij})$ [7].

Recently, Pascal sequence spaces was investigated by Polat [8] p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 like as follows:

$$p_{\infty} = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{n-k} x_k \right| < \infty \right\},$$
$$p_c = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{n-k} x_k \text{ exists} \right\},$$

and

$$p_0 = \left\{ x = (x_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{n-k} x_k = 0 \right\}.$$

 $l_{\infty}(\Delta) = \{x \in w : (x_k - x_{k+1}) \in l_{\infty}\}, c(\Delta) = \{x \in w : (x_k - x_{k+1}) \in c\}$ and $c_0(\Delta) = \{x \in w : (x_k - x_{k+1}) \in c_0\}$ are known as difference sequence space and they are firstly defined by Kızmaz [9]. Further, various authors have defined and studied the difference sequence spaces, which can be seen in the following papers [10]-[15].

In this manuscript, Pascal difference sequence spaces of $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_0(\Delta)$ are defined. They contain entire sequences whose differences are in Pascal sequence spaces p_{∞} , p_c and p_0 , respectively. What is more, we determine the bases of the novel difference sequence spaces $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_0(\Delta)$, and the α -, β - of the difference sequence spaces $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_0(\Delta)$. Finally, we give the characterization of the necessary and sufficient conditions on an infinite matrix belonging to families of $(p_c(\Delta) : l_{\infty})$ and $(p_c(\Delta) : c)$.

2. Inverse formula of the Pascal matrix and Pascal sequence spaces

We define the operators $\Delta : w \to w$ here and after it may be written for the sequence $(x_k - x_{k-1})$ that $(\Delta x)_k = \Delta x$. The well known difference matrix and the inverse of the difference matrix are defined as follows:

$$\left(\Delta^{(1)} \right)_{nk} = \begin{cases} (-1)^{n-k}, \, (n-1 \le k \le n) \\ 0, \, (0 \le k < n-1 \text{ or } k > n) \end{cases} , (n,k \in N)$$

and

$$\left(\left(\Delta^{(1)}\right)^{-1}\right)_{nk} = \begin{cases} 1, \ (0 \le k \le n) \\ 0, \ (k > n) \end{cases}, (n, k \in N).$$

Pascal difference sequence spaces are defined by $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_{c}(\Delta)$ and $p_{0}(\Delta)$ by

$$p_{\infty}(\Delta) = \{x = (x_k) \in w : (x_k - x_{k-1}) \in p_{\infty}\},\$$

$$p_{c}(\Delta) = \{x = (x_{k}) \in w : (x_{k} - x_{k-1}) \in p_{c}\},\$$

and

$$p_0(\Delta) = \{x = (x_k) \in w : (x_k - x_{k-1}) \in p_0\}.$$

Let be a sequence $y = \{y_n\}$, which is generally utilized as *H*- mapping or *H*- transformation of a sequence $x = (x_k)$ and $H = P\Delta^{(1)}$ i.e.,

$$y_{n} = (Hx)_{n} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} {n \choose n-k} (x_{k} - x_{k-1})$$

$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left[{n \choose k} - {n \choose k+1} \right] x_{k}$$
(2.1)

for each $n \in N$. It can be easily shown that $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_{c}(\Delta)$ and $p_{0}(\Delta)$ are linear and normed spaces by the following norm:

$$\|x\|_{\Delta} = \|y\|_{\infty} = \sup_{n} |y_{n}|.$$
(2.2)

Theorem 2.1. $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_{c}(\Delta)$ and $p_{0}(\Delta)$ sequence spaces are Banach spaces provided with the norm function given by (2.2).

Proof. In the space of $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, let we define following sequence and suppose that it is a Cauchy sequence $\{x^i\}$ such that $\{x^i\} = \{x_k^i\} = \{x_0^{(i)}, x_1^{(i)}, x_2^{(i)}, \dots\} \in p_{\infty}(\Delta)$ for every $i \in N$. For a given $\varepsilon > 0$ it may be found a positive integer $N_0(\varepsilon)$ such that $\|x_i^k - x_i^n\|_{\Delta} < \varepsilon$ for all k, $n > N_0(\varepsilon)$. Hence

$$\left| H(x_i^k - x_i^n) \right| < \varepsilon$$

for all $k, n > N_0(\varepsilon)$ and for each $i \in N$. Therefore, following sequence is a reeal Cauchy sequence $\{(Hx^k)_i\} = \{(Hx^0)_i, (Hx^1)_i, (Hx^2)_i, ...\}$ for every fixed $i \in N$. Since real number of set R is complete, it converges, say

$$\lim_{i\to\infty} (Hx^i)_k \to (Hx)_k$$

for each $k \in N$. So, we have

$$\lim_{n\to\infty} \left| H(x_i^k - x_i^n) \right| = \left| H(x_i^k - x_i) \right| \le \varepsilon$$

for each $k \ge N_0(\varepsilon)$. This implies that $||x^k - x||_{\Delta} < \varepsilon$ for $k \ge N_0(\varepsilon)$, that is, $x^i \to x$ as $i \to \infty$. Now, we must show that $x \in p_{\infty}(\Delta)$. We have

$$\|x\|_{\Delta} = \|Hx\|_{\infty} = \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{n-k} \Delta x_{k} \right|$$
$$= \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=0}^{n} \binom{n}{n-k} (x_{k} - x_{k-1}) \right|$$
$$= \sup_{n} \left| \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left[\binom{n}{k} - \binom{n}{k+1} \right] x_{k} \right|$$
$$\leq \sup_{n} \left| H(x_{k}^{i} - x_{k}) \right| + \sup_{n} \left| Hx_{k}^{i} \right|$$
$$\leq \left\| x^{i} - x \right\|_{\Delta} + \left| Hx_{k}^{i} \right| < \infty$$

for all $i \in N$. This implies that $x = (x_i) \in p_{\infty}(\Delta)$. Therefore $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$ is a Banach space.

It can be shown that $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_0(\Delta)$ are closed subspaces of $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$ which implies that $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_0(\Delta)$ are also Banach spaces. Moreover, $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$ is a *BK*- space due to the fact that it is a Banach space with continuous coordinates

3. The Bases of the sequence spaces $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_0(\Delta)$

In this part, it is firstly given the Schauder basis for the spaces $p_0(\Delta)$ and $p_c(\Delta)$. In normed sequence space X, Schauder basis (or briefly bases) is a sequence of $\{b^{(k)}\}_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ such that $x \in \lambda$ and (λ_k) of scalars such that

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \|x - (\lambda_0 x_0 + \lambda_1 x_1 + \dots + \lambda_n x_n)\| = 0$$

Theorem 3.1. Let $b^{(k)} = \left\{ b_n^{(k)} \right\}_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ be the sequence of elements of the space $p_0(\Delta)$ for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$ by

$$b_n^{(k)} = \begin{cases} 0, & (0 \le n < k) \\ \sum_{i=k}^n (-1)^{i-k} {i \choose i-k}, & (n \ge k) \end{cases}$$

Then the following assertions are true:

i. The sequence $\{b^{(k)}\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}}$ is a basis for the space $p_0(\Delta)$, and for any $x \in p_0(\Delta)$ there exists a unique representation of the given form

$$x = \sum_{k} \lambda_k \left(\Delta \right) b^{(k)}.$$

ii. The set $\{t, b^{(1)}, b^{(2)}, b^{(3)}, ...\}$ is a basis for the space $p_c(\Delta)$, and for any $x \in p_0(\Delta)$ there exists a unique representation of the given form

$$x = lt + \sum_{k} \left(\lambda_{k} \left(\Delta \right) - l \right) b^{(k)},$$

where $t = \{t_n\}$ with $t_n = \sum_{k=0}^n \left[\sum_{i=k}^n (-1)^{i-k} {i \choose i-k}\right], \lambda_k(\Delta) = (Hx)_k, k \in \mathbb{N} \text{ and } l = \lim_{k \to \infty} (Hx)_k.$

Theorem 3.2. The sequence spaces $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_{c}(\Delta)$ and $p_{0}(\Delta)$ are linearly isomorphic to given spaces l_{∞} , c and c_{0} respectively, i.e., $p_{\infty}(\Delta) \cong l_{\infty}$, $p_{c}(\Delta) \cong c$ and $p_{0}(\Delta) \cong c_{0}$.

Proof. To begin the proof of $p_0(\Delta) \cong c_0$, it is firstly needed to indicate the presence of a linear bijection among spaces $p_0(\Delta)$ and c_0 . Let we also take the map *T* described by the (2.1), from $p_0(\Delta)$ to c_0 by $x \to y = Tx$. *T* is trivially linear. It is also evident that x = 0 since Tx = 0 and thus *T* is an injective.

Let $y \in c_0$ and define the sequence $x = \{x_n\}$ by

$$x_n = \sum_{k=0}^n \left[\sum_{i=k}^n (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} \right] y_k.$$

Then,

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} (Hx)_k = \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{n-k} \Delta x_k = \sum_{k=0}^n \binom{n}{n-k} (x_k - x_{k-1})$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^n \left[\binom{n}{n-k} - \binom{n}{n-k} \right] x_k = \lim_{n \to \infty} x_k = 0$$

$$=\sum_{k=0}^{n}\left[\binom{n}{k}-\binom{n}{k+1}\right]x_{k}=\lim_{n\to\infty}y_{n}=0.$$

Thus, we have $x \in p_0(\Delta)$. Finally, T is is norm preserving and surjective. Thus, T is a linearly bijective. Therfore $p_0(\Delta)$ and c_0 spaces are linearly isomorphic. Similarly, it might be demonstated that $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$ and $p_c(\Delta)$ are respectively linearly isomorphic to l_{∞} and c.

4. The α -, β - and γ - duals of the sequence spaces $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_{c}(\Delta)$ and $p_{0}(\Delta)$

Here we present some facts together with their proofs to determine α -, β - and γ - duals of Pascal difference sequence spaces $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_{c}(\Delta)$ and $p_{0}(\Delta)$. Let λ and μ be two sequence space and let we determine the set $S(\lambda, \mu)$ where

$$S(\lambda,\mu) = \{ z = (z_k) \in w : xz = (x_k z_k) \in \mu \text{ for all } x \in \lambda \}.$$

$$(4.1)$$

From the (4.1), duals of α -, β - and γ - of the sequence space λ that are denoted severally by λ^{α} , λ^{β} and λ^{γ} formed by Garling [17] as the following manner,

$$\lambda^{\alpha} = S(\lambda, l_1), \lambda^{\beta} = S(\lambda, cs) \text{ and } \lambda^{\gamma} = S(\lambda, bs).$$

Following facts presented by Tietz and Stieglitz [18] are useful to prove following theorems.

Lemma 4.1. $A \in (c_0 : l_1)$ if and only if

$$\sup_{K\in F}\sum_n\left|\sum_{k\in K}a_{nk}\right|<\infty.$$

Lemma 4.2. $A \in (c_0 : c)$ if and only if

$$\sup_{n} \sum_{k} |a_{nk}| < \infty,$$
$$\lim_{n \to \infty} a_{nk} - \alpha_k = 0.$$

Lemma 4.3. $A \in (c_0 : l_\infty)$ if and only if

$$\sup_n \sum_k |a_{nk}| < \infty.$$

Theorem 4.4. Let $a = (a_k) \in w$ and the matrix $B = (b_{nk})$ by

$$b_{nk} = \left[\sum_{i=k}^{n} (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_n\right].$$

Then the α -dual of the spaces $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_{c}(\Delta)$ and $p_{0}(\Delta)$ is the set

$$b = \left\{ a = (a_n) \in w : \sup_{K \in F} \sum_n \left| \sum_{k \in K} \sum_{i=k}^n (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_n \right| < \infty \right\}.$$

Proof. Let us assume to have $a = (a_n) \in w$ and specially defined matrix *B* such that rows of the given matrix are the products of the rows of the given matrix $(\Delta^{(1)})^{-1} P^{-1}$. From the (2.1), it is derived immediately that

$$a_n x_n = \sum_{k=0}^n \left[\sum_{i=k}^n (-1)^{i-k} \binom{i}{i-k} a_n \right] y_k = \sum_{k=0}^n b_{nk} y_k = (By)_n$$
(4.2)

i, $n \in \mathbb{N}$. We therefore see from the (4.2) that $ax = (a_n x_n) \in l_1$ when $x \in p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_0(\Delta)$ iff $By \in l_1$ whenever $y \in l_{\infty}$, c and c_0 . Consequently, it is obtained from the first lemma that

$$\sup_{K\in F}\sum_{n}\left|\sum_{k\in K}\sum_{i=k}^{n}(-1)^{i-k}\binom{i}{i-k}a_{n}\right|<\infty$$

which yields the consequence that $\left[p_{\infty}\left(\Delta\right)\right]^{\alpha} = \left[p_{c}\left(\Delta\right)\right]^{\alpha} = \left[p_{0}\left(\Delta\right)\right]^{\alpha} = b.$

Theorem 4.5. Let $a = (a_k) \in w$ and the matrix $C = (c_{nk})$ by

$$c_{nk} = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=k}^{n} \sum_{j=k}^{i} (-1)^{j-k} {j \choose j-k} a_i & \text{if } 0 \le k \le n, \\ 0 & \text{if } k > n, \end{cases}$$

and define sets c_1 , c_2 , c_3 and c_4 by

$$c_1 = \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \sup_n \sum_k |c_{nk}| < \infty \right\},$$

$$c_2 = \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} c_{nk} \text{ exists for each } k \in N \right\},\$$

$$c_3 = \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_k |c_{nk}| = \sum_k \left| \lim_{n \to \infty} c_{nk} \right| \right\},\$$

and

$$c_4 = \left\{ a = (a_k) \in w : \lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_k c_{nk} \text{ exists} \right\}.$$

Then $[p_0(\Delta)]^{\beta}$, $[p_c(\Delta)]^{\beta}$ and $[p_{\infty}(\Delta)]^{\beta}$ is $c_1 \cap c_2$, $c_1 \cap c_2 \cap c_4$ and $c_2 \cap c_3$, respectively.

Proof. We solely present the proof for $p_0(\Delta)$ space. Since the rest of proof is accomplished by using the similar argument for $p_c(\Delta)$ and $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$. Let we take the following equation

$$\sum_{k=0}^{n} a_k x_k = \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left[\sum_{i=k}^{n} \sum_{j=k}^{i} (-1)^{j-k} {j \choose j-k} y_j \right] a_k$$
$$= \sum_{k=0}^{n} \left[\sum_{i=k}^{n} \sum_{j=k}^{i} (-1)^{j-k} {j \choose j-k} a_i \right] y_k$$

 $= (Cy)_n$.

Hence, it is deduced by the second lemma and aforementioned equality that $ax = (a_n x_n) \in cs$ when $x \in p_0(\Delta)$ iff $Cy \in c$ whenever $y \in c_0$. Consequently, it may be shown due to the second lemma that $\{p_0(\Delta)\}^{\beta} = c_1 \cap c_2$.

Theorem 4.6. The γ -dual of the spaces $p_{\infty}(\Delta)$, $p_{c}(\Delta)$ and $p_{0}(\Delta)$ is the set c_{1}

Proof. Proof is accomplished by utilizing the similar method as in the above case.

5. Some matrix transformations on the sequence spaces $p_c(\Delta)$

We shall for brevity that

and

$$\tilde{a}_{nk} = \sum_{i=k}^{\infty} \sum_{j=k}^{i} (-1)^{j-k} \binom{j}{j-k} a_{ni}$$

$$\hat{g}_{nk} = \sum_{i=k}^{n} \sum_{j=k}^{i} (-1)^{j-k} \binom{j}{j-k} a_{ni}$$

In this part, some classes $(p_c(\Delta) : l_{\infty})$ and $(p_c(\Delta) : c)$ are characterized. Following proofs of theorems is finalized by considering familiar approaches. Details left to the reader.

Theorem 5.1. $A \in (p_c(\Delta) : l_{\infty})$ *if and only if*

$$\sup_{n} \sum_{k} |\hat{g}_{nk}| < \infty, \tag{5.1}$$

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \sum_{k} \hat{g}_{nk} \text{ exists for all } m \in N,$$
(5.2)

$$\sup_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \sum_{k} |\tilde{a}_{nk}| < \infty, \ (n \in \mathbb{N})$$
(5.3)

and

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \tilde{a}_{nk} \text{ exists for all } n \in N.$$
(5.4)

Theorem 5.2. $A \in (p_c(\Delta) : c)$ *iff* (5.1)-(5.4) *hold, and*

$$\lim_{n\to\infty}\sum_k \tilde{a}_{nk}=\alpha,$$

 $\lim_{n\to\infty} \left(\tilde{a}_{nk} \right) = \alpha_k \,, \, \left(k \in N \right).$

References

- B. Choudhary, S. Nanda, Functional Analysis with Applications, Wiley, New Delhi, 1989.
- W. H. Ruckle, *Sequence Spaces*, Pitman Publishing, Toronto, 1981.
 B. Altay, H. Polat, *On some new Euler difference sequence spaces*, Southeast Asian Bull. Math., **30** (2006), 209-220.
- [4] R. Brawer, Potenzen der Pascal matrix und eine Identitat der Kombinatorik, Elem. der Math., 45 (1990), 107-110.
 [5] A. Edelman, G. Strang, Pascal matrices, The Mathematical Association of America Monthly, 111(3) (2004), 189-197.
 [6] C. Lay David, Linear Algebra and Its Applications 4th Ed., Pearson, Addison-Wesley, Boston 2012.
 [7] G. H. Lawden, Pascal matrices, Math. Gaz., 56 (1972), 325-327.
- [8] H. Polat, Some new Pascal sequence spaces, Fundam. J. Math. Appl., 1(1) (2018), 61-68.
- [9] H. Kızmaz, On certain sequence space, Canad. Math. Bull., 24 (1981), 169-176.
- [10] R. Çolak, M. Et, On some generalized difference sequence spaces and related matrix transformations, Hokkaido Math J., 26 (1997), 483-492.
- [11] B. Altay, F. Başar, The fine spectrum and the matrix domain of the difference operator on the sequence space l_p ; (0 , Commun. Math. Anal.,2(2) (2007), 1-11.
- V. Karakaya, H. Polat, Some new paranormed sequence spaces defined by Euler and difference operators, Acta Sci. Math.(Szeged), 76 (2010), 87-100.
- [13] H. Polat, F. Başar, Some Euler spaces of difference sequences of order m, Acta Math. Sci. Ser. B Engl. Ed., Pearson, 27B (2007), 254-266.
 [14] H. Polat, V. Karakaya, N. Şimşek, Difference sequence spaces derived by generalized weighted mean, Appl. Math. Lett., 24(5) (2011), 608-614.
- [15] M. Et, M. Başarır, On some genaralized difference sequence spaces, Period. Math. Hung., 35(3) (1997), 169-175.
- [16] I. J. Maddox, Elements of Functional Analysis, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1988.
- [17] D. J. H. Garling, The β and γ duality of Sequence Spaces, Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc., **63**(4) (1967), 963-981. [18] M. Stieglitz, H. Tietz, Matrixtransformationen von folgenraumen eine ergebnisubersict, Ergebnisubersict, Math. Z., **154** (1997), 1-16.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.540070



Spectral Theory, Jacobi Matrices, Continued Fractions and Difference Operators

Ahmed Lesfari

Chouaïb Doukkali University, Faculty of Sciences, Department of Mathematics, B.P. 20, 24000 El Jadida, Morocco.

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Cohomology group, Continued fraction, Deformation, difference operators, Integrable systems, Jacobian varieties, Lax equations, Periodic Jacobi matrices, Spectral curves 2010 AMS: 37K10, 32C35, 14B12, 14H40, 35S05, 11A55, 37K20. Received: 14 March 2019 Accepted: 10 June 2019 Available online: 17 June 2019

The aim of this paper is to describe some connections between spectral theory in infinite dimensional Lie algebras, deformation theory and linearization of nonlinear dynamical systems. We explain how results from isospectral deformations, cohomology groups and algebraic geometry can be used to obtain insight into integrable systems. Another part will be dedicated to the study of infinite continued fractions and isospectral deformation of periodic Jacobi matrices and general difference operators from an algebraic geometrical point of view. Also, the notion of algebraically completely integrable systems is explained and techniques to solve such systems are presented. Several nonlinear problems in mathematical physics illustrate these results.

1. Introduction

The discovery towards the end of the 19th century by Poincaré [1] that complete integrability is an exceptional a phenomenon for Hamiltonian dynamical systems marked the end of a long and fruitful interaction between Hamiltonian mechanics and algebraic geometry and the interest in integrable systems disappeared almost completely; it has been a dormant subject for more than half a century. In fact many algebraic geometrical results such that elliptic and hyperelliptic curves, Abelian integrals, Riemann surfaces, etc., have their origin in problems of mechanics. Fortunately the discovery, 50 years ago that the Korteweg-de Vries (KdV) equation [2] could be integrated by spectral methods have generated an enormous number of new ideas in the area of Hamiltonian completely integrable dynamical systems. The resolution of this problem has led to unexpected connections between mechanics, spectral theory, Lie groups, algebraic geometry and even differential geometry, which has provided new insights into the old mechanical problems of the last centuries and many new ones as well. With respect to this, some questions arise: how do you decide about the complete integrability of a Hamiltonian system? Once you have found necessary conditions of complete integrability on the parameters involved in a Hamiltonian system, how do you prove that the system is effectively completely integrable and how to determine its solutions explicitly? It is well known that solving explicitly a nonlinear Hamiltonian system by quadrature (i.e., by a finite number of algebraic operations including the inverting of functions), was a central theme in mechanics during the 19-th century but the methods of resolution were something very unsystematic and required a great deal of luck and ingenuity. Jacobi [3] himself was very much aware of this difficulty in his famous "Vorlesungen über Dynamik", in the context of geodesic flow on the ellipsoid (before introducing the elliptic coordinates). Difficulties come from the fact that in most problems the quadratures were obtained in terms of elliptic or hyperelliptic integrals and where it was often necessary to find remarkable coordinates algebraically related to the originally given ones, in which the Hamilton-Jacobi equation could be solved by separation of variables. In recent years, important results have been obtained following studies on the Korteweg-de Vries (K-dV) and Kadomtsev-Petviashvili (KP) hierarchies. The use of tau functions related to infinite dimensional Grassmannians, Fay identities, vertex operators and the Hirota's bilinear formalism led to obtaining important results concerning these algebras of infinite order differential operators. In addition, many problems related to algebraic geometry, combinatorics, probabilities and quantum gauge theory,..., have been solved explicitly by methods inspired by techniques from the study of dynamical integrable systems. An account of these results will appear elsewhere. This circle of ideas are far from being completely understood, but it is a gold mine of research problems.

The purpose of this paper is to describe some connections between spectral theory, Jacobi matrices, continued fractions and difference operators and it is organized as follows: Section 2 concerns nonlinear integrable dynamical systems which can be written as Lax equations with a spectral parameter. Such equations have no a priori Hamiltonian content. However, through the Adler-Kostant-Symes construction, we can produce Hamiltonian dynamical systems on coadjoint orbits in the dual space to a Lie algebra whose equations of motion take the Lax form. We outline an algebraic-geometric interpretation of the flows of these systems, which are shown to describe linear motion on a complex torus via the van Moerbeke-Mumford linearization method. We also present Griffith's method of studying these problems without reference to Kac-Moody's algebras. These results are exemplified by several problems of dynamical integrable systems: Euler-Arnold equations for the geodesic flow on the special orthogonal group (the rotation group), Jacobi geodesic flow on the ellipsoid, Neumann problem on the sphere, Lagrange top, periodic infinite band matrix, *n*-dimensional rigid body and Toda lattice. Section 3 is devoted to the study of some connections between continued fractions, isospectral deformation of Jacobi matrices, difference operators, Cauchy-Stieltjes transform and Abelian integrals from an algebraic geometrical point of view. In Section 4 the notion of algebraically completely integrable Hamiltonian systems are explained and techniques to solve such systems are presented. Some important problems will be studied such that: the periodic 5-particle Kac-van Moerbeke lattice, generalized periodic Toda systems, Ramani-Dorizzi-Grammaticos (RDG) series of integrable potentials and a generalized Hénon-Heiles system.

2. Coadjoint orbits in Kac-Moody Lie algebras, isospectral deformations and linearization

Assume a Hamiltonian system having the Lax form (with a rational indeterminate h):

$$\dot{A} \equiv \frac{dA}{dt} = [A,B] \text{ or } [B,A], \qquad A = \sum_{j=l}^{n} A_j h^j, \qquad B = \sum_{j=l}^{n} B_j h^j, \tag{2.1}$$

where A_i and B_j are matrices.

Theorem 2.1. For every $h \in \mathbb{C}$, the flow (2.1) preserves the spectrum of A. For almost all $(z,h) \in \mathbb{C}^2$, the spectral curve defined by

$$C = \{(z,h) \in \mathbb{C}^2 : P(z,h) \equiv \det(A - zI) = 0\},$$
(2.2)

is time independent and its coefficients $tr(A^n)$ are first integrals.

The matrix A - zI, has a one-dimensional null-space, defining a holomorphic line bundle on the curve *C*. Whenever the entries of the A_j are moving in time, the curve *C* does not move, inducing a motion on the set of line bundles. The set of holomorphic line bundles on an algebraic curve form a group for the operation of tensoring \otimes and the full set with a given topological type is parametrized by the points of a *g*-dimensional complex algebraic torus, where *g* is the genus of the curve. This torus that we note, Jac(C), is the Jacobian or Picard variety of the curve. When *C* is an elliptic curve, Jac(C) is isomorphic to *C*. Since the flow (2.1) induces deformations of line bundles, their topological type remains unchanged and therefore it induces a motion on the Jacobian variety; under some checkable condition on *A* and *B*, du to Griffiths [4] (see further for details).

We state the Adler-Kostant-Symes theorem [5]-[7] valid for any Lie algebra :

Theorem 2.2. Let \mathscr{G} be a Lie algebra with a non-degenerate, ad-invariant metric \langle , \rangle . Assume that $\mathscr{G} = \mathscr{L} \oplus \mathscr{K}$ as a vector space decomposition, where \mathscr{L} is an ideal and \mathscr{K} is a Lie sub-algebra.

a) Then we have the split $\mathscr{G} = \mathscr{G}^* = \mathscr{L}^{\perp} + \mathscr{K}^{\perp}$, $\mathscr{L}^{\perp} \simeq \mathscr{K}^*$ coupled with \mathscr{K} via an induced form $\langle \langle , \rangle \rangle$ inherits the Kostant-Kirillov coadjoint symplectic structure. The Poisson bracket of the latter, between functions F and G on \mathscr{K}^* , is given by

$$\{F,G\}(A) = \langle \langle A, [\nabla_{\mathscr{K}^*}F, \nabla_{\mathscr{K}^*}G] \rangle \rangle, \quad A \in \mathscr{K}^*$$

b) Let $M \subset \mathcal{K}^*$ be an invariant manifold under the above coadjoint action of \mathcal{K} on \mathcal{K}^* . Then the functions H defined on a neighborhood of M invariants under the coadjoint action of \mathcal{G} , lead to commuting vector fields of the Lax isospectral flows

$$\dot{A} \equiv \frac{dA}{dt} = [A, pr_{\mathscr{L}}(\nabla H)],$$

where $pr_{\mathscr{L}}$ is the projection on \mathscr{L} .

The reader interested in the most general form of this theorem can consult with profit the recent paper [8]. This is a general theorem for constructing fully dynamical Hamiltonian integrable systems on the coadjoint orbits of a Lie algebra. We will see explicitly how to apply, with some precautions, this theorem to certain Lie algebras of infinite dimension.

Any finite dimensional semi-simple Lie algebra \mathscr{G} leads to an infinite dimensional Lie algebras, the so-called Kac-Moody extensions (that we also note \mathscr{G}):

$$\mathscr{G} = \left\{ \sum_{-\infty}^{n} A_j h^j | n \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ free} \right\},$$

with bracket

$$\left[\sum A_i h^i, \sum B_j h^j\right] = \sum_k \sum_{i+j=k} \left[A_i, B_j\right] h^k$$

and ad-invariant, symmetric forms

$$\left\langle \sum A_i h^i, \sum B_j h^j \right\rangle_k = \sum_{i+j=-k} \left\langle A_i, B_j \right\rangle$$

depending on $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. Obviously if the form \langle , \rangle is non degenerate, then the form \langle , \rangle_k is also.

Let \mathscr{G}_r^s $(r \le s)$ be the vector subspace of \mathscr{G} , corresponding to powers of h between r and s. A first interesting class of problems is obtained by taking $\mathscr{G} = \mathscr{G}l(n,\mathbb{R})$ and by putting the form \langle , \rangle_1 on the Kac-Moody extension. Then we have the decomposition into Lie sub-algebras

$$\mathscr{G} = \mathscr{G}_0^{\infty} + \mathscr{G}_{-\infty}^{-1} \equiv \mathscr{L} + \mathscr{K},$$

with $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{L}^{\perp}, \, \mathscr{K} = \mathscr{K}^{\perp}$ and $\mathscr{L} = \mathscr{K}^*$.

Another class is obtained by choosing any semi-simple Lie algebra \mathscr{G} . Then the Kac-Moody extension \mathscr{G} equipped with the form $\langle , \rangle = \langle , \rangle_0$ has the natural level decomposition

$$\mathscr{G} = \sum_{i \in \mathbb{Z}} G_i, \left[G_i, G_j\right] \subset G_{i+j}, \qquad \left[G_0, G_0\right] = 0, \qquad G_i^* = G_{-i}.$$

Let $A_+ = \sum_{i \ge 0} G_i$ and $A_- = \sum_{i < 0} G_i$. Then the product Lie algebra $\mathscr{G} \times \mathscr{G}$ has the following bracket and pairing

$$[(a_1, a_2), ((b_1, b_2)] = ([a_1, b_1], -[a_2, b_2]), \qquad \langle (a_1, a_2), (b_1, b_2) \rangle = \langle a_1, b_1 \rangle - \langle a_2, b_2 \rangle.$$

It admits the decomposition into $\mathscr{L} + \mathscr{K}$ with

$$\mathscr{L} = \{(a, -a) : a \in \mathscr{G}\}, \quad \mathscr{L}^{\perp} = \{(a, a) : l \in \mathscr{G}\},$$

$$\mathscr{K} = \{(c_1, c_2) : c_1 \in A_-, c_2 \in A_+, Pr_0(c_1) = Pr_0(c_2)\}, \qquad \mathscr{K}^{\perp} = \{(c_1, c_2) : c_1 \in A_-, c_2 \in A_+, Pr_0(c_2 + c_1) = 0\},$$

where Pr_0 denotes projection onto G_0 . Then from the last theorem, the orbits in $\mathscr{K}^* = \mathscr{L}^{\perp}$ possesses a lot of commuting Hamiltonian vector fields of Lax form.

We consider the invariant manifold M_n , $n \ge 1$, in $\mathcal{L} = \mathcal{K}^*$ defined by the set of

$$A = \sum_{j=1}^{n-1} A_j h^j + \mu h^j, \quad \mu \equiv diag(\mu_1, ..., \mu_n) \text{ fixed}, \qquad diag(A_{n-1}) = 0.$$

as well as the \mathscr{K} -invariant manifolds M_{-i}^k defined by

$$M_{-j}^k = \sum_{i=-j}^k L_i \subseteq \mathscr{G} \simeq \mathscr{L}^\perp.$$

We state the following theorem [9]-[11]:

Theorem 2.3. a) Let $H = \langle f(Ah^{-j}), h^k \rangle_1$, be functions defined on the manifold M_n where f are differentiable functions. Then, the equations

$$\dot{A} = \left[A, Pr_{\mathscr{K}}(f'(Ah^{-j})h^{k-j})\right], \qquad A = \sum_{i=0}^{n-1} A_i h^i + \mu h^n,$$

determine integrable Hamiltonian systems whose linearization is carried out on the Jacobian of the curve C of genus (m-1)(mn-2)/2 defined by (2.2). Moreover, especially for j = n, k = n + 1, the flow

$$\dot{A} = \left[A , ad_{\nu} ad_{\mu}^{-1} A_{n-1} + \nu h \right], \qquad (2.3)$$

depends on f by the relation $v_i = f'(\mu_i)$ only. b) Let $H(a_1, a_2) = f(a_1)$, be functions defined on the manifold M_{-i}^k where f are differentiable functions. We have

$$\dot{a} = \left[a, (Pr^+ - \frac{1}{2}pr_0)\nabla H(a)\right],\,$$

where Pr^+ is the projection onto A_+ and these Lax equations are linearized on the Jacobian of a curve whose affine equation is given by the characteristic polynomial of elements in M_{-i}^k , considered as functions of h.

Using the van Moerbeke-Mumford approach [11], one can construct an algebraic map from the complex invariant manifolds of linearizable dynamical systems to the Jacobi variety Jac(C) or one of its sub-manifolds such as Prym varieties, associated with an algebraic curve determined by the spectral curve C (2.1). The equations that linearize the dynamic system are given by

$$\sum_{j=1}^g \int_{s_j(0)}^{s_j(t)} \omega_k = c_k t, \quad 1 \le k \le g,$$

where $(\omega_1, ..., \omega_g)$ is a basis in the space of holomorphic differentials on the curve C of genus g.

1) As a first example for M_1 in the above theorem, we consider $A = X + \mu h$, with $X \in so(n)$. It is deduced that the Hamiltonian flow (2.3), where μ_i and ν_i can be taken arbitrarily, is the 0th-order in h

$$\dot{X} = [X, \Lambda(X)], \quad \Lambda(X)_{ij} = \lambda_{ij}X_{ij}, \quad \lambda_{ij} = \lambda_{ji}, \quad \lambda_{ij} = \frac{v_i - v_j}{\mu_i - \mu_j}$$

and an identity to first order in h. This flow expresses the Euler-Arnold equations [12] for the geodesic flow on the group SO(n), for a left invariant diagonal metric Λ . The algebraic curve

$$C = \{(z,h) \in \mathbb{C}^2 : \det(X + \mu h - zI) = 0\},\$$

has an involution

$$\sigma: C \longrightarrow C, \quad (z,h) \longmapsto (-z,-h),$$

exchanging sheets of *C* over $C_0 = C/\sigma$. In such a situation, this involution extends by linearity to a map (which will again be denoted by σ), $\sigma : Jac(C) \longrightarrow Jac(C)$ and up some points of order two, the Jacobi variety Jac(C) splits into an even part, i.e., Jac(C) and an odd part (Prym variety) denoted $Prym(C/C_0)$ and defined by

$$Prym(C/C_0) = \left(H^0\left(C,\Omega^1\right)^-\right)^*/H_1\left(C,\mathbb{Z}\right)^-,$$

where Ω^1 is the sheaf of holomorphic 1-forms on the curve *C* and – means the –1 eigenspace for a vector space on which the involution σ acts. We have

$$Jac(C) = Jac(C_0) \oplus Prym(C/C_0).$$

The phase space for this problem is an orbit defined in the group SO(n) by $\left[\frac{n}{2}\right]$ orbit invariants. By Theorem 2.3, the problem linearizes on $Prym(C/C_0)$ of dimension $\frac{\frac{n(n-1)}{2} - \left[\frac{n}{2}\right]}{2}$.

2) For another example, consider the case of M_2 in the above theorem with

$$A = \mu h^2 - y \otimes y - hx \wedge y, \quad (x, y \in \mathbb{R}^n).$$

where $(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^{2n}$. In this case, equation (2.3) is reduced to the study of

$$\dot{A} = \left[A, vh + ad_{v}ad_{\mu}^{-1}(y \wedge x)\right],$$

where $v_i = f'(\mu_i)$. Explicitly, we can rewrite this equation in the form of a nonlinear dynamic system :

$$\dot{x} = -\frac{\partial H_{\nu}}{\partial y} = -\nu y - (ad_{\nu}ad_{\mu}^{-1}(y \wedge x))x,$$

$$\dot{y} = \frac{\partial H_{\nu}}{\partial x} = -(ad_{\nu}ad_{\mu}^{-1}(y \wedge x))y,$$

where

$$H_{\mathbf{v}} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i} \mathbf{v}_{i} \left(y_{i}^{2} + \sum_{j \neq i} \frac{(x_{i}y_{j} - x_{j}y_{i})^{2}}{\mu_{i} - \mu_{j}} \right)$$

Note that in the particular case where

$$f(z) = \log z, \qquad \mathbf{v}_i = \frac{1}{\mu_i},$$

then this problem is reduced to the study of the well known Jacobi geodesic flow on the ellipsoid :

$$\frac{x_1^2}{v_1^2} + \dots + \frac{x_n^2}{v_n^2} = 1.$$

Another special case is where $f(z) = \frac{1}{2}z^2$, $v_i = \mu_i$. Here the problem is reduced to the study of the Neumann movement (under the influence of the force $-\mu x$) of a point on the sphere [13]:

$$S^{n-1}: x_1^2 + \dots + x_n^2 = 1.$$

According to theorem 2.3, the linearization of the problem related to these two cases is carried out on the Jacobi variety $Jac(\mathcal{H})$, where \mathcal{H} is a hyperelliptic curve of genus n - 1. For an interesting geometric interpretation of these motions and their relationship with confocal quadrics, theorem of Chasles, geodesic, intersection of two quadrics, K-dV equation, etc., see for example [13]-[17].

3) Another example of M_2 , n = 3, in the above theorem, concerns the Lagrange spinning top [18]. It expresses a particular case of the rotational motion of a solid body around a fixed point. Here, we have

$$A = mh + \gamma + lh^2,$$

where $m \in so(3)$ (angular momentum), $\gamma \in so(3)$ (unit vector in the direction of gravity), $l = (\alpha + \beta)\varepsilon$ with $\varepsilon \in so(3)$ (coordinates of the center of mass) and where $(\alpha + \beta, \alpha + \beta, 2\alpha)$ (inertia tensor in diagonalized form). Here, the linearization of the problem takes place on the Jacobi variety of an elliptic curve, i.e., on the curve itself (see [19] and for higher-dimensional generalizations [20]).

4) As an example of M_{-j}^k in theorem 2.3, b) (see [9]-[11]), we consider the periodic infinite band matrix M of period n having j + h + 1 diagonals; the spectrum of M is defined by the points $(z,h) \in \mathbb{C}^2$ such that

$$Mv(h) = zv(h), \quad v(h) = (..., h^{-1}v, v, hv, ...), \quad v \in \mathbb{C}^{n}.$$

Let M_h be the square matrix obtained from M and let C be the curve whose affine equation is $det(M_h - zI) = 0$. Then the set of infinite band matrices with j + k + 1 diagonals, in higher dimensions many partial results seem to lead to rigidity. In fact, it was shown that a discrete 2-dimensional Laplacian cannot be deformed, given its periodic spectrum; the proof can be summarized by the observation that the Picard variety of most algebraic surfaces are trivial; the proof that the specific spectral surface defined by the 2-dimensional Laplacian has trivial Picard variety is based on the technique of toroidal embedding, which reduces cohomological computations to combinatorial questions. Finally, inspired by the dynamical systems, Mumford [21] has given a beautiful description of hyperelliptic Jacobians of dimension g. Griffiths [4] has given a necessary and sufficient condition on B (easily checkable), for an equation of the type (2.1) to be linearizable on

the Jacobi variety Jac(*C*) of its spectral curve defined by (2.2) (although, without reference to Kac-Moody Lie algebras). Indeed, suppose that for every p(z,h) belonging to the curve *C* of affine equation (2.2), with dimker(A - zI) = 1 (i.e., the corresponding eigenspace of *A* is one-dimensional) and generated by a vector $v(t, p) \in \mathbb{C}^n$. So, we can find a family of holomorphic mappings which send $(z,h) \in C$ to ker(A - zI):

$$\phi_t: C \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C}), \quad p \longmapsto \mathbb{C}v(t,p),$$

called the eigenvector map associated to the equation (2.1). Let

$$\Psi(t) = \phi_t^* \left(\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})}(1) \right) \in \operatorname{Pic}^s(C), \quad s = \deg \phi_t(C),$$

where $\operatorname{Pic}^{s}(C) \cong \operatorname{Jac}(C)$ is the Picard variety of the curve *C* and $\mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{n}(\mathbb{C})}(1)$ is the hyperplane line bundle in $\mathbb{P}^{n}(\mathbb{C})$. Obviously the degree of $\Psi(t)$ does not vary with *t* Let *H* be the hyperplane class in $\mathbb{P}^{n}(\mathbb{C})$. The Poincaré dual of the class [C] of *C* coincides with the degree of *C*,

$$\deg \Psi(t) = \int_C \phi_t^* H = \int_{\phi_t(C)} H = \deg(C)$$

Since $\Psi(t)$ moves in Pic^{*s*}(*C*) when *t* varies, then by fixing a line bundle $\Psi(0) \in \text{Pic}^{s}(C)$, the line bundle $\Psi(0)^{-1} \otimes \Psi(t)$ moves in the Jacobian variety Jac(*C*). We will determine a necessary and sufficient condition of a cohomological nature on *B* so that the flow

$$t \mapsto \Psi(t),$$
 (2.4)

is linearizing on Jac(C). By applying cohomological techniques of the theory of deformation, we can find necessary and sufficient conditions to linearize the flow (2.4). Indeed, this is because the tangent space for any deformation is in a proper cohomology group, and according to the theory of duality on algebraic curves, the higher cohomology can always be eliminated. Let's see that with a little more detail. Let *X* be a complex manifold and

$$\phi: C \longrightarrow X, \tag{2.5}$$

a non-constant holomorphic map. Let θ_C , θ_X be the respective tangent sheaves and ϕ_* the differential of ϕ . The normal sheaf of *C* in *X* is defined by the following exact sequence

$$0 \longrightarrow \theta_{\mathcal{C}} \stackrel{\phi_*}{\longrightarrow} \phi^* \theta_X \longrightarrow N_{\phi} \longrightarrow 0$$
(2.6)

and let $H^0(C, N_{\phi})$ (that we also note $H^0(N_{\phi})$) be the Kodaira-Spencer tangent space [22] to the moduli space of (2.5). Let $\phi_t : C \longrightarrow X$, $\phi_0 = \phi$, be a deformation of (2.5). In local product coordinates (z,t) on $\bigcup_t C_t$, $w = (w^1, w^2, ..., w^n) \in X$, we show that ϕ_t is given by $(t,\xi) \longmapsto w(t,\xi)$, i.e., the section $\dot{\phi} \in H^0(N_{\phi})$ and is locally given by

$$\frac{\partial w(t,\xi)}{\partial t}\Big|_{t=0} \text{modulo } \frac{\partial w(0,\xi)}{\partial z}$$

The corresponding cohomological sequence of (2.6) is

$$H^0(\theta_C) \longrightarrow H^0(\phi^* \theta_X) \longrightarrow H^0(N_\phi) \xrightarrow{\overline{\partial}} H^1(\theta_C).$$

Consider the tangent space $H^1(\theta_C)$ to the moduli space of the curve *C* as well as the tangent $\dot{C} \equiv \overline{\partial}(\dot{\phi}) \in H^1(\theta_C)$ to the family of curves $\{C_t\}$. Hence, $H^0(\phi^*\theta_X)/H^0(\theta_C) \subset H^0(N_{\phi})$ is the tangent space to deformations of (2.5) where, according to theorem 2.1, the curve *C* is independent of *t*.

Consider now the Euler exact sequence of vector bundles

$$0 \longrightarrow \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{n}(\mathbb{C})} \xrightarrow{\iota} \mathbb{C}^{n} \otimes \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{n}(\mathbb{C})}(1) \xrightarrow{p} \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{n}(\mathbb{C})} \longrightarrow 0$$

Therefore, the following sequences $(\Psi(0) = \phi^* \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})}(1))$:

are exact and the cohomology diagram corresponding to these sequences contains the following part :

$$\begin{array}{ccc} H^0(C, \mathbb{C}^n \otimes \Psi(0)) & & \downarrow \tau \\ H^0(C, \theta_C) & \longrightarrow H^0(C, \phi^* \theta_{\mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})}) & \stackrel{j}{\longrightarrow} & H^0(C, N_\phi) & \stackrel{\overline{\delta}}{\longrightarrow} & H^1(C, \theta_C) \\ & & \downarrow \delta \\ & & H^1(C, \mathscr{O}_C) \end{array}$$

Let $(t,\xi) \mapsto v(t,\xi) \in \mathbb{C}^n \setminus \{0\}$, be a position vector mapping with ξ a local coordinate on C. In other words, a local lift v_t (which is a time-dependent map $C \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^n \setminus \{0\}$) of the family of holomorphic maps $\phi_t : C \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})$, to $\mathbb{C}^n \setminus \{0\}$, such that

$$\phi_t(\xi) = \mathbb{C}.v(t,\xi) \subset \mathbb{C}^n$$

As this lift exists only locally, it will have to find an independent object of this lift but which exists globally. The solution is to use this lift to determine such an object that we note \dot{v} . Notice that the space $\mathbb{C}v_t(p)$ and the fibre of $\phi^* \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})}(-1)$ at a point $p \in C$ identify and define the maps $\phi^* \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})}(-1)\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \mathscr{O}_C$ and

$$v_t: \mathscr{O}_C \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^n \otimes \Psi(t), \quad \phi \longmapsto \phi v_t,$$

(here, v_0 coincides with the application v mentioned in the previous diagram). In the case where η will be another lift such that :

$$\eta(t,\xi) = \kappa(t,\xi)v(t,\xi), \quad \kappa \neq 0,$$

then we will have $\dot{\eta} = \kappa \dot{v} + \dot{\kappa} v$. The inclusion $\mathscr{O}_C \xrightarrow{v} \mathbb{C}^n \otimes L$, $L = f^* \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})}(1)$, is locally given by $\mathscr{O}_{\mathscr{C}} \ni \phi \longmapsto \phi.v$, and then (modulo $v(t,\xi)$), the expression

$$\dot{\nu}(\xi) = \left. \frac{\partial \nu(t,\xi)}{\partial t} \right|_{t=0} \in H^0(C, \mathbb{C}^n \otimes L/\mathcal{O}_C) = H^0(C, f^* \theta_{\mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})})$$

is well-defined independently of the choice of the lift, and we have $\sigma(\dot{v}) = \phi$. We are interested in the tangent vector

$$\dot{\Psi}(0) \equiv \left. \frac{d\Psi(t)}{dt} \right|_{t=0} \in H^1(C, \mathscr{O}_C).$$

Theorem 2.4. If v is an infinitesimal variation of $\phi_t : C \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})$, then

$$\dot{\Psi}(0) \equiv \left. \frac{d\Psi(t)}{dt} \right|_{t=0} = \delta(\dot{v}) \in H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C).$$

In addition if τ is the map mentioned in the diagram above, then there is an equivalence between the fact that $\dot{\Psi}(0) = 0$ and $\dot{v} = \tau(w)$ for some $w \in H^0(\mathbb{C}^n \otimes \Psi(0))$.

Let h_0 , h_1 be homogeneous coordinates and consider h as an affine coordinate on $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})$ which is the base of the covering $\pi : C \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})$. Note that B(t,h) can be written in the form

$$B(t,h) = \sum_{k=0}^{N} B_k(t) h^k = \sum_{k=0}^{N} B_k(t) h^N \left(\frac{h_1}{h_0}\right)^k \in H^0(C, \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{F}(N)))$$

where \mathscr{F} is the sheaf of sections of the trivial bundle $C \times \mathscr{F}$. We have $\mathscr{F}(D) = \mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{O}_{C}(D)$ and B(t,h) can be seen as a holomorphic section of the bundle $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{F},\mathscr{F}) \otimes \mathscr{O}_{C}(N)$, $\mathscr{O}_{C}(N) = \pi^{*} \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{P}^{1}}(N)$. In other words, we visualize $h = [h_{0} : h_{1}]$ as a homogeneous coordinate on $\mathbb{P}^{1}(\mathbb{C})$ pulled up to *C*. We have $\frac{B}{h_{0}^{K}} \in H^{0}(C, \operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{F}(D)))$, $v \in H^{0}(V \otimes L)$ where $D = (h_{0}^{N})$, is the divisor $N.\pi^{-1}(\infty)$ on the curve *C* and $\mathscr{F}(D) \cong \mathscr{F}(N)$ are the sections of $\mathscr{F} \otimes \mathscr{O}_{C}(D)$. It should be noted that here $\frac{B}{h_{0}^{N}}$ is a matrix in $\operatorname{Hom}(\mathscr{F}, \mathscr{F})$ with meromorphic functions in $H^{0}(C, \mathscr{O}_{C}(D))$ as entries, i.e., $\frac{h_{1}}{h_{0}}$ is seen as a function on $H^{O}(C, \mathscr{O}_{C}(D))$. We deduce that $\left(\frac{B}{h_{0}^{N}}\right) . v \in H^{0}(C, \mathscr{F} \otimes \Psi(0)(D))$ and the Lax equation can be interpreted in cohomological form as follows:

Theorem 2.5. *The following conditions are equivalent : (i)*

$$\dot{v} = \tau \left(\frac{B}{h_0^N} . v \right) \qquad \dot{\Psi}(0) = 0.$$

(ii) There is a meromorphic function $\varphi \in H^{O}(C, \mathscr{O}_{C}(D))$ such that $\frac{B}{h_{0}^{N}} \cdot v + \varphi v \in H^{0}(C, \mathscr{F} \otimes L(D))$ is holomorphic.
By differentiating the eigenvalue problem Av(t, p) = zv(t, p) (in the neighborhood of the point $p = (h, z) \in C$) with respect to *t*, and taking into account the Lax equation in the form $\dot{A} = [B, A]$, we immediately obtain the expression $A(\dot{v} - Bv) = z(\dot{v} - Bv)$. Since eigenvalues have (generically) a multiplicity of 1, then for a some λ , we have

$$Bv = \dot{v} + \lambda v. \tag{2.7}$$

This equation can be written in the form $Bv = \dot{v} + \lambda_j v$, where λ_j is the main part of Laurent series expansion of λ in the neighborhood of *p*. Then given the curve *C* defined by (2.2) and $p \in C$, Griffiths defines

 $L_p \equiv [\text{Laurent tail}(B)]_p = \{\text{main part of Laurent series expansion of } \lambda \text{ in the neighborhood of } p\},\$

and shows that the linearization of the Lax flow takes place on the Jacobi variety Jac(C) if and only if $p \in (h)_{\infty}$ (divisor of the poles of h), we have for any meromorphic function f on C such that : $(f) \ge n(h)_{\infty}$,

$$\frac{dL_p}{dt} \in \text{ linear combination } \{L_p; \text{ Laurent tail at } p \text{ of } f\}.$$

Let $P(h,g) \in \mathbb{C}[h,g]$ and note that if we replace *B* by B + P(h,A) in equation (2.1), we see that this equals invariant which shows that *B* is not unique and that its natural place is somewhere in a cohomology group. Consider a positive divisor

$$D = \left(\frac{1}{h}\right)(\infty) = \sum_{j} n_{j} p_{j}, \quad n_{j} \ge 0,$$

on *C*, where *h* is seen as a meromorphic function. The polynomial $B(t,h) = \sum_{k=0}^{n} B_k h^k$ of degree *n* should be interpreted as an element of $H^0(C, \text{Hom}(V, V(D)))$ where *V* is the sheaf of sections of the trivial bundle $C \times V$ and $V(D) = V \otimes \mathcal{O}_C(D)$. A section of $\mathcal{O}_D(D)$ is written

$$\varphi = \sum \varphi_j, \qquad \varphi_j = \sum_{k=-n_j}^{-1} a_k z_j^k,$$

where z_j is a local coordinate around p_j . This is a principal part (Laurent tail) centered on p_j . A question arises : Given a main part φ_j , determine conditions for a function $\varphi \in H^0(C, \mathscr{O}_C(D))$ such that $\varphi - \varphi_j$ is holomorphic in the neighborhood of p_j . The answer to this question (known as the Mittag-Leffler problem) is provided by

Theorem 2.6. Let $\{\varphi_j\}$ be a Laurent tail and let $D = \sum_j a_j p_j$. The following conditions are equivalent : (i) There exist $\varphi \in H^0(C, \mathscr{O}_C(D))$ such that $\varphi - \varphi_j$ is holomorphic near p_j . (ii) For every holomorphic differential ω on C, we have

$$\sum_{j} \operatorname{Res}_{p_j}(\varphi_j.\omega) = 0.$$

The residue of *B*, denoted by $\zeta(B) \in H^0(C, \mathcal{O}_D(\mathcal{D}))$, is the collection of Laurent tails $\{\lambda_j\}$ given above, where λ_j is the main part of the Laurent series expansion of λ around *p*.

We will say that the flow $\Psi(t)$ (2.4) is linearized if there is a complex number c such that

$$\frac{d^2\Psi(t)}{dt^2} = c\frac{d\Psi(t)}{dt}.$$

The Griffiths theorem is as follows :

Theorem 2.7. 1) We have

$$\dot{\Psi}(0) = \left. \frac{d\Psi(t)}{dt} \right|_{t=0} = \delta_1(\varsigma(B)).$$

2) The following conditions are equivalent:
(i) The flow Ψ(t) (2.4) is linearized in Pic^s(C).
(ii) We have

$$\boldsymbol{\zeta}(\dot{B}) = 0 \text{ mod.}(\boldsymbol{\zeta}(B), \text{Im res}),$$

where Im res $\subset H^0(C, \mathscr{O}_D(D))$ is the Laurent tails of meromorphic functions in $H^0(C, \mathscr{O}_D(D))$. (iii) We have

$$\sum_{j} \operatorname{Res}_{p_j}(\dot{\varsigma}_j(B))\omega) = t \sum_{j} \operatorname{Res}_{p_j}(\varsigma_j(B))\omega), \quad \omega \in H^0(C, \Omega_C)$$

It follows from the above theorem that the linearized flow on Jac(C) is provided by the bilinear map

$$(t,\boldsymbol{\omega})\longmapsto t\sum_{j}\operatorname{Res}_{p_{j}}(\varsigma_{j}(B))\boldsymbol{\omega}) = t\sum_{j}\operatorname{Res}_{p_{j}}(\lambda_{j}\boldsymbol{\omega}).$$

$$(2.8)$$

As an example, consider Euler's problem of a free rigid body in \mathbb{R}^n . This one is described by the following equations :

$$\dot{M} = [M, \Omega], \qquad M = \Omega J + J \Omega \in so(n), \qquad \Omega(t) \in so(n),$$

where $J = \text{diag}(\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_n)$, $\lambda_j > 0$. These equations form a Hamiltonian system on each adjoint orbit of so(n) and whose Hamiltonian is explicitly described by $H(M) = \frac{1}{2}(M, \Omega) = -\frac{1}{4}Tr(M\Omega)$. Manakov [23] observed that these equations admit a Lax equation with an indeterminate parameter h,

$$(\widetilde{M+J^2h}) = [M+J^2h, \Omega+Jh].$$

Hence $D = \left(\frac{1}{h}\right)(\infty) = \sum_{j} p_{j}$, is the divisor with *n* distinct points p_{j} located on $h = \infty$. We deduce from equation (2.7) with $B = \Omega + Jh$, the following relation : $\zeta(B) = \sum_{j} \frac{\lambda_{j}}{z_{j}}$, where $z_{j} = \frac{1}{h}$ is a local coordinate on *C* around p_{j} . We have $\zeta(\dot{B}) = 0$ since λ_{i} are constant, and consequently, the flow is linearized on Jac(C). Taking into account that $A = M + J^{2}h$, $M + M^{\top} = 0$, $J^{2} - J^{2^{\top}} = 0$, we obtain $P(h, z) = (-1)^{n}P(-h, -z)$. The curve *C* has an involution $\sigma: C \longrightarrow C$, $(h, z) \longmapsto (-h, -z)$. Here the linearization of the problem

necessitates the knowledge of $\frac{1}{2} \dim \mathcal{O}$ independent first integrals and in involution (this is because Ω moves on an adjoint orbit $\mathcal{O} \subset so(n)$). In general, we have

$$\dim \mathscr{O} = \frac{n(n-1)}{2} - \left[\frac{n}{2}\right],\tag{2.9}$$

Let $g(C) = \frac{(n-1)(n-2)}{2}$ be the genus of the algebraic curve *C* and $g(C_0)$ the genus of the quotient $C_0 = C/\sigma$ of *C* by the involution σ . Using the Riemann-Hurwitz formula, we get

$$g(C) - g(C_0) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\frac{n(n-1)}{2} - \left[\frac{n}{2} \right] \right).$$
(2.10)

Note that $\sigma(\varsigma(B)) = -\varsigma(B)$ and the linearization of the problem in question is carried out on the Prym variety $Prym(C/C_0)$ of the curve *C* for the involution σ , interchaging the sheets of the double covering $C \longrightarrow C_0$. From (2.10) it follows that

$$\dim Prym(C/C_0) = \begin{cases} \frac{n(n-2)}{4} & n \equiv 0 \mod .2\\ \frac{(n-1)^2}{4} & n \equiv 1 \mod .2 \end{cases}$$
(2.11)

and taking into account (2.9), we finally get dim $Prym(C/C_0) = \frac{1}{2} \dim \mathcal{O}$. The linearization of the Euler equations is carried out on the Prym variety $Prym(C/C_0)$ of exactly the correct dimension.

3. Infinite continued fraction and spectral theory for periodic Jacobi operators

A Jacobi matrix is a doubly infinite matrix (a_{ij}) with entries *i*, *j* such that : $a_{ij} = 0$ for |i - j| large enough. The set of these matrices is an associative algebra and consequently a Lie algebra by anti-symmetrization. Consider the Jacobi matrix

$$\Gamma = \begin{pmatrix} b_1 & a_1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_1 & b_2 & a_2 & & \vdots \\ 0 & a_2 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & & \end{pmatrix}$$

where all the b_j are real and all the a_j are positive, and let

$$\varphi(z) = \frac{a_0^2}{z - b_1 - \frac{a_1^2}{z - b_2 - \frac{a_2^2}{z - b_3 - \frac{a_2^2}{z - b_3 - \frac{a_2^2}{z - b_3 - \frac{a_3^2}{z - b_3 - \frac{a_$$

be the associated continued Γ -fraction, where a_0 is a positive real number. By cutting off the Γ -fraction $\varphi(z)$ at the *k*-th term, we obtain the *k*-th Padé approximant $\frac{A_k(z)}{B_k(z)}$ of $\varphi(z)$, i.e.,

$$\varphi(z) = \lim_{k \to \infty} \frac{A_k(z)}{B_k(z)}.$$
(3.2)

We show that $\varphi(z)$ admits formal series expansion arount the point z = 0 (pole),

$$\varphi(z) = \frac{c_0}{z} + \frac{c_1}{z^2} + \frac{c_2}{z^3} + \dots = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{c_k}{z^{k+1}}.$$

Note that the characteristic polynomial

$$B_k(z) = \det \begin{pmatrix} b_1 - z & a_1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_1 & b_2 - z & a_2 & & \vdots \\ 0 & a_2 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & a_{k-1} \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & a_{k-1} & b_k - z \end{pmatrix}$$

of Γ , is the last term of the second order recursion

$$B_k(z) = (b_k - z)B_{k-1}(z) - a_{k-1}^2 B_{k-2}(z).$$

The polynomials $A_k(z)$, $B_k(z)$ form a pair of solutions of a finite difference equation of the second order (the eigenvectors of the Jacobi matrix from which we remove the first row and the first column) :

$$a_{k+1}y_{k+2} + b_{k+1}y_{k+1} + a_ky_k = zy_{k+1}, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}$$

with the boundary conditions : $y_0 \neq 0$, $y_1 = 0$, $y_{N+1} = 0$. In addition, these solutions are linearly independent and we have also the following relation :

$$a_{k-1}(A_{k-1}(z)B_k(z) - A_k(z)B_{k-1}(z)) = 1, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}^*$$

The polynomials B_k form an orthogonal system with respect to the Stieltjes measure $d\sigma(x)$ on \mathbb{R} ,

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} B_k(x) B_l(x) d\sigma(x) = \delta_{kl}$$

Conversely, if a family of polynomials $P_n(x)$ is orthogonal for $d\sigma(x)$, then $P_n(x)$ satisfies the following recurrence relation :

$$P_{k}(x) - (\lambda_{k}x - \mu_{j})P_{k-1}(x) + \gamma_{k-1}P_{k-2}(x) = 0,$$

where $\lambda_k > 0$, μ and $\gamma_k > 0$ are constants. Moreover, if we consider the continued fraction

$$\psi(z) = \frac{\gamma_0}{\lambda_1 z - \mu_1 - \frac{\gamma_1}{\lambda_2 z - \mu_2 - \frac{\gamma_2}{\lambda_3 z - \mu_3 - \dots}}}$$

and realize an equivalent transformation

$$\Psi(z) = \frac{\gamma_0}{z - \frac{\mu_1}{\lambda_1} - \frac{\frac{\gamma_1}{\lambda_1 \lambda_2}}{z - \frac{\mu_2}{\lambda_2} - \frac{\frac{\gamma_2}{\lambda_2 \lambda_3}}{z - \frac{\mu_3}{\lambda_3} - \dots}}$$

we reconstruct the Γ -fraction corresponding to $d\sigma(x)$ (where we can put $\frac{\gamma_k}{\lambda_k \lambda_{k+1}} = a_k^2$ and $\frac{\mu_k}{\lambda_k} = b_k$). As a result, there is a one-to-one correspondence between the set of orthogonal polynomial systems on \mathbb{R} and that of Jacobi matrices. In fact, if the orthogonal polynomials

$$P_n = \frac{\gamma_0}{\prod_{k=1}^{n-1} a_k} B_{n-1}(x), \quad 1 \le n < \infty$$

form a basis of the vector space consisting of all the polynomials, then the Jacobi matrix represents the multiplication by x.

As an example of $V_{-j,k}$ (theorem 2.3, b)), consider the infinite matrix :

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} \ddots & \ddots & & & & \\ \ddots & b_0 & a_0 & 0 & \cdots & 0 & \\ & a_0 & b_1 & a_1 & & \vdots & \\ & 0 & a_1 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 & \\ & \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & a_{N-1} & \\ & 0 & \cdots & 0 & a_{N-1} & b_N & \ddots & \\ & & & & \ddots & \ddots & \end{pmatrix}, \quad (a_i, b_i \in \mathbb{C})$$
(3.3)

The matrix A is N-periodic when

$$a_{i+N} = a_i, \qquad b_{i+N} = b_i,$$

for all $i \in \mathbb{Z}$. We denote by $f = (..., f_{-1}, f_0, f_1, ...)$ the (infinite) column vector and by D (shift operator) the operator passage of degree +1, $Df_i = f_{i+1}$. Since the matrix A is N-periodic, we have $AD^N = D^N A$. Reciprocally, this relation of commutation means that N is the period of A. Consider the finite Jacobi matrix (symmetric tridiagonal and N-periodic) :

$$A(h) = \begin{pmatrix} b_1 & a_1 & 0 & \cdots & a_N h^{-1} \\ a_1 & b_2 & a_2 & & \vdots \\ 0 & a_2 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & a_{N-1} \\ a_N h & \cdots & 0 & a_{N-1} & b_N \end{pmatrix}$$

where $h \in \mathbb{C}^*$. The determinant of the matrix

$$A(h) - zI = \begin{pmatrix} b_1 - z & a_1 & 0 & \cdots & a_N h^{-1} \\ a_1 & b_2 - z & a_2 & & \vdots \\ 0 & a_2 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & a_{N-1} \\ a_N h & \cdots & 0 & a_{N-1} & b_N - z \end{pmatrix},$$
(3.4)

is

$$\det(A(h) - zI) = (-1)^{N+1} \left(\alpha(h+h^{-1}) - P_N(z) \right) \equiv F(h,h^{-1},z),$$
(3.5)

where $(z,h) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}^*$, $\alpha = a_1 a_2 \cdots a_N$, and P(z) is given by the following polynomial of degree N (with real coefficients) :

$$P(z) = \det \begin{pmatrix} b_1 - z & a_1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_1 & b_2 - z & a_2 & & \vdots \\ 0 & a_2 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & a_{N-1} \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & a_{N-1} & b_N - z \end{pmatrix} - a_0^2 \det \begin{pmatrix} b_2 - z & a_2 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_2 & b_3 - z & a_3 & & \vdots \\ 0 & a_3 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & a_{N-2} \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & a_{N-2} & b_{N-1} - z \end{pmatrix} = z^N + \cdots$$

Let C be the Riemann surface defined by the set of $(z,h) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}^*$ such that : Af = zf and $D^N f = hf$. In other words, we have

$$C = \left\{ (z,h) \in \mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}^* : F(h,h^{-1},z) = 0 \right\}.$$
(3.6)

Assuming that $\alpha \neq 0$, we derive from (3.5) and (3.6) the following relation :

$$h = \frac{P(z) \pm \sqrt{P^2(z) - 4\alpha^2}}{2\alpha}$$

Note that *C* is a hyperelliptic curve with 2*N* branch points over the roots of the equation : $P(z) = \pm 2\alpha$ and two points at infinity \mathscr{P} and \mathscr{Q} ; the point \mathscr{P} covering the case $z = \infty$, $h = \infty$ while the point \mathscr{Q} is relative to the case $z = \infty$, h = 0. The hyperelliptic involution on the curve *C* maps (z,h) into (z,h^{-1}) and *C* can be singular. Using Riemann-Hurwitz formula, we find g = N - 1 (= genus of *C*). The meromorphic function *h* has neither zero nor poles except in the neighborhood of $z = \infty$. When $z \nearrow \infty$, we have

$$h\simeq \frac{P(z)}{lpha}=\frac{z^N}{lpha}+\cdots,$$

on the sheet +, which shows that h has a pole of order N. Similarly, when $z \nearrow \infty$, we have

$$h = \frac{P(z) - \sqrt{P^2(z) - 4\alpha^2}}{2\alpha} = \frac{2\alpha}{P(z) + \sqrt{P^2(z) - 4\alpha^2}} \simeq \alpha z^{-N} + \cdots,$$

on the sheet -, and therefore h has a zero of order N. Let \mathscr{P} be the point covering ∞ on the sheets + and \mathscr{Q} the two point covering ∞ on the sheets -. Therefore the divisor (h) of the function h on the curve C is

$$(h) = -N\mathscr{P} + N\mathscr{Q}.$$

The curve C has an antiholomorphic involution

$$\sim: C \longrightarrow C, \quad (z,h) \longmapsto (\overline{z}, 1/\overline{h}),$$

i.e., the map $\sim: p \mapsto \widetilde{p}$ is such that : $\widetilde{\mathscr{P}} = \mathscr{Q}$. Since the finite matrix A(h) for |h| = 1 is self-adjoint, then it admits a real spectrum. Therefore, the fixed points of this involution form a set that we write C^{\sim} . The latter is determined by the set of $p \in C$ such that : $\widetilde{p} = p$, or it is the set of (z,h) such that : $h = 1/\overline{h}$ and $\overline{z} = z$, or what amounts to the same, is the set of (z,h) such that : |h| = 1. Let C_+ (repectively C_-) the set of $p \in C$ such that : |h| > 1 (repectively |h| < 1). Note that C_+ contains the point \mathscr{P} and C_- contains the point \mathscr{Q} . We have $C \setminus C^{\sim} = C_+ \cup C_-$, which shows that the set C^{\sim} divides *C* into two distinct regions C_+ and C_- , and so

$$C = C_+ \cup C^{\sim} \cup C_-.$$

In fact, C^{\sim} is homologous to zero because \mathscr{C}^{\sim} can be thought of as the boundary between C_+ and C_- . Moreover, the involution \sim extends to an involution * on the field of meromorphic functions as follows: $\varphi^*(p) = \overline{\varphi(\tilde{p})}$, and on the differential space as follows : $(\varphi d \psi)^* = \varphi^* d \psi^*$, which shows that : $h^* = \frac{1}{h}$ and $z^* = z$. The matrices A and D^N have an eigenvector $f = (..., f_{-1}, f_0, f_1, ...)$ in common. Such a condition is parameterized by the Riemann surface C (3.6). In the following, appropriate standardization is used by selecting $f_0 \equiv 1$, from where $F_N = h$. Let us therefore $\overline{f} = (f_1, f_2, ..., f_{N-1})^\top$. Since \overline{f} satisfies $(A(h) - zI)\overline{f} = 0$, then we have

$$f_k = \frac{C_{1,k}}{C_{1,l}} f_l = \frac{C_{2,k}}{C_{2,l}} f_l = \dots = \frac{C_{N,k}}{C_{N,l}} f_l, \quad 1 \le k, l \le N.$$

where $C_{k,l}$ is the (k,l)-cofactor of (A(h) - zI), that is to say,

$$C_{k,l} = (-1)^{k+l} M_{k,l}.$$
(3.7)

where M_{kl} is the (k, l) minor of the matrix (A(h) - zI), i.e., the determinant of the N-1 submatrix obtained by removing the k^{th} -line and the l^{th} -column of the matrix (A(h) - zI). In particular, we have

$$f_k = \frac{C_{N,k}}{C_{N,N}}h = \frac{C_{k,k}}{C_{k,N}}h.$$

According to matrix (3.4), we note that

$$C_{N,1} = a_1 a_2 \cdots a_{N-1} + (-1)^N \frac{a_N}{h} P_{N-1},$$

$$C_{1,N} = a_1 a_2 \cdots a_{N-1} + (-1)^N a_N h P_{N-1},$$

where $P_{N-1} \equiv (-z)^{N-2} + \cdots$, and similarly, $C_{N,N} = (-z)^{N-1} + \cdots$. To determine the divisor structure of f_k , one proceeds as follows : for f_1 , we have

$$\begin{aligned} (f_1)_{\infty} &= (C_{N,1})_{\infty} + (h) - (C_{N,N})_{\infty}, \\ &= -(2N-2)\mathcal{Q} - N\mathcal{P} + N\mathcal{Q} + (N-1)\mathcal{P} + (N-1)\mathcal{Q}, \\ &= \mathcal{Q} - \mathcal{P}, \end{aligned}$$

and for the other f_k , we consider first the matrix (3.4) shifted by one, i.e.,

$$\begin{pmatrix}
b_2 - z & a_2 & 0 & \cdots & a_1 h^{-1} \\
a_2 & b_3 - z & a_3 & & \vdots \\
0 & a_3 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\
\vdots & & \ddots & b_N - z & a_N \\
a_1 h & \cdots & 0 & a_N & b_1 - z
\end{pmatrix}$$

Hence,

$$\begin{pmatrix} b_2 - z & a_2 & 0 & \cdots & a_1 h^{-1} \\ a_2 & b_3 - z & a_3 & & \vdots \\ 0 & a_3 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & b_N - z & a_N \\ a_1 h & \cdots & 0 & a_N & b_1 - z \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \frac{f_2}{f_1} \\ \frac{f_3}{f_1} \\ \vdots \\ \frac{f_N}{f_1} \\ h \end{pmatrix} = 0,$$

and as above, we have $\left(\frac{f_2}{f_1}\right)_{\infty} = \mathcal{Q} - \mathcal{P}$, which implies that

$$(f_2)_{\infty} = \left(\frac{f_2}{f_1}\right)_{\infty} + (f_1)_{\infty} = 2\mathscr{Q} - 2\mathscr{P},$$

and in general, we get

$$(f_k)_{\infty} = k\mathcal{Q} - k\mathcal{P}.$$

Note that the degree of a minimal positive divisor D on the curve C such that : for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, $(f_k) + D \ge -k\mathscr{P} + k\mathscr{Q}$, is given by

We have

$$\dim \mathscr{L}(D+k\mathscr{P}-(k+1)\mathscr{Q})=0,$$

for all $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, i.e., the divisor D is regular. To be convinced of this, it suffices to show that the divisor D is general. It means that $(\omega_1(p_1), ..., \omega_g(p_g)) \neq (0, ..., 0)$ where $(\omega_1, ..., \omega_g)$ is a normalized base of differential forms on C and $p_1, ..., p_g \in C$, or what is equivalent if dim $\mathcal{L}(D) = 1$ where $\mathcal{L}(D)$ denotes the set of meromorphic functions f such that : $(f) + \mathcal{D} \ge 0$, or what amounts to the same if dim $\Omega(-D) = 0$ where $\Omega(D)$ denotes the set of meromorphic differential forms ω such that the divisor $(\omega) + D \ge 0$. From the regularity of the divisor D and the Riemann-Roch theorem, we deduce

$$\dim \mathscr{L}(D+k\mathscr{P}) = \dim \Omega(-D-k\mathscr{P}) + g + k - g + 1,$$

=
$$\dim \Omega(-D-k\mathscr{P}) + k + 1,$$

for an integer k > g - 2. Therefore, we have dim $\mathscr{L}(D + k\mathscr{P}) = k + 1$, because dim $\Omega(-D - k\mathscr{P}) = 0$. Moreover, $\mathscr{L}(D + j\mathscr{P})$ is strictly larger than $\mathscr{L}(D + (j - 1)\mathscr{P})$, and therefore by lowering the index j down to 0, it follows that dim $\mathscr{L}(D) = 1$, which shows that the divisor D is general. Let's show now that \mathscr{D} is regular. It suffices to proceed by induction. We have just shown that dim $\mathscr{L}(D) = 1$. Since $f_0 = 1 \notin \mathscr{L}(D - \mathscr{Q})$, it means that $\mathscr{L}(D - \mathscr{Q}) \subsetneq \mathscr{L}(D)$ and that the function $f_0 = 1$ does not belong to the first space but belongs to the second and then, dim $\mathscr{L}(D - \mathscr{Q}) = 0$. Assuming that dim $\mathscr{L}(D + k\mathscr{P}(k+1)\mathscr{Q}) = 0$, we obtain (taking into account the Riemann-Roch theorem) immediately

 $\dim \mathscr{L}(D+(k+1)\mathscr{P}-(k+2)\mathscr{Q}) \leq \dim \mathscr{L}(D+k\mathscr{P}-(k+1)\mathscr{Q})+1=1,$

which implies equality because f_{k+1} belongs to the first space. In addition, we have

 $\dim \mathscr{L}(D+(k+1)\mathscr{P}-(k+2)\mathscr{Q})=0,$

because f_{k+1} does not belong to the space $\mathscr{L}(D + (k+1)\mathscr{P} - (k+2)\mathscr{Q})$, but belongs to the space $\mathscr{L}(D + (k+1)\mathscr{P} - (k+1)\mathscr{Q})$.

Consider now, the differential of F (3.5) while taking into account that z appears only on the diagonal of the matrix A(h) - zI. Therefore, we have

$$-\sum_{i=1}^{N} C_{ii} dz + h \frac{\partial F}{\partial h} \frac{dh}{h} = 0,$$

and either

$$\omega = \frac{-iC_{NN}dz}{h\frac{\partial F}{\partial h}}.$$

We have

$$egin{array}{rcl} \omega & = & \displaystylerac{-i rac{d n}{h}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} rac{C_{ii}}{C_{NN}}}, \ & = & \displaystylerac{-i rac{d h}{h}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} rac{C_{ii}}{C_{iN}} \cdot rac{C_{iN}}{C_{NN}}} \ & = & \displaystylerac{-i rac{d h}{h}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N} rac{C_{ii}}{C_{NN}} \cdot rac{C_{iN}}{C_{NN}}}. \end{array}$$

Taking into account that $C_{iN} = C_{Ni}^*$, $1 \le i \le N$, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \boldsymbol{\omega} &= \frac{-i\frac{dh}{h}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N}\frac{C_{Ni}}{C_{NN}}\cdot\left(\frac{C_{iN}}{C_{NN}}\right)^{*}},\\ &= \frac{-i\frac{dh}{h}}{\sum_{i=1}^{N}f_{i}f_{i}^{*}},\\ &= \pm\frac{C_{NN}dz}{\sqrt{P^{2}(z)-4\alpha^{2}}}. \end{split}$$

From this we deduce that $\omega^* = \omega$ and in addition, we have $\omega \ge 0$ on C^{\sim} . We also have a relation which shows that the scalar product between f_k and f_l is

$$\langle f_k, f_l \rangle = \int_{\mathscr{C}^{\sim}} f_k \cdot f_l^* \omega = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{si } k \neq l \\ > 0 & \text{si } k = l \end{cases}$$

That is, the functions f_k , $k \in \mathbb{Z}$, are orthogonal to \mathscr{C}^{\sim} with respect to ω . We deduce from these properties that the divisor of ω is $(\omega) = D + \widetilde{D} - \mathscr{P} - \mathscr{Q}$, for the involution \sim introduced previously. Given a matrix of the form *A* (3.3), we have obtained a series of data $\{C, z, h, D, \omega\}$. What is remarkable is that the reverse is also true (for further information, see [11]):

Theorem 3.1. Consider the following two sets of data :

1) Let $a_i, b_i \in \mathbb{C}$, $a_i \neq 0$, where $a_{i+N} = a_i$, $b_{i+N} = b_i$, $-\infty < i < +\infty$. An infinite N-periodic matrix

modulo conjugation by N-periodic diagonal matrices with real entries. 2) Let \mathcal{P} and \mathcal{Q} two points on a curve of genus N - 1 and D be a divisor of degree N - 1 on C such that:

$$(h) = -N\mathscr{P} + N\mathscr{Q}, \qquad (z) = -\mathscr{P} - \mathscr{Q} + S.$$

where h, z are two meromorphic functions on C and S is a positive divisor not containing the points \mathscr{P} and \mathscr{Q} . The curve C is equipped with an antiholomorphic involution $\sim: (z,h) \mapsto (\bar{z}, \frac{1}{\bar{h}})$, for which $C = \mathscr{C}_+ \cup C^- \cup C_-$, where \mathscr{C}^- is the set of $p \in C$ such that : $\tilde{p} = p$, i.e., the set of (z,h) such that : |h| = 1, and C_+ (repectively C_-) is the set of $p \in C$ such that : |h| > 1 (repectively |h| < 1) containing \mathscr{P} (repectively \mathscr{Q}). By introducing an involution \star acting on the space of all meromorphic functions on C and on the differential space in a way $\varphi^*(p) = \widetilde{\varphi(\tilde{p})}$ and $(\varphi d \psi)^* = \varphi^* d \psi^*$, then $h^* = h^{-1}$ and $z^* = z$ and the divisor of a differential form ω on C is

$$(\boldsymbol{\omega}) = \boldsymbol{D} + \widetilde{\boldsymbol{D}} - \mathscr{P} - \mathscr{Q}$$

Then, there is a one-to-one correspondence and equivalence of these sets of data.

For any difference operator X, we define

$$(X_{+})_{ij} = \begin{cases} X_{ij} & \text{si } i < j, \\ \frac{1}{2}X_{ij} & \text{si } i = j, \\ 0 & \text{si } i > j, \end{cases}, \qquad X_{-} = X - X^{[+]}.$$

Let \mathcal{M} be the vector space of infinite *N*-periodic matrices *A* such that for some *k*, $a_{ij} = 0$ if |i - j| > K. On \mathcal{M} , we introduce the following scalar product :

$$\langle A, B \rangle = Tr(AB^{\top}) = \sum_{(i,j) \in \mathbb{Z}^2} a_{ij} b_{ij}$$

We call a functional F differentiable if there exists a matrix $\frac{\partial F}{\partial A}$ in \mathcal{M} such that :

$$\lim_{\varepsilon \to 0} \frac{F(A + \varepsilon B) - F(A)}{\varepsilon} = \left\langle \frac{\partial F}{\partial A}, B \right\rangle,$$

for every B. The following bracket

$$\{F,G\} = \left\langle \left[\left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial X}\right)_{+}, \left(\frac{\partial G}{\partial X}\right)_{+} \right] - \left[\left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial X}\right)_{-}, \left(\frac{\partial G}{\partial X}\right)_{-} \right], X \right\rangle, \qquad (F,G \in \mathcal{M}),$$

satisfies the Jacobi identity. Let $P(A, S, S^{-1})$ be a polynomial in $S + S^{-1}$ and A with real coefficients. Consider the following Lax equation:

$$\dot{A} = \left[P(A, S, S^{-1})_{+} - P(A, S, S^{-1})_{-}, A \right].$$
(3.8)

When the matrix A(t) deforms with t, then only the divisor D varies while $\{C, z, h, \mathcal{P}, \mathcal{Q}\}$ remain fixed. As we have already shown, the coefficients of $z^i h^j$ in equation (3.5) are invariants of this motion. The divisor D(t) evolves linearly on the Jacobi variety Jac(C). Any linear flow over Jac(C) is equivalent to equation (3.8) and can be written in the form of a Hamitonian vector field with respect to the above bracket. For example, the flow

$$\dot{A} = \left[A, (S^{-k}A^l]_+\right],$$

is written as follows :

$$\dot{a}_{ij} = \{F, a_{ij}\}, \qquad F = \frac{1}{l+1} Tr\left(S^{-k}A^{l+1}\right)$$

The (Poisson) bracket of two functional of the form $Tr(S^{-k}A^{l+1})$ is zero, which means that we have a set of integrals in involution. Let $(\omega_1, ..., \omega_g)$ be a holomorphic differential basis on the hyperelliptic curve *C*. We have

$$\omega_k = \frac{z^{k-1}}{\sqrt{P^2(z) - 4Q^2}}, \quad k = 1, 2, ..., g$$

and let $c_k = \text{Res}_p(\omega_k z^j)$, $1 \le j \le g$. Since the order of the zeros of ω_k at the points at infinity \mathscr{P} , \mathscr{Q} is equal to g - k, then $c_k = 0$ for k = 1, 2, ..., g - j + 1 and $c_k \ne 0$ for k = g - j + 1. Therefore, the flow which leaves invariant the spectrum of A and X is given by a polynomial P(z) of degree at most equal to g:

$$\dot{A} = rac{1}{2} \left[A, P(A)_+ - P(A)_- \right],$$

where $P(A)_+$ is the upper triangular part of P(A) and $-P(A)_-$ is the lower triangular part of P(A), including the diagonal of P(A). The (Poisson) bracket between two functional *F* and *G* can still be written in the form

$$\{F,G\} = \left\langle \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial a} \quad \frac{\partial F}{\partial b}\right), J\left(\begin{array}{c}\frac{\partial G}{\partial a}\\\frac{\partial G}{\partial b}\end{array}\right) \right\rangle$$

where $\frac{\partial F}{\partial a} = \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial a_i}\right)$ and $\frac{\partial F}{\partial b} = \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial b_i}\right)$ are the column vectors, while *J* is the following 2*n*-order antisymmetric matrix :

$$J = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \mathcal{A} \\ -\mathcal{A}^{\top} & 0 \end{pmatrix}, \qquad \mathcal{A} = 2 \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & 0 & 0 & \dots & -a_N \\ -a_1 & a_2 & 0 & & \vdots \\ 0 & -a_2 & a_3 & & \vdots \\ \vdots & & & & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & \dots & -a_{N-1} & a_N \end{pmatrix}$$

The symplectic structure [24] is given by

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \sum_{j=2}^{N} db_j \wedge \sum_{j \le i \le N} \frac{da_i}{a_i}.$$
(3.9)

Flaschka variables [25] :

$$a_j = \frac{1}{2}e^{x_j - x_{j+1}}, \qquad b_j = -\frac{1}{2}y_j,$$

applied to the form (3.9) with $x_{N+1} = 0$, leads to the symplectic structure

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=2}^{N} dx_j \wedge dy_j,$$

used by Moser [26, 27] in the study of a dynamic system describing the motion of N - 1 particles on a line, interacting under an exponential potential. See also the example below concerning the study of Toda lattice. We have

$$\det(A_h - zI)|_{h=i} = (-1)^N z^N + \beta_1 z^{N-1} + \beta_2 z^{N-2} + \dots + \beta_N,$$

where $\beta_2, ..., \beta_N$ are the *g* invariant, functionally independent and in involution. These are given by the branch points on the hyperelliptic curve \mathscr{C} or by the quantities TrA^k for k = 2, 3, ..., N, i.e., by the g = N - 1 points chosen from the spectrum of A_1 and A_{-1} . With Jacobi's matrix, we can associate an operator *T* on a separable Hilbert space *E* as follows,

$$Te_0 = b_0 e_0 + a_0 e_1,$$
 $Te_i = b_i e_j + a_{i-1} e_{i-1} + a_i e_{i+1},$ $i = 1, 2, ...$

where $(e_1, e_2, ...)$ is an orthonormal basis in *E*. The operator *T* is symmetric. Indeed, we have $\langle Tu_1, u_2 \rangle = \langle u_1, Tu_2 \rangle$ for any two finite vectors, according to the symmetry of the Jacobi matrix. Moreover, if the Carleman's condition :

$$\frac{1}{a_0} + \frac{1}{a_1} + \dots + \frac{1}{a_n} + \dots = +\infty$$

is satisfied, then the spectrum of the self-adjoint operator T (with e_0 a generating element) is simple. In this case, the information about the spectrum of T is contained in the following function,

$$\varphi(z) = \left\langle (T - zI)^{-1} e_0, e_0 \right\rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\sigma(x)}{z - x}, \tag{3.10}$$

defined at $z \notin \sigma(T)$ where $\sigma(x) = \langle I_x e_0, e_0 \rangle$ and I_x is the resolution of the identity operator *T*. Recall that the infinite continued fraction converges if the limit (3.2) exists. If the operator *T* is self-adjoint, then the continued fraction $\varphi(z)$ converges uniformly in any closed bounded domain of *z* without common points with real axis, to the analytic function defined by (3.10). If the support of $d\sigma(x)$ is bounded,

then the sequence $\left(\frac{A_k(z)}{B_k(z)}\right)$ converges uniformly to a holomorphic function near $z = \infty$. Moreover, if a Jacobi matrix is bounded, i.e., if there exists $\rho > 0$ such that, for all j, $|a_j| \le \frac{\rho}{3}$, $|b_j| \le \frac{\rho}{3}$, then the associated Γ -fraction converges uniformly on the domain $\{z : |z| \ge \rho\}$ and the support of $d\sigma(x)$ is included in $[-\rho, \rho]$. The fraction Γ associated with a periodic Jacobi matrix (this case is obviously bounded) converges near $z = \infty$. In addition, the function $\varphi(z)$ is written in the form (3.10) (Cauchy-Stieltjes transform of $d\sigma(x)$), which shows that $\varphi(z)$ has a first-order zero at $z = \infty$ and for any point z belonging the upper-half plane, the imaginary part of $\varphi(z)$ is non positive.

We will now extend the Jacobi matrix Γ to the infinite symmetric, tridiagonal and *N*-periodic Jacobi matrix *A* (3.3) and use the results obtained previously. We consider $\varphi(z)$ (3.1) as being the associated *N*-periodic Γ -fraction. The latter converges near the infinite point $z = \infty$. An analytic extension of the function $\varphi(z)$ allows us to see that this coincides with the meromorphic function $a_0 f_1$ on the genus (N-1)-hyperelliptic curve *C* (3.6). This curve is branched at the 2*N* real zeroes $\xi_1, \xi_2, ..., \xi_{2N}$ of the polynomial $P^2(z) - 4\alpha^2$. We define the stable band as being the interval $[\xi_{2j-1}, \xi_{2j}], 1 \le j \le N$, and the unstable band the interval $[\xi_{2j}, \xi_{2j+1}], 1 \le j \le N-1$.

Theorem 3.2. Each zero $\sigma_1 < \sigma_2 < \cdots < \sigma_{N-1}$ of $C_{k,l}$ (3.7), belongs to the *j*-th finite unstable band $[\lambda_{2j}, \lambda_{2j+1}], 1 \le j \le N-1$.

We will see below (theorem 3.3) how to express the function $\varphi(z)$ in terms of Abelian integrals on the hyperelliptic curve *C* (3.6). Note that for N = 1, $B_k(x)$ is the well-known Chebyshev polynomial of the second kind. In addition, Kato [28, 29] discovered, for N > 1, new results related to discrete measurements. We have seen that

$$\varphi(z) = a_0 f_1 = a_0 \frac{C_{N,1}}{C_{N,N}} h,$$

belonging to $\mathscr{L}(D + \mathscr{P} - \mathscr{Q})$. Then, we have

Theorem 3.3. We have

$$\varphi(z) = \frac{Res_{\sigma_1^-}\varphi(z)}{z - \sigma_1} + \dots + \frac{Res_{\sigma_{N-1}^-}\varphi(z)}{z - \sigma_{N-1}} + \frac{(-1)^{N+1}}{2\pi i} \left(\int_{\xi_1}^{\xi_2} \frac{\sqrt{P^2(x) - 4\alpha^2}}{(z - x)C_{N,N}(x)} dx + \dots + \int_{\xi_{2N-1}}^{\xi_{2N}} \frac{\sqrt{P^2(x) - 4\alpha^2}}{(z - x)C_{N,N}(x)} dx \right), \tag{3.11}$$

where,

$$Res_{\sigma_j^-} \varphi(z) \equiv rac{lpha h(\sigma_j^-) + (-1)^N a_0^2 \cdot \Delta}{\prod_{l \neq j} (\sigma_j - \sigma_l)}, \quad j = 1, 2, ..., N-1$$

and

$$\Delta \equiv \det \begin{pmatrix} b_2 - \sigma_j & a_2 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ a_2 & b_3 - \sigma_j & a_3 & & \vdots \\ 0 & a_3 & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & a_{N-2} \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & a_{N-2} & b_{N-1} - \sigma_j \end{pmatrix}$$

The differentials obtained in the previous section,

$$arac{C_{N,N}(x)}{\sqrt{P^2(x)-4lpha^2}}dx, \qquad brac{\sqrt{P^2(x)-4lpha^2}}{C_{N,N}(x)}dx$$

(*a* and *b* are constants) are positive mesures on each stable band $[\xi_{2j-1}, \xi_{2j}]$. Therefore, the expression (3.11) means that $\varphi(z)$ can be obtained by the Cauchy-Stieltjes transform of

$$d\sigma = \sum_{j=1}^{N-1} \operatorname{Res}_{\sigma_j^-} \varphi(z), \sigma_j^-).C(x - \sigma_j)dx + \frac{(-1)^{N+1}}{2\pi i}.\frac{\sqrt{P^2(x) - 4\alpha^2}}{C_{N,N}(x)}dx = \text{discrete mesure} + \text{continuous mesure},$$

as follows,

$$\varphi(z) = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\sigma}{z-x}.$$

The function $\varphi(z)$ belongs to $\mathscr{L}(D' + \mathscr{P} - \mathscr{Q})$ where $D' = \sigma_1^+ + \cdots + \sigma_{N-1}^+$ is contained in $C_+ = \{p \in C : |h| > 1\}$ (see previous section). From expression (3.11), we have

$$D = \sigma_{j_1}^- + \dots + \sigma_{j_l}^- + \sigma_{j_{l+1}}^+ + \dots + \sigma_{j_{N-1}}^+,$$

where $j_1 < j_2 < ... < j_l$ denote the numbers for which $\operatorname{Res}_{\sigma_j^-} \varphi(z) > 0$ and $j_{l+1} < j_{l+2} < ... < j_{N-1}$ the numbers for which $\operatorname{Res}_{\sigma_j^-} \varphi(z) = 0$. Hence,

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\sigma_j^-} \varphi(z) = 0 \text{ or } - \frac{\sqrt{P^2(\sigma_j^-) - 4\alpha^2}}{\prod_{l \neq j} (\sigma_j - \sigma_l)}$$

The Toda lattice equations [30] describe the motion of n masses with exponential restoring forces :

$$H = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=1}^{N} y_j^2 + \sum_{j=1}^{N} e^{x_j - x_{j+1}},$$
(Hamiltonian).

We noted above that Flaschka variables [25]: $a_j = \frac{1}{2}e^{x_j - x_{j+1}}$, $b_j = -\frac{1}{2}y_j$, can be used to express the symplectic structure ω (3.9) in terms of x_j and y_j ,

$$da_j = a_j(dx_j - dx_{j+1}), \qquad 2db_j = -dy_j,$$

then

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=2}^{N} dx_j^* \wedge dy_j^*, \qquad (x_j^* \equiv x_j - x_1, \quad y_j^* \equiv y_j).$$

We will study the integrability of this problem with the Griffiths approach. There are two cases : (*i*) The non-periodic case, i.e., $x_0 = -\infty$, $x_{N+1} = +\infty$, where the masses are arranged on a line. In term of the Flaschka variables above, Toda's equations take the following form

$$\dot{a}_j = a_j (b_{j+1} - b_j),$$

 $\dot{b}_j = 2(a_i^2 - a_{j+1}^2),$

with $a_{N+1} = a_1$ and $b_{N+1} = b_1$. To show that this system is completely integrable, one should find *N* independent first integrals in involution. From the second equation, we have

$$(b_1+b_2+\cdots+b_N) = \dot{b}_1+\dot{b}_2+\cdots+\dot{b}_N = 0,$$

and we normalize b_i 's by requiring that $b_1 + b_2 + \cdots + b_N = 0$. Applying this fact to (3.9), leads to the following symplectic form :

$$\boldsymbol{\omega} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{j=2}^{N} dx_j \wedge dy_j$$

We have obtained a first integral of the system and it will be necessary to determine N-1 other integrals that are functionally independent and in involution. We further define $N \times N$ matrices A and B with

$$A = \begin{pmatrix} b_1 & a_1 & 0 & \cdots & a_N \\ a_1 & b_2 & \vdots & & \vdots \\ 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & b_{N-1} & a_{N-1} \\ a_N & \cdots & 0 & a_{N-1} & b_N \end{pmatrix}, \qquad B = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a_1 & \cdots & \cdots & -a_N \\ -a_1 & 0 & \vdots & & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_N & \cdots & -a_{N-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix}$$

The system in question is written in the form $\dot{A} = [B,A]$. Since $I_k = \frac{1}{k}trA^k$, k = 1, 2, ..., N, are first integrals (see theorem 2.1), then

$$\dot{I}_k = tr(\dot{A}.A^{k-1}) = tr([B,A].A^{k-1}) = tr(BA^k - ABA^{k-1}) = 0.$$

Notice that I_1 is the first integral already know. These N first integrals are functionally independent and in involution, the system in question is thus completely integrable.

(*ii*) The periodic case, i.e., $y_{j+N} = y_j$, $x_{j+N} = x_j$, the connected masses will be arranged on a circle. We show that in this case, the spectrum of the periodic matrix

$$A(h) = \begin{pmatrix} b_1 & a_1 & 0 & \cdots & a_N h^{-1} \\ a_1 & b_2 & \vdots & & \vdots \\ 0 & \ddots & \ddots & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & & \ddots & b_{N-1} & a_{N-1} \\ a_N h & \cdots & 0 & a_{N-1} & b_N \end{pmatrix}$$

remains invariant in time. The matrix B(h) depending on the spectral parameter h, has the form

$$B(h) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & a_1 & \cdots & \cdots & -a_N h^{-1} \\ -a_1 & 0 & \vdots & & \vdots \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ \vdots & & \ddots & \ddots & & \vdots \\ a_N h & \cdots & \cdots & -a_{N-1} & 0 \end{pmatrix},$$

and the rest follows from the general theory. Note that if $a_j(0) \neq 0$, then $a_j(t) \neq 0$ for all t. Since $A^{\top}(h) = A(h^{-1})$, the spectral curve C is given by

$$0 = \det(A(h) - zI) = P\left(\frac{1}{h}, z\right) \equiv P(h, z).$$

By the antisymmetry of A, the curve C has an involution

$$\tau: C \longrightarrow C, \quad (h, z) \longmapsto \left(\frac{1}{h}, z\right).$$
 (3.12)

We choose

$$A(h) = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \dots & a_N \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix} h^{-1} + \begin{pmatrix} b_1 & a_1 & & & \\ a_1 & b_2 & & & \\ & & \ddots & & \\ & & & b_{N-1} & a_{N-1} \\ & & & b_N & a_N \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} 0 & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ a_N & \dots & 0 \end{pmatrix} h.$$

Note that here the matrix A is meromorphic (whereas previously we considered it to be a polynomial in h) but we will see that we can adopt the theory explained in this section, to this situation too . We have

$$P(h,z) = -a_1 \cdot a_2 \cdot \cdot \cdot a_{N-1} \cdot \left(h + \frac{1}{h}\right) + z^N + c_1 z^{N-1} + \dots + c_N.$$

Let us assume that $a_1.a_2...a_{N-1} \neq 0$ and pose

$$Q(h,z) \equiv \frac{P(h,z)}{\prod_{j=1}^{N-1} a_j} = h + \frac{1}{h} + \frac{z^N + c_1 z^{N-1} + \dots + c_N}{\prod_{j=1}^{N-1} a_j} = h + \frac{1}{h} + d_0 z^N + d_1 z^{N-1} + \dots + d_N$$

In $\mathbb{P}^2(\mathbb{C})$, the affine algebraic curve of equation Q(h, z) = 0, is singular at infinity and to determine the genus *g* of its normalization, we proceed as follows : note that the curve *C* appears as a double sheeted covering of $\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})$ branched into 2*N* points coinciding with the fixed points of involution σ (3.12), that is, points where $h = \pm 1$. Using the Riemann-Hurwitz formula, we obtain

$$g = 2\left(g(\mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})) - 1\right) + 1 + \frac{2N}{2} = N - 1.$$

Consider the covering $C \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}^1(\mathbb{C})$ below and \mathscr{P} , \mathscr{Q} located on two separate sheets. By putting $\frac{1}{z}(\infty) = \mathscr{P} + \mathscr{Q}$, we see from the equation $\mathcal{Q}(h,z) = 0$, that the divisor of h is $(h) = N\mathscr{P} - N\mathscr{Q}$ and in that case, the divisor D is written $D = N\mathscr{P} + N\mathscr{Q}$, which implies that $B \in H^0(D, \text{Hom}(V, V(D)))$. The residue $\zeta(B) \in H^0(D, \mathscr{O}_D(D)$ satisfies the conditions of theorem 2.7, and consequently the linear flow is given by the application (2.8). To compute the residue $\zeta(B)$ of B, we will determine a set of holomorphic eigenvectors, using the van Moerbeke-Mumford method described above. Let us calculate the residue in \mathscr{Q} and the result will be similarly deduced in \mathscr{P} . Consider a general divisor E of degree g, of the form $E = \sum_{j=1}^{g} r_j$ such that : dim $\mathscr{L}(E + (k-1)\mathscr{P} - k\mathscr{Q}) = 0$, for all k. We deduce from Riemann-Roch's the result is the form $E = \sum_{j=1}^{g} r_j$ such that : dim $\mathscr{L}(E + (k-1)\mathscr{P} - k\mathscr{Q}) = 0$, for all k. We deduce from Riemann-Roch's the result is the form $E = \sum_{j=1}^{g} r_j$ such that : dim $\mathscr{L}(E + (k-1)\mathscr{P} - k\mathscr{Q}) = 0$, for all k.

theorem that dim $\mathscr{L}(E + k\mathscr{P} - k\mathscr{Q}) \ge 1$, and therefore dim $\mathscr{L}(E + k\mathscr{P} - k\mathscr{Q}) = 1$, for all *k*. Let

$$(f_k) \in \mathscr{L}(E+k\mathscr{P}-k\mathscr{Q}) = H^0(C, \mathscr{O}_C(E+k\mathscr{P}-k\mathscr{Q})), \quad 1 \le k \le N$$

be a basis with $f_N = h$. We can choose a vector v of the following form $v = (f_1, ..., f_N)^\top$, such that v is an eigenvector of A, i.e., Av = zv, $(h, z) \in C$. Hence, $V = h^{-1}v$ is a holomorphic eigenvector. Without restricting generality, we take N = 3. The system Av = zv, is written explicitly

$$b_1f_1 + a_2f_2 + a_3 = zf_1, a_1f_1 + b_2f_2 + a_2h = zf_2, a_3hf_1 + a_2f_2 + b_3h = zh.$$

By multiplying each equation of this system by $\frac{1}{h}$, everything becomes holomorphic except the last equation, i.e., $a_3f_1 = z + \text{Taylor}$. Recall that the section of $\mathcal{O}_D(D)$ induced by λ in the equation (2.7): $Bv = \dot{v} + \lambda v$, is the residue $\zeta(B)$ of B. In other words,

$$Bv = \zeta(B)v + \text{Taylor},$$

and therefore

$$\begin{pmatrix} \frac{a_1f_2}{h} - \frac{a_3}{h} \\ -\frac{a_1f_1}{h} + a_2 \\ a_3f_1 - \frac{a_2f_2}{h} \end{pmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} 0 \\ 0 \\ z \end{pmatrix} + \text{Taylor.}$$

We deduce that $\zeta(B) = \frac{z}{h}$, and $\zeta(\dot{B}) = 0$. The same conclusion holds for the residue in \mathscr{P} . Consequently, the flow in question linearizes on the Jacobian variety of *C*.

4. Algebraically integrable systems

Consider the nonlinear system of differential equations :

$$\frac{dz_1}{dt} = f_1(t, z_1, ..., z_n),$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\frac{dz_n}{dt} = f_n(t, z_1, ..., z_n),$$
(4.1)

where $f_1, ..., f_n$ are functions of n + 1 complex variables $t, z_1, ..., z_n$ and which apply a domain of \mathbb{C}^{n+1} into \mathbb{C} . The Cauchy problem is the search for a solution $(z_1(t), ..., z_n(t))$ in a neighborhood of a point t_0 , satisfying the initial conditions : $z_1(t_0) = z_1^0, ..., z_n(t_0) = z_n^0$. The system (4.1) can be written in vector form in \mathbb{C}^n ,

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = f(t, z(t)), \quad z = (z_1, ..., z_n), \quad f = (f_1, ..., f_n)$$

In this case, the Cauchy problem will be to determine the solution z(t) such that $z(t_0) = z_0 = (z_1^0, ..., z_n^0)$. When the functions $f_1, ..., f_n$ are holomorphic in the neighborhood of $(t_0, z_1^0, ..., z_n^0)$, then the Cauchy problem admits a holomorphic solution and only one. A question arises : can the Cauchy problem admits some non-holomorphic solution around $(t_0, z_1^0, ..., z_n^0)$? When $f_1, ..., f_n$ are holomorphic, the answer is negative. Other circumstances may arise for the Cauchy problem concerning the system of differential equations (4.1), when the holomorphic hypothesis relative to the functions $f_1, ..., f_n$ is no longer satisfied in the neighborhood of a point. In such a case, it can be seen that the behavior of the solutions can take on the most diverse aspects. In general, the singularities of the solutions are of two types : mobile or fixed, depending on whether or not they depend on the initial conditions. Important results have been obtained by Painlevé [31]. Suppose that the system (4.1) is written in the form

$$\begin{array}{lll} \frac{dz_1}{dt} & = & \frac{P_1(t,z_1,...,z_n)}{Q_1(t,z_1,...,z_n)}, \\ & \vdots \\ \frac{dz_n}{dt} & = & \frac{P_n(t,z_1,...,z_n)}{Q_n(t,z_1,...,z_n)}, \end{array}$$

where

$$P_k(t, z_1, ..., z_n) = \sum_{0 \le i_1, ..., i_n \le p} A_{i_1, ..., i_n}^{(k)}(t) z_1^{i_1} ... z_n^{i_n}, \ 1 \le k \le n,$$

$$Q_k(t, z_1, ..., z_n) = \sum_{0 \le j_1, ..., j_n \le q} B_{j_1, ..., j_n}^{(k)}(t) z_1^{j_1} ... z_n^{j_n}, \ 1 \le k \le n,$$

polynomials with several indeterminate $z_1, ..., z_n$ and algebraic coefficients in t. There are two cases: (i) the fixed singularities are constituted by four sets of points. The first set contains the singular points of the coefficients $A_{i_1,...,i_n}^{(k)}(t)$, $B_{j_1,...,j_n}^{(k)}(t)$ intervening in the polynomials $P_k(t, z_1, ..., z_n)$ and $Q_k(t, z_1, ..., z_n)$. In general this set contains $t = \infty$. The second set consists of the points α_j such that : $Q_k(t, z_1, ..., z_n) = 0$, which occurs if all the coefficients $B_{j_1,...,j_n}^{(k)}(t)$ vanish for $t = \alpha_j$. The third is the set of points β_l such that for some values $(z_1', ..., z_n')$ of $(z_1, ..., z_n)$, we have $P_k(\beta_l, z_1', ..., z_n') = Q_k(\beta_l, z_{1'}, ..., z_{n'}) = 0$. Then the second members of the above system are presented in the indeterminate form $\frac{0}{0}$ at the points $(\beta_l, z_1', ..., z_n')$. Finally, the set of points γ_n such that there exist $u_1, ..., u_n$, for which $R_k(\gamma_n, u_1, ..., u_n) = S_k(\gamma_n, u_1, ..., u_n) = 0$, where R_k and S_k are polynomials in $u_1, ..., u_n$ obtained from P_k and Q_k by setting $z_1 = \frac{1}{u_1}, ..., z_n = \frac{1}{u_n}$. Each of these sets contains only a finite number of elements. The system in question has a finite number of fixed singularities. (ii) the mobile singularities of solutions of this system are algebraic : poles and (or) algebraic critical points. There are no essential singular points for the solution $(z_1, ..., z_n)$.

We will use the method of indeterminate coefficients to find sufficient conditions for the existence and uniqueness of the meromorphic solution of the Cauchy problem concerning the system (4.1). The solution will be expressed in the form of Laurent expansions in *t* and such a solution is formal because we obtain it by performing on various series, which we assume a priori convergent, various operations whose validity remains to be justified. The problem of convergence will therefore arise. The result will therefore be established as soon as we have verified that these series are convergent. This will be done using the majorant method [32]-[34]. Without restricting the generality, we consider the Cauchy problem relative to the normal system (4.1) where $f_1, ..., f_n$ do not depend explicitly on *t*, i.e.,

$$\frac{dz_1}{dt} = f_1(z_1,...,z_n),
\vdots
\frac{dz_n}{dt} = f_n(z_1,...,z_n).$$
(4.2)

We suppose that $f_1, ..., f_n$ are rational functions in $z_1, ..., z_n$ and that the system (4.2) is weight-homogeneous, i.e., there exist positive integers $l_1, ..., l_n$ such that :

$$f_i(\alpha^{l_1}z_1,...,\alpha^{l_n}z_n) = \alpha^{l_i+1}f_i(z_1,...,z_n), \quad 1 \le i \le n,$$

for each non-zero constant α . Note that if the determinant det $\left(z_j \frac{\partial f_i}{\partial z_j} - \delta_{ij} f_i\right)_{1 \le i,j \le n} \neq 0$, then the numbers $s_1, ..., s_n$ are unique. In order to facilitate the notations, we will assume (without loss of generalities) that $t_0 = z_0 = 0$.

Theorem 4.1. Suppose that

$$z_i = \frac{1}{t^{k_i}} \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} z_i^{(k)} t^k, \quad 1 \le i \le n, \quad z^{(0)} \ne 0$$
(4.3)

 $(k_i \in \mathbb{Z}, some k_i > 0)$ is the formal solution (Laurent series), obtained by the method of undetermined coefficients of the weight-homogeneous system (4.2). Then the coefficients $z_i^{(0)}$ satisfy the nonlinear equation

$$k_i z_i^{(0)} + f_i(z_1^{(0)}, ..., z_n^{(0)}) = 0, \quad 1 \le i \le n$$

while $z_i^{(1)}, z_i^{(2)}, \dots$ are solution of the following system of linear equations :

$$(L-k\mathscr{I})z^{(k)}=$$
 some polynomial in the $z^{(j)}, \quad 0\leq j\leq k,$

where $z^{(k)} = (z_1^{(k)}, ..., z_n^{(k)})^\top$ and $L \equiv \left(\frac{\partial f_i}{\partial z_j}(z^{(0)}) + \delta_{ij}k_i\right)_{1 \le i,j \le n}$, is the Jacobian matrix. Moreover, the formal series (4.3) are convergent.

The coefficients $z_i^{(k)}$ are determined unequivocally with the adopted method of calculation which explains why the series (4.3) is the only meromorphic solution. Moreover, the result of the previous theorem applies to the following quasi-homogeneous differential equation of order *n* :

$$\frac{d^n z}{dt^n} = f\left(z, \frac{dz}{dt}, ..., \frac{d^{n-1}z}{dt^{n-1}}\right).$$

f being a rational function in $z, \frac{dz}{dt}, ..., \frac{d^{n-1}z}{dt^{n-1}}$ and $z(0) = z_1^0, \frac{dz}{dt}(0) = z_2^0, ..., \frac{d^{n-1}z}{dt^{n-1}}(0) = z_n^0$. Indeed, the differential equation above reduces to the following system :

$$z(t) = z_1(t), \quad \frac{dz}{dt}(t) = z_2(t), ..., \frac{d^{n-1}z}{dt^{n-1}}(t) = z_n(t).$$

We thus obtain

$$\frac{dz_1}{dt} = z_2, \frac{dz_2}{dt} = z_3, \dots, \frac{dz_{n-1}}{dt} = z_n, \frac{dz_n}{dt} = f(z_1, z_2, \dots, z_n).$$

Such a system constitutes a particular case of the normal system (4.2).

Let X_H be a Hamiltonian vector field defined by

$$\dot{z} \equiv \frac{dz}{dt} = J \frac{\partial H}{\partial z} \equiv f(z), \quad z \in \mathbb{R}^m$$
(4.4)

where J = J(z) is a skew-symmetric matrix polynomial in *z* of rank 2*n*, such that the Poisson bracket $\{H, F\} = \left\langle \frac{\partial H}{\partial z}, J \frac{\partial F}{\partial z} \right\rangle$ satisfies the Jacobi identity. The system (4.4) is algebraic complete integrable (in abbreviated form : a.c.i.) when *J* has polynomial entries and when the following conditions hold :

i) The system is completely integrable with polynomial invariants $H_1, ..., H_{n+k}$. It means that besides the *k* invariants $H_1, ..., H_k$ (Casimir functions), i.e., such that $J \frac{\partial H_i}{\partial z}(z) = 0, 1 \le i \le k$, the system admits $n = \frac{m-k}{2}$ invariants $H_{k+1} = H, ..., H_{k+n}$ in involution, i.e., such that $\{H_i, H_j\} = 0$. These give rise to *n* commuting vector fields. For generic c_i , the invariant manifolds (level surfaces)

$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{n+k} \{ z \in \mathbb{R}^m : H_i = c_i \}$$

are compact, connected and therefore real tori according to the Arnold-Liouville theorem [12]. ii) The invariant manifolds (level surfaces) thought of as lying in \mathbb{C}^m ,

$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{n+k} \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^m : H_i = c_i \},\$$

are related, for generic c_i , to Abelian varieties $T^n = \mathbb{C}^n / Lattice$ (complex algebraic tori) as follows :

$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{n+k} \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^m : H_i = c_i \} = T^n \backslash D,$$

where D is a divisor (codimension one subvarieties) in T^n . The coordinates z_i are meromorphic on T^n and D is the minimal divisor on T^n where the variables z_i blow up. The flows (4.4) run with complex time are straight-line motions on T^n .

As the reader has surely noted, we have insisted in the above definition that invariants must be polynomials. But it must be understood that the existence of a sufficient number of polynomial invariants does not necessarily imply the algebraic complete integrability of the system in question. To convince ourselves of this, it is enough to consider the following Hamiltonian system whose Hamiltonian is

$$H((x,y) = \frac{x^2}{2} + P_n(y),$$

where $P_n(y)$ is a polynomial in y of degree n. We show that such a system is algebraically completely integrable if and only if n = 3 or 4, and the explicit resolution of the system is done using elliptic functions. So a natural question arises : given a completely integrable system with polynomial invariants, what makes it algebraically completely integrable? Mumford gives in his book [21] a definition of the algebraic complete integrability including also non compact and explains (although it has nothing to do with the system above) this extra feature as

follows : the vector fields $X_{H_1}, ..., X_{H_n}$ define on the real torus $M_c = \bigcap_{i=1}^{n+k} \{H_i = c_i\} \subset \mathbb{R}^{2n}$ an addition law

$$\oplus: M_c \times M_c \longrightarrow M_c, \ (x, y) \longmapsto x \oplus y = g_{t+s}(p), \quad p \in M_c$$

with $x = g_t(p)$, $y = g_s(p)$, $g_t(p) = g_{t_1}^{X_1} \dots g_{t_n}^{X_n}(p)$, where $g_{t_i}^{X_i}(p)$ denote the flow of X_{H_i} . From the polynomial nature of the vector fields X, this addition law will always be real analytic. The algebraic complete integrability of the system in question means that this law of addition is rational. In other words, we have $(x \oplus y)_j = R_j(x_i, y_i, c)$, where $R_j(x_i, y_i, c)$ is a rational function of the coordinates x_i , y_i for all $i = 1, 2, \dots, n$. Putting x = p, $y = g_t^{X_i}(p)$, in the above formula, we notice that on the real torus M_c , the flows $g_t^{X_i}(p)$ depend rationally on the initial condition p. Moreover, a Weierstrass theorem on the functions admitting a law of addition, affirms that the coordinates x_i restricted to the real torus :

$$\mathbb{R}^n$$
/lattice $\longrightarrow M_c$, $(t_1,...,t_n) \longmapsto z_i(t_1,...,t_n)$,

are Abelian functions. Geometrically, this means that the real torus $M_c \approx \mathbb{R}^n/lattice$ is the affine part of an algebraic complex torus (Abelian variety) $T^n \simeq \mathbb{C}^n/lattice$ and the real functions $z_i(t_1, ..., t_n)$, $(t_i \in \mathbb{R})$, are the restrictions to this real torus of meromorphic functions $z_i(t_1, ..., t_n)$, $(t_i \in \mathbb{C})$ of *n* complex variables, with 2n real periods (of which *n* real periods and *n* imaginary periods). It must be said that Mumford's explanation of the algebraic complete integrability of a completely integrable Hamiltonian system with polynomial invariants, is of purely theoretical interest. Indeed, how do you recognise from the differential equations that, on a given level manifold, the commuting vector fields define a rational addition law ? Painlevé [31] provides the following provocative example, among many others not necessarily in the context of Hamiltonian mechanics. Consider on \mathbb{C}^2 the two polynomial commuting vector fields :

$$X_1$$
 : $\dot{x} = x$, $\dot{y} = xy$,
 X_2 : $\dot{x} = 0$, $\dot{y} = y$.

The flow

$$g_t^{X_1}(x_0, y_0) = \left(x_0 e^t, y_0^{x_0(e^t-1)}\right),$$

doest not depend rationally on the initial condition (x_0, y_0) . Therefore, simply looking at the face of the equations does not answer the question of whether the problem is algebraically completely integrable. The only method was to solve the problem explicitly in terms of Abelian integrals.

Now if the system (4.4) is algebraically completely integrable, it means that the variables z_i restricted to a generic complex invariant manifold of the flows, are meromorphic functions on a complex torus $\mathbb{C}^n/lattice$; in fact these are Abelian functions. By compactness, these functions must blow up along a divisor (a codimension one subvariety) $D \subset \mathbb{C}^n/lattice$. Expanding the solutions of the system (4.4) near this divisor and allowing the constants of the motion to vary, one gets meromorphic solutions depending on dim $D + \#H_i = m - 1$ parameters, because dimD = n - 1 and $\#H_i = n + k$ is the number of constants of the motion. The fact that algebraic complete integrable systems possess (m-1)-dimensional families of Laurent solutions, was implicitly used by Kowalewski [35] in her classification of integrable rigid body motions. The following necessary condition was developed and used by Adler-van Moerbeke [36] :

Theorem 4.2. Suppose that the Hamiltonian system (4.4) is algebraically completely integrable with Abelian functions z_i and for generic c, the invariant tori related to this system do not contain elliptic curves. Then this system must admit enough meromorphic Laurent expansion solutions in $t \in \mathbb{C}$ such that : each z_i blows up at least once and Laurent expansion of z_i , depend on m - 1, free parameters. In addition, the system in question has families of Laurent solutions depending on m - 2, m - 3, ..., m - n, parameters and the coefficients of each of these solutions are rational functions on affine algebraic varieties of dimensions m - 1, m - 2, m - 3,...,m - n.

The question is whether this criterion is sufficient and how it can be used to detect algebraically completely integrable systems. The idea of the direct proof given by Adler-van Moerbeke[37, 38] is closely related to the geometric spirit of the real Arnold-Liouville theorem [12]. Namely, a compact complex *n*-dimensional variety on which there exist *n* holomorphic commuting vector fields which are independent at every point is analytically isomorphic to a *n*-dimensional complex torus $\mathbb{C}^n/Lattice$ and the complex flows generated by the vector fields are straight lines on this complex torus. Now a complex affine algebraic variety is never compact, unless it is 0-dimensional. So the

main problem will be to complete the affine variety $M_c = \bigcap_{i=1}^{n+k} \{z \in \mathbb{C}^m, H_i = c_i\}$, into a non-singular compact complex algebraic variety

 $\overline{M}_c = M_c \cup D$ in such a way that the vector fields extend holomorphically along *D* and remain independent there. If this is possible, \overline{M}_c is an Abelian variety (an algebraic complex torus) and the coordinates z_i restricted to M_c are Abelian functions. To compactifize M_c into an algebraic complex torus, a naive guess would be to take the natural compactification

$$\overline{M}_{c} = \bigcap_{i=1}^{n+k} \left\{ Z \in \mathbb{P}^{m}(\mathbb{C}), H_{i}(Z) = c_{i} Z_{0}^{\deg H_{i}} \right\},\$$

of M_c by projectivizing the equations. Indeed, this can never work for a general reason: an Abelian variety M_c of dimension bigger or equal than two is never a complete intersection, that is it can never be described in some projective space $\mathbb{P}^n(\mathbb{C})$ by *n*-dim M_c global polynomial homogeneous equations. In other words, if M_c is to be the affine part of an Abelian variety, \overline{M}_c must have a singularity somewhere along the locus at infinity, i.e., along all or part of the hyperplane section $\{Z_0 = 0\}$ at infinity. The trajectories of the vector fields (4.4) hit every point of the singular locus at infinity and ignore the smooth locus at infinity. In fact, the existence of meromorphic solutions to the differential equations (4.4) depending on some free parameters can be used to manufacture the tori, without ever going through the delicate procedure of blowing up and down. Information about the tori can then be gathered from the divisor. A partial converse to theorem 4.2, can be formulated as follows [36] :

Theorem 4.3. We assume that condition *i*) in the above definition of the algebraic complete integrability is satisfied. In addition, suppose that the system (4.4) with k + n polynomial invariants have a coherent tree of Laurent solutions, i.e., it possesses families of Laurent solutions in *t*, depending on n - 1, n - 2,..., m - n, free parameters. Then, this system is algebraic complete integrable and moreover, there are no other Laurent solutions of m - 1 dimension than those provided by the coherent set.

The study of the algebraic complete integrability of Hamiltonian systems, includes several passages to prove rigorously. Here we mention the main passages. We saw that if the flow is algebraically completely integrable, the differential equations (4.4) must admits Laurent series solutions

$$z_i(t) = \frac{1}{t^{k_i}} \left(z_i^{(0)} + z_i^{(1)} + \cdots \right), \quad k_i \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots$$

where $z_i^{(0)}, z_i^{(1)}, ...$ are rational functions depending on m-1, free parameters. We must have $k_i = l_i$ and coefficients in the series must satisfy at the 0th step nonlinear equations,

$$f_i\left(z_1^{(0)}, \dots, z_m^{(0)}\right) + g_i z_i^{(0)} = 0, \ 1 \le i \le m,$$
(4.5)

and at the k^{th} step, linear systems of equations :

$$(\mathcal{M} - kI)z^{(k)} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{for } k = 1\\ \text{polynomials in } z^{(1)}, ..., z^{(k-1)} \text{ for } k > 1, \end{cases}$$
(4.6)

where $\mathcal{M} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial z} + gI|_{z=z^{(0)}}$ is the Jacobian matrix of the equations (4.5). If m-1, free parameters are to appear in the Laurent series, they must either come from the nonlinear equations (4.5) or from the eigenvalue problem (4.6), i.e., \mathcal{M} must have at least m-1, integer eigenvalues. These are much less conditions than expected, because of the fact that the homogeneity k of the constant H must be an eigenvalue of L. The formal series solutions are convergent as a consequence of the majorant method. By substituting these series solutions into the constants of motion $H_i(z)$, $1 \le i \le n+k$, one eliminates some parameters linearly, leading to an algebraic relation between the remaining parameters, which is nothing but the equation of the divisor D along which the z_i blow up; if the differential equations admit l families of Laurent meromorphic solutions of the form above, it means that D is formed by l algebraic curves. More precisely, you have to prove that the set

$$D \equiv \{z_i(t), 1 \le i \le m, \text{ Laurent solutions such that }: H_i(z_i(t)) = c_i + \text{Taylor part}\}$$

defines one or several n-1 dimensional algebraic varieties ("Painlevé" divisor) having the property that $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n+k} \{z \in \mathbb{C}^m : H_i = c_i\} \cup D$, is a smooth compact, connected variety with n commuting vector fields independent at every point, i.e., a complex algebraic torus $\mathbb{C}^n/lattice$. Note that the system of coordinates $z_1, ..., z_m$ can be enlarged to a new set $z_0 = 1, z_1, ..., z_N$ having the property that for fixed but arbitrary $0 \le j \le N$, we have

$$\overrightarrow{\left(\frac{z_i}{z_j}\right)} = \frac{\dot{z}_i z_j - z_i \dot{z}_j}{z_j^2} = \sum_{k,l} a_{k,l} \left(\frac{z_k}{z_j}\right) \left(\frac{z_l}{z_j}\right)$$

i.e., the ratios $\frac{z_i}{z_j}$ form a closed system of coordinates under differentiation. Indeed, consider a point $p \in D$, a chart U_j around p on the torus and a function z_j in L(D) having a pole of maximal order at p. Then the vector $\left(\frac{1}{z_j}, \frac{z_1}{z_j}, \dots, \frac{z_N}{z_j}\right)$ provides a good system of coordinates in U_j . Then taking the derivative with regard to one of the flows $\left(\frac{z_i}{z_j}\right)$ are finite on U_j as well. Therefore, since z_j^2 has a double pole along D, the numerator must also have a double pole (at worst), i.e., $z_i z_j - z_i z_j \in L(2D)$. Hence, when the divisor D is projectively normal, i.e., whenever $L(kD) = L(D)^{\otimes k}$ which means that the space L(kD) is generated by homogeneous polynomials of degree k in some basis

elements of L(D). At the bad points, the concept of projective normality play an important role: this enables one to show that $\frac{z_i}{z_j}$ is a

bona fide Taylor series starting from every point in a neighborhood of the point in question. Therefore, the flows $J \frac{\partial H_{k+i}}{\partial z}, ..., J \frac{\partial H_{k+n}}{\partial z}$ are straight line motions on this torus (for concrete applications, see for example [32, 36, 39, 40, 41, 42, 43]). Let's point out that having computed the space of functions $\mathcal{L}(D)$ with simple poles at worst along with the expansions, it is often important to compute the space of functions having *k*-fold poles at worst along with the expansions. These functions play a crucial role in the study of the procedure for embedding the invariant tori into projective space. As mentioned previously, the idea of the Adler-van Moerbeke's proof [37, 38] consists of using arguments similar to those used in the proof of the real Arnold-Liouville theorem [12], and we can call this result the Liouville-Arnold-Adler-van Moerbeke theorem:

Theorem 4.4. Let \widetilde{M} be an n-dimensional complex compact manifold with n independent meromorphic functions. Assume that : (i) For some divisor D, there exist n non-vanishing holomorphic vector fields $X_1, ..., X_n$ on the affine variety $\widetilde{M} \setminus D = M$ which commute and are independent at every point.

(ii) One vector field, say X_k (where $1 \le k \le n$), extends holomorphically on \widetilde{M} and having the property that, for all $p \in D$,

$$\left\{g_{t_k}^{X_k}(p): 0 < \mid t \mid < \varepsilon, t \in \mathbb{C}\right\} \subset M,$$

where $g_{t_k}^{X_k}$ denote the flow of X_k . This condition means that the orbits of X_k through D go immediately into the affine part M and in particular, the vector field X_k does not vanish on any point of D.

Then, \tilde{M} is an Abelian variety and the vector fields $X_1, ..., X_n$ extend holomorphically and remain independent on \tilde{M} .

1) As an example, consider the Kac-van Moerbeke periodic lattice [44] given by the following system :

$$\dot{x}_j = x_j(x_{j-1} - x_{j+1}), \quad j = 1, ..., 5$$

where $(x_1, ..., x_5) \in \mathbb{C}^5$ and $x_j = x_{j+5}$. This vector field forms a Hamiltonian system for the Poisson structure

$$\{x_j, x_k\} = x_j x_k (\delta_{j,k+1} - \delta_{j+1,k}), \quad 1 \le j,k \le 5$$

and admits three independent first integrals

$$H_1 = x_1 x_3 + x_2 x_4 + x_3 x_5 + x_4 x_1 + x_5 x_2$$

$$H_2 = x_1 + x_2 + x_3 + x_4 + x_5,$$

$$H_3 = x_1 x_2 x_3 x_4 x_5.$$

Note that H_1 and H_2 are involution while H_3 is a Casimir, and the system in question is therefore integrable. The affine manifold

$$\bigcap_{j=1}^{5} \left\{ x = (x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4, x_5) \in \mathbb{C}^5 : H_j(x) = c_j \right\}, \quad (c_1, c_2, c_3) \in \mathbb{C}^3, \quad c_3 \neq 0$$

is isomorphic to $Jac(C) \setminus D$ where C is a curve of genus 2 given by the equation.

$$w^2 = \left(z^3 - c_1 z^2 + c_2 z\right)^2 - 4z,$$

and *D* consists of five copies of *C* in the Jacobian variety Jac(C). The flows generated by H_1 et H_2 are linearized on Jac(C) and the system is algebraically completely integrable. The reader interested in the study of this system via various methods can find further information with more detail in [39] as well as in [45].

2) The problem we are going to study now is the generalized periodic Toda systems. We consider l+1 vectors $e_0, ..., e_l$ in the Euclidean vector space $(\mathbb{R}^{l+1}, \langle .|.\rangle), l \ge 1$, linearly dependent and such that they are l to l linearly independent (i.e., for all j, the vectors $e_0, ..., \hat{e_j}, ..., e_l$ are linearly independent). Suppose that the non-zero reals $\xi_0, ..., \xi_l$ satisfying $\sum_{j=0}^{l} \xi_j e_j = 0$ are non-zero sum; that is, $\sum_{j=0}^{l} \xi_j \neq 0$. Let $\Omega = (a_{ij})_{0 \le i, j \le l}$ be the matrix where

$$a_{ij} = 2 \frac{\langle e_i | e_j \rangle}{\langle e_j | e_j \rangle}, \quad 0 \le i, j \le l.$$

We consider the vector field X_{Ω} on $\mathbb{C}^{2(l+1)}$, defined by

$$\dot{x} = x.y$$
 $\dot{y} = Ax$, $(x, y \in \mathbb{C}^{l+1})$,

where $x.y = (x_0y_0, ..., x_ly_l)$. It has been shown [32] that if X_{Ω} is an integrable vector field of an irreducibly algebraically completely integrable system, then Ω is the Cartan matrix of a twisted affine Lie algebra. Specific detailed results concerning this problem can be found on the technical paper [39] and also in [32, 46] and references therein, about link between Abelian varieties, Dynkin diagrams, singularities and Toda lattice. The periodic l + 1 particle Toda lattices are associated to extended Dynkin diagrams. They are completely integrable and have as many polynomial invariants as points in the Dynkin diagram. The affine variety defined by the intersections of the constants of the motion is completed into an Abelian variety by the addition of a specific divisor D. The latter consists of l + 1 irreducible components D_j each associated with a root α_j of the extended Dynkin diagram Δ . The intersection of k components $D_{j_1}, ..., D_{j_k}$ satisfies the following relation : order(W)

the intersection multiplicity of the intersection of k components of the divisor equals $\frac{\operatorname{order}(W)}{\det(\Omega)}$ where W and A are the Weyl group and the Corten metric going with the sub Durkin diagram $\alpha_{k-1} = \alpha_{k-1}$ associated with the k components. The intersection of all the divisors except

Cartan matrix going with the sub-Dynkin diagram $\alpha_{j_1}, ..., \alpha_{j_k}$ associated with the *k* components. The intersection of all the divisors except one is a discrete set of points whose number is explicitly determined, but on the other hand the intersection of all the divisors are empty. The set-theoretical number of points is given (in terms of the Dynkin diagram) by

Number of
$$\left(\bigcap_{\beta \neq \alpha} D_{\beta}\right) = \frac{p_{\alpha}}{p_0} \left(\frac{\operatorname{order}(\operatorname{Weyl group of the Dynkin diagram \Delta \setminus \alpha_0)}}{\operatorname{order}(\operatorname{Weyl group of the Dynkin diagram \Delta \setminus \alpha)}\right)$$

where the integers p_{α} , are given by the null vector of the Cartan matrix (going with the extended Dynkin diagram Δ). The singularities of the divisor are canonically associated to semi-simple Dynkin diagrams and those of each component occur only at the intersections with other

components and their multiplicities at the intersection with other divisors are expressed in terms of how a corresponding root is located in the sub-Dynkin diagram determined by this root and those of the members of the above divisor intersection. We have

$$\operatorname{sing}(D_k) \subseteq D_k \cap \sum_{\substack{0 \leq j \leq l \\ j \neq k}} D_j, \quad k = 0, ..., l$$

and this inclusion is valid for the singular locus $sing(D_k)$ of D_k . The multiplicity of the singularity of a particular component D_k , at its intersection with *m* other divisors is entirely specified by the way the corresponding root α_k are located in the sub-Dynkin diagram $\alpha_k, \alpha_{j_1}, ..., \alpha_{j_m}$. (See [39], for proof of these results as well as other information).

There are many examples of Hamiltonian systems, called algebraic completely integrable in the generalized sense, for which all movable singularities of the general solution have only a finite number of branches and the complex invariant manifolds are coverings of Abelian varieties. These systems of differential equations possess solutions which are Laurent expansions containing *n*-th root terms of type $\sqrt[n]{t}$ (*t* being complex time) and whose coefficients depend rationally on certain algebraic parameters. In other words, for these systems just replace in the above definition of the complete algebraic integrability of Hamiltoian systems, the condition *ii*) by by this one,

iii) the invariant manifolds $\bigcap_{i=1}^{n+n} \{z \in \mathbb{C}^m : H_i = c_i\}$ are related to an *l*-fold cover \widetilde{T}^n of the torus T^n ramified along a divisor *D* in T^n as follows :

$$\bigcap_{i=1}^{n+k} \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^m : H_i = c_i \} = \widetilde{T}^n \backslash D.$$

Let H_m be a family of Hamiltonians [47, 48] :

$$H_m(x,y) = \frac{1}{2}(p_x^2 + p_y^2) + \alpha_m V_m(x,y), \quad m = 1, 2, \dots$$

where

$$V_m(x,y) = \sum_{k=0}^{\lfloor m/2 \rfloor} \frac{(m-k)! 2^{m-2k}}{k! (2k-m)!} x^{2k} y^{m-2k}, \quad m = 1, 2, \dots$$

It is easy to verify that the associated Hamiltonian systems have a second first integral :

$$F_m(x,y) = p_x(xp_y - yp_x) + \alpha_m x^2 V_{m-1}(x,y), \quad m = 1, 2, ...$$

and they are Liouville integrable. The study of the systems corresponding to the cases $m \ge 3$ is not obvious contrary to the cases m = 1 and m = 2 whose study is immediate. For m = 3, the study is reduced to that of the Hénon-Heiles system [49]:

$$\dot{y}_1 = x_1, \dot{y}_2 = x_2,$$

$$\dot{x}_1 = -\varepsilon y_1 - 2y_1 y_2, \dot{x}_2 = -y_1^2 - 16\varepsilon y_2 - 16y_2^2,$$

$$(4.7)$$

corresponding to a generalized Hénon-Heiles Hamiltonian

$$H = \frac{1}{2}(x_1^2 + x_2^2) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}(y_1^2 + 16y_2^2) + y_1^2y_2 + \frac{16}{3}y_2^3,$$

where y_1, y_2, x_1, x_2 are canonical coordinates and momenta respectively and ε a constant parameter. The associated Hamiltonian system has the following second constant of motion :

$$F = 3x_1^4 + 6\varepsilon x_1^2 y_1^2 + 12x_1^2 y_1^2 y_2 - 4x_1 x_2 y_1^3 - 4\varepsilon y_1^4 y_2 - 4y_1^4 y_2^2 + 3\varepsilon^2 y_1^4 - \frac{2}{3}y_1^6.$$

The functions *H* and *F* commute : $\{H, F\} = \sum_{k=1}^{2} \left(\frac{\partial H}{\partial x_k} \frac{\partial F}{\partial y_k} - \frac{\partial H}{\partial y_k} \frac{\partial F}{\partial x_k} \right) = 0$. The system (4.7) admits Laurent solutions in \sqrt{t} , depending on three free parameters : α , β , γ and they are explicitly given as follows

$$y_{1} = \frac{\alpha}{\sqrt{t}} + \beta t \sqrt{t} - \frac{\alpha}{18} t^{2} \sqrt{t} + \frac{\alpha \varepsilon^{2}}{10} t^{3} \sqrt{t} - \frac{\alpha^{2} \beta}{18} t^{4} \sqrt{t} + \cdots,$$

$$y_{2} = -\frac{3}{8t^{2}} - \frac{\varepsilon}{2} + \frac{\alpha^{2}}{12} t - \frac{2\varepsilon^{2}}{5} t^{2} + \frac{\alpha \beta}{3} t^{3} - \gamma t^{4} + \cdots,$$

$$x_{1} = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{\alpha}{t\sqrt{t}} + \frac{3}{2} \beta \sqrt{t} - \frac{5}{36} \alpha t \sqrt{t} + \frac{7}{20} \alpha \varepsilon^{2} t^{2} \sqrt{t} - \frac{1}{4} \alpha^{2} \beta t^{3} \sqrt{t} + \cdots,$$

$$x_{2} = \frac{3}{4t^{3}} + \frac{1}{12} \alpha^{2} - \frac{4}{5} \varepsilon^{2} t + \alpha \beta t^{2} - 4 \gamma t^{3} + \cdots$$
(4.8)

As previously mentioned, the convergence of these series results from the majorant method. By replacing these series in the equations H = a, F = b, one eliminates one parameter linearly, leading to an algebraic relation between the two remaining parameters, which is nothing but the equation of an algebraic curve *D* along which the $(y_1(t), y_2(t), x_1(t), x_2(t))$ blow up. To be more precise, we have

$$H = \frac{1}{9}\alpha^2 - \frac{21}{4}\gamma + \frac{13}{288}\alpha^4 + \frac{4}{3}\varepsilon^3 = a,$$

$$F = -144\alpha\beta^3 + \frac{294}{5}\alpha^3\beta\varepsilon^2 + \frac{8}{9}\alpha^6 - 33\gamma\alpha^4 = 0$$

which implies that

$$144\alpha\beta^{3} - \frac{294\varepsilon^{2}}{5}\alpha^{3}\beta + \frac{143}{504}\alpha^{8} - \frac{4}{21}\alpha^{6} + \frac{44}{21}\left(4\varepsilon^{3} - 3a\right)\alpha^{4} + b = 0$$

Let

$$A = \bigcap_{k=1}^{2} \{ (y_1, y_2, x_1, x_2) \in \mathbb{C}^4 : H(y_1, y_2, x_1, x_2) = a, F(y_1, y_2, x_1, x_2) = b \},$$
(4.9)

be the smooth affine surface defined by putting the two invariants *H* and *F* equal to generic constants *a* and *b*. The Laurent expansions above where $(y_1(t), y_2(t), x_1(t), x_2(t))$ blow up contain square root terms of the type \sqrt{t} and admit three free parameters and in addition these solutions restricted to the surface *A* are parameterized by the curve *D*. We will see that (4.7) is in fact a generalized algebraic completely integrable system but is part of a new system that is algebraically completely integrable. This latter is a system of five nonlinear differential equations with five unknowns having three first integrals, two of which are cubic and one is quartic. By inspection of the expansions (4.8), we look for polynomials in (y_1, y_2, x_1, x_2) without fractional exponents, which suggests considering the following change of variables :

$$z_1 = y_1^2, \qquad z_2 = y_2, \qquad z_3 = x_2, \qquad z_4 = y_1 x_1, \qquad z_5 = 3x_1^2 + 2y_1^2 y_2.$$
 (4.10)

Note that this change of variables determines a morphism on the affine variety A (4.9). Using the two first integrals H, F and differential equations (4.7), we obtain the following system :

$$\dot{z}_1 = 2z_4,
\dot{z}_2 = z_3,
\dot{z}_3 = -z_1 - 16\varepsilon z_2 - 16z_2^2,
\dot{z}_4 = -\varepsilon z_1 - \frac{8}{3}z_1 z_2 + \frac{1}{3}z_5,
\dot{z}_5 = 2z_1 z_3 - 8z_2 z_4 - 6\varepsilon z_4,$$

$$(4.11)$$

b,

having two cubic and one quartic invariants (constants of motion),

$$G_{1} = \frac{1}{2}\varepsilon_{z_{1}} + \frac{1}{6}z_{5} + 8\varepsilon_{z_{2}}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}z_{3}^{2} + \frac{2}{3}z_{1}z_{2} + \frac{16}{3}z_{2}^{3},$$

$$G_{2} = 9\varepsilon^{2}z_{1}^{2} + z_{5}^{2} + 6\varepsilon_{z_{1}}z_{5} - 2z_{1}^{3} - 24\varepsilon_{z_{1}}^{2}z_{2} - 12z_{1}z_{3}z_{4} + 24z_{2}z_{4}^{2} - 16z_{1}^{2}z_{2}^{2},$$

$$G_{3} = z_{1}z_{5} - 3z_{4}^{2} - 2z_{1}^{2}z_{2}.$$

This new system is a completely integrable Hamiltonian system where G_1 is the Hamiltonian whose structure is determined by the bracket

$$\left\{ H,F\right\} =\left\langle \frac{\partial H}{\partial z},J\frac{\partial F}{\partial z}\right\rangle ,$$

the anti-symmetric matrix J defines a Poisson structure for which the corresponding Poisson bracket satisfies the Jacobi identity. The two first integrals G_1 and G_2 are in involution while the latter G_3 is trivial (i.e., a Casimir function). For generic values of constants c_1 , c_2 and c_3 , the invariant variety

$$B = \bigcap_{k=1}^{3} \{ (z_1, z_2, z_3, z_4, z_5) \in \mathbb{C}^5 : G_k(z_1, z_2, z_3, z_4, z_5) = c_k \},$$
(4.12)

is a smooth affine surface. The differential equations (4.11) admit Laurent series expansions restricted to the surface B (4.12); these solutions can be read off from (4.8) and the change of variable (4.10) and depend on four free parameters. We have shown that the change of variables (4.10) transforms the system (4.7) into an algebraic completely integrable system (4.11) of five differential equations in five unknowns and parallel to that, the affine variety A (4.9) is transformed into the affine part B (4.12) of an Abelian variety \tilde{B} . The Hamiltonian system (4.7) is a generalized algebraic complete integrable system, the invariant surface A (4.9) can be completed as a cyclic double cover \bar{A} of an Abelian surface \tilde{B} and in addition, \bar{A} is smooth except at the point lying over the singularity of type A_3 whose resolution \tilde{A} of \bar{A} is a surface of general type. This explains (among other) why the asymptotic solutions to the differential equations (4.7) contain fractional powers. All this is summarized as follows [50] :

Theorem 4.5. The system (4.7) admits Laurent solutions with fractional powers depending on three free parameters and is algebraic complete integrable in the generalized sense. In addition, this system is part of a new system of differential equations (4.11) in five unknowns having two cubic and one quartic invariants (constants of motion). This last system possesses Laurent expansions (but without fractional powers) depending on four free parameters and it is algebraically completely integrable.

The case m = 4 corresponds to Ramani-Dorizzi-Grammaticos (RDG) potential [47, 48], whose corresponding system is given by

$$\ddot{q}_1 - q_1 \left(q_1^2 + 3q_2^2 \right) = 0, \qquad \ddot{q}_2 - q_2 \left(3q_1^2 + 8q_2^2 \right) = 0.$$
 (4.13)

These equations can be written in the form of an integrable Hamiltonian system whose Hamiltonian is given by

$$H_1 = \frac{1}{2}(p_1^2 + p_2^2) - \frac{3}{2}q_1^2q_2^2 - \frac{1}{4}q_1^4 - 2q_2^4$$

The second first integral being

$$H_2 = p_1^4 - 6q_1^2q_2^2p_1^2 + q_1^4q_2^4 - q_1^4p_1^2 + q_1^6q_2^2 + 4q_1^3q_2p_1p_2 - q_1^4p_2^2 + \frac{1}{4}q_1^8$$

The first integrals H_1 and H_2 are obviously in involution. For generic $(b_1, b_2) \in \mathbb{C}^2$, the affine variety B defined by

$$B = \bigcap_{k=1}^{2} \{ z \in \mathbb{C}^4 : H_k(z) = b_k \},$$
(4.14)

is a smooth surface. The solutions of the differential equations (4.13) in the form of Laurent's series depend on three free parameters u, v, w. and are written

$$\begin{aligned} q_1 &= \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} \left(u - \frac{1}{4} u^3 t + vt^2 - \frac{5}{128} u^7 t^3 + \frac{1}{8} u (\frac{3}{4} u^3 v - \frac{7}{256} u^8 + 3\kappa w) t^4 + \cdots \right), \\ q_2 &= \frac{1}{t} \left(\frac{1}{2} \kappa - \frac{1}{4} \kappa u^2 t + \frac{1}{8} \kappa u^4 t^2 + \frac{1}{4} \kappa u (\frac{1}{32} u^5 - 3v) t^3 + wt^4 + \cdots \right), \\ p_1 &= \frac{1}{2t \sqrt{t}} \left(-u - \frac{1}{4} u^3 t + 3vt^2 - \frac{25}{128} t^3 u^7 + \frac{7}{8} u \left(\frac{3}{4} u^3 v - \frac{7}{256} u^8 + 3\kappa w \right) t^4 + \cdots \right), \\ p_2 &= \frac{1}{t^2} \left(-\frac{1}{2} \kappa + \frac{1}{8} \kappa u^4 t^2 + \frac{1}{2} \kappa u \left(\frac{1}{32} u^5 - 3v \right) t^3 + 3wt^4 + \cdots \right), \end{aligned}$$

$$(4.15)$$

where $\kappa = \pm 1$. The convergence of these series derives from the the majorant method. Note that these solutions contain square root terms of type \sqrt{t} , and we will see that these terms can be removed by introducing the variables z_1, z_2, z_3, z_4, z_5 (4.17) which restores the Painlevé property (that is, the only singularities are poles) of the system in question. Substituting (4.15) in the invariants $H_1 = b_1$ and $H_2 = b_2$, after eliminating the parameter *w*, we obtain the following equation (of a curve of genus 16 denoted Γ) connecting the parameters *u* and *v*:

$$a_1uv^3 + a_2u^6v^2 - a_3u^{11}v + a_4b_1u^3v - a_5u^{16} - a_6b_1u^8 + b_2 + a_7 = 0.$$
(4.16)

where $a_1 = \frac{65}{4}$, $a_2 = \frac{93}{64}$, $a_3 = \frac{29487}{8192}$, $a_4 = \frac{78336}{8192}$, $a_5 = \frac{10299}{65536}$, $a_6 = \frac{123}{256}$, $a_7 = \frac{1536298731}{52}$. Consider on the variety *B* (4.14), the following morphism

$$\psi: \mathscr{B} \longrightarrow \mathbb{C}^5, \quad (q_1, q_2, p_1, p_2) \longmapsto (z_1, z_2, z_3, z_4, z_5)$$

where

$$z_1 = q_1^2, \quad z_2 = q_2, \quad z_3 = p_2, \quad z_4 = q_1 p_1, \quad z_5 = p_1^2 - q_1^2 q_2^2.$$
 (4.17)

These variables are easily obtained by simple inspection of the series (4.15). By using the variables (4.17) and differential equations (4.13), one obtains

$$\dot{z}_1 = 2z_4, \dot{z}_2 = z_3, \dot{z}_3 = z_2(3z_1 + 8z_2^2), \dot{z}_4 = z_1^2 + 4z_1z_2^2 + z_5, \dot{z}_5 = 2z_1z_4 + 4z_2^2z_4 - 2z_1z_2z_3.$$

$$(4.18)$$

This new system on \mathbb{C}^5 admits the following three first integrals

$$F_{1} = \frac{1}{2}z_{5} - z_{1}z_{2}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}z_{3}^{2} - \frac{1}{4}z_{1}^{2} - 2z_{2}^{4},$$

$$F_{2} = z_{5}^{2} - z_{1}^{2}z_{5} + 4z_{1}z_{2}z_{3}z_{4} - z_{1}^{2}z_{3}^{2} + \frac{1}{4}z_{1}^{4} - 4z_{2}^{2}z_{4}^{2},$$

$$F_{3} = z_{1}z_{5} + z_{1}^{2}z_{2}^{2} - z_{4}^{2}.$$

$$(4.19)$$

The first integrals F_1 and F_2 are in involution, while F_3 is trivial (Casimir function). The invariant variety A defined by

$$A = \bigcap_{k=1}^{3} \{ (z_1, z_2, z_3, z_4, z_5) \in \mathbb{C}^5 : F_k(z_1, z_2, z_3, z_4, z_5) = c_k \},$$
(4.20)

is a smooth affine surface for generic values of $(c_1, c_2, c_3) \in \mathbb{C}^3$. The system (4.18) is completely integrable and possesses Laurent series solutions which depend on four free parameters $\alpha, \beta, \gamma \in \theta$:

$$z_{1} = \frac{1}{t}\alpha - \frac{1}{2}\alpha^{2} + \beta t - \frac{1}{16}\alpha \left(\alpha^{3} + 4\beta\right)t^{2} + \gamma t^{3} + \cdots,$$

$$z_{2} = \frac{1}{2t}\kappa - \frac{1}{4}\kappa\alpha + \frac{1}{8}\kappa\alpha^{2}t - \frac{1}{32}\kappa \left(-\alpha^{3} + 12\beta\right)t^{2} + \theta t^{3} + \cdots,$$

$$z_{3} = -\frac{1}{2t^{2}}\kappa + \frac{1}{8}\kappa\alpha^{2} - \frac{1}{16}\kappa \left(-\alpha^{3} + 12\beta\right)t + 3\theta t^{2} + \cdots,$$

$$z_{4} = -\frac{1}{2t^{2}}\alpha + \frac{1}{2}\beta - \frac{1}{16}\alpha \left(\alpha^{3} + 4\beta\right)t + \frac{3}{2}\gamma t^{2} + \cdots,$$

$$z_{5} = \frac{1}{2t^{2}}\alpha^{2} - \frac{1}{4t}\left(\alpha^{3} + 4\beta\right) + \frac{1}{4}\alpha \left(\alpha^{3} + 2\beta\right) - \left(\alpha^{2}\beta - 2\gamma + 4\kappa\theta\alpha\right)t + \cdots,$$
(4.21)

where $\kappa = \pm 1$. The convergence of these series is guaranteed by the majorant method. By replacing these series in the equations $F_1 = c_1$, $F_2 = c_2$, $F_3 = c_3$ one eliminates two parameters γ and θ linearly, leading to an algebraic relation between the two remaining parameters, which is the equation of an algebraic curve *C* of genus 7,

$$64\beta^3 - 16\alpha^3\beta^2 - 4\left(\alpha^6 - 32\alpha^2c_1 - 16c_3\right)\beta + \alpha\left(32c_2 - 32\alpha^4c_1 + \alpha^8 - 16\alpha^2c_3\right) = 0.$$
(4.22)

The Laurent solutions restricted to the surface A (4.20) are thus parameterized by two copies C_{-1} and C_1 of the same Riemann surface C (4.22) and we embed these curves in a hyperplane of $\mathbb{P}^{15}(\mathbb{C})$ using the sixteen functions :

1,
$$z_1$$
, z_2 , $2z_5 - z_1^2$, $z_3 + 2\kappa z_2^2$, $z_4 + \kappa z_1 z_2$, $W(f_1, f_2)$, $f_1(f_1 + 2\kappa f_4)$, $f_2(f_1 + 2\kappa f_4)$, $z_4(f_3 + 2\kappa f_6)$, $z_5(f_3 + 2\kappa f_6)$, $f_5(f_1 + 2\kappa f_4)$, $f_1f_2(f_3 + 2\kappa f_6)$, $f_4f_5 + W(f_1, f_4)$, $W(f_1, f_3) + 2\kappa W(f_1, f_6)$, $f_3 - 2z_5 + 4f_4^2$

where $W(s_j, s_k) \equiv \dot{s}_j s_k - s_j \dot{s}_k$ is the Wronskian. The curves C_1 and C_{-1} have double points in common where they are tangent to each other and which are a singularity of type A_3 of $C_1 + C_{-1}$. The Hamiltonian system (4.13) is algebraic complete integrable in the generalized sense and the invariant surface B (4.14) is completed as a cyclic double cover \overline{B} of the Abelian surface \widetilde{A} , ramified along the divisor $C_1 + C_{-1}$. In addition, \overline{B} is smooth except at the singularity above and the resolution \widetilde{B} of \overline{B} is a surface of general type. Let G be a cyclic group of two elements $\{-1,1\}$ on $V_{\varepsilon}^j = U_{\varepsilon}^j \times \{\tau \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |\tau| < \delta\}$, where $\tau = \sqrt{t}$ and U_{ε}^j is an affine chart of Γ_{ε} for which the Laurent expansions (4.21) are well defined. Since the action of G is defined by $(-1) \circ (u, v, \tau) = (-u, -v, -\tau)$ and is without fixed points in V_{ε}^j , then the quotient V_{ε}^j/G identifies itself with the image of the smooth map $h_{\varepsilon}^j : V_{\varepsilon}^j \longrightarrow B$ defined by the Laurent series (4.21). We have

$$((-1,1).(u,v,\tau) = (-u,-v,\tau),$$
 $(1,-1).(u,v,\tau) = (u,v,-\tau),$

which means that $G \times G$ acts separately on each coordinate and so,, identifying $V_{\varepsilon}^{j}/G^{2}$ with the image of $\psi \circ h_{\varepsilon}^{j}$ in A. Note that, except for a finite number of points, $B_{\varepsilon}^{j} = V_{\varepsilon}^{j}/G$ is smooth and the coherence of the B_{ε}^{j} follows from the coherence of V_{ε}^{j} and the action of G. After gluing various varieties $B_{\varepsilon}^{j} \setminus \{\text{some points}\}$ on B, we obtain a smooth complex manifold \widehat{B} which is a double cover of the Abelian variety \widetilde{A} ramified along $C_{1} + C_{-1}$, and therefore can be completed to an algebraic cyclic cover of \widetilde{A} . We would like to know information on the points that are missing. For this, we must examine the image of $\Gamma \times \{0\}$ in $\bigcup B_{\varepsilon}^{j}$. The quotient $\Gamma \times \{0\}/G$ is birationally equivalent to the curve Υ defined by the equation :

$$a_1y^3 + a_2x^3y^2 - a_3x^6y + a_4b_1x^2y - \left(a_5x^8 + a_6b_1x^4 - b_2 - a_7\right)x = 0,$$

and its genus is 7, where $a_1, ..., a_7$, have been defined above and $y = uv, x = u^2$. The curve Υ is birationally equivalent to *C* and the only points of Υ fixed under $(u, v) \mapsto (-u, -v)$ are the points at ∞ . These correspond to the (double) ramification points of the map $\Gamma \times \{0\} \longrightarrow \Upsilon : (u, v) \longmapsto (x, y)$, and coincide with the points at ∞ of the curve *C*. The variety \widehat{B} constructed above is birationally equivalent to the compactification \overline{B} of *B* and \overline{B} is a cyclic double cover of the Abelian surface \widetilde{A} . The system (4.13) is algebraic complete integrable in the generalized sense and \overline{B} is smooth except at the point lying over the singularity (of type A_3) of $C_1 + C_{-1}$. The resolution \widetilde{B} of singularities of \overline{B} , is a surface of general type with invariants : Euler characteristic of $\widetilde{B} = 1$ and geometric genus of $\widetilde{B}=2$. In conclusion, we have [51],

Theorem 4.6. The Hamiltonian system (4.13) is algebraic complete integrable in the generalized sense and possess Laurent expansions depending on three free parameters : u, v, w, and containing square root terms of type $\sqrt{1}$. These Laurent solutions restricted to the affine manifold B (4.14) are parameterized by two copies Γ_1 and Γ_{-1} of an algebraic curve Γ (4.16) of genus 16. This system is part of a new algebraically completely integrable system (4.18) in five unknowns and having three quartics invariants (4.19). The complex invariant manifold A (4.20) defined by putting these polynomial invariants equal to generic constants is the affine part of an Abelian surface \tilde{A} with $\tilde{A} \setminus A = C_1 + C_{-1}$, where the divisor $C_1 + C_{-1}$ is very ample and consists of two components C_1 and C_{-1} of a genus 7 curve C (4.22). In addition, the invariant manifold B is completed into a cyclic double cover \overline{B} of the Abelian surface \widetilde{A} , ramified along the divisor $C_1 + C_{-1}$ in such a way that the vector fields extend holomophically alond this divisor and remain independent there. Moreover, \overline{B} is smooth except at the point lying over the singularity (of type A_3) of $C_1 + C_{-1}$ and the resolution \widetilde{B} of \overline{B} is a surface of general type with invariants : Euler characteristic of $\widetilde{B}=1$ and geometric genus of $\widetilde{B}=2$.

5. Conclusion

At the end of this paper, it is worth to mention some similar problems as well as recent results. Abelian varieties, very heavily studied by algebraic geometers, enjoy certain algebraic properties which can then be translated into differential equations and their Laurent solutions. Among the results presented in this paper, there is an explicit calculation of invariants for Hamiltonian systems which cut out an open set in

an Abelian variety and various algebraic curves related to these systems are given explicitly. The integrable systems presented here are interesting problems, particular to experts of Abelian varieties who may want to see explicit examples of correspondence for varieties defined by different algebraic curves. The methods used are primarily analytical but heavily inspired by algebraic geometrical methods. The concept of algebraic complete integrability is quite effective in small dimensions and has the advantage to lead to global results, unlike the existing criteria for real analytic integrability, which, at this stage are perturbation results. In fact, the overwhelming majority of dynamical systems, Hamiltonian or not, are non-integrable and possess regimes of chaotic behavior in phase space. The methods used are primarily analytical but heavily inspired by algebraic geometrical methods. Abelian varieties and cyclic coverings of Abelian varieties, very heavily studied by algebraic geometers, enjoy certain algebraic properties which can be translated into differential equations and their Laurent solutions.

In recent years, other important results have been obtained following studies on the KP and KdV hierarchies. The use of tau functions related to infinite dimensional Grassmannians, Fay identities, vertex operators and the Hirota's bilinear formalism led to obtaining remarkable properties concerning these algebras of infinite order differential operators as for example the existence of an infinite family of first integrals functionally independent and in involution. The elaboration of powerful methods and the discovery of their common algebraic structures led to important developments concerning the study of nonlinear problems. The functions $\tau(t)$ are specific functions of time, constructed from sections of a determinant bundle on an infinite-dimensional Grassmannian manifold. These functions generalize the Riemann theta functions and they are solutions of the KP hierarchy, i.e, solutions of an infinite series of nonlinear partial differential equations connecting infinity of functions of infinity variables. The functions $\tau(t)$ can be Schur polynomials, falling within Fredholm's group representation theory or determinants. Recently, a new type of tau function has appeared, within the framework of quantum gauge theory with gauge group SU(N) when N is large. This led to the so-called matrix models (quantum gravity) for counting triangulations on certain surfaces (topology). The underlying models have remained relatively intractable except in two space-time dimensions; although being physically toy models, their structure is still very rich. The first tau function was introduced by Sato, Miwa, and Jimbo in relation to the theory of isomonodromic deformations. It has been defined as a correlation function of certain quantum fields associated with the poles of a Fuchsian system on the Riemann sphere. These functions give information on the topology of moduli spaces of Riemann surfaces and are closely related to the theory of representations of Virasoro algebras and W-algebras. The $\tau(t)$ functions play an important role in a large number of branches of mathematics and theoretical physics, such as integrable systems, string theories, quantum-gauge theories, isomonodromic deformations, matrix models (quantum gravity), the associated matrix integrals which have power series expansions (perturbative series) and whose terms count the triangulations on surfaces (Feynman graphs), the module problems and in many other domains. Many problems related to algebraic geometry, combinatorics, probabilities and quantum gauge theory,..., have been solved explicitly by methods inspired by techniques from the study of integrable systems. In particular, the study of random matrices, a domain that establishes links with several problems, for example with combinatorics, probabilities, number theory, models of growth and random tailings and questions of communication technology. The functions $\tau(t)$ are the source of inspiration for many mathematicians and physicists in search of new algebraic structures appearing in mathematics and physics. The vertex operators give a good device to the investigation of the matrix models and the spectrum of the stochastic matrices. An account of these results will appear elsewhere.

References

- [1] H. Poincaré, Leçons de Mécanique Céleste, 3 tomes. Gauthier-Villars, 1905-1910, réédité par Jacques Gabay, Paris 2003.
- D. J. Korteweg, G. de Vries, On the change of form of long waves advancing in a rectangular canal and on a new type of long stationary waves, Phil. [2] Mag., 39 (1895), 422-443.
- [3] C. G. J. Jacobi, Vorlesungen über Dynamik, Königsberg lectures of 1842-1843, reprinted by Chelsea Publishing Co., New York, 1969.
- [4] P. A. Griffiths, *Linearizing flows and a cohomological interpretation of Lax equations*, Amer. J. Math., **107** (1985), 1445-1483.
 [5] M. Adler, *On a trace functional for formal pseudo differential operators and the symplectic structure of the Korteweg-de Vries type equations*, Invent. Math., 50(3) (1979), 219-248.
- B. Kostant, The solution to a generalized Toda lattice and representation theory, Adv. Math., 34(3) (1979), 195-338.
- W. Symes, Systems of Toda type, inverse spectral problems and representation theory, Invent. Math., 59 (1980), 13-53.
- M. Adler, P. van Moerbeke, The AKS theorem, A.C.I. systems and random matrix theory, J. Phys. A, 51(42) (2018). [8]
- M. Adler, P. van Moerbeke, Completely integrable systems, Euclidean Lie algebras, and curves, Adv. in Math., 38 (1980), 267-379.

- [10] M. Adler, P. van Moerbeke, *Linearization of Hamiltonian systems, Jacobi varieties and representation theory*, Adv. in Math., **38** (1980), 318-379.
 [11] P. van Moerbeke, D. Mumford, *The spectrum of difference operators and algebraic curves*, Acta Math., **143** (1979), 93-154.
 [12] V. I. Arnold, *Mathematical Methods in Classical Mechanics*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg- New York, 1978, 2nd edn., Graduate Texts in Nature 1990. Mathematics, Vol. 60, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.
- [13] C. Neumann, De problemate quodam mechanics, quod ad primam integralium ultraellipticorum classem revocatur, J. Reine Angew. Math., 56 (1859),
- [14] H. Knörrer, Integrable Hamiltonsche Systeme und algebraische Geometrie, Jahresber. Deutsch. Math.- Verein., 88 (2) (1986), 82-103.
- [15] H. Knörrer, Geodesics on the ellipsoid, Invent. Math., 59 (1980), 119-143.
- [16] H. Knörrer, Geodesics on quadrics and a mechanical problem of C. Neumann, J. Reine Angew. Math., 334 (1982), 69-78.
- [17] P. Deift F. Lund, E. Trubowitz, Nonlinear wave equations and constrained harmonic motion, Comm. Math. Phys., 74 (1980), 141-188.
 [18] J. L. Lagrange, Mécanique analytique, Oeuvres de Lagrange, Serret J.A. [Darboux G.] eds., t. 11, Gauthier-Villars, Paris, 1888.
- T. Ratiu, P. van Moerbeke, The Lagrange rigid body motion, Ann. Inst. Fourier, 32(1) (1982), 211-234 [19]
- [20] T. Ratiu, Euler-Poisson equations on Lie algebras and the n-dimensional heavy rigid body, Amer. J. Math., 104 (1982), 409-448. D. Mumford, Tata lectures on theta I, II, Progress in Math., Birkhaüser, Boston, 1983.
- [22] E. Arbarello, M. Cornalba, P. Griffiths, J. Harris, Geometry of algebraic curves, I. Grundlehren der mathematischen Wissenschaften, 267, Springer-Verlag,
- New York, 1985 [23] S. V. Manakov, Remarks on the integrals of the Euler equations of the n-dimensional Heavy Top, Fund. Anal. Appl., 10 (4) (1976), 93-94.
- [24] P. van Moerbeke, The spectrum of Jacobi matrices, Invent. Math., 37 (1976), 45-81.
- [25] H. Flaschka, The Toda lattice I, Existence of integrals, Phys. Rev., B 3, 9 (1974), 1924-1925.
- [26] J. Moser, Various Aspects of Integrable Hamiltonian Systems, In: Guckenheimer J., Moser J., and Newhouse S. E., Dynamical Systems, O.I.M.E. Lectures, Bressanone, Italy, June 1978, Progr. Math. 8, Birkhäuser, Boston, 233-289, 1980.
- [27] J. Moser, *Geometry of quadrics and spectral theory*, Lecture delivred at the symposium in honour of S.S. Chern, Berkeley, 1979. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg, New-York, 1980.
- [28] Y. Kato, On the spectral density of periodic Jacobi matrices, Proceedings of RIMS Symposium on Non-Linear Integrable Systems-Classical Theory and Quantum Theory, Kyoto Japan, 1981, 153-181, World Science Publishing Co., 1983
- [29] Y. Kato, Mixed periodic Jacobi continued fractions, Nagoya Math. J., 104 (1986), 129-148.
- [30] M. Toda, Wave propagation in anharmonic lattices, J. Phys. Soc. of Japan, 23 (1967), 501-506.
- [31] P. Painlevé, Oeuvres, tomes 1,2,3. Édition du C.N.R.S., 1975.
- M. Adler, P. van Moerbeke, P. Vanhaecke, Algebraic integrability, Painlevé geometry and Lie algebras, A series of modern surveys in mathematics, 47, Springer-Verlag, 2004.
- [33] J.-P. Françoise, Integrability of quasi-homogeneous vector fields, Unpublished preprint.

- [34] E. Hille, Ordinary Differential Equations in the Complex Domain, Wiley-Interscience, New-York, 1976.
- [35] S. Kowalewski, Sur le problème de la rotation d'un corps solide autour d'un point fixe, Acta Math., 12 (1889), 177-232.
- [36] M. Adler, P. van Moerbeke, The complex geometry of the Kowalewski-Painlevé analysis, Invent. Math., 97 (1989), 3-51.
- [37] M. Adler, P. van Moerbeke, Algebraic completely integrable systems: a systematic approach, I, II, III, Séminaire de Mathématique, Rapport No 110, p.1-145, SC/MAPA - Institut de mathématique pure et appliquée, UCL, 1985.
- [38] A. Lesfari, Algebraic integrability: the Adler-van Moerbeke approach, Regul. Chaotic Dyn., 16(3-4) (2011), 187-209.
 [39] M. Adler, P. van Moerbeke, The Toda lattice, Dynkin diagrams, singularities and abelian varieties, Invent. Math., 103(2) (1991), 223-278.
- [40] L. Haine, Geodesic flow on SO(4) and Abelian surfaces, Math. Ann., 263 (1983), 435-472.
- [41] A. Lesfari, Abelian surfaces and Kowalewski's top, Ann. Scient. École Norm. Sup., Paris, 4^e série, 21 (1988), 193-223.
- [42] A. Lesfari, Integrable systems and complex geometry, Lobachevskii J. Math., 30(4) (2009), 292-326.
- [43] P. Vanhaecke, Integrable systems in the realm of algebraic geometry, Lecture Notes in Math., 1638, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 2001. [44] M. Kac, P. van Moerbeke, On an explicitly soluble system of nonlinear differential equations related to certain Toda lattices, Adv. in Math., 16 (1975),
- [45] G. Teschil, Jacobi Operators and Completely Integrable Nonlinear Lattices, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, 72, 2000.
- [46] P. A. Griffiths, J. Harris, Principles of Algebraic Geometry, Wiley-Interscience, New-York, 1978.
- [47] A. Ramani, B. Dorozzi, B. Grammaticos, B. Painlevé conjecture revisited, Phys. Rev. Lett., 49 (1982), 1539-1541.
- [48] B. Grammaticos, B. Dorozzi, A. Ramani, Integrability of Hamiltonians with third and fourth-degree polynomial potentials, J. Math. Phys., 24 (1983), 2289-2295. [49] M. Hénon, C. Heiles, *The applicability of the third integral of motion; some numerical experiments*, Astron. J., **69** (1964), 73-79.
- [50] A. Lesfari, The Hénon-Heiles system as part of an integrable system, J. Adv. Res. Dyn. Control Syst., 6(3) (2014), 24-31.
- [51] A. Lesfari, Abelian varieties, surfaces of general type and integrable systems, Beiträge Algebra Geom., 48(1) (2007), 95-114.



Fundamental Journal of Mathematics and Applications

Journal Homepage: www.dergipark.gov.tr/fujma ISSN: 2645-8845 DOI: https://dx.doi.org/10.33401/fujma.409748



Effect of Inflation on Stochastic Optimal Investment Strategies for DC Pension under the Affine Interest Rate Model

Kevin N. C. Njoku¹ and Bright O. Osu ^{2*}

¹Department of Mathematics, Imo State University, P. M. B 2000, Owerri, Imo State, Nigeria ²Department of Mathematics, Michael Okpara University of Agriculture, Umudike, Nigeria. *Corresponding author E-mail: Osu.bright@mouau.edu.ng

Article Info

Abstract

Keywords: Affine interest rate, Defined contribution pension, Hamilton-Jacobi Bellman equation, Inflation Stochastic optimal control 2010 AMS: 97M30 Received: 26 March 2018 Accepted: 22 June 2018 Available online: 17 June 2018 In this paper, we seek to investigate the effect of inflation on the optimal investment strategies for DC Pension. Our model permits the plan member to make a defined contribution, as provided in the Nigerian Pension Reform Act of 2004. The plan member is free to invest in risk-free asset and two risky assets. A stochastic differential equation of the pension wealth that takes into account certainly agreed proportions of the plan member's salary, paid as a contribution towards the pension fund, is presented. The Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (H-J-B) equation, Legendre transformation, and dual theory are used to obtain the explicit solution of the optimal investment strategies for CRRA utility function. Our investigation reveals that the inflation has significant negative effect on optimal investment strategy, particularly, the CCRA is not constant with the investment strategy since the inflation parameters and coefficient of CRRA utility function have insignificant input on the investment strategy.

1. Introduction

There are two major designs of pension plan, namely, the defined benefit (DB) pension, and the defined contribution (DC) pension plan. As the names implies, in that of the DB, the benefits of the plan member are defined, and the sponsor bears the financial risk. Whereas, in the DC pension plan, the contributions are defined, the retirement benefits depends on the contributions and the investment returns, and the contributors (the plan members) bears the financial risk. Recently, the DC pension has taken dominance over the DB pension plan in the pension scheme, since DC pension plan is fully funded, which makes it easier for the plan managers (Pension Fund Administrators (PFAs') and the Pension Fund Custodians (PFCs') to invest equitably in the market, and also makes it easier for the plan members to receive their retirement benefit as and when due.

Investment strategies of the contributions, which in turn is a strong determinant of the investment returns vis-a-vis the benefits of the contributors at retirement must be given optimum attention. Recent publications in economic Journals and other reputable Mathematics and Science Journals have brought to light, a variety of methods of optimizing investment strategies and returns. For instance, some researchers have made various contributions in this direction, particularly, in DC Pension Plan. [1] did work on, "stochastic life styling: optimal dynamic asset allocation for defined contribution pension plans. In their work, various properties and characteristics of the optimal asset allocation strategy, both with and without the presence of non-hedge able salary risk were discussed. The significance of alternative optimal strategy by pension providers was established.

In order to deal with optimal investment strategy, the need for maximization of the expected utility of the terminal wealth became necessary. Example, the Constant Relative Risk Aversion (CRRA) utility function, and (or) the Constant Absolute Risk Aversion (CARA) utility function were used to maximize the terminal wealth. [1]-[4], and [5] used CRRA to maximize terminal wealth. However, [6] used the CRRA and the CARA to maximize terminal wealth.

[7] applied the well-known H-J-B equation, Legend transform, and dual theory to obtain the explicit solutions of CRRA and CARA utility function, for the maximization of the terminal wealth. In 2012, Nan-wei Han et al took a different direction. The investigated optimal asset allocation for DC pension plans under inflation. In their work, the retired individuals receive an annuity that is indexed by inflation and a

downside protection on the amount of this annuity is considered. More so, in 2015, [1] considered an Inflationary market. In their work, the plan member made extra contribution to amortize the pension fund. The CRRA utility function was used to maximize the terminal wealth. This triggered our research. Ours is to investigate and view the extent of damage the inflation may have caused to enable us to introduce, not just an amortization fund, but an optimum amortization fund that would sufficiently dampen the effect of inflation. The approach used here is similar to that of [5]. The models we used is that of [8], though, we considered inflation of globally competing goods, and some real life assumptions are made to buttress this fact.

2. Preliminaries

We start with a complete and frictionless financial market that is continuously open over the fixed time interval [0, T], for T > 0, representing the retirement time of any plan member.

We assume that the market is composed of the risk-free asset (cash), the inflation-linked bond, and risky asset (the stock price subject to inflation). Let (Ω, F, P) be a complete probability space, where Ω is a real space and P is a probability measure, $\{W_s(t), W_I(t)\}$ are two standard orthogonal Brownian motions, $\{F_I(t), F_s(t)\}$ are right continuous filtrations whose information are generated by the two standard Brownian motions $\{W_s(t), W_I(t)\}$, whose sources of uncertainties are respectively to the inflation rate and the stock market. We assume also that at the early stage of the inflation, before government intervention policy, $\{W_R(t), W_I(t)\}$, $\{W_s(t), W_R(t)\}$ are two standard orthogonal Brownian motions, respectively.

Let C(t) denote the price of the risk free asset at time t and it is modeled as follows

$$\frac{dC(t)}{C(t)} = r_R(t)dt, C(0) = 1$$

r(t) is the real interest rate process and is given by the stochastic differential equation (SDE)

$$dr_{R}(t) = (a - br_{R}(t)) dt - \sigma_{R} dW_{R}(t)$$

$$\sigma_R = \sqrt{k_1 r_R(t) + k_2} , t \ge 0,$$

where r_R is a real interest rate, $r_R(0)$, k_1 , and k_2 are positive real numbers. If k_1 (resp., k_2) is equal to zero, we have a special case, as in [9], [10] dynamics. So under these dynamics, the term structure of the real interest rates is affine, which has been studied by [7], [4], [11] and [2]. Let S(t) denote the price of the risky asset subject to inflation and its dynamics is given based on a continuous time stochastic process at $t \ge 0$ and the dynamics of the price process is described as follows

$$\frac{dS(t)}{S(t)} = (r_R(t) + \lambda_1 \sigma_s^s + \lambda_2 \sigma_s^I \theta_I) dt + \sigma_s^s dW_s + \sigma_s^I dW_I, \quad S(0) = 1$$
(2.1)

premium associated with the positive volatility constants σ_s^s and σ_s^l , respectively, see [4]. θ_l represents the inflation price m with λ_1 and λ_2 represents the instantaneous market risk.

An inflation-linked bond with maturity *T*, whose price at time *t* is denoted by $B(t, I(t)), t \ge 0$, and its evolution is given by the SDE below (see [8])

$$\frac{dB(t, I(t)),)}{B(t, I(t)),} = (r_R(t) + \sigma_I \theta_I) dt + \sigma_I dW_I(t), \quad B(T, I(T)) = 1$$
(2.2)

Let us denote the stochastic wage of the plan member, at time t, by P(t) which is described by

$$\frac{dP(t)}{P(t)} = \mu_P(t) dt + \sigma^s{}_p dW_s(t) + \sigma^I{}_p dW_I(t),$$

where, $\mu_p(t)$ denotes the expected instantaneous rate of the wage, while σ^s_p and σ^l_p denote the two volatility scale factors of stock and inflation, respectively. Since the wage is stochastic, we let the instantaneous mean of the wage to be $\mu_P(t, r(t)) = r(t) + u_p$, where m_p is a real constant.

3. Methodology

3.1. Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) equation

Suppose, we represent $u = (u_B, u_S)$ as the strategy and we define the utility attained by the contributor from a given state y at time t as

$$G_{u}(t, r_{R}, y) = E_{u} V(X(T)) | r_{R}(t) = r_{R}, Y(t) = y],$$
(3.1)

where t is the time, r_R is the real interest rate and y is the wealth. Our interest here is to find the optimal value function

$$G(t, r_R, y) = \sup_{u} G_u(t, r_R, y)$$

and the optimal strategy $u^* = (u_B^*, u_S^*)$ such that

$$G_{u^*}(t, r_R, y) = G(t, r_R, y).$$

3.2. Legendre transformation

The nonlinear partial differential equation obtained in (3.1) above is transformed into a linear partial differential equation, using the Legendre transform method and Dual theory.

Theorem 3.1. [12] Let $f : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}$ be a convex function for z > 0, define the Legendre transform

$$L(z) = \max_{y} \{f(y) - zy\},$$
(3.2)

where L(z) is the Legendre dual of f(y). Suppose, f(y) is strictly convex, then the supremum (3.2) would be attained at one point, denoted by y_0 (i.e, the sup. exist). We write

$$L(z) = \sup_{y} \{f(y) - zy\} = f(y_0) - zy_0$$

By Theorem 3.1 and the assumption of convexity of the value function $G(t, r_R, y)$, we define the Legendre transform

$$\hat{G}(t, r_R, z) = \sup_{y > 0} G(t, r_R, y) - zy \mid 0 < y < \infty \} \quad 0 < t < T.$$
(3.3)

Where z > 0 denotes the dual variable to y and \hat{G} is the dual function of G. The value of y where this optimum is attained is denoted by h(t,r,z), so that

$$h(t, r_R, z) = \inf_{y>0} y \left| G(t, r_R, y) \ge zy + \hat{G}(t, r_R, z) \right\} \quad 0 < t < T.$$
(3.4)

from (3.4), we see that the function h and \hat{G} are closely related, hence we write either of them as dual of G. To see this relationship,

$$\hat{G}(t, r_R, z) = G(t, r_R, h) - zh.$$

where

$$h(t, r_R, z) = y, G_y = z, \text{ and relating } \hat{G} \text{ to } h \text{ by } h = -\hat{G}_{z}.$$

Replicating the idea in (3.3) and (3.4), above, we define the Legendre transform of the utility function U(y), at terminal time, thus

 $\hat{U}\left(z\right) = \sup_{x > 0} U\left(x\right) - zx \mid 0 < x < \infty\},$

where z > 0 denotes the dual variable to y, and \hat{U} is the dual of U. Similarly, the value of y where this optimum is attained is denoted by G(z), such that

$$G(z) = \sup_{x>0} \{ w \mid U(x) \ge zx + \hat{U}(z) \}.$$

Consequently, we have

$$G(z) = (U')^{-1}(z)$$

where *G* is the inverse of the marginal utility *U*. Since $h(T, r_R, y) = U(y)$, then at the terminal time, *T*, we can define

$$h(T, r_R, z) = \inf_{y>0} \{ y | U(y) \ge zy + \hat{h}(T, r_R, z) \}$$

and

 $\hat{h}(T, r_R, z) = \sup_{y > 0} \{ U(y) - zy \}$

so that

$$h(T, r_R, z) = (U')^{-1}(z).$$
(3.5)

4. Model formulation

Here, the contributions are continuously paid into the pension fund at the rate of KP(t) where K is the mandatory rate of contribution. Let W(t) denote the wealth of pension fund at time $t \in [0, T]$. $u_B(t)$ and $u_S(t)$ represent the proportion of the pension fund invested in the bond and the stock respectively. This implies that the proportion of the pension fund invested in the risk-free asset $u_C(t) = 1 - u_B(t) - u_S(t)$. The dynamics of the pension wealth is given by

$$dW(t) = u_C W(t) \frac{dC(t)}{C(t)} + u_B W(t) \frac{dB(t, I(t))}{B(t, I(t))} + u_S W(t) \frac{dS(t)}{S(t)} + KP(t) dt$$
(4.1)

Substituting f(1), (2.1) and (2.2) in (4.1) we have

$$dW(t) = W(t) \left[r_R(t) + \sigma_I \theta_I u_B + \left(\lambda_1 \sigma_s^s + \lambda_2 \sigma_s^I \theta_I \right) u_S \right] dt + KP(t) dt + W(t) \left(\sigma_I u_B + \sigma_s^I u_S \right) dW_I(t) + W(t) \sigma_s^s u_S dW_S(t)$$
(4.2)

Let the relative wealth (t)t be defined as follows

$$Y(t) = \frac{W(t)}{P(t)} \tag{4.3}$$

Applying product rule and Ito's formula to (4.3) and making use of (2.3) and (4.2) we arrive at the following equation

$$dY(t) = Y(t) \left\{ r(t) - \mu_p + (\sigma_p^s)^2 + (\sigma_p^I)^2 + \left[\left(\lambda_1 \sigma_s^s + \lambda_2 \sigma_s^I \sigma_l \right) - \frac{1}{2} \sigma_s^I \sigma_p^I - \frac{1}{2} \sigma_s^I \sigma_p^I \right] u_S + \left(\sigma_I \theta_I - \frac{1}{2} \sigma_I \sigma_p^I \right) u_B \right\} dt \\ + K dt + Y(t) \left(\sigma_I u_B + \sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I \sigma_p^I \right) dW_I + Y(t) \left(\sigma_s^s u_S - \sigma_p^s \right) dW_S \qquad Y(0) = W(0) / P(0)$$

Simplifying,

$$dY(t) = X(c_1 + c_2u_s + c_3u_B)dt + Kdt + Y(t)\left(\sigma_I u_B + \sigma_I^I u_S - \sigma_P^I\right)dW_I(t) + Y(t)\left(\sigma_S^s u_S - \sigma_P^s\right)dW_S(t),$$
(4.4)

where

$$c_{1} = r_{R}(t) - \mu_{p} + (\sigma_{p}^{s})^{2} + (\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}$$

$$c_{2} = \left(\lambda_{1}\sigma_{s}^{s} + \lambda_{2}\sigma_{s}^{I}\theta_{I}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{s}^{s}\sigma_{p}^{s}$$

$$c_{3} = \sigma_{I}\theta_{I} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}$$

The Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) equation associated with (4.4) is

$$G_{t} + (a - br_{R})G_{r} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{r_{R}}^{2}G_{r_{R}r_{R}} + \sup_{u} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \left\{ y(c_{1} + u_{s}c_{2} + u_{B}c_{3})G_{y} + KG_{y} \\ + \frac{1}{2}y^{2}[\left(\left(\sigma_{I}u_{B} + \sigma^{I}_{s}u_{s} - \sigma^{I}_{p}\right)\right)^{2} + \left(\sigma^{s}_{s}u_{s} - \sigma^{s}_{p}\right)^{2}]G_{yy} = 0 \end{array} \right\}$$
(4.5)

where G_t , G_y , $G_{r_Rr_R}$, G_y and G_{yy} are partial derivatives of first and second orders with respect to time, real interest rate, and relative wealth. Differentiating (4.5) with respect to u_B and u_S , we obtain the first-order maximizing conditions for the optimal strategies u_B^* and u_S^* , thus

$$c_3G_y + y\sigma_I \left(\sigma_I u_B^* + \sigma_s^I u_S^* - \sigma_p^I\right) G_{yy} = 0$$

$$(4.6)$$

$$c_2 G_y + x \sigma^I_s \left(\sigma_I u_B^* + \sigma^I_s u_S^* - \sigma^I_p \right) G_{yy} + y \sigma^s_s \left(\sigma^s_s u_S^* - \sigma^s_p \right) G_{yy} = 0$$

$$(4.7)$$

Solving (4.6) and (4.7) simultaneously we have

$$u_{S}^{*} = \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}c_{3} - c_{2}\sigma_{I}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}\sigma_{I}y} \frac{G_{y}}{G_{yy}} + \left(\frac{\sigma_{p}^{s}\sigma_{s}^{I} + \sigma_{p}^{s}\sigma_{s}^{s} - \sigma_{p}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}}\right)$$
(4.8)

$$u_B^* = \frac{\sigma_P^I}{\sigma_I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I (\sigma_p^s \sigma_s^I + \sigma_p^s \sigma_s^s - \sigma_p^I \sigma_s^I)}{(\sigma_s^s)^2 \sigma_I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I (\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I - c_2 \sigma_I)}{(\sigma_s^s)^2 y} \frac{G_y}{G_{yy}} - \frac{c_3}{\sigma_I^2 y} \frac{G_y}{G_{yy}}$$
(4.9)

Substituting (4.8) and (4.9) into (4.5), and assuming independent and identically distributed volatility scale of salary for stock and inflation (i.e., $\sigma_p^I = \sigma_p^s$), we have

$$G_{t} + (a - br_{R})G_{r_{R}} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{r_{R}}^{2}G_{r_{R}r_{R}} + \left(K + y(\frac{1}{2}\rho_{5} + \rho_{1})\right)G_{y} + \left(2\theta_{I}^{2} + \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_{I}^{I})^{2} - \theta_{I}\sigma_{I}^{I} + \rho_{2} + \rho_{4}\right)\frac{G_{y}^{2}}{G_{yy}} + \frac{1}{2}y^{2}\rho_{3} = 0,$$

$$(4.10)$$

$$\begin{split} \rho_{1} &= \frac{3}{2} (\sigma_{1}^{J})^{2} + \lambda_{1} \sigma_{s}^{s} \sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l} \theta_{l} + \lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \theta_{l}^{J} \sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{1} \sigma_{s}^{s} \sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \theta_{l} \sigma_{l}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l} - \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{s}^{s} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J} \sigma_{s}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} + \frac{1}{4} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} (\sigma_{l}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J} + \frac{1}{4} \sigma_{s}^{s} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J} \sigma_{s}^{J} - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J} + \frac{1}{4} \sigma_{s}^{s} (\sigma_{l}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J} + \frac{1}{4} \sigma_{s}^{s} (\sigma_{l}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J} - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J} - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{2} \sigma_{s}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J} - \frac{\lambda_{2} \sigma_{s}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J} - \frac{\lambda_{2} \sigma_{s}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \rho_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\rho_{l}^{2} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\rho_{l}^{2} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{J})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{s}^{J} \rho_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{s}^{J} \sigma_{l}^{J}}{(\sigma_{s})^{2}} +$$

with $G(T, r_{Ry}) = U(y)$. Applying Legendre transform to (4.10), we have

$$\begin{split} \hat{G}_{l} + (a - br_{R}(t)) \hat{G}_{r_{R}} + \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{r_{R}}^{2} \hat{G}_{r_{R}r_{R}} + [K + y(\frac{1}{2}\rho_{5} + \rho_{1})] Z - \left(2\theta_{l}^{2}\frac{1}{2}\left(\sigma^{I}_{p}\right)^{2} - \theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{p} + \rho_{2} + \rho_{4}\right) Z^{2} \hat{G}_{zz} - \frac{1}{2}y^{2}\rho_{3}\frac{1}{\hat{G}_{zz}} = 0, \\ \rho_{1} &= \frac{3}{2}(\sigma^{I}_{p})^{2} + \lambda_{1}\sigma^{s}_{s}\sigma^{I}_{s}\sigma^{I}_{p} + \lambda_{2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\theta^{2}\sigma_{l} - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{1}\sigma^{s}_{s}\sigma^{I}_{s}\sigma_{l}\sigma^{I}_{p} - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\theta_{l}\sigma_{l}\sigma^{I}_{p} - \frac{1}{2}\sigma^{s}_{s}\sigma^{I}_{s}\sigma^{I}_{p}\sigma^{I}_{s} - \frac{\theta_{k2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\theta^{I}_{s}\sigma_{l} - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{1}\sigma^{s}_{s}\sigma^{I}_{s}\sigma_{l}\sigma^{I}_{p} - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\theta_{l}\sigma_{l}\sigma^{I}_{p} - \frac{1}{2}\lambda_{2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{p} + \frac{\lambda_{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}\theta^{I}_{s}\sigma^{I}_{p}\sigma^{I}_{s} - \frac{\theta_{k2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{p}}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\theta_{k2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\theta^{I}_{p}}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{p}}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\theta_{l}^{2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\theta_{l}^{2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\theta_{l}^{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{\theta_{l}^{2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{s}A_{l}}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{s}A_{l}}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma^{I}_{s}}{\sigma^{I}_{s}}} - \frac{3(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{s}A_{l}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{s}A_{l}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{s}A_{l}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{2\sigma^{I}_{s}}{\sigma^{I}_{s}}} - \frac{3(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}}{4\sigma^{I}_{s}^{2}}} - \frac{\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{s}A_{l}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{s}A_{l}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\theta_{l}\sigma^{I}_{s}A_{l}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{2\sigma^{I}_{s}}\sigma^{I}_{s}} - \frac{3(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}}} - \frac{2(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}}^{2}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{2(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{2(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}}} - \frac{2(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{2(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{2(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{2(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}\sigma^{I}_{s}}}{(\sigma^{I}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{2(\sigma$$

Differentiating equation (4.9) for \hat{G} with respect to z we obtain a linear PDE in terms of h and its derivatives and using $y = h = -\hat{G}_z$, we have

$$h_{t} + (a - br)h_{r_{R}} + \frac{1}{2}\sigma_{r_{R}}^{2}h_{r_{R}r_{R}} - Zh_{2}\left(\frac{1}{2}\rho_{5} + \rho_{1}\right) - \left[k + h\left(\frac{1}{2}\rho_{5} + \rho_{1}\right)\right] - \left(2\theta_{I}^{2}\frac{1}{2}\left(\sigma_{p}^{I}\right)^{2} - \theta_{I}\sigma_{p}^{I} + \rho_{2} + \rho_{4}\right)\left(h_{z}2z + z^{2}h_{zz}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\rho_{3}\left(2h + \frac{h^{2}hh_{zz}}{h_{z}^{2}}\right) = 0$$

$$(4.11)$$

where

$$\begin{split} \rho_1 &= \frac{3}{2} (\sigma_p^I)^2 + \lambda_1 \sigma_s^s \sigma_l^I \sigma_l \theta_l + \lambda_2 (\sigma_s^I)^2 \theta_l^2 \sigma_l - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_1 \sigma_s^s \sigma_l^J \sigma_l^I \rho_l - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_2 (\sigma_s^I)^2 \theta_l \sigma_l \sigma_l \rho_l \\ &- \frac{1}{2} (\sigma_s^I)^2 \theta_l \sigma_l \sigma_l^I \rho_l - \frac{1}{2} \sigma_s^I \sigma_l^I \sigma_l^I \sigma_l \theta_l + \frac{1}{4} (\sigma_s^I)^2 (\sigma_l^I \rho)^2 \sigma_l + \frac{1}{4} \sigma_s^I (\sigma_s^I)^2 \sigma_l^I \sigma_l \sigma_l \rho_l \\ &+ \lambda_1 \sigma_p^s + \frac{\lambda_2 (\sigma_s^I)^2 \theta_l \sigma_l^I \rho_l}{(\sigma_s^I)^2} + \frac{\lambda_2 \sigma_s^I \sigma_l \sigma_l^I \rho_l}{\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\theta_l \lambda_2 (\sigma_s^I)^2 (\sigma_s^I)^2}{(\sigma_s^I)^2} - \frac{(\sigma_s^I)^2 \sigma_l^I \sigma_l^I \sigma_l \sigma_l}{2\sigma_s^I} - u_p \end{split}$$

$$\begin{split} \rho_2 &= \frac{\lambda_1 \sigma_s^I \sigma_p^I}{2\sigma_s^I} - \frac{2\lambda_1 \lambda_2 \sigma_s^I \sigma_p^I}{\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\lambda_2^{-2} (\sigma_s^I)^2 \theta_l^2}{(\sigma_s^I)^2} + \frac{\lambda_2 (\sigma_s^I)^2 \theta_l \sigma_p^I}{(\sigma_s^I)^2} + \frac{\lambda_2 \sigma_s^I \sigma_p^I \sigma_p^I}{\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\lambda_2 \sigma_s^I \sigma_p^I}{4\sigma_s^I} - \frac{3}{2} \frac{\theta_l (\sigma_s^I)^2 \sigma_p^I}{(\sigma_s^I)^2} - \frac{\theta_l \sigma_p^I \sigma_s^I}{2\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\theta_l^{-2} (\sigma_s^I)^2}{(\sigma_s^I)^2} + \frac{\theta_l \sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{\sigma_s^I} + \frac{(\sigma_p^I)^2 (\sigma_s^I)^2}{2(\sigma_s^I)^2} + \frac{(\sigma_s^I)^2 \sigma_s^I}{4\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{4\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{\sigma_s^I} + \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{2(\sigma_s^I)^2} + \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{2(\sigma_s^I)^2} + \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{2(\sigma_s^I)^2} - \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{4\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I}{\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I}{\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I}{\sigma_s^I} - \frac{\sigma_s^I}{\sigma_s^I} - \frac{$$

$$\rho_{3} = (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{4} \sigma_{l} \theta_{l}^{2} - (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{4} \sigma_{l}^{2} \theta_{l} \sigma_{p}^{I} + \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{4} \sigma_{l}^{2} (\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}}{4} + (\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{2} \theta_{l}^{2} - (\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{p}^{I} + 2\sigma_{s}^{I} \sigma_{l} \theta_{l} \sigma_{p}^{I} - 2\sigma_{s}^{s} \sigma_{s}^{I} \sigma_{l} \theta_{l} \sigma_{p}^{I} + \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{2} (\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}}{4} - \frac{2(\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}}$$

$$\begin{aligned} \rho_4 &= \frac{(\sigma_s^l)^4 \theta_l^2}{(\sigma_s)^4} + \frac{(\sigma_s^l)^3 \theta_l \sigma_p^l}{(\sigma_s)^4} + \frac{(\sigma_s^l)^2 (\sigma_p^l)^2}{4(\sigma_s)^4} - \frac{2\theta_l^2 (\sigma_s^l)^2}{(\sigma_s^l)^2} + \frac{\sigma_s^l \sigma_p^l \theta_l}{(\sigma_s)^2} + \frac{\sigma_s^l (\sigma_s^l)^2 \theta_l}{(\sigma_s)^2} - \frac{\sigma_s^l (\sigma_s^l)^2}{2(\sigma_s^l)^2} \\ &+ \frac{2\lambda_1 \lambda_2 \sigma_s^l \theta_l}{\sigma_s^s} - \frac{\lambda_1 \sigma_s^l \sigma_p^l}{\sigma_s^s} + \frac{\lambda_1^2 (\sigma_s^l)^2 \theta_l^2}{(\sigma_s^s)^2} - \frac{\lambda_2 (\sigma_s^l)^2 \theta_l \sigma_p^l}{(\sigma_s^s)^2} - \frac{\lambda_2 \sigma_s^l \theta_l \sigma_p^l}{\sigma_s^s} + \frac{(\sigma_s^l)^2 (\sigma_s^l)^2}{4(\sigma_s^s)^2} + \frac{\sigma_s^l (\sigma_s^l)^2}{\sigma_s^s} + \frac{\sigma_s^l (\sigma_s^l)^2}{2(\sigma_s^s)^2} + \frac{\sigma_s^l (\sigma_s^l)^2}{\sigma_s^s} + \frac{\sigma_s^l (\sigma_s^l)^2}{2(\sigma_s^s)^2} + \frac{\sigma_s^l (\sigma_s^l)^2}{\sigma_s^s} + \frac{\sigma_s^l (\sigma_s^l)^2}{$$

$$\begin{split} \rho_5 &= \frac{(\sigma_s^I)^3 \sigma_l \theta_l \sigma_p^I}{(\sigma_s^I)^2} - \frac{2(\sigma_s^I)^4 \sigma_l \theta_l^2}{(\sigma_s^I)^2} + \frac{(\sigma_s^I)^4 \sigma_l \sigma_l^I \theta_l}{(\sigma_s^I)^2} - \frac{(\sigma_s^I)^3 \sigma_l (\sigma_l^I)^2}{2(\sigma_s^I)^2} + 2\theta_l^2 \sigma_l (\sigma_s^I)^2 - \theta_l (\sigma_s^I)^2 \sigma_l \sigma_l^I \rho + \frac{(\sigma_s^I)^2 (\sigma_s^I)^2 \sigma_l}{2} - 2\sigma_s^I \sigma_l^I \theta_l \lambda_1 \\ &- 2(\sigma_s^I)^2 \sigma_l \theta_l^2 \lambda_2 + \sigma_s^I \sigma_l \sigma_l \theta_l \sigma_l^I \rho + \sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I \sigma_l \theta_l \sigma_l^I \rho \lambda_1 + (\sigma_s^I)^2 \sigma_l \sigma_l^I \rho \lambda_2 \theta_l - \frac{(\sigma_s^I)^2 \sigma_l (\sigma_l^I)^2}{2} \\ &- \frac{\sigma_s^I \sigma_l^I \sigma_l (\sigma_l^I)^2}{2} - 2\sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I \sigma_l \sigma_l^I \rho + \frac{2\lambda_2 \sigma_s^I \sigma_l \sigma_l^I \rho}{\sigma_s^I}, \sigma_l^I \rho = \sigma_p^I \end{split}$$

$$u_C = 1 - u_B - u_S$$

$$u_{S}^{*} = \frac{\sigma_{p}^{I}}{\sigma_{s}^{s}} - \left(\frac{-\lambda_{1}\sigma_{s}^{s} - \lambda_{2}\sigma_{s}^{I}\theta_{2} + \sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I} + \sigma_{s}^{I}(\theta_{I} - \frac{\sigma_{p}^{I}}{2})}{y(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}}\right)zh_{z}$$
(4.12)

$$u_B^* = \frac{\sigma_P^I}{\sigma_I} - \frac{\sigma_P^I \sigma_s^I}{\sigma_s^s \sigma_I} + \frac{\left[\left(\sigma_s^I\right)^2 \theta_I - \sigma_s^I \sigma_I \sigma_P^I - \sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I \sigma_s^I - \left(\sigma_s^I\right)^2 \lambda_2 \theta_I + \frac{\left(\sigma_s^I\right)^2 \sigma_P^I}{2} + \frac{\sigma_s^s \sigma_s^I \sigma_P^I}{2}\right]}{h(\sigma_s^s)^2} zh_z + \frac{\theta_I zh_z}{h\sigma_I}, \tag{4.13}$$

$$\sigma^{I}_{p} = \sigma^{s}_{p}$$

We will now solve (4.11) for h and substitute into (4.12) and (4.13) to obtain the optimal investment strategies.

5. Explicit Solution of the optimal investment strategies for The CRRA Utility Function

Assume the investor takes a power utility function

$$U(x) = \frac{y^p}{p}, \quad p < 1, \ p \neq 0$$
 (5.1)

The relative risk aversion of an investor with utility described in (5.1) is constant and (5.1) is a CRRA utility. From (3.5) we have $h(T,r,z) = (V')^{-1}(z)$ and from (5.1), we have

$$h(T, r_R, z) = z^{\frac{1}{p-1}}$$

We assume a solution to (4.11) with the following form

$$h(t,r,z) = g(t,r)\left[z^{\frac{1}{p-1}}\right] + v(t), \qquad v(T) = 0, \ g(T,s) = 1.$$

Then

$$h_t = g_t z^{\frac{1}{p-1}} + v', \ h_z = -\frac{g}{1-p} z^{\left(\frac{1}{p-1}-1\right)}, \ h_{r_R z} = -\frac{g_{r_R}}{1-p} z^{\left(\frac{1}{p-1}-1\right)}$$
(5.2)

$$h_{zz} = \frac{(2-p)g}{(1-p)^2} z^{(\frac{1}{p-1}-1)}, \ h_{r_R} = g_{r_R} z^{\frac{1}{p-1}}, \ h_{r_R r_R} = g_{r_R r_R} z^{\frac{1}{p-1}}.$$

Substituting (5.2) into (4.11), we have

$$\left\{ \begin{array}{l} g_t + (a - br_R) g_{r_R} - \frac{g_{r_R r_R} \sigma_{r_R^2}}{2} + \frac{g(\frac{\rho_5}{2} + \rho_1)}{1 - p} - \frac{g\rho_5}{2} - g\rho_1 + \frac{2g(2\theta_l^2 \frac{1}{2} \left(\sigma^I_p\right)^2 - \theta_l \sigma^I_p + \rho_2 + \rho_4)}{1 - p} \\ - \frac{(2 - p)g(2\theta_l^2 \frac{1}{2} \left(\sigma^I_p\right)^2 - \theta_l \sigma^I_p + \rho_2 + \rho_4)}{(1 - p)^2} \end{array} \right\} z^{\frac{1}{p-1}} + v^I(t) - k - \frac{1}{2}v\rho_5 - v\rho_1 = 0$$

$$+ y^{I}(t) - \rho_{1}y(t) - \rho_{0} = 0$$
(5.3)

Splitting (5.3), we have

$$v^{I}(t) - (\frac{1}{2}\rho_{5} + \rho_{1})v(t) - k = 0$$

$$g_t + (a - br_R)g_{r_R} - \frac{g_{r_R r_R \sigma_{r_R}^2}}{2} + \frac{g(\frac{\rho_5}{2} + \rho_1)}{1 - p} - \frac{g\rho_5}{2} - g\rho_1 + \frac{2g(2\theta_l^2 \frac{1}{2} \left(\sigma_l^l\right)^2 - \theta_l \sigma_l^l + \rho_2 + \rho_4)}{1 - p} - \frac{(2 - p)g(2\theta_l^2 \frac{1}{2} \left(\sigma_l^l\right)^2 - \theta_l \sigma_l^l + \rho_2 + \rho_4)}{(1 - p)^2} = 0$$
(5.4)

Considering the boundary condition,

v(T) = 0,

yields the solution

$$v(t) = -\frac{k}{\rho_*}(1 - e^{-\rho_*(T-t)}),$$

where $\rho_3 = 0$, $\rho_* = \frac{1}{2}\rho_5 + \rho_1$ Next, obtain the solution of (5.4), by assuming, a solution of the form

$$g(t, r_R) = M(t) e^{N(t)r_R} M(T) = 1, N(T) = 0$$

$$g_{r_R} = M(t)N(t)e^{N(t)r_R}, \ g_{r_R r_R} = M(t)N^2(t)e^{N(t)r_R} \ and \ g_t = r_R M(t)N^I(t) \ e^{N(t)r_R} + M^I(t) \ e^{N(t)r_R}$$
(5.5)

Substituting (5.5) into (5.4), we have

$$N_{t}r_{R} + \frac{M_{t}}{M} + Na - Nbr_{R} + \frac{1}{2}N^{2}k_{1}r_{R} + \frac{1}{2}N^{2}k_{2} + \frac{\rho_{5}}{2(1-p)} + \frac{\rho_{1}}{1-p} - \frac{1}{2}\rho_{5} - \frac{1}{2}\rho_{1}$$

+
$$\frac{2(2\theta_{I}^{2}\frac{1}{2}(\sigma^{I}_{p})^{2} - \theta_{I}\sigma^{I}_{p} + \rho_{2} + \rho_{4})}{1-p} - \frac{(2-p)(2\theta_{I}^{2}\frac{1}{2}(\sigma^{I}_{p})^{2} - \theta_{I}\sigma^{I}_{p} + \rho_{2} + \rho_{4})}{(1-p)^{2}} = 0, \rho_{3}$$

Splitting (5.6), we have

$$\frac{M_{t}}{M} + Na + \frac{1}{2}N^{2}k_{1} + \frac{\rho_{5}}{2(1-p)} + \frac{\rho_{1}}{1-p} - \frac{1}{2}\rho_{5} - \frac{1}{2}\rho_{1} + \frac{2(2\rho_{t}^{2}\frac{1}{2}(\sigma^{I}_{p})^{2} - \theta_{t}\sigma^{I}_{p} + \rho_{2} + \rho_{4})}{1-p} - \frac{(2-p)(2\theta_{t}^{2}\frac{1}{2}(\sigma^{I}_{p})^{2} - \theta_{t}\sigma^{I}_{p} + \rho_{2} + \rho_{4})}{(1-p)^{2}} = 0$$
(5.6)

$$N_t - Nb + \frac{1}{2}N^2k_1 = 0 ag{5.7}$$

Solving (5.6) and (5.7), we obtain

$$N(t) = \frac{2b[t-T]}{k_1}$$

$$M(t) = c_1 e^{\left\{a \pm \left(a^2 - 2k_2 H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}} k_2^{-1} t\right\}}, \ c_1 = e^c,$$

$$H = \frac{\rho_5}{2(1-p)} + \frac{\rho_1}{1-p} - \frac{1}{2}\rho_5 - \frac{1}{2}\rho_1 + \frac{2(2\theta_I^2 \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_P^I)^2 - \theta_I \sigma_P^I + \rho_2 + \rho_4)}{1-p} - \frac{(2-p)(2\theta_I^2 \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_P^I)^2 - \theta_I \sigma_P^I + \rho_2 + \rho_4)}{(1-p)^2}M(T) = 1$$

where

$$d_1 = \frac{4b}{2k_1}$$

 $d_2=0$

$$g(r_{R},t) = \frac{e^{\left\{a \pm \left(a^{2} - 2k_{2}H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}}{e^{\left\{a \pm \left(a^{2} - 2k_{2}H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}T\right\}}}exp\frac{2b(t-T)}{k_{1}}r_{R}$$

Therefore, the solution of (4.11) becomes

$$h(t, r_{R}, z) = \frac{e^{\left\{a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}H)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}}{e^{\left\{a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}H)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}T\right\}}} z^{\frac{1}{p-1}} - \frac{k}{\rho_{*}}(1 - e^{-\rho_{*}(T-t)}).$$

where $\rho_3 = 0, \ \rho_* = \frac{1}{2}\rho_5 + \rho_1$

Theorem 5.1. Let the optimal investment strategies for cash, bond and stock be given as follows $u_C^* = 1 - u_B^* - u_S^*$. Then $N(t) = \frac{2b[t-T]}{k_1}$ with $d_1 = \frac{4b}{2k_1}$ and $d_2 = 0$.

Proof. Let

$$u_{S}^{*} = \frac{\sigma_{p}^{I}}{\sigma_{s}^{s}} - \left(\frac{-\lambda_{1}\sigma_{s}^{s} - \lambda_{2}\sigma_{s}^{I}\theta_{2} + \sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I} + \sigma_{s}^{I}(\theta_{I} - \frac{\sigma_{p}^{I}}{2})}{\sigma_{s}^{s}}\right) \frac{1}{p-1}$$

$$\times \frac{e^{\left\{a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}H)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}}{e^{\left\{a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}H)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}} \left(\frac{e^{\left\{a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}H)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}}{e^{\left\{a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}H)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}} - \frac{\rho_{*}z^{\frac{1}{p-1}}}{k(1 - e^{-\rho_{*}(T-t)})}\right)$$
(5.8)

and

$$u_{B}^{*} = \frac{\sigma_{I}^{I}}{\sigma_{I}} - \frac{\sigma_{I}^{I}\sigma_{I}^{I}}{\sigma^{s}_{s}\sigma_{I}} + \frac{\left[\left(\sigma_{I}^{I}s\right)^{2}\theta_{I} - \sigma_{I}^{I}s\sigma_{I}\sigma_{I}^{I} - \sigma_{I}^{I}s\lambda_{1}\sigma_{s}^{s} - \left(\sigma_{I}^{I}s\right)^{2}\lambda_{2}\theta_{I} + \frac{\left(\sigma_{I}^{I}s\right)^{2}\sigma_{I}^{I} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{s}\sigma_{I}^{I}s\sigma_{I}^{I}}{2}\right]}{(\sigma^{s}_{s})^{2}} \\ \times \frac{1}{p-1} \frac{e^{\left\{a\pm\left(a^{2}-2k_{2}H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}}{e^{\left\{a\pm\left(a^{2}-2k_{2}H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}} \left(\frac{e^{\left\{a\pm\left(a^{2}-2k_{2}H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}}{e^{\left\{a\pm\left(a^{2}-2k_{2}H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}} - \frac{\rho_{s}z^{\frac{1}{p-1}}}{k(1-e^{-\rho_{s}(T-t)})}\right) \\ + \frac{\theta_{I}}{p-1} \frac{e^{\left\{a\pm\left(a^{2}-2k_{2}H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}}{e^{\left\{a\pm\left(a^{2}-2k_{2}H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}} \left(\frac{e^{\left\{a\pm\left(a^{2}-2k_{2}H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}}{e^{\left\{a\pm\left(a^{2}-2k_{2}H\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t\right\}}} - \frac{\rho_{s}z^{\frac{1}{p-1}}}{\sigma_{I}k(1-e^{-\rho_{s}(T-t)})}\right), \\ \rho_{3} = 0, \ \rho_{*} = \frac{1}{2}\rho_{5} + \rho_{1}, \ \sigma_{I}^{I} = \sigma_{p}^{s}$$

$$(5.9)$$

Then

$$H = \frac{\rho_5}{2(1-p)} + \frac{\rho_1}{1-p} - \frac{1}{2}\rho_5 - \frac{1}{2}\rho_1 + \frac{2(2\theta_I^2 \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_P^I)^2 - \theta_I \sigma_P^I + \rho_2 + \rho_4)}{1-p} - \frac{(2-p)(2\theta_I^2 \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_P^I)^2 - \theta_I \sigma_P^I + \rho_2 + \rho_4)}{(1-p)^2}$$
(5.10)

$$\begin{split} \rho_{1} &= \frac{5}{2} (\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2} + \lambda_{1} \sigma_{s}^{s} \sigma_{s}^{I} \sigma_{l} \theta_{l} + \lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \theta_{l}^{2} \sigma_{l} - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{1} \sigma_{s}^{s} \sigma_{s}^{I} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{p}^{I} - \frac{1}{2} \lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \theta_{l} \sigma_{l} \sigma_{p}^{I} - \frac{1}{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \theta_{l} \sigma_{l} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{p}^{I} \\ &- \frac{1}{2} \sigma_{s}^{s} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{s}^{I} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{l} \theta_{\dots I} + \frac{1}{4} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} (\sigma_{l}^{I})^{2} \sigma_{l} + \frac{1}{4} \sigma_{s}^{s} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \sigma_{s}^{I} \sigma_{l} + \lambda_{1} \sigma_{s}^{s} + \frac{\lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \theta_{l} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{p}^{I}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} \\ &+ \frac{\lambda_{2} \sigma_{s}^{I} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{l}^{I}}{\sigma_{s}^{s}} - \frac{\theta_{l} \lambda_{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} (\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} - \frac{(\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{s}^{I}}{2\sigma_{s}^{s}} - u_{p}. \end{split}$$

And

$$\rho_{2} = \frac{\lambda_{1}\sigma^{I}{}_{s}\sigma^{I}{}_{p}}{2\sigma^{s}{}_{s}} - \frac{2\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}\sigma^{I}{}_{s}\theta_{I}}{\sigma^{s}{}_{s}} - \frac{\lambda_{2}^{2}(\sigma^{I}{}_{s})^{2}\theta_{I}^{2}}{(\sigma^{s}{}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\lambda_{2}(\sigma^{I}{}_{s})^{2}\theta_{I}\sigma^{I}{}_{p}}{(\sigma^{s}{}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\lambda_{2}\sigma^{I}{}_{s}\theta_{I}\sigma^{I}{}_{p}}{(\sigma^{s}{}_{s})^{2}} - \frac{3(\sigma^{I}{}_{s})^{2}(\sigma^{I}{}_{s})^{2}}{2\sigma^{s}{}_{s}} - \frac{\theta_{I}^{2}(\sigma^{I}{}_{s})^{2}}{(\sigma^{s}{}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{\theta_{I}\sigma^{I}{}_{s}\lambda_{1}}{\sigma^{s}{}_{s}} + \frac{(\sigma^{I}{}_{p})^{2}(\sigma^{I}{}_{s})^{2}}{2(\sigma^{s}{}_{s})^{2}} + \frac{(\sigma^{s}{}_{p})^{2}\sigma^{I}{}_{s}}{4\sigma^{s}{}_{s}}.$$

$$\rho_{3} = (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{4} \sigma_{l} \theta_{l}^{2} - (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{4} \sigma_{l}^{2} \theta_{l} \sigma_{p}^{I} + \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{2} (\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}}{4} + (\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{2} \theta_{l}^{2} - (\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{l}^{I} \sigma_{p}^{I} + 2\sigma_{s}^{I} \sigma_{l} \theta_{l} \sigma_{p}^{I} - 2\sigma_{s}^{s} \sigma_{l}^{I} \theta_{l} \sigma_{p}^{I} + \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \sigma_{l}^{2} (\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}}{4} - \frac{2(\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2} (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}},$$

$$\rho_{4} = \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{4}\theta_{I}^{2}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{4}} + \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{3}\theta_{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{4}} + \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}(\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}}{4(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{4}} - \frac{2\theta_{I}^{2}(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}\theta_{I}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}\sigma_{I}^{I}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} - \frac{2\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}\sigma_{s}^{I}\theta_{I}}{4(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}\theta_{I}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}\sigma_{I}^{I}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} - \frac{2\lambda_{1}\lambda_{2}\sigma_{s}^{I}\theta_{I}}{\sigma_{s}^{s}} - \frac{\lambda_{2}\sigma_{s}^{I}\theta_{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}}{\sigma_{s}^{s}} + \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}}{4(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}}{2\sigma_{s}^{s}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}}{2\sigma_{s}^{s}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}}{2\sigma_{s}^{s}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}}{2\sigma_{s}^{s}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}}{2\sigma_{s}^{s}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}}{2\sigma_{s}^{s}} + \frac{\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{p}^{I}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma$$

and

$$\rho_{5} = \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{3}\sigma_{l}\theta_{l}\sigma_{p}^{I}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} - \frac{2(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{4}\sigma_{l}\theta_{l}^{2}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} + \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{4}\sigma_{l}\sigma_{p}^{I}\theta_{l}}{(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} - \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{3}\sigma_{l}(\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}}{2(\sigma_{s}^{s})^{2}} + 2\theta_{l}^{2}\sigma_{l}(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2} \\
-\theta_{l}(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}\sigma_{l}\sigma_{p}^{I} + \frac{(\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}\sigma_{l}}{2} - 2\sigma_{s}^{s}\sigma_{s}\sigma_{l}s\sigma_{l}\theta_{l}\lambda_{1} - 2(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}\sigma_{l}\theta_{l}^{2}\lambda_{2} + \sigma_{s}^{s}\sigma_{s}\sigma_{l}\theta_{l}\sigma_{l}\theta_{l}\sigma_{p}^{I} \\
+ \sigma_{s}^{s}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{l}\theta_{l}\sigma_{p}^{I}\lambda_{1} + (\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}\sigma_{l}\sigma_{p}^{I}\lambda_{2}\theta_{l} - \frac{(\sigma_{s}^{I})^{2}\sigma_{l}(\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}}{2} - \frac{\sigma_{s}^{s}\sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{l}(\sigma_{p}^{I})^{2}}{2} - 2\sigma_{s}^{s}\lambda_{2}\sigma_{l}^{I}s\theta_{l}\sigma_{p}^{I} + \frac{2\lambda_{2}\sigma_{s}^{I}s\theta_{l}\sigma_{p}^{I}}{\sigma_{s}^{s}}.$$
(5.11)

It therefore follows that

$$N(t) = \frac{2b[t-T]}{k_1}$$
$$d_1 = \frac{4b}{2k_1}$$
$$d_2 = 0.$$

Remark 5.1

If we let $\sigma_p^I = \sigma_p^I = \theta_I = 0$, the optimal strategies (5.8) and (5.9) would be of the form of the [7] Recall from [7], the coefficients d_1 , d_2 degenerates to $\frac{4b}{2k_1}$ and zero, in the absence of the coefficient of the CRRA (i.e, as $p \to 0$), however, in this work, even in the presence of the coefficient of CRRA the coefficients d_1 , d_2 are already degenerate. We therefore, conclude that, under the inflationary market, the CRRA utility function has little or no effect on the investment strategy.

The associated optimal investment strategy for a logarithmic utility function, as $p \rightarrow 0$ is given by

$$\begin{split} u_{S}^{*} &= \quad \frac{\sigma_{p}^{I}}{\sigma_{s}^{s}} + \left(\frac{-\lambda_{1}\sigma_{s}^{s} - \lambda_{2}\sigma_{s}^{I}\theta_{2} + \sigma_{s}^{I}\sigma_{r}^{I} + \sigma_{s}^{I}(\theta_{I} - \frac{\sigma_{p}^{I}}{2})}{\sigma_{s}^{s}} \right) \frac{e^{\left\{ a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}\rho_{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t \right\}}}{e^{\left\{ a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}\rho_{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t \right\}}} \left(\frac{e^{\left\{ a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}\rho_{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t \right\}}}{e^{\left\{ a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}\rho_{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t \right\}}} - \frac{\rho_{*}}{e^{\left\{ a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}\rho_{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t \right\}}} + \frac{\theta_{I}}{e^{\left\{ a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}\rho_{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t \right\}}} \left(\frac{e^{\left\{ a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}\rho_{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t \right\}}}{e^{\left\{ a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}\rho_{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t \right\}}} - \frac{\rho_{*}}{e^{\left\{ a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}\rho_{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t \right\}}} - \frac{\rho_{*}}{e^{\left\{ a \pm (a^{2} - 2k_{2}\rho_{1})^{\frac{1}{2}}k_{2}^{-1}t \right\}}} \right\}} - \rho_{*} - \rho_$$

$$H = \frac{\rho_5}{2(1-p)} + \frac{\rho_1}{1-p} - \frac{1}{2}\rho_5 - \frac{1}{2}\rho_1 + \frac{2(2\theta_I^2 \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_P^I)^2 - \theta_I \sigma_P^I + \rho_2 + \rho_4)}{1-p} - \frac{(2-p)(2\theta_I^2 \frac{1}{2}(\sigma_P^I)^2 - \theta_I \sigma_P^I + \rho_2 + \rho_4)}{(1-p)^2}$$

6. Discussion and conclusion

6.1. Discussion

From Proposition 5.1, we deduced that in the absence of inflation, proportions of the pension wealth invested in stock and bond would be at least at minimal returns, and the optimal investment strategy, with CRRA utility function, would be constant. From (5.10) and (5.11), we observe that the optimal investment process is lumped with a lot of inflation radicals. More so, from remark 5.1, we discovered that the CRRA utility function does not have much effect on inflation and its effect on wealth investment. From the analysis, we see that the returns on investment of the pension wealth will reduce drastically, therefore, the contributor require the extra measure to dampen the effect of inflation on the investment strategy. From this analysis, we deduce also that the more the returns on optimal investment degenerates, which is as a result of inflation-affected optimal investment strategy, the more the price of stock becomes non-increasing, then the need for more wealth investment in both stock and bond becomes necessary, in order to recover for the lost times, and pull down the price of stock, hence the need for an amortization fund by the plan member becomes necessary.

6.2. Conclusion

The optimal investment strategy for a prospective investor in a DC pension scheme, under the inflationary market, with stochastic salary, under the affine interest rate model has been studied. Relevant to this work, the CRRA utility function was used and we obtained the optimal investment strategies for cash, bond and stock using the Legendre transform and dual theory. More so, the effects of inflation parameters and the coefficient of CRRA utility function were analyzed, with insignificant input on the investment strategy. We conclude, therefore, inflation has significant negative effect on optimal investment strategy, particularly, the CRRA utility function is not constant with the investment strategy.

6.3. Recommendation

From the result obtained in this work, we recommend the investigation of the effect of extra contribution on optimal investment strategy, in DC pension scheme, under inflationary market.

References

- [1] A. J. G. Cairns, D. Blake, K. Dowd, Stochastic lifestyling: optimal dynamic asset allocation for defined contribution pension plans, J. Econom. Dynam. Control, 30(5) (2006), pp. 843-877.
- J. Gao, Stochastic optimal control of DC pension funds, Insurance, 42(3) (2008), 1159–1164.
- [3] J. F. Boulier, S. Huang, G. Taillard, Optimal management under stochastic interest rates: the case of a protected defined contribution pension fund, Insurance, 28(2) (2001), 173-189.
- G. Deelstra, M. Grasselli, P. F. Koehl, Optimal investment strategies in the presence of a minimum guarantee, Insurance, 33(1) (2003), 189–207. [5] J. Xiao, Z. Hong, C. Qin, The constant elasticity of variance(CEV) model and the Legendre transform-dual solution for annuity contracts, Insurance, 40(2) (2007), 302-310.
- Goo, Optimal portfolios for DC pension plans under a CEV model, Insurance Math. Econom., 44 (2009), 479-490,
 C. Zhang, X. Rong, R. Ximing, Optimal investment strategies for DC pension with stochastic salary under affine interest rate model, Discrete Dyn. Nat. Soc., (2013), Article ID 297875, 11 pages, http://dx.doi.org/10.1155/2013/297875
- [8] B. Othusitse, X. Xiaoping, Stochastic Optimal Investment under Inflamatory Market with Minimum Guarantee for DC Pension Plans, J. Math., 7(3) (2015).
- O. Vasicek, An equilibrium characterization of the term structure, J. Math Finance, 5(2) (1977), 177-188. [9]
- [10] J. C. Cox, J. E. Ingersoll, S. A. Ross, A theory of the term structure of interest rates, Econometrica, 53(2) (1985), 385–407.
 [11] D. Duffie, R. Kan, A yield-factor model of interest rates, Math. Finance, 6(4) (1996), 379–406.
- [12] M. Jonsson, R. Sircar, Optimal investment problems and volatility homogenization approximations, in Modern Methods, in Scientific Computing and Applications, **75** of ATO Science Series II, Springer, Berlin, Germany, 2002, pp. 255–281
- [13] P. Battocchio, F. Menoncin, Optimal pension management in a stochastic framework, Insurance, 34(1) (2004), 79–95.
- [14] J. Gao, Optimal investment strategy for annuity contracts under the constant elasticity of variance (CEV) model, Insurance, 45(1) (2009), 9–18.
- [15] H. Nan-Wei, H. Mao-Wei, Optimal asset allocation for DC pension plans under inflation, Insurance Math. Econom., 51 (2012), 172-181.